

EDITED BY: Lisa L. Barnes, Audrey Duarte, Margaret A. Sheridan and M. Natasha Rajah PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Human Neuroscience





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88966-883-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88966-883-0

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

TOWARD A MORE REPRESENTATIVE BRAIN: THE IMPORTANCE AND ABSENCE OF DIVERSITY IN HUMAN NEUROSCIENCE RESEARCH ACROSS THE LIFESPAN

Topic Editors:

Lisa L. Barnes, Rush University Medical Center, United States Audrey Duarte, Georgia Institute of Technology, United States Margaret A. Sheridan, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, United States M. Natasha Rajah, McGill University, Canada

Citation: Barnes, L. L., Duarte, A., Sheridan, M. A., Rajah, M. N., eds. (2021). Toward a More Representative Brain: the Importance and Absence of Diversity in Human Neuroscience Research Across the Lifespan. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88966-883-0

Table of Contents

04 Collectivism is Associated With Greater Neurocognitive Fluency in Older Adults

Luis D. Medina, Melody Sadler, May Yeh, J. Vincent Filoteo, Steven Paul Woods and Paul E. Gilbert

- **13** Age and Race-Related Differences in Sleep Discontinuity Linked to Associative Memory Performance and Its Neural Underpinnings Emily Hokett and Audrey Duarte
- Disparities in Diffuse Cortical White Matter Integrity Between Socioeconomic Groups
 Danielle Shaked, Daniel K. Leibel, Leslie I. Katzel, Christos Davatzikos, Rao P. Gullapalli, Stephen L. Seliger, Guray Erus, Michele K. Evans, Alan B. Zonderman and Shari R. Waldstein
- **36** Applying a Women's Health Lens to the Study of the Aging Brain Caitlin M. Taylor, Laura Pritschet, Shuying Yu and Emily G. Jacobs
- **45** Origins Matter: Culture Impacts Cognitive Testing in Parkinson's Disease Marta Statucka and Melanie Cohn
- 58 "Seeing Color," A Discussion of the Implications and Applications of Race in the Field of Neuroscience
 Sade J. Abiodun
- 62 The Effects of APOE and ABCA7 on Cognitive Function and Alzheimer's Disease Risk in African Americans: A Focused Mini Review Chelsie N. Berg, Neha Sinha and Mark A. Gluck
- 69 Interactive Effects of Racial Identity and Repetitive Head Impacts on Cognitive Function, Structural MRI-Derived Volumetric Measures, and Cerebrospinal Fluid Tau and Aβ

Michael L. Alosco, Yorghos Tripodis, Inga K. Koerte, Jonathan D. Jackson, Alicia S. Chua, Megan Mariani, Olivia Haller, Éimear M. Foley, Brett M. Martin, Joseph Palmisano, Bhupinder Singh, Katie Green, Christian Lepage, Marc Muehlmann, Nikos Makris, Robert C. Cantu, Alexander P. Lin, Michael Coleman, Ofer Pasternak, Jesse Mez, Sylvain Bouix, Martha E. Shenton and Robert A. Stern

83 Exploring Representation of Diverse Samples in fMRI Studies Conducted in Patients With Cardiac-Related Chronic Illness: A Focused Systematic Review

Lenette M. Jones, Emily Ginier, Joseph Debbs, Jarrod L. Eaton, Catherine Renner, Jaclynn Hawkins, Rosanna Rios-Spicer, Emily Tang, Catherine Schertzing and Bruno Giordani

93 Racial Differences in Dietary Relations to Cognitive Decline and Alzheimer's Disease Risk: Do We Know Enough? Puja Agarwal, Martha C. Morris and Lisa L. Barnes





Collectivism Is Associated With Greater Neurocognitive Fluency in Older Adults

Luis D. Medina¹*, Melody Sadler², May Yeh^{2,3}, J. Vincent Filoteo³, Steven Paul Woods¹ and Paul E. Gilbert²

¹Department of Psychology, University of Houston, Houston, TX, United States, ²Department of Psychology, San Diego State University, San Diego, CA, United States, ³Department of Psychiatry, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States

Neuropsychological research has been limited in the representation of cultural diversity due to various issues, raising questions regarding the applicability of findings to diverse populations. Nonetheless, culture-dependent differences in fundamental psychological processes have been demonstrated. One of the most basic of these, self-construal (individualism, collectivism), is central to how many other differences are interpreted. Self-construals may have possible consequences on social interactions, emotions, motivation, and cognition. This study aimed to evaluate the impact of self-construal on neurocognitive functions in older adults. A total of 86 community-dwelling older adults 60 years and older were assessed with three common self-report measures of self-construal along individualism and collectivism (IC). A cognitive battery was administered to assess verbal and non-verbal fluency abilities. Latent profile analysis (LPA) was used to categorize individuals according to IC, and one-way analyses of covariance (ANCOVA), including relevant covariates (e.g., ethnicity, gender, linguistic abilities), were used to compare neurocognitive functions between individualists and collectivists. Collectivists outperformed individualists on left frontally-mediated measures of verbal fluency (action, phonemic) after controlling for relevant covariates, $F_{(1.77)} = 6.942, p = 0.010, \eta^2 = 0.061$. Groups did not differ on semantic fluency, non-verbal fluency, or attention/working memory (all ps > 0.05). These findings suggest a cognitive advantage in collectivists for verbal processing speed with an additional contribution of left frontal processes involved in lexicosemantic retrieval. Self-construal may provide a meaningful descriptor for diverse samples in neuropsychological research and may help explain other cross-cultural differences.

Keywords: executive function, cognition, culture, self-construal, verbal fluency

INTRODUCTION

As the population ages, cultural diversity continues to change and grow at both a nationwide and global scale. Cultural diversity relates to both internal and external factors. Kitayama and Park (2010) explain that culture has three main constituents: explicit values, cultural tasks intended to achieve the culture's primary values, and the implicit psychological and neural tendencies aligning with those values. It is theorized that both micro (biological) and macro (behavioral) aspects of culture are associated with brain processes that change as a function of an individual's engagement in culture-specific ideas and practices, which supports the notion that there are dynamic

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Audrey Duarte, Georgia Institute of Technology, United States

Reviewed by:

Peter Graf, University of British Columbia, Canada Anna C. McCarrey, Idaho State University, United States Kellie Brown, Idaho State University, Pocatello in collaboration with reviewer AM

*Correspondence:

Luis D. Medina Idmedina2@uh.edu

Received: 30 November 2018 Accepted: 22 March 2019 Published: 11 April 2019

Citation:

Medina LD, Sadler M, Yeh M, Filoteo JV, Woods SP and Gilbert PE (2019) Collectivism Is Associated With Greater Neurocognitive Fluency in Older Adults. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 13:122. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2019.00122

4

neuro-cultural interactions (Kitayama and Uskul, 2011). In other words, given that culture involves explicit behaviors and processes, synchronous firing of neurons during cultural tasks results in those neurons being wired together; therefore, cultural tasks can shape and modify neural pathways (Kitayama and Park, 2010).

In studying neuro-cultural interactions, the use of constructs such as race, ethnicity, nationality, and other related demographic variables have complicated research. Some argue that this type of categorizing lends itself to seeing culture-specific, "emic" (i.e., having to do with internal elements of a specific culture, ignoring cross-cultural schema) attributes as differentiating members of contrasting cultures, rather than using a more "pan-cultural" (i.e., having to do with culturally universal elements) approach (Bochner, 1994) that allows for the clustering of cultures based on an underlying process that spans categories used in past research (i.e., race, ethnicity, or nationality). Others have argued racial categories lack conceptual meaning when scientific method principles are applied (Helms et al., 2005). Specifically, racial categories are associated with a complex network of factors, such as biological (e.g., skin color) and social/socio-political factors (e.g., the experience of racism), that may limit interpretation of findings (e.g., why a racial group performs lower on cognitive tests than another). Most often, research that attempts to report or account for cultural diversity utilizes predetermined "check-box" classifications, such as race or ethnicity, where an individual is asked to check off a box that most closely describes how the person identifies him-/herself. Additionally, such labels create clear distinctions that do not account for individuals who effectively blur the lines between categories (e.g., individuals with dualcitizenship, persons who identify as being members of more than one group; Arnett, 2002). These methods of narrowly categorizing individuals may also impact statistical power to make inferences.

In light of the limitations of demographic variables like race/ethnicity, other cultural factors may provide added benefit when examining neuro-cultural interactions. One of the most basic cultural dimensions, how people perceive the self, has been central to how many culture-dependent differences are interpreted and explained. Described as construals of the self, or self-construals, that are either independent (or individualistic) or interdependent (or collectivistic), the development of self-perception can be traced to early childhood and parental rearing practices, then further reinforced by peers and society. Self-construals of individualism or collectivism (IC) have been implied as having possible consequences not only on social roles and interactions, but also on emotions, motivation, and cognition (Markus and Kitayama, 1991). Much of the research on self-construal and relevant cultural differences has relied primarily on an "East-West" paradigm. Western cultures (e.g., United States), described as highly individualistic, tend to place greater value on the personal self, applying a schema of independence to social perception, and grounding their emotional life and motivation primarily on personal goals, desires, and needs. Eastern cultures (e.g., Japan), described as highly collectivistic,

place greater value on their interpersonal self, applying this schema to their social perception, and grounding their emotions and motivations largely on social goals and concerns (Kitayama and Park, 2010).

The individual development of cognition takes place in a cultural context. Self-construals may pull cognitive resources differently, and culture-dependent meaning systems may then alter neural processing (Chiao and Ambady, 2007). Studies examining IC-related group differences on functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) have suggested differential cortical representation and functional distinctions in several frontal lobe regions, such as the medial prefrontal cortex (Chiao et al., 2010). This evidence supports the notion that self-construal is a higher order function potentially mediated by frontal networks. Of note, collectivism has recently been associated with a reduced orbitofrontal cortical volume (Kitayama et al., 2017), suggesting self-construal may interact with neuroanatomical changes in the frontal lobe that may be relevant to cognitive processes.

This role of culture on frontal lobe processes has been supported by cognitive research. There is evidence that collectivist children outperform individualists on various inhibition, card sorting, and tower-building tasks believed to be related to these higher order cortical processes (e.g., Sabbagh et al., 2006). In an adult sample, Cagigas (2008) reported evidence that cultural differences on cognitive measures may be more attributable to higher cortical functions than more primitive subcortical systems. Coupled with the evidence from neuroimaging research, an argument can be made that behavioral manifestations of frontal-lobe dependent cognitive processes exist between collectivists and individualists.

Developmentally, it is not clearly understood when in the lifespan particular cross-cultural cognitive differences begin to emerge (Kitayama and Uskul, 2011); as described above, differences are observed in young children. However, given gray and white matter changes that largely begin to occur later in life around middle age (Bartzokis, 2004), it is likely that the aging process further impacts cross-cultural differences in cognition. Although age-related changes in cognition have been extensively documented, little research has examined the impact of age in the context of self-construal and cognition. Aging represents the consequences of biological processes while culture represents sustaining experiences and their effects (Na et al., 2017). Age and self-construal may interact in a manner that impacts personal relevance and, therefore, cognition and processing of information. Indeed, citing other studies examining the activation of object-processing areas on fMRI and demonstrating age-by-culture interaction, it has been suggested that culture may modulate neurocognitive aging (Park and Gutchess, 2006). However, most evidence of cultural effects on neural function in the context of the aging brain has been in perceptual processing (Park and Huang, 2010).

In healthy aging, psychophysiological studies have shown a frontal phenomenon in cognitive processing. Age-related differences in frontal networks crucial for attention and executive functions (EFs) have been shown in brain imaging studies (e.g., McGinnis et al., 2011). While deterioration of both gray matter and white matter are observed in healthy aging, some researchers now argue that cognition is associated more with white matter changes than with cortical thickness (Ziegler et al., 2010), and EF and processing abilities have been explained as the primary cognitive domain affected by white matter alterations (Murray et al., 2010). In light of the aforementioned implications of culture and higher cortical functions associated with the frontal lobe, age-related differences in frontal networks—both in gray and white matter—may interact with culture in a manner that impacts executive functioning abilities.

EFs are a multi-faceted construct generally understood as complex higher mental processes used in goal-setting, planning, and execution of plans (Lezak, 1982). One EF involves the production of intended actions while self-regulating through the inhibition of unrelated or irrelevant actions (Lezak et al., 2004), herein referred to as *cognitive fluency*. Neuropsychologically, cognitive fluency is often evaluated *via* measures where one is asked to rapidly generate a series of novel responses within a category or a set of rules and within a time limit (e.g., a minute).

Cognitive fluency tasks have been shown to be particularly sensitive to frontal lobe integrity (Baldo et al., 2001). This sensitivity may be due in part to the various components of fluency measures, such as semantic and inhibitory processes associated with cortical gray matter integrity (McDowd et al., 2011) as well as the speed of response and mental organization associated with white matter integrity (Kempler et al., 1998). Given the effects of aging on these areas, it is not surprising that performance on fluency measures is generally worse in older adults than in young adults (Elgamal et al., 2011).

The current study attempted to expand on the dearth of research by examining the relationship of IC with cognitive processes sensitive to frontal lobe functioning in an older population. As suggested by extant literature, self-construal may moderate age-related frontal lobe changes and, therefore, cognitive processes associated with frontal lobe integrity. Given the nature of collectivism and its prioritization of one's social group over the individual as well as the impact of aging on frontal lobe networks, we hypothesized that cognitive burden would be greater in this group. More specifically, we predicted that collectivism would be associated with greater demands on executive functioning and frontal lobe function, reducing the availability of frontally-mediated resources necessary to perform well on EF-dependent tasks. Therefore, it was expected that collectivists would perform lower than individualists on cognitive fluency measures. Additionally, it was expected that both groups would perform similarly on measures not related to cognitive fluency.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Individuals at least 60 years old were recruited from the general community in San Diego, CA, USA using fliers and contacts with community programs serving older adults. Individuals who reported not feeling comfortable reading, writing, and

speaking in English enough to complete study measures were excluded. Participants had to be community-dwelling adults able to provide written informed consent and not have endorsed a diagnosis of dementia or another cognitive disorder (e.g., mild cognitive impairment) at the time of testing. Although participants were not excluded from participation based on the history of psychiatric diagnoses or substance use, information regarding these factors was collected to control for their potential effect on performance in data analysis. Additionally, the Mini-Mental State Exam (MMSE; Folstein et al., 1975) was administered to participants to offer a brief screen for possible cognitive impairment associated with aging. Individuals with MMSE scores below 26 were not included in the data analysis. A total of 100 individuals were recruited. A priori standard power calculations indicated this sample size would be adequately powered to detect medium-to-large effects with an alpha level of 0.05.

All participants signed written informed consent approved by the Institutional Review Board at San Diego State University and were tested in person using paper-and-pencil versions of the measures described below. Testing was completed by a trained psychometrist in a quiet room, free of distraction, and took place either in a laboratory setting or in the community at a companion senior day center site. Testing lasted for approximately 1 h and participants received \$10 for their participation.

Measures

Demographic

Participants were administered a semi-structured interview regarding their demographic background (e.g., birthplace, race and ethnicity, first language spoken, fluency in the English language, years living in the United States, acculturation) as well as pertinent medical history (e.g., history of head injury, learning disability, stroke, substance use). Validated self-report measures were used to assess bilingualism and acculturation. Given that the interview and test battery were administered in English, bilingualism and English-language dominance have implications on participants' responses and performance. Acculturation, while a construct dissociable and discrete from self-construal, may have implications on self-construal. An individual who is more acculturated to the dominant culture of where the individual resides may adopt values related to the self-construal typically observed within that culture (e.g., a person from a collectivistic culture, like Japan, who immigrates and acculturates to a "Western" culture, like the United States, may become more individualistic). For bilingualism, the Bilingualism Dominance Scale (BDS; Dunn and Fox Tree, 2009) was used. This brief scale is administered as an interview and consists of 12 items, which evaluate the person's predominant use of one language over another or the equal use of the two languages by targeting three main criteria: percent of language use, age of acquisition, and restructuring of language fluency. Original validation studies of the BDS showed it significantly predicted respondents' scores on objective measures of verbal fluency and translation reaction times. The Stephenson Multigroup Acculturation Scale (SMAS; Stephenson, 2000) was used to assess acculturation. This reliable and validated self-report measure of acculturation consists of 32 statements rated on a four-point scale (i.e., false, partly false, partly true, true). Items relate to domains of language, interaction, media, and food in the context of either the society of origin or the current society of residency. The measure allows for the calculation of two indices: the dominant society immersion (DSI) and the ethnic society immersion (ESI). Original validation studies of the SMAS showed high internal consistency for the entire scale (coefficient $\alpha = 0.86$) and for each of the indices (DSI = 0.97; ESI = 0.90).

Self-Construal

In a review of various survey methods, Peng et al. (1997) found significant limitations of rating and ranking measures in the assessment of self-construal when used to differentiate between cultures. Due to the unsatisfactory limitations of these methods, this study used a mixed methods approach using three measures validated for this purpose: INDCOL (Triandis, 1996), Scenarios (Triandis and Gelfand, 1998), and the Twenty Statements Test (TST; Kuhn and McPartland, 1954). Responses for the TST were coded by two raters blind to the participant's responses on other test materials, including other self-construal measures, and following the methods described elsewhere (Santamaría et al., 2010). Briefly, for purposes of determining self-construal, TST responses were coded along the domain of "organization" and statements were coded as either *private* (e.g., "I am smart"), *collective* (e.g., "I am a student"), or *public* (e.g., "I am someone who cares for others"). Raters were trained by the lead author on unrelated samples of TST responses that were not included in the current analyses. Once raters reached criterion (minimum Cronbach's alpha of 0.85), they began rating of TST responses from the recruited sample and were blind to participants' responses to the other measures of self-construal. Discrepant scores were regularly discussed with the lead author but were not removed from analyses. Inter-rater reliability was assessed using the intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC) and was found to be high (Cronbach's alpha = 0.97, ICC = 0.94).

Cognitive

The cognitive battery largely assessed for cognitive fluency as well as attention and working memory. Included in the battery were several tests. In the Action Fluency Test (Piatt et al., 1999), individuals name as many verbs as they can in a minute's time. Similarly, in phonemic letter fluency with FAS, respondents provide words that begin with the letters F, A, and S within a minute for each letter. In semantic fluency, responses are elicited for particular categories; animals and vegetables were used for the current study and each category was given a minute for responses. The Design Fluency subtest of the Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System (D-KEFS; Delis et al., 2001) is a nonverbal measure in which respondents make line designs following specified rules within a minute. Attention and working memory abilities were assessed with the forward and backward conditions of Digit Span. These measures were chosen and categorized based on the neuroanatomical correlates they have been shown to represent. Verbal fluency measures like Action Fluency and FAS engage more left frontal lobe regions while semantic fluency (e.g., animals, vegetables), which relies more on conceptual knowledge, engages slightly

more posterior regions (i.e., frontal-temporal areas) in the left hemisphere; in contrast, D-KEFS Design Fluency appears to engage right hemisphere frontal lobe regions in an analogous fashion to measures like FAS (Lezak et al., 2012). Measures of attention and working memory like Digit Span have shown evidence of broader, more diffuse engagement of brain regions; in addition to the bilateral involvement of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, Digit Span performance appears to involve bilateral occipital and parietal areas that suggest use of visual imagery strategies during the task (Gerton et al., 2004). Reading ability in English was assessed with the Reading subtest of the Wide Range Achievement Test-Fourth Edition (WRAT-4; Wilkinson and Robertson, 2006). The WRAT-4 Reading has been shown useful in estimating premorbid ability and serving as a proxy of education quality in English, particularly in ethnically diverse samples with heterogeneous educational backgrounds (Manly et al., 2005).

Mood

Mood was assessed for each participant using the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS; Yesavage et al., 1982), a validated measure of depression, to control for the possible effect of mood on cognition. Mood was then considered as a potential covariate and included in analyses as necessary.

Analysis

Self-Construal

Given the number of variables provided by the self-construal measures, latent profile analysis (LPA) was used to identify typologies of people, as opposed to a taxonomy of variables, along the lines of IC using the multiple variables provided by the self-construal measures. LPA is a person-centered technique in which an individual can be assigned to a mutually exclusive profile based on that individual's responses to observed continuous variables of interest by maximizing homogeneity within groups and maximizing heterogeneity between groups (Roesch et al., 2010). The process of LPA seeks to reveal the underlying latent construct of responses/scores (Lanza et al., 2003). Various models are tested to determine the optimal number of profiles and the best-fitting model is chosen based on various statistical indices of fit. IC measures provided a total of seven scores per participant that were included in the LPA. A 2-, 3-, and 4-profile solution were tested. By capitalizing on the shared variance of all the self-construal measures, LPA would allow for a more reliable, "error-free" (Roesch et al., 2010) categorization of individuals than would be achieved by using only a single measure.

Covariates

Relevant covariates were chosen for theoretical and statistical reasons. Covariates of interest included: ethnicity (Hispanic, non-Hispanic), race (White, non-White), age, gender, self-reported English fluency, WRAT-4, years in the United States, age when moved to the United States, bilingualism, acculturation, and mood (GDS). Univariable analyses were used to determine significant covariates. Cognitive domains were regressed on covariates of interest. Variables significant

at a $p \leq 0.10$ threshold were included as covariates in subsequent analyses.

Cognition

For data reduction purposes, composite scores were created such that cognitive measures of interest were grouped into four domains: Verbal Fluency (Action Fluency Test, FAS), Semantic Fluency (Animals, Vegetables), Nonverbal Fluency (Design Fluency Conditions 1 and 3), and Attention/Working Memory (Digit Span Forward and Backward). One-way analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was used to examine the relationship of self-construal on cognitive domains. Data were checked for normality and outliers and missing data were excluded from analyses. Findings with *p*-values at or less than 0.05 were considered significant.

RESULTS

Of the 100 participants recruited, six individuals withdrew consent or were unable to complete all measures, seven were excluded from analyses due to MMSE scores less than 26, and one was excluded due to outlying values (>2 standard deviations) on several cognitive measures in addition to a history of head injury and self-reported cognitive symptoms. Therefore,

86 individuals (age: 67.2 \pm 6.0; education: 14.5 \pm 2.8) were included in the final analyses (Table 1).

LPA

Model fit indices for the LPA did not indicate a significant improvement of the 3- and 4-class solutions. Therefore, the more parsimonious 2-class solution was considered a better fit to the data (see Lubke and Muthén, 2005). Classification in LPA is based on the probabilities of being within a class/profile, which are related to the means of the individual indicators. A qualitative review of the 2-class solution (**Table 2**) revealed one profile (Class 1) consistent with higher scores on individualism scales compared to collectivism scales; therefore, Class 1 was labeled "individualists." Similarly, the profile observed in Class 2 was consistent with higher scores on collectivism scales relative to individualism scales and was labeled "collectivists" as a result. LPA results identified 42 individualists and 44 collectivists. Self-construal groups did not significantly differ on demographic variables, including gender, ethnicity, or race (**Table 1**).

Covariates

Univariable analyses with a $p \le 0.10$ threshold determined inclusion of only four covariates: ethnicity, gender, GDS, and WRAT-4 Reading.

	Sample	e N = 86	Individual	ists <i>N</i> = 42	Collectivi	ists <i>N</i> = 44	р
	Range	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	
Age (years)	60–88	67.2 (6.0)	60–88	66.9 (6.8)	60-78	67.6 (5.2)	0.600
Education (years)	8–20	14.5 (2.8)	8–20	15.0 (3.03)	8–20	14.0 (2.6)	0.100
Years in US	4–80	61.5 (14.5)	21-80	62.5 (10.7)	4–78	60.5 (17.5)	0.533
WRAT-IV	39–76	59.4 (7.9)	40-70	61.6 (6.8)	39–76	57.4 (8.5)	0.014
GDS	0–13	2.8 (3.2)	0–13	3.1 (3.7)	0–10	2.5 (2.7)	0.399
SMAS	-1.2 to 2.3	0.1 (0.5)	-0.6 to 2.3	0.2 (0.6)	-1.2 to 1.9	0.1 (0.5)	0.327
BDS—English	6–26	24.4 (4.1)	6–26	25.0 (3.7)	7–26	23.9 (4.5)	0.232
BDS-Other	-2 to 27	2.8 (6.3)	-2 to 27	1.7 (5.1)	-2 to 22	3.8 (7.1)	0.134
	n	%	n	%	n	%	р
Gender							
Male	40	46.5	22	52.4	18	40.9	0.387
Female	46	53.5	20	47.6	26	59.1	
Ethnicity							
Hispanic	6	7.0	2	4.8	4	9.1	0.677
Non-Hispanic	77	89.5	38	90.5	39	88.6	
Race							
American Indian	1	1.2	0	0	1	2.3	0.300
Asian	5	5.8	1	2.4	4	9.1	
African-American/Black	11	12.8	4	9.5	7	15.9	
Multiple	4	4.7	1	2.4	3	6.8	
Pacific Islander	1	1.2	0	0	1	2.3	
Unknown	3	3.5	1	2.4	2	4.5	
Caucasian/White	61	70.9	35	83.3	26	59.1	
Birthplace							
United States	74	86.0	38	90.5	36	81.8	0.213
Other	12	14.0	4	9.5	8	18.2	

Note: WRAT-IV, Wide Range Achievement Test—Fourth Edition, Reading Score; GDS, Geriatric Depression Scale (higher scores are associated with greater depressive symptoms); SMAS, Stephenson Multigroup Acculturation Scale (higher scores are associated with greater immersion in dominant society); BDS, Bilingual Dominance Scale (higher scores are associated with greater reliance on that language). "Other" birthplaces included Chile (1), Colombia (1), Iraq (1), Latvia (1), Philippines (4), Sweden (1), Switzerland (1), and Vietnam (1). For those born outside the US, self-reported years in the US ranged from 4 to 80 years (mean = 36.1 ± 22.1) and years speaking English ranged from 8 to 80 years (mean = 50.8 ± 18.8). Significance values were calculated using t-tests for Age, Education, Years in US, WRAT-IV, GDS, SMAS, and BDS; Fisher's exact test for Gender and Ethnicity; and Chi-square test for Race and Birthplace.

Measure	Samp	le <i>N</i> = 86	Individu	alist <i>N</i> = 42	Collectivist N = 44		
	Range	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	
IND	3.2-7.8	5.8 (1.1)	3.3-7.8	6.0 (1.1)	3.2-7.3	5.5 (1.1)	
COL	3.1–9.0	6.8 (1.3)	3.1-8.5	6.2 (1.3)	5.1-9.0	7.3 (1.0)	
Scenarios-Individualism	3.0-13.0	8.3 (2.4)	9.0-13.0	10.3 (1.4)	3.0-8.0	6.4 (1.5)	
Scenarios-Collectivism	1.0-13.0	7.5 (2.5)	1.0-7.0	5.5 (1.5)	6.0-13.0	9.4 (1.5)	
TST-Private	0.0-7.0	3.3 (2.2)	0.0-7.0	3.6 (2.2)	0.0-7.0	3.0 (2.1)	
TST-Collective	0.0-7.0	2.4 (2.0)	0.0-7.0	2.1 (2.1)	0.0-6.5	2.7 (1.9)	
TST-Public	0.0-4.0	0.9 (1.0)	0.0-4.0	0.9 (1.1)	0.0-4.0	0.9 (1.0)	

TABLE 2 | Means and standard deviations (SD) of self-construal measures.

Note: IND, INDCOL mean individualism score; COL, INDCOL mean collectivism score; TST, Twenty Statements Test.

Cognition

ANCOVA controlling for the determined covariates revealed a medium-sized main effect of self-construal on Verbal Fluency (Action Fluency Test, FAS), $F_{(1,77)} = 6.942$, p = 0.010, $\eta^2 = 0.061$. Comparing the estimated marginal means showed that collectivists (M = 0.189, SE = 0.113) outperformed individualists (M = -0.252, SE = 0.117). No significant differences (all ps > 0.05) were noted on Semantic Fluency (Animals, Vegetables), or Nonverbal Fluency (Design Fluency, both conditions). Both groups performed similarly (all ps > 0.05) on measures of Attention/Working Memory (Digit Span forward and backward; see **Figure 1**). The estimated means for individual tests included in composite scores are shown in **Table 3**.

DISCUSSION

In the current study, we examined the role of self-construal on frontal lobe-mediated processes. Given the cognitive demands associated with collectivism, which involves the consistent perception of self in the context of others, we hypothesized that collectivists would perform worse than individualists on measures of cognitive fluency. These measures were used as they are more focally sensitive to frontal lobe changes associated with the aging process. Along these lines, we expected both groups to perform similarly on non-fluency measures (i.e., attention/working memory as measured by Digit Span



FIGURE 1 | Estimated means (SE) on cognitive measures by self-construal controlling for ethnicity, gender, Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS) score, and Wide Range Achievement Test (WRAT)-Reading score.

forward and backward), which rely on more diffuse brain regions. Contrary to our expectations, collectivists performed significantly better on measures of verbal fluency (phonemic, action) after controlling for ethnicity, gender, mood, and linguistic ability. Both groups performed similarly on semantic and nonverbal fluency as well as on tests of attention/working memory. These findings support previous literature suggesting that self-construal may be differentially associated with verbal and nonverbal measures (Hedden et al., 2002). Notably, race and ethnicity did not differ between groups, possibly highlighting the utility of measuring self-construal as an underlying perceptual process in cross-cultural research.

As described previously, verbal fluency measures rely on several processes linked to various cortical regions. Interestingly, performance on these measures does not always rely on semantic memory or vocabulary knowledge. McDowd et al. (2011) explain that overall performance on verbal fluency measures is most consistently predicted by the speed of processing with an additional, albeit secondary, contribution of executive processes. This synergistic effect of processing speed and executive functioning might explain why the effect was not found in untimed attention/working memory verbal tasks (Digit Span forward and backward) or in non-verbal design fluency, which relies primarily on motor planning and visual scanning rather than processing speed (Suchy et al., 2010). Future studies that include measures of processing speed are needed to further investigate this hypothesis.

Our results complement extant literature in various ways. These findings suggest a differential effect of IC on frontal lobe mediated cognition. In a young adult sample, our group previously reported no effect of self-construal on cognition in young adults (Medina et al., 2014). In light of the current results, an effect of age is suggested such that older collectivists may be more accustomed than individualists to such executive and processing demands and, thus, are more capable of compensating. Taken together with the results in young adults, it may be that normal cognitive decline as part of the aging process may magnify differences between collectivists and individualists. That is, aging may differentially impact individualists who may be less likely to compensate for executive declines as we observed in collectivists. Furthermore, our findings indicate that this cognitive advantage exists in verbal measures of both action and letter fluency, but is not evident in other measures of verbal and nonverbal fluency. While letter fluency also shares similar pathways with semantic fluency measures, it has been proposed

Measure		Individualist $N = \frac{1}{2}$	42	Collectivist N = 44					
	Mean	SE	95% CI	Mean	SE	95% CI			
AFT	21.94	0.83	20.3–23.6	23.12	0.80	21.5–24.7			
FAS	32.03	1.72	28.6-35.4	37.78	1.66	34.5-41.1			
Animals	18.01	0.71	16.6-19.4	18.94	0.68	17.6–20.3			
Vegetables	11.54	0.60	10.4-12.7	12.15	0.58	11.0–13.3			
Design fluency switch	6.03	0.25	5.3-6.7	6.19	0.33	5.5-6.9			
Design fluency non-switching	8.59	0.45	7.7–9.5	9.00	0.43	8.1–9.9			
DS-F	9.63	0.29	9.1-10.2	9.81	0.28	9.3–10.4			
DS-B	6.62	0.30	6.0-7.2	6.68	0.29	6.1–7.3			

TABLE 3 | Estimated means (SE) on cognitive measures by self-construal controlling for ethnicity, race, and WRAT-Reading.

Note: SE, standard error; CI, confidence interval; AFT, Action Fluency Test; FAS, phonemic fluency with F, A, and S; DS-F, digit span forward; DS-B, digit span backward.

that there is greater demand of initiation and maintenance of retrieval strategies in letter fluency, similar to action fluency, suggesting greater sensitivity to left frontal lobe function in letter fluency and action fluency than in tests of semantic fluency (Piatt et al., 1999).

The current findings additionally raise some questions regarding how self-construal can play a role in applied settings. For instance, demographic variables such as race and ethnicity are more commonly accounted for, or at least documented, in clinical settings and normative samples relative to IC. However, it is unknown how much of their effect on cognitive measures is potentially mediated or moderated by self-construal. Given the dynamic nature of culture, it is difficult to ascertain how these and other demographic variables interact to paint an individual's cognitive profile. More research in this area could help answer some of these questions.

This study was limited by several factors. The resulting sample size of 86 individuals was adequately powered (96%) for large effect sizes, but less powered (*post hoc* = 65%) for medium effect sizes. As shown in Table 1, the sample was limited in its diversity, particularly in relation to ethnicity and race, variables typically examined in the context of cultural differences and potentially related to self-construal. This might explain why, contrary to expectations, race and ethnicity were not related to self-construal. Nevertheless, while many studies on self-construal employ an East/West paradigm to capitalize on cultural differences, the study of self-construal within a homogeneous sample in a single culture has been previously demonstrated. For instance, work in this area has examined self-construal in both a purely Japanese sample, reflecting an "East," or collectivist, population (Kitayama et al., 2017), as well as in a purely United States sample, reflecting a "West," or individualist, population. Moreover, the self-construal scores observed in the reported sample are consistent with other published work on this topic. Specifically, on the TST, individualists showed a higher proportion of "private" or self-attribute (i.e., individualist) responses compared to collectivists, 72% vs. 22%, respectively—in a pattern consistent with results reported by Markus and Kitayama (1991); the opposite pattern was observed for collectivist responses on the TST: collectivists = 64%, individualists = 15%. Individualists and collectivists also demonstrated significantly different vertical individualism and vertical collectivism sub-scores in the expected directions on the INDCOL, consistent with the differences reported by Singelis et al. (1995) in a more diverse sample. Therefore, we are confident that the observed effect is consistent with the literature on self-construal. We hypothesize that this effect would be greater when using traditional East/West paradigms. In the context of our sample's limited ethno-racial diversity, our results further support the measure and study of self-construal as a variable separate from race and ethnicity.

The current study also had a limited cognitive battery. In spite of evidence that the measures administered are sensitive to cognitive decline in older adults (see Clark et al., 2012), it remains possible that not all these measures are sensitive enough to detect differences in a healthy sample of individualists and collectivists. A more expansive battery of tests that are more challenging or sensitive might aid future research. Cultural neuroscience research utilizing neuroimaging techniques such as EEG and fMRI has also elucidated how processes and brain activation patterns may differ between cultures while performance remains equivalent between groups (e.g., Kitayama and Park, 2010). Therefore, in a similar fashion, although individualists and collectivists may perform similarly on a cognitive task, differences in process may exist. Neuropsychological tests allowing for the measure of process approaches (e.g., serial clustering vs. semantic clustering in a verbal list-learning task, global vs. local attention to drawing sequence in a complex figure task) might aid in the identification of these.

Lastly, without true experimentation, it is not possible to posit any causality in the relationship between self-construal and cognition. Recent literature has demonstrated the benefits of being able to prime self-construal in individuals to investigate the impact of IC on psychological processes (Chiao et al., 2010) and that such priming can impact performance on a contextual memory task (Grossmann and Jowhari, 2017). The direct effect of IC could thus be examined in the context of cognitive fluency and other neuropsychological performance using a prime/no-prime experimental design.

Despite these limitations, these findings have implications for future research. Neuropsychological research methods typically focus on traditional demographics, primarily those including race, ethnicity, gender, and age. However, we still do not fully grasp the mechanism underlying the role of cultural variables in cognition (Manly, 2005). Likewise, we are limited in our understanding of how these interact with other cultural variables or how other variables are similarly related to cognitive processes. As has been proposed by Na et al. (2017), cognitive functioning and cultural values may interact with each other through moderated mediation processes to determine cognitive processes. A cultural neuroscience framework incorporating multiple factors—micro and macro, biological and behavioral, process and performance—would aid greatly in expanding our comprehension of our increasingly diverse world. This attention to issues related to cultural diversity in our studies is likely to clarify past and future research findings.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Declaration of Helsinki and the American Psychological Association ethical standards with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the San Diego State University Institutional Review Board.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LM, MS, MY, JF, SW and PG all provided substantial contributions either to the conception and design of the

REFERENCES

- Arnett, J. J. (2002). The psychology of globalization. Am. Psychol. 57, 774–783. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.57.10.774
- Baldo, J. V., Shimamura, A. P., Delis, D. C., Kramer, J., and Kaplan, E. (2001). Verbal and design fluency in patients with frontal lobe lesions. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 7, 586–596. doi: 10.1017/s1355617701755063
- Bartzokis, G. (2004). Age-related myelin breakdown: a developmental model of cognitive decline and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 25, 5–18; author reply 49–62. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2003.03.001
- Bochner, S. (1994). Cross-cultural differences in the self-concept: a test of hofstede's individualism collectivism distinction. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 25, 273–283. doi: 10.1177/0022022194252007
- Cagigas, X. E. (2008). Cultural determinants of category learning. Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering. ProQuest Information & Learning. http://ezproxy.lib.uh.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=psyh&AN=2008-99200-086&site=ehost-live
- Chiao, J. Y., and Ambady, N. (2007). "Cultural Neuroscience: Parsing Universality and Diversity Across Levels of Analysis," in *Handbook of Cultural Psychology*, eds S. Kitayama and D. Cohen (New York, NY: Guilford Press), 237–254.
- Chiao, J. Y., Harada, T., Komeda, H., Li, Z., Mano, Y., Saito, D., et al. (2010). Dynamic cultural influences on neural representations of the self. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 22, 1–11. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2009.21192
- Clark, L. R., Schiehser, D. M., Weissberger, G. H., Salmon, D. P., Delis, D. C., and Bondi, M. W. (2012). Specific measures of executive function predict cognitive decline in older adults. *J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc.* 18, 118–127. doi: 10.1017/s1355617711001524
- Delis, D., Kaplan, E., and Kramer, J. (2001). *Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System*. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation.
- Dunn, A. L., and Fox Tree, J. E. (2009). A quick, gradient bilingual dominance scale. *Biling. Lang. Cogn.* 12, 273–289. doi: 10.1017/s1366728909 990113
- Elgamal, S. A., Roy, E. A., and Sharratt, M. T. (2011). Age and verbal fluency: the mediating effect of speed of processing. *Can. Geriatr. J.* 14, 66–72. doi: 10.5770/cgj.v14i3.17

study, analysis, and/or interpretation of the results. LM also participated in data acquisition (subject recruitment and cognitive evaluation). Additionally, all authors critically revisited the work, approved its final version for publishing, and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of such work.

FUNDING

This work was supported by a National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship under Grant No. DGE-0738622 and a Dissertation Award from the American Psychological Association awarded to LM. Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the National Science Foundation or American Psychological Association.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Scott Roesch, PhD, for his contribution to the statistical design and to the participants and collaborators who made this research possible.

- Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., and McHugh, P. R. (1975). "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 12, 189–198. doi: 10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6
- Gerton, B. K., Brown, T. T., Meyer-Lindenberg, A., Kohn, P., Holt, J. L., Olsen, R. K., et al. (2004). Shared and distinct neurophysiological components of the digits forward and backward tasks as revealed by functional neuroimaging. *Neuropsychologia* 42, 1781–1787. doi: 10.1016/j. neuropsychologia.2004.04.023
- Grossmann, I., and Jowhari, N. (2017). Cognition and the self: attempt of an independent close replication of the effects of self-construal priming on spatial memory recall. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 74, 65–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2017.08.005
- Hedden, T., Park, D. C., Nisbett, R., Ji, L.-J., Jing, Q., and Jiao, S. (2002). Cultural variation in verbal versus spatial neuropsychological function across the life span. *Neuropsychology* 16, 65–73. doi: 10.1037//0894-4105.16.1.65
- Helms, J. E., Jernigan, M., and Mascher, J. (2005). The meaning of race in psychology and how to change it: a methodological perspective. *Am. Psychol.* 60, 27–36. doi: 10.1037/0003-066x.60.1.27
- Kempler, D., Teng, E. L., Dick, M., Taussig, I. M., and Davis, D. S. (1998). The effects of age, education, and ethnicity on verbal fluency. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 4, 531–538. doi: 10.1017/S1355617798466013
- Kitayama, S., and Park, J. (2010). Cultural neuroscience of the self: understanding the social grounding of the brain. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 5, 111–129. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsq052
- Kitayama, S., and Uskul, A. K. (2011). Culture, mind, and the brain: current evidence and future directions. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 62, 419–449. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-120709-145357
- Kitayama, S., Yanagisawa, K., Ito, A., Ueda, R., Uchida, Y., and Abe, N. (2017). Reduced orbitofrontal cortical volume is associated with interdependent selfconstrual. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 114, 7969–7974. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1704831114
- Kuhn, M. H., and McPartland, T. S. (1954). An empirical investigation of selfattitudes. Am. Sociol. Rev. 19, 68–76. doi: 10.2307/2088175

Lanza, S. T., Flaherty, B. P., and Collins, L. M. (2003). "Latent class and latent transition analysis," in *Handbook of Psychology: Vol. 2 Research Methods in Psychology*, eds J. A. Schinka and W. F. Velicer (Hoboken, NJ: Wiley), 663–685.

Lezak, M. D. (1982). The problem of assessing executive functions. *Int. J. Psychol.* 17, 281–297. doi: 10.1080/00207598208247445

- Lezak, M. D., Howieson, D. B., Bigler, E. D., and Tranel, D. (2012). *Neuropsychological Assessment*. 5th Edn. Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press.
- Lezak, M. D., Howieson, D. B., Loring, D. W., Hannay, H. J., and Fischer, J. S. (2004). *Neuropsychological Assessment*. 4th Edn. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Lubke, G. H., and Muthén, B. (2005). Investigating population heterogeneity with factor mixture models. *Psychol. Methods* 10, 21–39. doi: 10.1037/1082-989x. 10.1.21
- Manly, J. J. (2005). Advantages and disadvantages of separate norms for African Americans. *Clin. Neuropsychol.* 19, 270–275. doi: 10.1080/13854040590 945346
- Manly, J. J., Schupf, N., Tang, M.-X., and Stern, Y. (2005). Cognitive decline and literacy among ethnically diverse elders. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry Neurol. 18, 213–217. doi: 10.1177/0891988705281868
- Markus, H. R., and Kitayama, S. (1991). Culture and the self: implications for cognition, emotion, and motivation. *Psychol. Rev.* 98, 224–253. doi: 10.1037//0033-295x.98.2.224
- McDowd, J., Hoffman, L., Rozek, E., Lyons, K. E., Pahwa, R., Burns, J., et al. (2011). Understanding verbal fluency in healthy aging, Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. *Neuropsychology* 25, 210–225. doi: 10.1037/ a0021531
- McGinnis, S. M., Brickhouse, M., Pascual, B., and Dickerson, B. C. (2011). Agerelated changes in the thickness of cortical zones in humans. *Brain Topogr.* 24, 279–291. doi: 10.1007/s10548-011-0198-6
- Medina, L. D., Seewald, M., Becerra Cuellar, D. C., Sadler, M. S., Filoteo, J. V., and Gilbert, P. E. (2014). "Self-construal as a predictor of cognitive abilities in healthy aging," in *International Neuropsychological Society Annual Meeting*, Seattle, WA.
- Murray, M. E., Senjem, M. L., Petersen, R. C., Hollman, J. H., Preboske, G. M., Weigand, S. D., et al. (2010). Functional impact of white matter hyperintensities in cognitively normal elderly subjects. *Arch. Neurol.* 67, 1379–1385. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2010.280
- Na, J., Huang, C.-M., and Park, D. C. (2017). When age and culture interact in an easy and yet cognitively demanding task: older adults, but not younger adults, showed the expected cultural differences. *Front. Psychol.* 8:457. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00457
- Park, D., and Gutchess, A. (2006). The cognitive neuroscience of aging and culture. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 15, 105–108. doi: 10.1111/j.0963-7214.2006.00416.x
- Park, D. C., and Huang, C.-M. (2010). Culture wires the brain: a cognitive neuroscience perspective. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 5, 391–400. doi: 10.1177/1745691610374591
- Peng, K., Nisbett, R. E., and Wong, N. Y. C. (1997). Validity problems comparing values across cultures and possible solutions. *Psychol. Methods* 2, 329–344. doi: 10.1037//1082-989x.2.4.329
- Piatt, A. L., Fields, J. A., Paolo, A. M., and Tröster, A. I. (1999). Action (verb naming) fluency as an executive function measure: convergent and divergent evidence of validity. *Neuropsychologia* 37, 1499–1503. doi: 10.1016/s0028-3932(99)00066-4

- Roesch, S. C., Villodas, M., and Villodas, F. (2010). Latent class/profile analysis in maltreatment research: a commentary on Nooner et al., Pears et al., and looking beyond. *Child Abuse Negl.* 34, 155–160. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2010. 01.003
- Sabbagh, M. A., Xu, F., Carlson, S. M., Moses, L. J., and Lee, K. (2006). The development of executive functioning and theory of mind: a comparison of Chinese and U.S. Preschoolers. *Psychol. Sci.* 17, 74–81. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2005.01667.x
- Santamaría, A., de la Mata, M. L., Hansen, T. G. B., and Ruiz, L. (2010). Cultural self-construals of Mexican, Spanish and Danish college students: beyond independent and interdependent self. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 41, 471–477. doi: 10.1177/0022022109359694
- Singelis, T. M., Triandis, H. C., Bhawuk, D. P. S., and Gelfand, M. J. (1995). Horizontal and vertical dimensions of individualism and collectivism: A theoretical and measurement refinement. *Cross-Cult. Res.* 29, 240–275. doi: 10.1177/106939719502900302
- Stephenson, M. (2000). Development and validation of the Stephenson multigroup acculturation scale (SMAS). *Psychol. Assess.* 12, 77–88. doi: 10.1037//1040-3590.12.1.77
- Suchy, Y., Kraybill, M. L., and Gidley Larson, J. C. (2010). Understanding design fluency: motor and executive contributions. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 16, 26–37. doi: 10.1017/s1355617709990804
- Triandis, H. C. (1996). The psychological measurement of cultural syndromes. *Am. Psychol.* 51, 407–415. doi: 10.1037//0003-066x.51.4.407
- Triandis, H., and Gelfand, M. J. (1998). Converging measurement of horizontal and vertical individualism and collectivism. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 74, 118–128. doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.74.1.118
- Wilkinson, G. S., and Robertson, G. J. (2006). WRAT4: Wide Range Achievement Test. Lutz, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Yesavage, J. A., Brink, T. L., Rose, T. L., Lum, O., Huang, V., Adey, M., et al. (1982). Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: a preliminary report. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 17, 37–49. doi: 10.1016/0022-3956(82)90033-4
- Ziegler, D. A., Piguet, O., Salat, D. H., Prince, K., Connally, E., and Corkin, S. (2010). Cognition in healthy aging is related to regional white matter integrity, but not cortical thickness. *Neurobiol. Aging* 31, 1912–1926. doi: 10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2008.10.015

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Medina, Sadler, Yeh, Filoteo, Woods and Gilbert. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Age and Race-Related Differences in Sleep Discontinuity Linked to Associative Memory Performance and Its Neural Underpinnings

Emily Hokett* and Audrey Duarte

Memory and Aging Lab, Department of Psychology, Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA, United States

There is a strong relationship between sleep and memory for the details of past events. In old age, both episodic memory performance and related neural activity decline. These changes occur in parallel to age-related decreases in sleep quality. Thus, poor sleep quality may be an explanatory factor for poor memory in older adulthood. Furthermore, Black adults tend to sleep more poorly than White adults, and this could be explained by differences in health and psychosocial factors (e.g., socioeconomic status, racerelated stress). However, there have been no studies investigating the effect of race on sleep quality, episodic memory, and memory-related neural function. In the current pilot study, we recruited a diverse sample of older and younger adults and measured their habitual sleep using a wrist-worn accelerometer for 1 week. We recorded their electroencephalography (EEG) as they performed an episodic memory task to assess the impact of habitual sleep on memory-related neural oscillations. We found that more variable sleep quality was associated with worse memory performance, particularly for older adults. Additionally, Black participants demonstrated greater intraindividual sleep variance than White participants, and greater sleep variance was strongly linked to reduced memory-related neural activity in Black participants. Taken together, maintaining good sleep quality is especially important for memory performance in older adulthood, and greater sleep variation, that is evident in Black adults, may hamper memory-related neural function.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Björn H. Schott, Leibniz Institute for Neurobiology (LG), Germany

Reviewed by:

Veronica Guadagni, University of Calgary, Canada Michael K. Scullin, Baylor University, United States

*Correspondence:

Emily Hokett emily.hokett@gatech.edu

Received: 04 March 2019 **Accepted:** 14 May 2019 **Published:** 04 June 2019

Citation:

Hokett E and Duarte A (2019) Age and Race-Related Differences in Sleep Discontinuity Linked to Associative Memory Performance and Its Neural Underpinnings. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 13:176. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2019.00176 Keywords: sleep quality, episodic memory, neural oscillations, alpha, aging, diversity

INTRODUCTION

The importance of sleep for memory consolidation has been firmly established (for a review, see Rasch and Born, 2013). Sleep manipulation studies (sleep vs. wake, sleep deprivation) show that episodic memory, or memory for previously experienced events, is sleep dependent in young and older adults (Yoo et al., 2007; Aly and Moscovitch, 2010; Payne et al., 2012; Wilson et al., 2012). Labbased polysomnography studies have identified electroencephalography (EEG) sleep signatures that are indicative of memory consolidation (for a review see, Mander et al., 2017). It has been found that sleep spindles predict subsequent memory-related hippocampal activity in young and older adults (Mander et al., 2013). However, such studies do not allow for assessments of natural sleep patterns, from the comfort of one's own home, nor do they typically monitor sleep over multiple nights. This type of measurement is necessary to examine habitual sleep quality, which has been tied to poorer memory in older adults (Wilckens et al., 2014; Cavuoto et al., 2016).

Meta-analyses and large studies have shown that older adults, as compared to young adults, are more likely to experience chronic sleep disruptions that include reduced total sleep time (TST) and increased wake after sleep onset (WASO; Carrier et al., 2001; Ohayon et al., 2004). There is also evidence that older adults experience more night-time awakenings (Dijk et al., 2001). Prior research suggests that older adults are not as affected by sleep as young adults are (Gui et al., 2017); however, these studies are typically limited to sleepwake comparisons. Such broad manipulations do not capture individual differences in habitual sleep quality that may be more sensitive to memory in older adults. Importantly, individual differences in sleep quality measures, that can be captured by actigraphy, have been linked to individual differences in episodic memory performance, particularly in older adults (Mary et al., 2013; Wilckens et al., 2014; Seelye et al., 2015; Cavuoto et al., 2016). For example, research has shown that habitual sleep discontinuity, calculated as mean sleep disruption over time, (e.g., WASO) disproportionately affects memory recall in older adults (Wilckens et al., 2014). Subjective measures of sleep discontinuity have illustrated similar relationships; the selfreported number of night time awakenings has been negatively linked to associative memory recall in older, but not young adults (Mary et al., 2013). This limited evidence suggests that older adults are particularly sensitive to mean sleep discontinuity, but the relationship between night-to-night intraindividual variance in sleep discontinuity has not been studied.

While age-related differences in the effect of habitual sleep quality on episodic memory has been investigated, race-related differences in these effects are largely unexplored. The majority of research investigating age-related changes in sleep and memory has either not reported racial demographics of study participants or has been limited to predominantly White participant samples. Importantly, however, population studies have consistently reported poorer sleep in minorities, including Black and Latino Americans, than White individuals (Hicken et al., 2013; Slopen and Williams, 2014; Cunningham et al., 2016; Turner et al., 2016). Education has been related to sleep quantity and quality in minorities (Hicken et al., 2013; Slopen and Williams, 2014; Turner et al., 2016), but this relationship is thought to be confounded by variables associated with lower education such as poorer living and working conditions (Bixler, 2009). Moreover, a few studies have shown that after adjusting for education, psychosocial factors, particularly discrimination and race-related stress, explain racial/ethnic differences in sleep quality (Hicken et al., 2013; Slopen and Williams, 2014). However, it is important to note that these studies subjectively measured sleep quality with short questionnaires. Thus, it remains unknown if similar racial differences exist for objectively measured sleep quality and the extent to which such differences contribute to individual differences in memory performance.

The underlying neural oscillations involved in episodic memory have not been explored in relation to habitual sleep quality. Neural oscillations in the alpha and theta frequency have been consistently linked to memory performance (for a review see, Hanslmayr et al., 2012; Hanslmayr et al., 2016). One such study found that alpha desynchronization increases as a function of the amount of successfully retrieved information (Khader and Rösler, 2011). Furthermore, compared to restful sleep, acute sleep restriction has been shown to reduce retrieval-related alpha desynchronization (Alberca-Reina et al., 2015). Thus, the research demonstrates that sleep is related to waking, memory-related neural activity. However, there is an absence of research examining these effects in relation to habitual sleep quality, or sleep over time, which emphasizes the necessity of the present pilot study.

The current study is the first to examine interactions between age and race on both the mean and intraindividual variance of habitual sleep quality and their contribution to episodic memory performance and related neural activity. Given evidence showing that sleep affects memory performance and memoryrelated neural activity during episodic retrieval (for a review see, Kreutzmann et al., 2015), we hypothesize that poorer and more variable habitual sleep quality will predict worse memory performance and reduced memory-related neural oscillations. Furthermore, considering the well-established reductions in sleep quality in older adults and minority groups, poor sleep quality may disproportionately relate to memory performance in older, Black participants.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Eighty-one participants (45 older, 36 younger) from the Georgia Institute of Technology and the Atlanta community enrolled for the present study. Young adults were recruited within the age range of 18 to 37 years, and older adults were recruited from 56 to 76 years. All participants were right-handed, native English speakers, with normal or corrected to normal vision, free of uncontrolled psychiatric disorders, neurological disorders, sleep disorders, and vascular disease. All participants signed consent forms approved by the Georgia Institute of Technology Institutional Review Board.

Sleep data for all 81 participants were used for a principal components analysis (PCA) of sleep data (see section "Principal Components Analysis"). Eleven of the 81 subjects were excluded from further analyses because they were run on an early procedure in which a delay was placed between encoding and retrieval, 2 did not finish the experiment, 7 had insufficient numbers of trials for EEG analysis (i.e., fewer than 10 misses or high confidence hits), and 11 did not identify as either Black or White. The age and racial breakdown of the final sample are shown in **Table 1**.

Procedure

Participants were administered a battery of standardized neuropsychological tests to rule out mild cognitive impairments. The test battery consisted of subtests from the Memory Assessment Scale (Williams, 1991) including list recognition, visual recognition, and verbal span. Participants also

TABLE 1 | Group characteristics by age and race.

Measure	You	ng	c	Did			
	Black (<i>n</i> = 11)	White (n = 9)	Black (<i>n</i> = 9)	White (<i>n</i> = 21)	1	2	3
Age	25.09(1.71)	22.89 (1.36)	63.33 (1.65)	69.42 (0.97)	**	***	
Gender (Women/Men)	6/5	6/3	4/5	12/9			
Education	15.00 (0.38)	15.44 (2.79)	15.22 (0.70)	15.29 (0.46)			
High Confidence d'	1.69 (0.20)	1.65 (0.77)	1.33 (0.23)	1.04 (0.17)		*	
High Confidence Trials	0.67 (0.05)	0.64 (0.03)	0.73 (0.05)	0.75 (0.04)			
List Recognition	11.75 (0.16)	12.00 (0.00)	11.50 (0.27)	12.00 (0.00)			*
Visual Recognition	16.82 (1.27)	17.67 (1.27)	13.11 (1.86)	15.43 (0.92)		*	
Verbal Span	12.64 (0.62)	11.33 (1.00)	9.22 (0.74)	10.95 (0.55)		*	
Trials A (seconds)	25.62 (2.51)	22.85 (1.92)	35.19 (3.00)	35.63 (2.71)		*	
Trials B (seconds)	66.91 (9.77)	54.45 (5.86)	101.50 (13.01)	67.67 (2.85)		*	*
MOCA	27.55 (0.37)	28.00 (0.55)	23.33 (1.01)	27.40 (0.41)	***	***	**
DASS-Stress	3.00 (1.12)	4.78 (1.28)	2.78 (0.98)	3.52 (0.71)			
IRRS-B Cultural	28.75 (5.12)	21.25 (3.12)	28.00 (7.08)	14.33 (2.20)			**
IRRS-B Institutional	10.50 (2.40)	9.75 (2.17)	12.25 (3.54)	6.50 (0.50)			*
IRRS-B Individual	11.25 (3.35)	7.50 (1.50)	13.33 (2.40)	6.44 (0.44)			*
Income			33434.67 (4851.62)	59856.71 (4013.46)	**		
TST-M	397.93 (20.32)	417.89 (17.92)	350.95 (15.04)	411.37 (11.39)			*
TST-V	12706.23 (4561.47)	5047.56 (1200.78)	5046.26 (1552.16)	3889.18 (978.34)			*
Number of Awakenings-M	15.70 (2.15)	16.16 (2.42)	17.96 (2.71)	13.23 (0.97)			
Number of Awakenings-V	43.31 (9.00)	23.70 (4.40)	25.28 (6.22)	20.20 (4.20)			
Sleep Efficiency-M	87.27 (1.51)	88.65 (2.84)	82.55 (3.90)	89.64 (0.90)			*
Sleep Efficiency-V	29.94 (8.41)	25.71 (16.22)	34.22 (15.88)	21.01 (4.24)			
WASO-M	49.14 (6.43)	47.53 (13.84)	74.17 (19.49)	43.80 (4.48)			
WASO-V	841.74 (290.19)	557.76 (367.69)	596.88 (139.94)	660.88 (181.70)			
SFI-M	29.48 (3.01)	24.03 (4.03)	40.26 (5.16)	24.67 (1.25)			**
SFI-V	134.31 (31.57)	90.43 (18.42)	169.09 (33.03)	114.24 (18.28)			
Sleep Discontinuity Component - M	0.06 (0.28)	-0.03 (0.34)	0.57 (0.51)	-0.26 (0.13)			
Sleep Time Component- M	0.05 (0.31)	0.47 (0.34)	-0.63 (0.22)	0.23 (0.17)		*	
Sleep Discontinuity Component-V	0.39 (0.35)	-0.20 (0.25)	-0.32 (0.22)	-0.30 (0.22)			
Sleep Time Component - V	0.32 (0.46)	-0.33 (0.21)	0.35 (0.43)	-0.14 (0.17)			

The standard error of the mean is in parentheses. Mean differences between old Black and old White are in column 1; age group main effects are marked in column 2; and racial group main effects are in column 3. There were no significant differences between young Black and young White participants. The IRRS-B measures are based on a smaller subset of participants. TST = Total Sleep Time; WASO = Wake After Sleep Onset; SFI = sleep fragmentation index; M = mean; V = variance. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.

completed Trials A and B, a subtest of the Halstead-Reitan Neuropsychological Test Battery (Reitan and Wolfson, 1985). Lastly, the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MOCA; Nasreddine et al., 2005) was administered to further test for mild cognitive impairments. The MOCA cutoff score of 26 was used as a guide in conjunction with the other neuropsychological tests, as the MOCA was developed in Montreal and may not be able to fairly assess the cognitive status of people from different educational, cultural, and racial backgrounds (Manly, 2005; Sink et al., 2015; Carson et al., 2017). Given that the aim of this study was to investigate a diverse sample, we did not exclude participants who scored lower than 26 on the MOCA. Instead, we examined scores from both the neuropsychological assessment and experimental task to ensure that the participants could perform the tasks and did not suffer from cognitive impairment.

On the first lab visit, participants were given an accelerometer and an activity log. They were instructed to wear the ActiGraph wGT3X-BT accelerometer at all times (except for situations where water may damage the device such as when bathing or swimming).

They returned to the lab after a week of sleep measurement, and EEG was recorded as they performed an associative memory task (see **Figure 1**). Word stimuli for the memory task was chosen using two methods. In the first method, words were generated from the MRC Psycholinguistic Database: Machine Usable Dictionary, Version 2.00 (Wilson, 1988) according to general standards from previous studies (Dockree et al., 2015). All words ranged from 4 to 6 letters with a written frequency of 2 to 60. They had concrete and imaginability ratings of 300 to 700 (Frances and Kucera, 1982). We compiled 45 word pairs using this method and classified them into low, medium, and high similarity levels. For the second method, 207 word pairs were collected from a combination of databases that had empirically based similarity ratings (Finkelstein et al., 2002; Li et al., 2013;



Szumlanski et al., 2013; Hill et al., 2015). The word pairs were divided into separate categories for low, medium, and high similarity. Similarity levels were counterbalanced across blocks of the encoding task.

Encoding was divided into four blocks. Each block consisted of 63 trials, and each trial began with a word pair that remained on the screen for 3 s. On the following screen, participants were prompted to determine the similarity between the word pair previously presented. This task was given to encourage deep encoding and to minimize the use of varying mnemonic strategies across participants. They were given the options of "1" for minimally related to "3" for highly related (indicated as low, medium, and high). Participants had a minimum of 0.5 s and a maximum of 2 s to make this decision. In other words, if a response was given after 0.5 s, the trial ended at 0.5 s; if a response was chosen to allow participants who were slower enough time to respond, while also accommodating those who responded faster.

Participants began the intact/rearranged retrieval task shortly after encoding. Intact word pairs were presented with the same word that they were presented with at encoding, but the words in the first position were changed to the second position to avoid unitization of the word pairs (see Figure 1). Rearranged word pairs were presented with different words than paired with during the encoding task. No new words were presented at retrieval. One-third of the word pairs presented during encoding were rearranged, and two-thirds remained intact. This method was chosen to maximize the potential for data analysis, as only responses to intact word pairs were able to be compared to those during encoding. The task was divided into four blocks, each consisting of 63 trials. Each trial included an intact/rearranged decision and confidence judgement; participants were prompted to indicate their confidence in their response (low, medium, or high). The minimum time allotted for both responses was

0.5 s and the maximum was 2 s. There were three versions of the retrieval task that were counterbalanced across participants. Given that two-thirds of the pairs were intact and one-third of the pairs were rearranged, the third of the pairs that were rearranged were modified in each version. Thus, each pair was in the rearranged set in one of the versions.

After completion of the study participants were given a set of questionnaires to assess mood, caffeine intake, subjective sleep quality, and preferred time of day: the Pittsburg Sleep Quality Index (Buysse et al., 1989), Epworth Sleepiness Scale (Johns, 1991), the 21-item version of Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scale (DASS-21; Lovibond and Lovibond, 1995), the Caffeine Intake Questionnaire (Landrum, 1992), and the Morningness Eveningness Questionnaire (Horne and Ostberg, 1976). Participants were later emailed an online questionnaire to assess experiences of race-related stress using the Index of Race-Related Stress-Brief (IRRS-B; Utsey and Ponterotto, 1996).

EEG Acquisition

Electrophysiological signals were recorded from 32 Ag-AgCl electrodes using an ActiveTwo amplifier system (Biosemi, Amsterdam, Netherlands). Electrodes were positioned according to the extended 10-20 system (Nuwer et al., 1998). Electrodes were located at left/right hemisphere locations (FP1/FP2, AF3/AF4, F3/F4, F7/F8, FC1/FC2, FC5/FC6, C3/C4, T7/T8, CP1/CP2, CP5/CP6, P3/P4, P7/P8, PO3/PO4, O1/O2) and midline sites (Fz, Cz, Pz, Oz). Two electrodes were placed on the left and right mastoids for offline referencing. Vertical electrooculogram and horizontal electrooculogram were monitored by four additional electrodes placed above and below the right eye and on the outer canthus of each eye, respectively. The ActiveTwo system replaces traditional reference and ground electrodes with common mode sense and driven right leg electrodes, respectively. EEG was acquired with 24-bit resolution at a sampling rate of 512 Hz.

EEG Analysis

Offline EEG preprocessing was performed using EEGLAB (Delorme and Makeig, 2004), ERPLAB (Lopez-Calderon and Luck, 2014), and FIELDTRIP (Oostenveld et al., 2011) toolboxes, and this process was based on previous research in our lab (see Strunk et al., 2017). Continuous data was resampled to 256 Hz, referenced to the average value of the left and right mastoids, and band-pass filtered between 0.5 and 125 Hz. The data was epoched to the stimulus presentation (i.e., appearance of word pair at 0 ms) from -1000 to 3500 ms. Then, independent components analysis was run for ocular artifact detection. The independent components analysis was run on the first 20 principle components of the head electrodes. Components that resembled ocular artifacts (e.g., eye blinks and horizontal eye movements) were manually removed. Then, an automatic rejection algorithm was applied in order to detect extreme voltage shifts across more than one electrode. Following this process, the data was visually inspected to assess the epochs selected for rejection, and any ocular, electrical, or muscle artifacts were manually removed. The frequency decomposition was performed using Morlet wavelets with linearly spaced frequencies between 2 and 40 Hz at 5 cycles. The frequencies of interests were defined as theta (4 to 7 Hz), alpha (8 to 12 Hz), and beta (16 to 26 Hz).

Actigraphy Data

The sleep variables of interest were the means and variances (calculated as the squared standard deviation across each participant's week of sleep) for TST, WASO, sleep fragmentation index (SFI), and number of awakenings. TST is the total minutes spent asleep, and WASO is the sum of minutes spent awake after initially falling asleep. The SFI is a measure of restlessness during sleep; the number of awakenings is the frequency of awakenings during sleep.

Statistical Analysis

The statistical analyses were conducted using the Statistical Package of Social Sciences 24 (SPSS). In an effort to measure recollection-based memory, which is disproportionately affected by age and sleep (Drosopoulos et al., 2005; Koen and Yonelinas, 2014), memory performance was limited to d, calculated as the standardized proportion of high confidence hits subtracted from the standardized proportion high confidence false alarms. High confidence memory decisions have been found to be sensitive to age-related differences (Shing et al., 2009; Fandakova et al., 2013).

We used analysis of variance (ANOVA) to determine age and racial group differences. Age and racial group were entered as independent variables, and the dependent variables, neuropsychological measures, sleep discontinuity (mean and variance), and d, were separately assessed. Lastly, relationships between measures of sleep discontinuity, and dependent variables, d and memory-related neural oscillations were examined. The PROCESS macro (Hayes, 2018) was used to determine if the relationships between sleep and memory were moderated by age group (young or old) or racial group (Black or White).

RESULTS

One older participant was not administered the MOCA because of having recently taken it. No participants were excluded for low MOCA scores, as all participants in the final sample were able to perform the experimental task, and the MOCA score did not reliably predict d' performance [r(47) = 0.034, p = 0.815]. Thus, we retained the final sample of 50 participants (20 young, 30 old).

Principal Components Analysis

Because of the intercorrelations among the sleep variables, we used PCA with Varimax rotation to obtain discrete sleep components. We included all enrolled participants (81; 36 young, 45 older) to obtain reliable components. We ran separate PCAs for the means and variances of the sleep variables. PCA components were retained if the Eigenvalues exceeded 1. Each PCA resulted in two components for the sleep means and sleep variances. Components were extracted as regression variables to examine their relationships with memory and underlying neural oscillations. Since the components were largely representations of disturbed sleep and sleep time or general fragmentation, we will refer to the first component as sleep discontinuity and the second as sleep time (see **Table 2**).

Alpha Desynchronization Memory Success Effect

We assessed mean differences for the contrast between high confidence hits and misses using cluster-corrected permutations (Oostenveld et al., 2011). Memory success effects were not found in the theta or beta frequency band. There were significant mean differences across participants in the alpha frequency from 440 to 1360 ms [t(49) = -4.691, p = 0.001]. The effect extended over 28 electrodes. Considering the broad topography of this effect, we divided the electrodes into frontal (Fp1;Fp2;AF3;F3;FC1;FC2;FC5;FC6;Fz), central (T7;T8;C3;C4;CP1;CP2;CP5;CP6;Cz), and posterior (P7;P8;P3;P4;PO3;PO4;Pz;O1;O2;Oz) regions to allow for the assessment of distinct spatial regions related to episodic memory;

	Sleep Variable	Sleep Discontinuity	Sleep Time
Mean	Total Sleep Time	-0.078	0.974
	Wake After Sleep Onset	0.919	-0.203
	Sleep Fragmentation	0.825	-0.420
	Number of Awakenings	0.909	0.159
Variance	Total Sleep Time	0.523	0.504
	Wake After Sleep Onset	0.736	0.091
	Sleep Fragmentation	-0.022	0.943
	Number of Awakenings	0.898	-0.011

The table displays the loadings for the sleep variables of interest. Bold text indicates the dominant variables.

these contrasts were all statistically significant ($p \le 0.002$). Each participant's mean for these memory success effects (high confidence hit vs. miss) were used to examine correlations between d' and sleep discontinuity.

Age and Racial Group Differences in Memory and Sleep Quality

An Age Group (Young, Old) × Race (Black, White) ANOVA revealed a main effect of Age for d^{2} [F(1,46) = 5.96, p = 0.033, $\eta^{2}partial = 0.095$]. There was no significant main effect of Race or interaction effect (p > 0.47). In the present sample, only the mean sleep time component demonstrated a significant main effect of Race (p = 0.02, $\eta^{2}partial = 0.115$; see **Table 1**); however, all sleep components in the behavioral sample reached significant main effects of Race (p < 0.03), indicating worse sleep quality in Black participants. Thus, we examined each sleep component as an independent variable of interest for the following correlational analyses.

Association Between Habitual Sleep Discontinuity and Memory Performance

After controlling for chronological age, sleep discontinuity variance correlated with *d*' in older adults [r(26) = -0.462, p = 0.013], but not young [r(16) = 0.168, p = 0.505]. Age group significantly moderated this relationship, even after controlling for years of age [$\Delta R^2 = 0.09$, F(1, 43) = 5.30, p = 0.03; see **Figure 2A**]. No other moderation effects between the sleep components and *d*' reached statistical significance.

Association Between Habitual Sleep Discontinuity and Alpha Desynchronization

After controlling for chronological age, sleep discontinuity variance significantly correlated with reduced memory-related alpha desynchronization for Black [r(15) = 0.685, p = 0.002, but not White r(27) = 0.007, p = 0.969] participants, particularly in posterior electrodes (see **Figure 2B**). Race significantly moderated this relationship after controlling for chronological age $[\Delta R^2 = 0.12, F(1, 43) = 6.75, p = 0.013]$. No other moderation effects between alpha desynchronization and the sleep components were statistically significant.

Age and Race-Related Differences in Moderation Effects

Taken together, the results demonstrate that intraindividual variance in habitual sleep discontinuity is linked to memory performance in older adults and memory-related alpha desynchronization in Black adults. A conceptual model of these findings is depicted in **Figure 2C**.

Race-Related Stress

The racial relationships found above could be related to differences in socioeconomic status. Based on zip code census data, Black participants reported living in poorer areas than White participants [t(28) = -3.381, p = 0.001]. This analysis was

limited to the older adult sample because the young adults were Georgia Tech students with similar zip codes. An Age Group (Young, Old) × Race (Black, White) ANOVA for the IRRS-B subscales demonstrated that Black participants, across age, reported more cultural, institutional, and individual experiences of race-related stress [F(1,16) = 10.09, p = 0.006, $\eta^2 partial = 0.387$; F(1,16) = 5.23, p = 0.035, $\eta^2 partial = 0.249$; F(1,15) = 8.33, p = 0.011, $\eta^2 partial = 0.357$]. Furthermore, variance in SFI was positively related to both cultural and individual race-related stress after controlling for chronological age [r(15) = 0.522; r(15) = 0.498, p < 0.05]. There were no racial group differences in the general stress variable measured by the DASS [F(1,46) = 1.51, p = 0.226, $\eta^2 partial = 0.032$].

DISCUSSION

The results of the present study reveal interesting interactions among variance in sleep discontinuity, associative memory, aging, and race. Consistent with previous research (Hicken et al., 2013; Slopen and Williams, 2014; Cunningham et al., 2016; Turner et al., 2016), we found numerical differences across measures of sleep discontinuity, illustrating that Black adults maintained poorer sleep quality than White adults. Differing from prior studies, we investigated the effects of the variance in sleep quality, or the changes in night-to-night sleep stability, on memory. We found that greater variance in sleep quality predicted worse memory performance in older adults, but not young. Sleep variance was also associated with reductions in the memory success effect of alpha desynchronization in Black adults, but not White adults, across age. In addition, neuropsychological measures of cognitive performance (e.g., MOCA) were not reliable predictors of high confidence memory performance, but sleep discontinuity was a reliable predictor. This result supports the notion that excluding participants using such measures may unnecessarily reduce racial/ethnic diversity in cognitively normal samples (Sink et al., 2015; Carson et al., 2017). These novel findings suggest that maintaining good sleep quality is especially important for memory in older adults and Black adults.

Older adults may be more sensitive to sleep quality because of age-related neuropathology such that age-related neural changes and poor sleep act as an additive effect to reduce memory performance (for a review see, Scullin, 2017). Moreover, race may moderate the relationship between sleep discontinuity and memory-related alpha desynchronization not inherently because of race, but because of race-related psychosocial factors. For example, we found that older, Black participants reported living in poorer areas, and Black adults across age reported experiencing more race-related stress. Moreover, stress levels have been found to affect confidence in memory, which could be related to a greater reliance on familiarity than recollection (Corbett et al., 2017). Greater sleep discontinuity in Black adults could be explained by interactions between stressful experiences of discrimination and health problems (e.g., greater body weight, diabetes, and heart disease) that commonly affect minority groups (Karlsen and Nazroo, 2002; Williams et al., 2015). Consistent with our findings, meta-analysis results show that



coefficients that are not adjusted for age are in parentheses. Boldface indicates significant statistics. Desync = desynchronization.

more variance in sleep quality is often found in minority groups and young adults, and it is often associated with poor physical and psychological health (Bei et al., 2016).

Nonetheless, research for night-to-night variance in sleep quality is particularly scarce, and the studies that have examined sleep variance are often limited to subjective, self-report measures (Bei et al., 2016). It should be noted that there are often discrepancies between self-report sleep measures and objective sleep measures, especially for night-time awakenings (King et al., 2017). Furthermore, relationships between natural sleep patterns and the neural underpinnings of memory are largely unknown. Most of the sleep and memory research is focused on sleep manipulations instead of habitual sleep quality, and there are no studies (to our knowledge) that investigate interactions between objective sleep quality, age, and race in relation to memory performance. Given that both minorities and older adults tend to sleep more poorly than other populations, it is surprising that these relationships have not been investigated. Future research should include race as a variable of interest in their studies, considering that the present study found that Black adults had poorer

sleep and a relationship between sleep and memory-related neural activity.

This pilot study is limited by its small sample size. It is also limited by its cross-sectional nature; thus, we cannot determine a causal relationship among the examined factors.

Although sleep difficulties are often found in older adults and minorities (Ohayon et al., 2004; Bei et al., 2016), the memory-related neural consequences of these effects are poorly understood. The results of this study highlight the importance of objectively investigating habitual sleep quality in larger, more diverse samples.

CONTRIBUTION TO THE FIELD STATEMENT

At least one in every three adults regularly obtains insufficient amounts of sleep, and those who do not maintain good sleep quality are disproportionately older adults, racial/ethnic minorities, or both older and of minority status. However, very little is known about the neurocognitive consequences of poor, objectively measured habitual sleep quality, specifically its effect on episodic memory. No prior study has investigated this relationship with both age and race as variables of interest. The current study found that older adults may be more sensitive to sleep discontinuity, as their memory performance was worse when there was greater variance in measures of sleep disruption. Furthermore, Black adults slept more poorly than White adults, and they demonstrated a relationship with memory-related neural oscillations and sleep discontinuity such that greater night-to-night variance in sleep discontinuity weakened memory-related neural activity. Thus, the results from the current study suggest that poor habitual sleep quality may have differential effects on memory depending upon age and racial group. These findings highlight the necessity of further investigating the relationship between habitual sleep quality and episodic memory in diverse samples.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Central Institutional Review Board

REFERENCES

- Alberca-Reina, E., Cantero, J. L., and Atienza, M. (2015). Impact of sleep loss before learning on cortical dynamics during memory retrieval. *NeuroImage* 123, 51–62. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.08.033
- Aly, M., and Moscovitch, M. (2010). The effects of sleep on episodic memory in older and younger adults. *Memory* 18, 327-334. doi: 10.1080/ 09658211003601548
- Bei, B., Wiley, J. F., Trinder, J., and Manber, R. (2016). Beyond the mean: a systematic review on the correlates of daily intraindividual variability of sleep/wake patterns. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 28, 104–120. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2015.06. 003
- Bixler, E. (2009). Sleep and society: an epidemiological perspective. Sleep Med. 10(Suppl. 1), S3–S6. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2009.07.005
- Buysse, D. J., Reynolds, C. F. III, Monk, T. H., Berman, S. R., and Kupfer, D. J. (1989). The pittsburgh sleep quality index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 28, 193–213. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4
- Carrier, J., Land, S., Buysse, D. J., Kupfer, D. J., and Monk, T. H. (2001). The effects of age and gender on sleep EEG power spectral density in the middle years of life (ages 20-60 years old). *Psychophysiology* 38, 232–242. doi: 10.1111/1469-8986. 3820232
- Carson, N., Leach, L., and Murphy, K. J. (2017). A re-examination of montreal cognitive assessment (MoCA) cutoff scores. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 33, 379–388. doi: 10.1002/gps.4756
- Cavuoto, M. G., Ong, B., Pike, K. E., Nicholas, C. L., Bei, B., and Kinsella, G. J. (2016). Objective but not subjective sleep predicts memory in communitydwelling older adults. J. Sleep Res. 25, 475–485. doi: 10.1111/jsr.12391
- Corbett, B., Weinberg, L., and Duarte, A. (2017). The effect of mild acute stress during memory consolidation on emotional recognition memory. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 145, 34–44. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2017.08.005
- Cunningham, T. J., Wheaton, A. G., Ford, E. S., and Croft, J. B. (2016). Racial/ethnic disparities in self-reported short sleep duration among US-born

(IRB) with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the IRB. The protocol was approved by the Georgia Tech IRB.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EH contributed to the conceptual design of the study and collected and analyzed the data. AD guided the conceptualization of the study and the interpretation of the results. EH and AD wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship Program awarded to EH (Grant Number: DGE-1650044).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Drs. Paul Verhaeghen and Mark Wheeler for helpful discussions about the study, and Jonathan Strunk, Brittany Corbett, Taylor James, and Patrick Powell for their assistance with coding for data analysis. We are also thankful for our undergraduate research assistants and research participants.

and foreign-born adults. *Ethn. Health* 21, 628–638. doi: 10.1080/13557858.2016. 1179724

- Delorme, A., and Makeig, S. (2004). EEGLAB: an open source toolbox for analysis of single-trial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. J. Neurosci. Methods 134, 9–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2003. 10.009
- Dijk, D. J., Duffy, J. F., and Czeisler, C. A. (2001). Age-related increase in awakenings: impaired consolidation of nonREM sleep at all circadian phases. *Sleep* 24, 565–577. doi: 10.1093/sleep/24.5.565
- Dockree, P. M., Brennan, S., O'Sullivan, M., Robertson, I. H., and O'Connell, R. G. (2015). Characterising neural signatures of successful aging: electrophysiological correlates of preserved episodic memory in older age. *Brain Cogn.* 97, 40–50. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2015.04.002
- Drosopoulos, S., Wagner, U., and Born, J. (2005). Sleep enhances explicit recollection recognition memory. *Learn. Memory* 12, 44–51. doi: 10.1101/lm. 83805
- Fandakova, Y., Shing, Y. L., and Lindenberger, U. (2013). High-confidence memory errors in old age: the roles of monitoring and binding processes. *Memory* 21, 732–750. doi: 10.1080/09658211.2012.756038
- Finkelstein, L., Gabrilovich, E., Matias, Y., Rivlin, E., Solan, Z., and Wolfman, G. (2002). Placing search in context: the concept revisited. ACM Trans. Inf. Syst. 20, 116–131. doi: 10.1145/503104.503110
- Frances, W. N., and Kucera, H. (1982). Frequency Analysis of English Usage. Lexon and Grammar. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.
- Gui, W., Li, H., Guo, Y., Peng, P., Lei, X., and Yu, J. (2017). Age-related differences in sleep-based memory consolidation: a meta- analysis. *Neuropsychologia* 97, 46–55. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2017.02.001
- Hanslmayr, S., Staresina, B. P., and Bowman, H. (2016). Oscillations and episodic memory: addressing the synchronization/desynchronization conundrum. *Trends Neurosci.* 39, 16–25. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2015.11.004
- Hanslmayr, S., Staudigl, T., and Fellner, M.-C. (2012). Oscillatory power decreases and long-term memory: the information via desynchronization hypothesis. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 6:74. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00074

- Hayes, A. F. (2018). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis, 2nd Edn. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Hicken, M. T., Lee, H., Ailshire, J., Burgard, S. A., and Williams, D. R. (2013). "Every shut eye, ain't sleep": the role of racism-related vigilance in racial/ethnic disparities in sleep difficulty. *Race Soc. Probl.* 5, 100–112. doi: 10.1007/s12552-013-9095-9
- Hill, F., Reichart, R., and Korhonen, A. (2015). Simlex-999: evaluating semantic models with (Genuine) similarity estimation. *Comput. Lingu.* 41, 665–695. doi: 10.1162/COLI_a_00237
- Horne, J. A., and Ostberg, O. (1976). A self-assessment questionnaire to determine morningness-eveningness in human circadian rhythms. *Int. J. Chronobiol.* 4, 97–110.
- Johns, M. W. (1991). A new method for measuring daytime sleepiness: the epworth sleepiness scale. *Sleep* 14, 540–545. doi: 10.1093/sleep/14.6.540
- Karlsen, S., and Nazroo, J. Y. (2002). Relation between racial discrimination, social class, and health among ethnic minority groups. Am. J. Public Health 92, 624–631. doi: 10.2105/ajph.92.4.624
- Khader, P. H., and Rösler, F. (2011). EEG power changes reflect distinct mechanisms during long-term memory retrieval. *Psychophysiology* 48, 362–369. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2010.01063.x
- King, E., Daunis, M., Tami, C., and Scullin, M. K. (2017). Sleep in studio based courses: outcomes for creativity task performance. J. Inter. Des. 42, 5–27. doi: 10.1111/joid.12104
- Koen, J. D., and Yonelinas, A. P. (2014). The effects of healthy aging, amnestic mild cognitive impairment, and alzheimer's disease on recollection and familiarity: a meta-analytic review. *Neuropsychol. Rev.* 24, 332–354. doi: 10.1007/s11065-014-9266-5
- Kreutzmann, J. C., Havekes, R., Abel, T., and Meerlo, P. (2015). Sleep deprivation and hippocampal vulnerability: changes in neuronal plasticity, neurogenesis and cognitive function. *Neuroscience* 309, 173–190. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience. 2015.04.053
- Landrum, R. E. (1992). College students' use of caffeine and its relationship to personality. *Coll. Stud. J.* 26, 151–155.
- Li, P., Zhu, K. Q., Wang, Z., Wang, H., and Wu, X. (2013). "Computing term similarity by large probabilistic is a knowledge," in *Proceedings of the 22nd* ACM International Conference on Conference on Information & Knowledge Management. (San Francisco, CA), 1401–1410.
- Lopez-Calderon, J., and Luck, S. J. (2014). ERPLAB: an open-source toolbox for the analysis of event-related potentials. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 8:213. doi: 10.3389/ fnhum.2014.00213
- Lovibond, S. H., and Lovibond, P. F. (1995). Manual for the Depression Anxiety Scales. (2nd Edn. Sydney: Psychology Foundation.
- Mander, B. A., Rao, V., Lu, B., Saletin, J. M., Ancoli-Israel, S., Jagust, W. J., et al. (2013). Impaired prefrontal sleep spindle regulation of hippocampal-dependent learning in older adults. *Cereb. Cortex* 24, 3301–3309. doi: 10.1093/cercor/ bht188
- Mander, B. A., Winer, J. R., and Walker, M. P. (2017). Sleep and human aging. *Neuron* 94, 19–36. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.02.004
- Manly, J. J. (2005). Advantages and disadvantages of separate norms for African Americans. Clin. Neuropsychol. 19, 270–275. doi: 10.1080/13854040590945346
- Mary, A., Schreiner, S., and Peigneux, P. (2013). Accelerated long-term forgetting in aging and intra-sleep awakenings. *Front. Psychol.* 4:750. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg. 2013.00750
- Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bedirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., et al. (2005). The montreal cognitive assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* 53, 695–699. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x
- Nuwer, M. R., Comi, G., Emerson, R., Fuglsang-Frederiksen, A., Guerit, J. M., Hinrichs, H., et al. (1998). IFCN standards for digital recording of clinical EEG. international federation of clinical neurophysiology. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 106, 259–261. doi: 10.1016/s0013-4694(97)00106-5
- Ohayon, M. M., Carskadon, M. A., Guilleminault, C., and Vitiello, M. V. (2004). Meta-analysis of quantitative sleep parameters from childhood to old age in healthy individuals: developing normative sleep values across the human lifespan. Sleep 27, 1255–1273. doi: 10.1093/sleep/27.7.1255
- Oostenveld, R., Fries, P., Maris, E., and Schoffelen, J. M. (2011). FieldTrip: open source software for advanced analysis of MEG, EEG, and invasive electrophysiological data. *Comput. Intell. Neurosci.* 2011:156869. doi: 10.1155/ 2011/156869

- Payne, J. D., Chambers, A. M., and Kensinger, E. A. (2012). Sleep promotes lasting changes in selective memory for emotional scenes. *Front. Integr. Neurosci.* 6:108. doi: 10.3389/fnint.2012.00108
- Rasch, B., and Born, J. (2013). About sleep's role in memory. *Physiol. Rev.* 93, 681–766. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00032.2012
- Reitan, R., and Wolfson, D. (1985). The Halstead-Reitan Neuropsychological Test Battery: Therapy and Clinical Assessment. Tucson, AZ: Neuropsychological Press.
- Scullin, M. K. (2017). Do older adults need sleep? A review of neuroimaging, sleep, and aging studies. *Curr. Sleep Med. Rep.* 3, 204–214. doi: 10.1007/s40675-017-0086-z
- Seelye, A., Mattek, N., Howieson, D., Riley, T., Wild, K., and Kaye, J. (2015). The impact of sleep on neuropsychological performance in cognitively intact older adults using a novel in-home sensor-based sleep assessment approach. *Clin. Neuropsychol.* 29, 53–66. doi: 10.1080/13854046.2015.100 5139
- Shing, Y. L., Werkle-Bergner, M., Li, S. C., and Lindenberger, U. (2009). Committing memory errors with high confidence: older adults do but children don't. *Memory* 17, 169–179. doi: 10.1080/09658210802190596
- Sink, K. M., Craft, S., Smith, S. C., Maldjian, J. A., Bowden, D. W., Xu, J., et al. (2015). Montreal cognitive assessment and modified mini mental state examination in African Americans. J. Aging Res. 2015, 1–6. doi: 10.1155/2015/ 872018
- Slopen, N., and Williams, D. R. (2014). Discrimination, other psychosocial stressors, and self-reported sleep duration and difficulties. *Sleep* 37, 147–156. doi: 10.5665/sleep.3326
- Strunk, J., James, T., Arndt, J., and Duarte, A. (2017). Age-related changes in neural oscillations supporting context memory retrieval. *Cortex* 91, 40–55. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2017.01.020
- Szumlanski, S., Gomez, F., and Sims, V. K. (2013). "A new set of norms for semantic relatedness measures," in *Proceedings of the 51st Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*. Vol. 2, (Sofia), 890–895.
- Turner, A. D., Lim, A. S., Leurgans, S. E., Bennett, D. A., Buchman, A. S., and Barnes, L. L. (2016). Self-reported sleep in older African Americans and White Americans. *Ethn. Dis.* 26, 521–528. doi: 10.18865/ed.26.4.521
- Utsey, S. O., and Ponterotto, J. G. (1996). Development and validation of the index of race-related stress (IRRS). J. Counsel. Psychol. 43, 490–501. doi: 10.1037/ /0022-0167.43.4.490
- Wilckens, K. A., Woo, S. G., Kirk, A. R., Erickson, K. I., and Wheeler, M. E. (2014). Role of sleep continuity and total sleep time in executive function across the adult lifespan. *Psychol. Aging* 29, 658–665. doi: 10.1037/a0037234
- Williams, E. P., Mesidor, M., Winters, K., Dubbert, P. M., Wyatt, S. B., Wyatt, S. B., et al. (2015). Overweight and obesity: prevalence, consequences, and causes of a growing public health problem. *Curr. Obes. Rep.* 4, 363–370. doi: 10.1007/s13679-015-0169-4
- Williams, J. (1991). *Memory Assessment Scales Professional Manual*. Odessa, FLA: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Wilson, J. K., Baran, B., Pace-Schott, E. F., Ivry, R. B., and Spencer, R. M. C. (2012). Sleep modulates word-pair learning but not motor sequence learning in healthy older adults. *Neurobiol. Aging* 33, 991–1000. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging. 2011.06.029
- Wilson, M. (1988). MRC psycholinguistic database: machine-usable dictionary, version 2.00. Behav. Res. Methods Instrum. Comput. 20, 6–10. doi: 10.3758/ BF03202594
- Yoo, S. S., Hu, P. T., Gujar, N., Jolesz, F. A., and Walker, M. P. (2007). A deficit in the ability to form new human memories without sleep. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 385–392. doi: 10.1038/nn1851

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Hokett and Duarte. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Disparities in Diffuse Cortical White Matter Integrity Between Socioeconomic Groups

Danielle Shaked^{1,2*†}, Daniel K. Leibel^{1†}, Leslie I. Katzel^{3,4}, Christos Davatzikos⁵, Rao P. Gullapalli⁶, Stephen L. Seliger^{4,7}, Guray Erus⁵, Michele K. Evans², Alan B. Zonderman² and Shari R. Waldstein^{1,3,4}

¹ Department of Psychology, University of Maryland, Baltimore, MD, United States, ² Laboratory of Epidemiology and Population Sciences, National Institute on Aging Intramural Research Program, Baltimore, MD, United States, ³ Division of Gerontology and Geriatric Medicine, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁴ Geriatric Research Education and Clinical Center, Baltimore VA Medical Center, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁵ Biomedical Image Analysis, Department of Radiology, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ⁶ Department of Diagnostic Radiology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁷ Division of Nephrology, Department of Medicine, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lisa L. Barnes, Rush University Medical Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Duke Han, University of Southern California, United States Laura Zahodne, University of Michigan, United States Melissa Lamar, Rush University Medical Center, United States

> *Correspondence: Danielle Shaked dshaked1@umbc.edu †These authors have contributed equally to this work

Received: 27 February 2019 Accepted: 27 May 2019 Published: 12 June 2019

Citation:

Shaked D, Leibel DK, Katzel LI, Davatzikos C, Gullapalli RP, Seliger SL, Erus G, Evans MK, Zonderman AB and Waldstein SR (2019) Disparities in Diffuse Cortical White Matter Integrity Between Socioeconomic Groups. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 13:198. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2019.00198 There is a growing literature demonstrating a link between lower socioeconomic status (SES) and poorer neuroanatomical health, such as smaller total and regional gray and white matter volumes, as well as greater white matter lesion volumes. Little is known, however, about the relation between SES and white matter integrity. Here we examined the relation between SES and white matter integrity of the brain's primary cortical regions, and evaluated potential moderating influences of age and self-identified race. Participants were 192 neurologically intact, community-dwelling African American and White adults (mean age = 52 years; 44% male, 60% White, low SES = 52%) from the Healthy Aging in Neighborhoods of Diversity across the Life Span (HANDLS) SCAN study. Participants underwent 3.0-T cranial magnetic resonance imaging. Diffusion tensor imaging was used to estimate regional fractional anisotropy (FA) to quantify the brain's white matter integrity and trace to capture diffusivity. Multiple regression analyses examined independent and interactive associations of SES, age, and race with FA of the frontal, temporal, parietal, and occipital lobes bilaterally. Sensitivity analyses assessed the influence of several biopsychosocial risk factors on these associations. Exploratory analyses examined these relations with trace and using additional SES indicators. Results indicated there were no significant interactions of SES, age, and race for any region. Individuals with low SES had lower FA in all regions, and higher trace in the right and left frontal, right and left temporal, and left occipital lobes. Findings remained largely unchanged after inclusion of sensitivity variables. Older age was associated with lower FA and greater trace for all regions, except for the right temporal lobe with FA. No main effects were found for race in FA, and Whites had higher trace values in the parietal lobes. Novel findings of this study indicate that relative to the high SES group, low SES

was associated with poorer white matter integrity and greater diffusivity. These results may, in part, reflect exposures to various biopsychosocial risk factors experienced by those of lower SES across the lifespan, and may help explain the preponderance of cognitive and functional disparities between socioeconomic groups.

Keywords: white matter integrity, health disparities, diffusion tensor imaging, socioeconomic status, race, age, neuroanatomical health

INTRODUCTION

There is a burgeoning literature demonstrating a link between socioeconomic status (SES) and neuroanatomical health. For instance, on average, those lower on the socioeconomic ladder have smaller total (Waldstein et al., 2017) and regional gray and white matter volumes (for reviews see: Hackman and Farah, 2009; McEwen and Gianaros, 2010; Brito and Noble, 2014). Studies have also shown that lower childhood (Murray et al., 2014) and adult SES (Waldstein et al., 2017) are related to greater white matter lesion burden in adults. Little is known however about the relation between SES and white matter integrity, and the present literature is equivocal.

At least two studies found no relation between SES and white matter microstructure (i.e., integrity) in children (Chiang et al., 2011; Jednorog et al., 2012), although one of those studies found that children from higher SES environments were more likely to inherit greater fractional anisotropy (FA) in several brain regions (Chiang et al., 2011). Conversely, at least two other studies found that higher levels of SES in children are associated with greater white matter integrity in several fiber tracts (Ursache and Noble, 2016; Dufford and Kim, 2017). One additional study in children found significant relations between SES and FA in certain white matter tracts, but these results were in the unexpected direction in that higher SES was linked to lower FA (Noble et al., 2013). Although the literature is limited, associations between lower SES in adulthood and poorer white matter integrity have also been found in both neurological disease (Teipel et al., 2009) and nonclinical (Piras et al., 2011; Gianaros et al., 2013; Johnson et al., 2013) adult populations. Inconsistencies in the literature could be due to several factors, such as differences in chronological age, sociodemographic makeup of the samples, and overall white matter maturation across study samples.

The majority of SES-white matter integrity findings have been demonstrated in major, localized white matter fiber tracts, such as the superior longitudinal fasciculus (Gianaros et al., 2013; Noble et al., 2013; Dufford and Kim, 2017) and the cingulum bundle (Noble et al., 2013; Ursache and Noble, 2016; Dufford and Kim, 2017). However, the unique constellation of brain regions affected by SES differs across studies, and there may be regional specificity to the relation between SES and white matter integrity. For instance, white matter integrity of the temporal lobe may be differentially important in the context of SES (Teipel et al., 2009; Piras et al., 2011). More research is needed to determine if relations between SES and FA are uniform to the entire brain, or regionally specific.

Previous studies have also reported associations between self-identified race and brain health endpoints. In the

United States, it is well documented that African Americans experience a disproportionate burden of poor clinical brain health compared to other racial/ethnic groups (Harwood and Ownby, 2000; Mozaffarian et al., 2016). Disparities in stroke risk are most pronounced, particularly during middle adulthood, such that African Americans are 3-4 times more likely than Whites to experience stroke by age 45 (Morgenstern et al., 1997). Racial disparities are also found in the frequency and severity of white matter lesions (Liao et al., 1997), as well as prevalence and incidence of Alzheimer's disease and other forms of dementia (Tang et al., 2001; Demirovic et al., 2003). African Americans also have greater burdens of vascular risk factors than their White counterparts, including obesity (Wang and Beydoun, 2007), diabetes mellitus (LaVeist et al., 2009), and hypertension (Hertz et al., 2005), which may deleteriously affect brain health. Despite evidence for racial disparities across a broad range of brain health outcomes, to our knowledge, relations of self-identified race with white matter integrity have not been examined in communitydwelling samples.

Considerable evidence suggests that aging is associated with deterioration of white matter as demonstrated by decreases in FA (Salat et al., 2005). Age-related decreases in FA have been found to differ by brain region (for a review see Raz and Rodrigue, 2006), such that reductions in white matter FA are generally greater in the frontal white matter compared to the temporal, parietal, and occipital lobes (Head et al., 2004; Salat et al., 2005). Indeed, converging evidence suggests an anterior-posterior gradient of age-related FA decreases (Sullivan and Pfefferbaum, 2006).

Only one study has examined concurrent age-, race- and SES-related differences in white matter microstructure. Johnson et al. (2013) examined associations between SES (as indicated by a composite measure of occupational and educational attainment) and white matter integrity in cognitively normal younger (mean age = 33.3 years) and older adults (mean age = 66.2 years). After adjustment for age, sex, and IQ, they found age-related differences in white matter integrity across a wide range of brain regions. However, among the older adults only, higher SES was associated with greater white matter integrity in three frontal tracts: the right anterior corona radiata and bilateral white matter regions underlying the superior frontal gyri.

No studies have examined interactive relations among SES, race, and age with white matter integrity. This is notable because previous research has shown that these sociodemographic characteristics may have synergistic influences on brain and other health endpoints. For example, racial health disparities cannot be fully explained by SES (Williams et al., 2010), as demonstrated by Waldstein et al. (2017) who found that African

Americans of higher SES did not differ from lower SES African Americans with respect to their total brain and white matter lesion volumes. It is also plausible that SES-related brain health disparities are greater at later periods in the adult lifespan, given the relatively high prevalence of age-related diseases among individuals of lower SES (Williams et al., 2010). This is consistent with theories of cumulative disadvantage that have demonstrated an aggregation of inequity throughout the lifespan (O'Rand, 1996; Epel et al., 2018), suggesting that SES-brain disparities may be more profound at older ages.

Several physiological, behavioral, and psychosocial risk factors may be important to consider when investigating the relation between SES and white matter integrity. Risk factors for cardiovascular disease, such as obesity, hypertension, diabetes, cigarette smoking, and systemic inflammation, have a detrimental impact on brain health (Waldstein and Elias, 2015). In an important study conducted by Gianaros et al. (2013), adiposity and smoking status independently mediated the relation between SES and white matter integrity, with highsensitivity C-reactive protein (CRP) accounting for much of the variance in those meditational paths. This is consistent with the literature showing links between SES and poorer cardiovascular health (Pollitt et al., 2005), and between cardiovascular health and white matter integrity (Wersching et al., 2010; Stanek et al., 2011; Gow et al., 2012). Depressive symptomatology has also been linked to indicators of poor brain health. Previous studies have demonstrated that depression is a risk factor for stroke morbidity and mortality (for a meta-analysis see Pan et al., 2011). Higher rates of depression among individuals with poorer socioeconomic conditions are also well-documented (Hackman et al., 2010), and late life depression is associated with the frequency and intensity of white matter abnormalities (for a review see Herrmann et al., 2008) and changes in white matter microstructure as measured by FA (Yang et al., 2007).

Given the prognostic importance of white matter integrity on functional and neurocognitive outcomes (Madden et al., 2009), we examined associations of SES with diffuse white matter integrity, an approach that has not been examined previously. We also examined potential moderating roles of self-identified race and age on the association between SES and FA of the brain's primary cortical regions, including the right (R) and left (L) frontal, temporal, parietal, and occipital lobes (**Figure 1**). The methodological approach of using lobar measures of white matter integrity has been used in other contexts (e.g., Voss et al., 2013; Roalf et al., 2015), as it allows researchers to examine general trends across the brain while making fewer comparisons than using all of the brain's white matter tracts. This methodology can expand the present literature using tractbased approaches.

We also ran sensitivity analyses to examine whether adjustment for several key biomedical (i.e., body mass index [BMI], hypertension, diabetes, CRP), behavioral (i.e., cigarette smoking), and psychosocial (i.e., depressive symptoms) risk factors changed the findings observed in the main analyses, suggesting mediating effects of these co-morbid factors. We chose to examine these risk factors due to their well-documented associations with SES (Kaplan and Keil, 1993; Lorant et al., 2003) and white matter integrity (Burgmans et al., 2010; Gons et al., 2011; Korgaonkar et al., 2011; Stanek et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2014; Walker et al., 2017). Given that BMI may have non-linear associations with health outcomes (e.g., Laxy et al., 2017), both linear and quadratic BMI were examined. To assess whether overall white matter vascular burden eliminated significant effects, we also ran sensitivity analyses adjusting for whole-brain white matter lesion volume. Finally, exploratory analyses examined (1) models using three different SES indicators on regional FA and (2) independent and interactive relations of SES, race, and age on trace diffusion, which captures diffusion of water across three perpendicular orientations.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sample and Participants

Participants were drawn from the Healthy Aging in Neighborhoods of Diversity across the Life Span (HANDLS) SCAN study, an investigation of brain health disparities attributable to race and SES (Waldstein et al., 2017). HANDLS SCAN is an ancillary study of the larger HANDLS investigation, a prospective, epidemiologic study of race- and SES-related health disparities. The design and implementation of the HANDLS parent study has been described previously (Evans et al., 2010). Briefly, the HANDLS sample is a fixed cohort of community-dwelling adults living in 13 neighborhoods (contiguous census tracts) in Baltimore City. The census segments were pre-determined for their likelihood of yielding representative samples of participants who were African American and White, men and women, aged 30-64 years, and with annual household income above and below 125% of the 2004 federal poverty level. HANDLS SCAN data collection overlapped with the first and second follow-up of the parent study. The imaging subsample used in this study is representative of the larger HANDLS study with regards to years of education, poverty status, and sex (p's > 0.05), but is more likely to include White and younger participants relative to the overall study sample (p's < 0.05).

Participants were excluded from the HANDLS parent study if they were (1) outside of the age range of 30–64 years, (2) currently pregnant, (3) within 6 months of active cancer treatment (i.e., chemotherapy, radiation, or biological treatments), (4) diagnosed with AIDS, (5) unable to provide informed consent, (6) unable to provide data for at least five measures, (7) unable to provide valid government-issued identification or were currently without a verifiable address (Evans et al., 2010). In addition to these criteria, HANDLS SCAN excluded participants with a self-reported history of dementia, stroke, transient ischemic attack, other neurological disease (e.g., multiple sclerosis, Parkinson's disease, or epilepsy), carotid endarterectomy, terminal illness (e.g., metastatic cancer), HIV positive status, or MRI contraindications (e.g., indwelling ferromagnetic material).

The present study's sample consisted of 192 HANDLS SCAN participants who had complete data for all relevant sociodemographic (SES, race, age, and sex) and diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) data with no incidental clinical findings on MRI.



Procedure HANDLS

HANDLS investigators recruited participants in each household by performing doorstep interviews, and inviting one or two eligible individuals per household to participate in the study. Successfully recruited and consented individuals were asked to complete an in-home 24-h dietary recall interview and a household survey inquiring about demographic, psychosocial, and physiological information. Participants were then scheduled for additional testing on the mobile research vehicles (MRVs). The Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the National Institute of Environmental Health Services, National Institutes of Health approved the HANDLS study.

HANDLS SCAN

HANDLS participants were invited to participate in HANDLS SCAN during their MRV visit. After successfully completing an eligibility screening inventory, participants provided written informed and HIPAA consent in accordance with Declaration of Helsinki. Participants were examined by a physician at the University of Maryland General Clinical Research Center for a brief medical evaluation to identify any acute medical problems since their last HANDLS visit, re-administer the MRI eligibility checklist, review current medications, and assess whether there were any contraindications precluding HANDLS SCAN testing. The subjects underwent MRI acquisition in the Department of Diagnostic Radiology and Nuclear Medicine at the University of Maryland School of Medicine. The IRBs of the University of Maryland, Baltimore and University of Maryland, Baltimore County approved the HANDLS SCAN study. Participants received \$50 for their participation.

Measures

Sociodemographic Characteristics

Age (in years), sex (0 = female; 1 = male), poverty status, and education were assessed at study entry (data collection 2004-2009).

HANDLS investigators based their initial recruitment on a division of household income based on 125% of the 2004

federal poverty level. They effectively recruited a similar number of participants above and below the poverty level, as to appropriately represent individuals from low and moderate levels of income. Many HANDLS participants could not estimate their annual incomes, had no way to estimate their overall wealth, and/or were not consistently employed. Because HANDLS does not have an accurate estimate of income, a "poverty status" variable defined as household income above or below 125% of the 2004 federal poverty level adjusted for household size is used. Given the use of poverty status (a dichotomized variable in its original form), it was combined with a dichotomized measure of education to remain parsimonious. While there is controversy in the literature on how to best capture SES, we believe that our sample is best characterized by a composite measure of both education and income, which is consistent with prior recommendations (Adler et al., 1994).

Socioeconomic status was therefore comprised of: (1) dichotomous poverty status (0 = non-poverty; 1 = poverty); and (2) dichotomous years of education (0 = greater than or equal to 12 years; 1 = fewer than 12 years; Waldstein et al., 2017; Shaked et al., 2018, 2019). SES was dichotomized as high and low based on these two measures. Low SES was defined as having low education (<12 years), being below the poverty line, or both. Participants were classified as high SES if they were both living above the poverty level and had \geq 12 years of education.

Sensitivity Variables

Depressive symptoms, cigarette smoking, BMI, hypertension, diabetes, and inflammation were assessed at the corresponding HANDLS visit. Depressive symptoms were assessed using the Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression 20-item scale (Radloff, 1977). Cigarette smoking was assessed via self-report during the medical history assessment (coded as 0 = never used regularly, 1 = ever used regularly). BMI was computed as weight divided by height squared (kg/m²) using height and weight obtained via calibrated equipment by a training technician. Hypertension and diabetes were dichotomous variables (coded as 0 = absent, 1 = present). Hypertension was determined by self-reported history, use of anti-hypertensive medications, or resting systolic or diastolic blood pressures ≥ 140 mm Hg or ≥ 90 mm Hg. Diabetes was

determined by a fasting blood glucose level of ≥ 126 mg/dl (assessed by standard laboratory methods at Quest Diagnostics in Chantilly, VA, United States¹), self-reported history, or use of relevant medications. Inflammation was assessed with high-sensitivity CRP (mg/l) levels, which were measured from blood samples by immunoassay at the National Institutes of Aging or Quest Diagnostics using similar equipment and reagents. A HANDLS physician or nurse practitioner documented all clinical diagnostic data after a comprehensive physical examination and medical history.

Diffusion Tensor Imaging Acquisition and Processing

Cranial magnetic resonance images were acquired using a Siemens Tim-Trio 3.0 Tesla scanner within the Core for Translational Research in Imaging @ Maryland (C-TRIM), part of the Department of Diagnostic Radiology at University of Maryland Baltimore's School of Medicine. With regards to structural imaging, in addition to the standard brain imaging protocol, which includes axial T1, T2, FLAIR images, a high-resolution axial T1-weighted MPRAGE (TE = 2.32 ms, TR = 1900 ms, TI = 900 ms, flip angle = 9°, resolution = $256 \times 256 \times 96$, FOV = 230 mm, sl. thick. = 0.9 mm) covering the entire brain was acquired. It was used both as an anatomic reference and to extract parameters of regional and whole brain volumes, and cortical thickness.

DTI was obtained using multi-band spin echo EPI sequence with a multi-band acceleration factor of three. Isotropic resolution images were acquired with an in-plane resolution of 2×2 mm and 2 mm slice thickness over a 22.4 cm FOV. A total of 66 slices at a TE = 122 ms, TR = 3300 ms, and flip angle = 90° were used. Bipolar diffusion scheme was used to reduce the effect of eddy currents. Diffusion weighting scheme was a 2-shell (*b* = 1000 and 2500 s/mm²), optimized for uniform sampling of each shell and non-overlapping diffusion directions of 60 and 120 for each shell, respectively, and 6 b0 volumes. The image acquisition time was 10 min.

The raw diffusion weighted images (DWI) data was denoised using the Joint Linear Minimum Mean Squared Error denoising software (jLMMSE; Tristan-Vega and Aja-Fernandez, 2010). The diffusion tensor images were then reconstructed from denoised DWI data by fitting the tensor using multivariate linear fitting, while also performing motion correction using FSL' s "eddy correct" tool (Andersson and Sotiropoulos, 2016). FA and trace images were computed from the tensor image for each subject. FA, a widely known method for quantifying white matter integrity that is sensitive to the degree of myelination, density, and organization of white matter, was used to determine the degree of water diffusion directionality within brain tissue. The FA value, which measures the degree of anisotropy of the diffusion at a voxel, is computed from the variance of the average of the three eigenvalues of the diffusion tensor. FA values range from 0 to 1, with 0 reflecting completely unrestricted diffusion, and 1 reflecting completely restricted diffusion. Generally, healthier white matter integrity refers to

more restricted diffusion, and thus for the purposes of this study, higher FA values are indicative of healthier white matter integrity. The trace value, which measures diffusivity, is computed by adding the eigenvalues of the diffusion tensor (Jones, 2008). After FA and trace images were computed from the tensor image for each participant, they were aligned to a common template space via deformable registration using a standard DTI template known as EVE (Wakana et al., 2004). In the present study, FA and trace from related cortical white matter subregions were averaged and summed, respectively, to create mean FA and total trace values for the larger brain regions, namely the R and L frontal, parietal, temporal, and occipital lobes. The cortical white matter subregions comprising the larger brain regions were drawn from previous literature (see Roalf et al., 2015).

Magnetic-Resonance Imaging-Assessed Lesion Volume

Structural MRI scans were preprocessed by removal of extracranial material on T1-weighted image using a multi-atlas registration-based method (Doshi et al., 2013), followed by bias correction (Tustison et al., 2010). A supervised learning based multi-modal lesion segmentation technique was applied to segment ischemic lesions (Zacharaki et al., 2008). The method involved co-registration of T1, T2, and FLAIR scans, histogram normalization to a template image, feature extraction, voxel wise label assignment using a model that was trained on an external training set with manually labeled ground-truth lesion masks, and false-positive elimination. The total white matter lesion volume was calculated for each subject from the segmented lesion mask.

Analytic Plan

All statistical analyses were performed by the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (IBM Corp. Released 2017. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 25.0. Armonk, NY: IBM: Corp.). Descriptive analyses were conducted to assess means, standard deviations, distributions, and linearity of variables. Main analyses were multiple linear regression to examine independent and interactive associations of age, race, and SES with white matter integrity of the R and L frontal, parietal, temporal, and occipital regions, adjusting for sex. Non-significant (at p > 0.05) interaction terms were removed by a backward elimination procedure (see Morrell et al., 1997).

Sensitivity and Exploratory Analyses

Subsequent, separate sensitivity analyses were conducted to assess respective contributions of BMI, hypertension, diabetes, CRP, cigarette smoking, depressive symptoms, and whole-brain white matter lesion volume as covariates in the aforementioned models. Due to missing data for depressive symptoms (n = 7 missing), CRP (n = 12 missing), and cigarette smoking (n = 25), data were imputed using a predictive mean matching method with the 'MICE' package in R (R Core Team, 2018), resulting in complete samples for all variables.

Using the same multiple regression models, supplemental exploratory analyses examined (1) independent and interactive

¹http://www.questdiagnostics.com

relations of age, race, and individual SES (i.e., non-composite) indicators including poverty status, continuous education, and dichotomous education (0 = greater than or equal to 12 years/GED; 1 = less than 12 years) with FA; and (2) independent and interactive relations of age, race, and the SES composite with regional trace.

RESULTS

Demographics and Variable Characteristics

Table 1 shows demographic data and variable characteristics for the overall sample, and by SES and race. There were significant differences in age, sex, depressive symptoms, and cigarette smoking between those of low and high SES, wherein those of high SES, on average, were older, more likely to be male, have depressive symptoms, and smoke compared to those of low SES. Across race, Whites were, on average, older than African Americans. Those of high SES, on average, had higher FA in the frontal and occipital lobes bilaterally. There were no FA differences across racial groups.

Regression Analyses

There were no significant interactions between race, SES, or age on any of the cortical white matter regions (all p's > 0.05; see **Table 2**). There were significant main effects for SES for all regions, wherein individuals with low SES had lower FA in all cortical white matter regions (all p's < 0.05; see **Table 3**), demonstrating that individuals with lower SES had poorer white matter integrity throughout the entire brain. Significant main effects for age were found for nearly all regions (all p's > 0.05) such that older age was associated with lower FA in the cortical white matter regions, with the exception of the R temporal lobe, $\beta = -0.09$, p = 0.208, showing that poorer white matter integrity is related to older age almost uniformly across the brain. A main effect for sex was found for the R parietal lobe, wherein men had lower FA in this region, $\beta = -0.16$, p = 0.029. No significant main effects were found for race (all p's > 0.05).

Sensitivity Analyses

There were no significant main effects of hypertension (range of $\beta = -0.09$ to $\beta = -0.02$; all p's > 0.05), diabetes (range of $\beta = -0.04$ to $\beta = 0.07$; all p's > 0.05), linear BMI (range of $\beta = -0.06$ to $\beta = -0.01$; all p's > 0.05), quadratic BMI (range of $\beta = -0.08$ to $\beta = 0.06$; all p's > 0.05), CRP (range of $\beta = -0.05$ to $\beta = 0.04$; all p's > 0.05), cigarette smoking (range of $\beta = -0.06$ to $\beta = 0.04$; all p's > 0.05), or depressive symptoms (range of $\beta = -0.13$ to $\beta = 0.04$; all p's > 0.05) on any of the cortical white matter regions. All significant main effects of SES (see **Table 4** for associations of SES and regional FA outcomes after adjustment for sensitivity variables), age, and sex described previously remained significant after adjusting for hypertension, diabetes, linear and quadratic BMI, and CRP (all p's < 0.05). The significant association between SES and the R parietal lobe became non-significant following adjustment for depressive

symptoms (attenuation to p = 0.058) and cigarette smoking (attenuation to p = 0.06), although the magnitude of changes in β were small (change from $\beta = -0.15$ to $\beta = -0.14$ following adjustment for either variable). Adding depressive symptoms and quadratic BMI also rendered main effects of sex with the R frontal and temporal lobes significant (all p's < 0.05), such that relative to women, men had lower FA in these regions.

There were significant associations between whole-brain white matter lesion volume and FA in the bilateral frontal, parietal, and occipital lobes (all p's < 0.05), but not the temporal lobes (p's > 0.05). Adjustment for whole-brain white matter lesion volume attenuated the significant relation between SES and the R parietal lobe FA (attenuation to p = 0.169; **Table 4**). Adding whole-brain white matter lesion volume also rendered main effects of sex with the R frontal and bilateral temporal lobes significant (all p's < 0.05), such that men had lower FA in these regions than women.

Exploratory Analyses

There were no significant interactions between age, race, and the various independent SES indicators (i.e., poverty status, continuous education, and dichotomous education) on any of the cortical white matter FA regions (all p's > 0.05). As displayed in Table 5, models with poverty status as the SES indicator yielded significant main effects for poverty status in the R frontal $(\beta = -0.20, p = 0.006)$, L frontal $(\beta = -0.21, p = 0.004)$, L parietal $(\beta = -0.15, p = 0.042)$, R occipital ($\beta = -0.16, p = 0.031$), and L occipital ($\beta = -0.17$, p = 0.026) lobes, where individuals living in poverty had lower FA in these regions. A main effect for poverty status on the R parietal lobe was trending at $\beta = -0.14$, p = 0.052. In these models, age was related to all regions (β 's ranged from -0.21 to -0.28, all *p*'s < 0.01) except the R and L temporal lobes (p's > 0.05), wherein older age was related to lower FA. A main effect for sex was found for the R parietal lobe, wherein men had lower FA in this region, $\beta = -0.15$, p = 0.031. There were no significant main effects for race (all p's > 0.05). Models with dichotomous education as the SES indicator yielded a significant main effect for dichotomous education in the R occipital lobe $(\beta = -0.17, p = 0.018)$. Significant main effects for age were found for nearly all regions (all p's < 0.05), such that older age was associated with lower FA, with the exception of the R temporal lobe ($\beta = -0.07$, p = 0.319). No main effects for sex or race were identified in these models. Models with continuous education as the SES indicator resulted in no significant main effects for continuous education, race, or sex. With the exception of the R temporal lobe ($\beta = -0.06$, p = 0.418), significant main effects for age were found for all regions (all p's < 0.05), such that older age was related with lower FA.

There were no significant interactions between age, race, and the composite SES indicator on any of the trace variables. As displayed in **Table 6**, SES was related to trace in the R frontal, L frontal, R temporal, L temporal, and L occipital lobes, wherein individuals with low SES had higher trace values. There were significant main effects for age and sex on all regions (all p's < 0.05) such that older individuals and men were more likely to have higher trace values. Relative to African Americans, Whites had higher trace values in the R and L parietal lobes.

	Overall (N = 192)	High SES (<i>n</i> = 99)	Low SES (n = 93)		AA (n = 77)	White (<i>n</i> = 115)	
Variable	M (SD) or <i>n</i> (%)	M (SD) or <i>n</i> (%)	M (SD) or <i>n</i> (%)	<i>p</i> 1	M (SD) or <i>n</i> (%)	M (SD) or <i>n</i> (%)	p ₂
Age, y	52.03 (9.24)	53.99 (9.60)	49.95 (8.41)	0.002	50.28 (9.87)	53.21 (8.65)	0.031
AA	77 (40.1%)	33 (33.3%)	44 (47.3%)	0.049	-	-	-
Female	107 (55.75)	47 (47.5%)	60 (64.5%)	0.017	46 (59.7%)	61 (53.0%)	0.362
Low SES	95 (48.4%)	-	-	-	44 (57.1%)	49 (42.6%)	0.049
Hypertension	88 (45.8%)	51 (51.5%)	37 (39.8%)	0.104	39 (50.6%)	49 (42.6%)	0.276
Diabetes	30 (15.6%)	18 (18.2%)	12 (12.9%)	0.317	13 (16.9%)	17 (14.8%)	0.696
BMI, kg/m ²	29.57 (6.43)	29.95 (6.26)	29.16 (6.61)	0.398	29.66 (6.40)	29.50 (6.47)	0.868
CRP, mg/l	5.71 (10.12)	4.81 (7.87)	6.75 (12.36)	0.195	4.98 (7.45)	6.80 (13.12)	0.222
Cigarettes (ever)	139 (72.4%)	67 (67.7%)	72 (77.4%)	0.022	83 (72.2%)	77 (72.7%)	0.549
CES-D score	15.93 (11.49)	14.22 (10.60)	17.74 (12.17)	0.034	16.36 (12.07)	15.29 (10.62)	0.528
WMLV (cc)	1,294 (2,243)	1,210 (1,973)	1,385 (2,513)	0.594	1.188 (1,721)	1,431 (2,850)	0.431
R Frontal, FA	0.235 (0.013)	0.237 (0.011)	0.232 (0.014)	0.006	0.233 (0.013)	0.235 (0.013)	0.306
L Frontal, FA	0.234 (0.014)	0.237 (0.012)	0.232 (0.014)	0.009	0.233 (0.013)	0.235 (0.014)	0.349
R Temporal, FA	0.249 (0.014)	0.250 (0.014)	0.247 (0.014)	0.075	0.248 (0.012)	0.245 (0.015)	0.811
L Temporal, FA	0.241 (0.014)	0.243 (0.013)	0.239 (0.015)	0.064	0.241 (0.012)	0.241 (0.015)	0.849
R Parietal, FA	0.228 (0.015)	0.229 (0.014)	0.227 (0.016)	0.418	0.229 (0.015)	0.227 (0.015)	0.344
L Parietal, FA	0.232 (0.013)	0.233 (0.013)	0.230 (0.014)	0.055	0.231 (0.013)	0.232 (0.014)	0.894
R Occipital, FA	0.205 (0.013)	0.207 (0.013)	0.202 (0.013)	0.010	0.204 (0.011)	0.205 (0.014)	0.694
L Occipital, FA	0.203 (0.014)	0.205 (0.012)	0.200 (0.015)	0.019	0.203 (0.013)	0.204 (0.014)	0.642

TABLE 1 | Demographic and health variables for the overall sample and by SES and race.

 $y = years; AA = African American; SES = socioeconomic status; BMI = body mass index; CRP = C-reactive protein; CES-D = Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression scale; WMLV = white matter lesion volume; R = right; L = left; FA = fractional anisotropy; <math>p_1$ = value for the difference between those high and low SES; p_2 = value for the difference between African Americans and Whites; independent samples t-tests were used for continuous variables (all equal variances assumed) and one-way ANOVAs were used for categorical variables. Fractional anisotropy values range from 0 to 1, with 0 reflecting completely unrestricted diffusion, and 1 reflecting completely restricted diffusion.

TABLE 2 | Sociodemographic variables and regional fractional anisotropy: full models.

						Out	come (Fr	actional	Anisotro	py; <i>N</i> = 1	92)					
	R Fr	ontal	L Fro	ontal	R Ten	nporal	L Ten	nporal	R Pa	rietal	L Pa	rietal	R Oc	cipital	L Oco	cipital
Predictor	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²
SES*Age*Race	-0.02	0.000	-0.15	0.000	0.20	0.001	0.01	0.000	0.58	0.005	0.32	0.001	-0.18	0.000	0.22	0.001
Age*Race	-0.54	0.006	-0.27	0.001	-0.42	0.003	-0.38	0.003	-0.44	0.004	-0.48	0.004	-0.27	0.002	-0.54	0.006
Age*SES	-0.18	0.001	0.08	0.000	-0.38	0.003	-0.10	0.000	-0.41	0.003	-0.24	0.001	-0.15	0.000	-0.44	0.004
Race*SES	-0.08	0.000	0.20	0.000	-0.29	0.001	-0.09	0.000	-0.58	0.004	-0.32	0.001	0.11	0.000	-0.38	0.002
Age	-0.21	0.013	-0.27*	0.020	-0.01	0.000	-0.14	0.005	-0.20	0.011	-0.21	0.012	-0.21	0.013	-0.11	0.003
Race	0.49	0.004	0.15	0.000	-0.44	0.003	0.42	0.003	0.45	0.003	0.43	0.003	0.26	0.001	0.57	0.005
SES	-0.07	0.000	-0.38	0.002	0.24	0.001	-0.08	0.000	0.24	0.001	0.01	0.000	-0.09	0.000	0.26	0.001
Sex	-0.13	0.016	-0.08	0.005	-0.14	0.017	-0.14	0.017	-0.16*	0.023	-0.09	0.008	-0.09	0.007	-0.12	0.014

SES = socioeconomic status; R = right; L = left. Full models reflect the models that include all interactions, prior to the backward elimination procedure. *p < 0.05. Data reflect standardized regression coefficients (β) and semipartial correlations squared (sr²).

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first study to examine independent and interactive relations between SES, race, and age with white matter integrity in primary cortical regions. Our findings demonstrate sociodemographic disparities in the brain's white matter microstructure, which may have implications for cognitive, functional, and neurological disease-related outcomes. Although no significant interactions were observed, our results suggest poorer diffuse white matter integrity, on average, for individuals of lower SES. There were no differences in white matter integrity between racial groups and, as expected, poorer white matter integrity was associated with older age. When examining additional SES indicators, poverty status revealed as most prominently related to SES. Further exploratory analyses showed greater diffusion (captured via trace) in individuals with lower SES in the R and L frontal, R and L temporal, and L occipital lobes. Greater diffusion throughout the brain was also associated with older age and male sex, as well as with being White for the parietal lobes.

TABLE 3 | Sociodemographic variables and regional fractional anisotropy: final models.

						Οι	ıtcome (F	ractiona	al Anisotro	ру; N =	192)					
	R Fro	ntal	L Fro	ntal	R Tem	poral	L Tem	poral	R Pari	ietal	L Pari	etal	R Occi	pital	L Occ	ipital
Predictor	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²
Age	-0.31***	0.088	-0.29***	0.078	-0.09	0.008	-0.18*	0.029	-0.26***	0.062	-0.28***	0.072	-0.28***	0.075	-0.24**	0.052
SES	-0.28***	0.069	-0.25**	0.058	-0.17*	0.026	-0.20**	0.035	-0.15*	0.020	-0.21**	0.041	-0.26***	0.061	-0.24**	0.050
Race	-0.09	0.008	-0.08	0.006	-0.02	0.000	0.01	0.000	0.04	0.002	-0.03	0.001	-0.04	0.002	-0.05	0.002
Sex	-0.13	0.016	-0.07	0.005	-0.14	0.018	-0.13	0.017	-0.16*	0.023	-0.09	0.008	-0.08	.007	-0.12	0.014

SES = socioeconomic status; R = right; L = left. Final models reflect the models following the backward elimination procedure. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. Data reflect standardized regression coefficients (β) and semipartial correlations squared (sr²).

TABLE 4 Associations of the main effect of SES with regional fractional anisotropy, adjusted for sensitivity variables.

							Οι	utcome	(N = 192)							
	R From	ntal	L Fro	ntal	R Tem	poral	L Temp	ooral	R Par	ietal	L Pari	etal	R Occij	oital	L Occi	pital
Covariate	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²
Base model ^a	-0.28***	0.07	-0.25**	0.06	-0.17*	.03	-0.20**	0.04	-0.15*	0.02	-0.21**	0.04	-0.26***	0.06	-0.24**	0.05
Hypertension	-0.28***	0.08	-0.26**	0.06	-0.18*	0.03	-0.20**	0.04	-0.15*	0.02	-0.21**	0.04	-0.26***	0.07	-0.24**	0.05
Diabetes	-0.28***	0.08	-0.25**	0.06	-0.17*	0.03	-0.20**	0.04	-0.15*	0.02	-0.21**	0.04	-0.26***	0.06	-0.24**	0.05
BMI	-0.28***	0.08	-0.25**	0.06	-0.18*	0.03	-0.20**	0.04	-0.15*	0.02	-0.21**	0.04	-0.25**	0.06	-0.23**	0.05
BMI ²	-0.28***	0.08	-0.26**	0.06	-0.18*	0.03	-0.20**	0.04	-0.15*	0.02	-0.22**	0.04	-0.25**	0.06	-0.23**	0.05
CRP	-0.28***	0.08	-0.25**	0.06	-0.17*	0.03	-0.19*	0.04	-0.15*	0.02	-0.21**	0.04	-0.26**	0.06	-0.23**	0.05
Cigarettes	-0.28***	0.07	-0.25**	0.06	-0.16*	0.02	-0.20*	0.04	-0.14	0.02	-0.20**	0.04	-0.25**	0.06	-0.23**	0.05
CES-D	-0.26***	0.07	-0.24**	0.05	-0.16*	0.03	-0.19*	0.03	-0.14	0.02	-0.20**	0.04	-0.25**	0.06	-0.22**	0.05
WMLV	-0.24***	0.05	-0.21**	0.04	-0.15*	0.02	-0.16*	0.02	-0.10	0.01	-0.16**	0.03	-0.23**	0.05	-0.21**	0.04

SES = socioeconomic status; BMI = body mass index; CRP = C-reactive protein; CES-D = Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression scale; WMLV = white matter lesion volume; R = right; L = left. Demonstration of the main effects of SES with regional fractional anisotropy in the additional models that include a sensitivity variable. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. Data reflect standardized regression coefficients (β) and semipartial correlations squared (sr²). ^aBase model includes SES, race, age, and sex.

These results add to the limited literature demonstrating an SES-white matter integrity association in community-dwelling adults. As far as we are aware, this is the first study to demonstrate that the SES-white matter integrity link appears to be uniform across the brain's primary cortical regions, as opposed to differentially across particular lobes or hemispheres. The relation between SES and trace, which can be used to measure alterations in brain tissue (Bosch et al., 2012), was also fairly widespread, with the temporal lobes and R occipital lobe spared. These findings add to studies demonstrating an anterior-posterior diffusion gradient (Sullivan and Pfefferbaum, 2006; Bosch et al., 2012), as well as increased diffusivity in occipital regions in vulnerable clinical populations (Friese et al., 2010). These findings are consistent with prior literature finding a link between lower SES and compromised white matter integrity in children (Ursache and Noble, 2016; Dufford and Kim, 2017) and adults (Teipel et al., 2009; Piras et al., 2011; Gianaros et al., 2013; Takeuchi et al., 2018). These studies, however, focused on individual tracts, whereas this study examined these associations from a regional lobar perspective. Both approaches are vital for better understanding SES-white matter relations.

The association of lower SES with poorer diffuse white matter integrity is important given the adverse cognitive outcomes associated with reduced white matter integrity. There is ample evidence from clinical and normal aging samples demonstrating "disconnection syndromes," wherein compromised microstructure of the white matter tracts is thought to lead to poorer communication between brain regions, ultimately resulting in poorer cognitive function and more profound cognitive decline (O'Sullivan et al., 2001; Chanraud et al., 2010). This is relevant given the well-established literature demonstrating poorer performance, on average, on tests of cognitive function across a range of domains in individuals from lower SES homes (e.g., Singh-Manoux et al., 2005; Noble et al., 2007; Hackman and Farah, 2009; Shaked et al., 2018). While not examined directly here, perhaps SES-related differences on cognitive tests are, at least in part, explained by disparities in diffuse white matter integrity. Future studies should examine the potential mediating role of white matter integrity in the relation between SES and cognitive outcomes. Moreover, white matter microstructural properties (e.g., white matter integrity) are considered a proxy for brain reserve (Stern et al., 2018), which is defined as "neurobiological capital...that allows some people

		SES In	teraction Te	rm (All Ns	s = 192)	
Variable	Contin Educa		Dichoto Educa		Pove State	-
	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr²
R Frontal						
Age	-0.27***	0.069	-0.27***	0.070	-0.28***	0.076
SES	0.12	0.014	-0.13	0.015	-0.20**	0.037
Race	-0.12	0.014	-0.13	0.017	-0.09	0.007
Sex	-0.10	0.009	-0.09	0.009	-0.11	0.013
L Frontal						
Age	-0.25**	0.060	-0.26**	0.062	-0.27***	0.070
SES	0.09	0.008	-0.11	0.012	-0.21**	0.045
Race	-0.11	0.011	-0.12	0.014	-0.07	0.005
Sex	-0.04	0.002	-0.04	0.002	-0.06	0.004
R Temporal						
Age	-0.06	0.003	-0.07	0.005	-0.08	0.006
SES	0.01	0.000	-0.09	0.008	-0.12	0.014
Race	-0.03	0.001	-0.05	0.002	-0.01	0.000
Sex	-0.11	0.011	-0.12	0.013	-0.13	0.015
L Temporal						
Age	-0.15*	0.021	-0.16*	0.023	-0.16	0.023
SES	0.09	0.007	-0.12	0.013	-0.12	0.012
Race	-0.02	0.000	-0.03	0.001	0.01	0.000
Sex	-0.11	0.012	-0.11	0.012	-0.12	0.013
R Parietal						
Age	-0.23**	0.051	-0.23**	0.051	-0.25**	0.059
SES	0.05	0.002	-0.03	0.001	-0.14^	0.018
Race	0.02	0.001	0.02	0.000	0.05	0.002
Sex	-0.14	0.018	-0.13	0.018	-0.15*	0.023
L Parietal						
Age	-0.25**	0.058	-0.25**	0.058	-0.26***	0.064
SES	0.09	0.007	-0.08	0.006	-0.15*	0.021
Race	-0.05	0.003	-0.06	0.003	-0.03	0.009
Sex	-0.07	0.005	-0.07	0.004	-0.08	0.006
R Occipital						
Age	-0.25**	0.058	-0.26***	0.063	-0.26***	0.062
SES	0.10	0.010	-0.17*	0.028	-0.16*	0.023
Race	-0.07	0.005	-0.09	0.007	-0.04	0.002
Sex	-0.06	0.003	-0.06	0.003	-0.07	0.002
L Occipital	2.30	2.300		2.500		2.00
Age	-0.20**	0.039	-0.21**	0.041	-0.21**	0.043
SES	0.10	0.009	-0.12	0.014	-0.17*	0.025
Race	-0.07	0.005	-0.08	0.007	-0.04	0.020
Sex	-0.10	0.009	-0.10	0.009	-0.04 -0.11	0.002

SES = socioeconomic status; R = right; L = left. Final models reflect the models following the backward elimination procedure. $^{h}p = 0.05$, $^{*}p < 0.05$, $^{**}p < 0.01$, $^{***}p < 0.001$. Data reflect standardized regression coefficients (β) and semipartial correlations squared (sr²).

to better cope with brain aging and pathology than others (p. 3, Stern et al., 2018)." Within this context our findings of altered white matter integrity suggest that individuals from lower SES homes have lower levels of such reserve. Future studies should assess if less of this form of reserve puts low SES individuals at greater risk for more profound age- and disease-related changes, such as steeper cognitive decline in the face of Alzheimer's disease pathology.

Exploratory analyses showed that poverty status and education were differentially related to white matter integrity across the examined brain regions. Prior literature has noted that different socioeconomic influences play varying roles in brain plasticity (Farah, 2017). Poverty status seems to represent widespread correlates of economic status, such as material resources and financial hardships, as well as nutrition and toxin exposure. While also a proxy for resources and opportunity, educational attainment may better capture school-related factors like language stimulation and literacy (although quantity of formal education is not equivalent to education quality). The lack of findings with education alone is notable given the literature demonstrating relations between educational attainment and white matter integrity (Teipel et al., 2009; Chiang et al., 2011; Gianaros et al., 2013; Johnson et al., 2013; Noble et al., 2013). One potential reason for these discrepant findings is that some studies (Chiang et al., 2011; Johnson et al., 2013) used composite indices, and it is therefore unknown if education was the primary driver in those studies' findings. Another possible explanation is the nature of the study samples. Our sample was comprised of a sociodemographically diverse group of urban-dwelling adults, while one study was conducted in children (Noble et al., 2013), and others had no (Teipel et al., 2009) or a smaller proportion of (Gianaros et al., 2013) African Americans in their sample. Given that poverty status captured more of the findings than education alone in our study, perhaps relative to educational attainment, poverty status is a greater influencer of disparities in white matter integrity in this socioeconomically and racially diverse sample of adults. That said, given that the SES composite revealed more significant findings and larger effect sizes than findings with poverty status alone (see Tables 3, 5), perhaps for adults, the cumulative nature of education and poverty status is a relatively stronger determinant of disparities in white matter integrity.

While it is evident that there are individual differences in white matter health across SES groups, the biopsychosocial factors that are most important for this variability are not well established. It is known, for instance, that cardiovascular risk factors like hypertension and cigarette smoking adversely impact white matter integrity (e.g., Gianaros et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2015), but other factors like depression and stress have equivocal results (Gianaros et al., 2013; Choi et al., 2014; Hermens et al., 2018). These inconsistent findings are perhaps surprising given the well-established relations of stress and depression on inflammation, which is closely related to white matter integrity (Wersching et al., 2010; Gianaros et al., 2013; Walker et al., 2017).

The sensitivity analyses found that adjustment of several common cardiovascular and inflammatory risk factors did not attenuate significant effects of SES on FA of the primary cortical regions, nor were they significantly related to FA in these regions. The lack of attenuation could be due to the absence of relations between SES and most of the health variables (**Table 1**). These findings are perhaps counter-intuitive given the literature demonstrating disparities in cardiovascular and inflammatory

Predictor	Outcome (Trace; <i>N</i> = 192)															
	R Frontal		L Frontal		R Temporal		L Temporal		R Parietal		L Parietal		R Occipital		L Occipital	
	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²	β	sr ²
Age	0.52***	0.252	0.53***	0.263	0.38***	0.132	0.34***	0.106	0.45***	0.187	0.46***	0.200	0.41***	0.155	0.41***	0.154
SES	0.20**	0.036	0.16*	0.023	0.19**	0.032	0.16*	0.022	0.07	0.005	0.11	0.011	0.12	0.014	0.20**	0.035
Race	-0.02	0.000	-0.05	0.003	-0.17*	0.027	-0.10	0.009	-0.20**	0.038	-0.15*	0.020	-0.10	0.009	0.07	0.004
Sex	0.26***	0.064	0.24***	0.057	0.17**	0.029	0.23**	0.050	0.32***	0.096	0.30***	0.086	0.22**	0.045	0.22**	0.045

SES = socioeconomic status; R = right; L = left. Final models reflect the models following the backward elimination procedure. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. Data reflect standardized regression coefficients (β) and semipartial correlations squared (sr²).

risk factors across socioeconomic groups (Adler et al., 1994; Pollitt et al., 2005). However, they may also reflect prior literature demonstrating complex interactive relations of SES, race, and/or gender with respect to cardiovascular risk factors (Williams et al., 2010; Waldstein et al., 2016). In that regard, it has been noted across multiple investigations that higher SES African Americans often have worse cardiovascular risk profiles than lower SES African Americans, perhaps reflecting the "diminishing returns" hypothesis (Farmer and Ferraro, 2005), which posits that African Americans may not benefit as much as Whites from higher levels of SES.

Although it is possible that other vascular and biomedical risk factors are implicated in the observed SES-white matter associations, it is also possible that adjustment for individual risk factors does not fully capture the cumulative burden of vulnerability associated with lower SES across the lifespan. Research has shown an association between early life adversity and lower adult SES (Metzler et al., 2017), and that children of lower SES, on average, have poorer white matter integrity than children of higher SES (Ursache and Noble, 2016; Dufford and Kim, 2017), although results have been inconsistent across studies (Chiang et al., 2011; Jednorog et al., 2012). This suggests that SES-related differences in FA may begin in childhood, and perhaps, continue to widen due to lifelong exposure to various biopsychosocial risk factors, including inadequate nutrition (Hartline-Grafton and Dean, 2017), lesser access to health care (Lazar and Davenport, 2018), chronic stress (Baum et al., 1999), environmental toxins (Evans and Kantrowitz, 2002), and greater overall burden of disease (Pathirana and Jackson, 2018).

Adjustment for depressive symptoms, cigarette smoking, and whole-brain white matter lesion volume negated associations between SES and FA in the R parietal lobe. The size of the SES effect however was largely unchanged following adjustment for depressive symptoms and cigarette smoking ($sr^2 = 0.02$, with and without adjustment for these variables; see **Table 4**). Previous DTI research has demonstrated that major depressive disorder is significantly associated with decreased FA in left hemisphere regions (Zou et al., 2008), consistent with other neuroimaging research suggesting a left-hemisphere dominance for symptoms of depressive symptoms and left hemisphere regions may be due to not assessing for a validated diagnosis of major depressive disorder, but rather depressive symptom severity. More research

is needed to identify psychosocial and behavioral risk factors that are associated with reduced FA, and how they operate within the mechanistic pathways by which lower SES adversely relates to white matter structure.

Following adjustment for whole-brain white matter lesion volume, the size of the SES effect on the R parietal lobe reduced from $sr^2 = 0.02$ to $sr^2 = 0.01$ (**Table 4**). Although small, this reduction may suggest that overall maturation and/or white matter vascular burden is implicated in SES-related FA differences in this region. That said, significant associations between SES and FA in other cortical white matter regions remained significant, indicating that SES-related difference in white matter integrity throughout the brain exist above and beyond overall white matter maturation. It is worth noting that out of all the cortical regions examined, the R parietal lobe, while significant, had the weakest relation with SES in the base models. The relation between SES and the R parietal lobe may therefore not be strong enough to maintain significance following the loss of power.

Consistent with past research (Salat et al., 2005), the present study found that older age was associated with significantly lower FA and higher trace throughout the brain, with the exception of the R temporal lobe for FA. It is possible that in an older sample, greater age would also be associated with lower R temporal lobe FA, or that further region-specific differences would be observed. A previous study reported that higher SES (versus lower SES) was associated with greater white matter integrity in three frontal tracts in older (i.e., 66 years), but not younger (i.e., 33 years) participants (Johnson et al., 2013). The present study's finding that age did not moderate associations between SES and white matter integrity may therefore reflect our relatively younger sample. It is also possible that differences in SES measurement accounted for these differences. The previous study used a composite of educational attainment and occupation, whereas our study used a composite of educational attainment and poverty status. Indeed, SES is a multidimensional construct (Braveman et al., 2005), and different socioeconomic indicators may be differentially associated with brain outcomes. Interestingly, widespread associations were also found between sex and trace, where relative to women, men had greater levels of diffusion throughout the entire brain. This is consistent with a recent study of young adults (N = 1,216) finding a significant sex by SES interaction, where among those with

higher levels of family income and level of education, men had higher mean diffusivity (an average of trace) relative to women (Takeuchi et al., 2018). Perhaps with a larger sample size and greater statistical power, our study would have produced similar results. Future studies should seek to determine mediators and additional moderators of the trace-sex relation, as to better understand why men are vulnerable to greater diffusivity, but not poorer white matter integrity.

Given that the literature on racial differences in white matter microstructure is limited, our study, which found nonsignificant independent and moderating effects of self-identified race with FA in a community-dwelling sample, represents a novel contribution to the literature. The lack of significant interactive relations between race and SES is surprising, given previous findings in the HANDLS SCAN sample demonstrating such an interaction with white matter lesion volume (Waldstein et al., 2017) and volumes of stress-related brain regions (Shaked et al., 2019). Further, irrespective of SES, African Americans experience greater burden of stroke (Morgenstern et al., 1997), white matter lesions (Liao et al., 1997), and dementia than their White counterparts (Mayeda et al., 2016), as well as exposure to biomedical (e.g., hypertension, diabetes mellitus), psychosocial (e.g., social discrimination, chronic stress), and environmental (e.g., geographic segregation, toxin exposure) risk factors that influence brain and cognitive health across the lifespan (Glymour and Manly, 2008; Williams et al., 2010). One possibility for the null race-related findings is that social risk factors specifically linked to self-identified race, such as racial discrimination, are unrelated to white matter integrity, but exert influence on global and regional brain and white matter lesion volumes. This possibility, however, is highly speculative and needs to be examined directly in future studies. Unexpectedly, relative to African Americans, White individuals had greater diffusion in the parietal lobes. One explanation for these findings is that Whites are significantly older than the African Americans in our sample (p = 0.03, Whites = 53 years, African Americans = 50 years). As noted, age was strongly related to greater diffusion (Table 6; β s ranged from 0.34 to 0.53), and the race effects may be due to residual confounding of age. Further research on biopsychosocial factors that are uniquely associated with white matter integrity and diffusivity could help clarify potential race differences in DTI indices.

This study had notable strengths. The HANDLS investigation was explicitly designed to disentangle SES- and race-related health disparities, and therefore our present study contained a wide range of SES among African American and White community-dwelling adults. Our study used a SES composite comprised of two key indicators, educational attainment and poverty status, which are implicated in brain health and aging. This was the first study to examine potential moderating effects of race and age on the association between SES and FA in key cortical regions and expanded on previous research by examining how further adjustment of relevant biopsychosocial risk factors changed associations of SES and FA.

This study also had several limitations. The results may be specific to adults living within the urban environment of Baltimore City. Future studies should examine associations of sociodemographic factors with FA in other racial/ethnic minorities and participants living in non-urban environments. Moreover, while our imaging subsample was representative of the larger HANDLS sample with regards to poverty status, years of education, and sex, the imaging subsample was significantly more likely to include younger and White participants. Conclusions regarding race and age effects should therefore be generalized with caution to the overall HANDLS sample. Also, while we examined the influence of several cardiovascular risk factors, we did not account for the duration of illnesses, influences of different classes of medication, and medication adherence, as HANDLS did not collect this information. Our composite measure of SES did not assess other socioeconomic indicators, such as occupational status, wealth, or income. Future studies should evaluate how additional SES indicators influence white matter microstructure in a socioeconomically diverse sample of adults. Also, we did not directly examine outcome variables such as cognitive ability and decline, which are important when considering the functional implications of our findings. Future studies should examine the potential mediating role of DTI outcomes in SES disparities of cognition and other functional outcomes related to white matter integrity. Finally, our study was cross-sectional and therefore did not examine within-subject agerelated changes in white matter integrity. Longitudinal studies should examine how SES and self-identified race predict agerelated degradation in FA.

In sum, lower SES was associated with poorer white matter integrity uniformly across the brain's primary cortical regions, and with greater diffusion in the R and L frontal, R and L temporal, and L occipital lobes. These findings may reflect, at least in part, disproportionate exposure to biopsychosocial risk factors among those of lower SES, and may translate into more pronounced risk for age- and/or disease-related cognitive decline. Subsequent adjustment of vascular and inflammatory risk factors did not result in attenuation of SES effects anywhere in the brain, although depressive symptoms, smoking status, and white matter lesion volume negated the relation between SES and the R parietal lobe. Consistent with previous research, older age was also associated with poorer white matter integrity and greater diffusivity throughout the primary cortical regions. No differences in white matter integrity were found between selfidentified African Americans and Whites, nor did our findings reveal significant interactions among SES, race, and age with white matter integrity in any region. The profound differences in white matter microstructure across SES groups is very relevant given the adverse cognitive, functional, and neurological-disease outcomes associated with poorer white matter integrity. Ideally, this research will encourage researchers and society at large to promote brain health across the socioeconomic spectrum. Future research is needed to identify mechanistic determinants of the SES-white matter relation as to promote targeted interventions and prevention efforts.

DATA AVAILABILITY

Data are available upon request to researchers with valid proposals who agree to the confidentiality agreement as required by our Institutional Review Boards. We publicize our policies on our website². Requests for data access may be sent to AZ (co-author) or the study manager, Jennifer Norbeck at norbeckje@mail.nih.gov.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the University of Maryland, Baltimore and the University of Maryland, Baltimore County Institutional Review Boards with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DS, DL, and SW: general conception. ME, AZ, and SW: parent study design. DS and DL: data analysis and drafting

²https://handls.nih.gov/

REFERENCES

- Adler, N. E., Boyce, T., Chesney, M. A., Cohen, S., Folkman, S., Kahn, R. L., et al. (1994). Socioeconomic status and health. the challenge of the gradient. *Am. Psychol.* 49, 15–24. doi: 10.1037/0003-066x.49.1.15
- Andersson, J. L. R., and Sotiropoulos, S. N. (2016). An integrated approach to correction for off-resonance effects and subject movement in diffusion MR imaging. *Neuroimage* 125, 1063–1078. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015. 10.019
- Baum, A., Garofalo, J. P., and Yali, A. M. (1999). Socioeconomic status and chronic stress. does stress account for SES effects on health? *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 896, 131–144. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1999.tb08111.x
- Bosch, B., Arenaza-Urquijo, E. M., Rami, L., Sala-Llonch, R., Junque, C., Sole-Padulles, C., et al. (2012). Multiple DTI index analysis in normal aging, amnestic MCI and AD. relationship with neuropsychological performance. *Neurobiol. Aging* 33, 61–74. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2010. 02.004
- Braveman, P. A., Cubbin, C., Egerter, S., Chideya, S., Marchi, K. S., Metzler, M., et al. (2005). Socioeconomic status in health research: one size does not fit all. *JAMA* 294, 2879–2888. doi: 10.1001/jama.294.22.2879
- Brito, N. H., and Noble, K. G. (2014). Socioeconomic status and structural brain development. *Front. Neurosci.* 8:276. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2014.00276
- Burgmans, S., van Boxtel, M. P., Gronenschild, E. H., Vuurman, E. F., Hofman, P., Uylings, H. B., et al. (2010). Multiple indicators of age-related differences in cerebral white matter and the modifying effects of hypertension. *Neuroimage* 49, 2083–2093. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.10.035
- Chanraud, S., Zahr, N., Sullivan, E. V., and Pfefferbaum, A. (2010). MR diffusion tensor imaging: a window into white matter integrity of the working brain. *Neuropsychol. Rev.* 20, 209–225. doi: 10.1007/s11065-010-9129-7
- Chiang, M. C., McMahon, K. L., de Zubicaray, G. I., Martin, N. G., Hickie, I., Toga, A. W., et al. (2011). Genetics of white matter development: a DTI study of 705 twins and their siblings aged 12 to 29. *Neuroimage* 54, 2308–2317. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.10.015
- Choi, K. S., Holtzheimer, P. E., Franco, A. R., Kelley, M. E., Dunlop, B. W., Hu, X. P., et al. (2014). Reconciling variable findings of white matter integrity in major depressive disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 39, 1332–1339. doi: 10.1038/npp.2013.345
- Demirovic, J., Prineas, R., Loewenstein, D., Bean, J., Duara, R., Sevush, S., et al. (2003). Prevalence of dementia in three ethnic groups: the South Florida program on aging and health. *Ann. Epidemiol.* 13, 472–478. doi: 10.1016/s1047-2797(02)00437-4

the manuscript. DS, DL, LK, CD, RG, SS, GE, ME, AZ, and SW: final preparation of the article, data collection, preparation, and interpretation.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health³. R01-AG034161 and P30 AG028747 to SW, ZIA–AG000513 to ME and AZ, and the University of Maryland Claude D. Pepper Older Americans Independence Center (P30 AG028747).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge the support of the University of Maryland School of Medicine Center for Innovative Biomedical Resources, Core for Translational Research in Imaging at Maryland (C-TRIM)– Baltimore, MD, United States.

³https://www.nih.gov

- Doshi, J., Erus, G., Ou, Y., Gaonkar, B., and Davatzikos, C. (2013). Multiatlas skull-stripping. *Acad. Radiol.* 20, 1566–1576. doi: 10.1016/j.acra.2013. 09.010
- Dufford, A. J., and Kim, P. (2017). Family income, cumulative risk exposure, and white matter structure in middle childhood. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 11:547. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2017.00547
- Epel, E. S., Crosswell, A. D., Mayer, S. E., Prather, A. A., Slavich, G. M., Puterman, E., et al. (2018). More than a feeling: a unified view of stress measurement for population science. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 49, 146–169. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne. 2018.03.001
- Evans, G. W., and Kantrowitz, E. (2002). Socioeconomic status and health: the potential role of environmental risk exposure. *Annu. Rev. Public Health* 23, 303–331. doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.23.112001.112349
- Evans, M. K., Lepkowski, J. M., Powe, N. R., LaVeist, T., Kuczmarski, M. F., and Zonderman, A. B. (2010). Healthy aging in neighborhoods of diversity across the life span (HANDLS): overcoming barriers to implementing a longitudinal, epidemiologic, urban study of health, race, and socioeconomic status. *Ethn. Dis.* 20, 267–275.
- Farah, M. J. (2017). The neuroscience of socioeconomic status: correlates, causes, and consequences. *Neuron* 96, 56–71. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.08.034
- Farmer, M. M., and Ferraro, K. F. (2005). Are racial disparities in health conditional on socioeconomic status? Soc. Sci. Med. 60, 191–204. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed. 2004.04.026
- Friese, U., Meindl, T., Herpertz, S. C., Reiser, M. F., Hampel, H., and Teipel, S. J. (2010). Diagnostic utility of novel MRI-based biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease: diffusion tensor imaging and deformation-based morphometry. J. Alzheimers Dis. 20, 477–490. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-1386
- Gianaros, P. J., Marsland, A. L., Sheu, L. K., Erickson, K. I., and Verstynen, T. D. (2013). Inflammatory pathways link socioeconomic inequalities to white matter architecture. *Cereb. Cortex* 23, 2058–2071. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhs191
- Glymour, M. M., and Manly, J. J. (2008). Lifecourse social conditions and racial and ethnic patterns of cognitive aging. *Neuropsychol. Rev.* 18, 223–254. doi: 10.1007/s11065-008-9064-z
- Gons, R. A., van Norden, A. G., de Laat, K. F., van Oudheusden, L. J., van Uden, I. W., Zwiers, M. P., et al. (2011). Cigarette smoking is associated with reduced microstructural integrity of cerebral white matter. *Brain* 134(Pt 7), 2116–2124. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr145
- Gow, A. J., Bastin, M. E., Munoz Maniega, S., Valdes Hernandez, M. C., Morris, Z., Murray, C., et al. (2012). Neuroprotective lifestyles and the aging brain: activity, atrophy, and white matter integrity. *Neurology* 79, 1802–1808. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182703fd2

- Hackman, D. A., and Farah, M. J. (2009). Socioeconomic status and the developing brain. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 13, 65–73. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2008.11.003
- Hackman, D. A., Farah, M. J., and Meaney, M. J. (2010). Socioeconomic status and the brain: mechanistic insights from human and animal research. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 11, 651–659. doi: 10.1038/nrn2897
- Hartline-Grafton, H., and Dean, O. (2017). *The Impact of Poverty, Food Insecurity, and Poor Nutrition on Health and Well-Being*. Washington, DC: Food Research & Action Center.
- Harwood, D. G., and Ownby, R. L. (2000). Ethnicity and dementia. *Curr. Psychiatry Rep.* 2, 40–45.
- Head, D., Buckner, R. L., Shimony, J. S., Williams, L. E., Akbudak, E., Conturo, T. E., et al. (2004). Differential vulnerability of anterior white matter in nondemented aging with minimal acceleration in dementia of the Alzheimer type: evidence from diffusion tensor imaging. *Cereb. Cortex* 14, 410–423. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhh003
- Hermens, D. F., Hatton, S. N., Lee, R. S. C., Naismith, S. L., Duffy, S. L., Paul Amminger, G., et al. (2018). In vivo imaging of oxidative stress and fronto-limbic white matter integrity in young adults with mood disorders. *Eur. Arch. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 268, 145–156. doi: 10.1007/s00406-017-0788-8
- Herrmann, L. L., Le Masurier, M., and Ebmeier, K. P. (2008). White matter hyperintensities in late life depression: a systematic review. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 79, 619–624. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2007.1 24651
- Hertz, R. P., Unger, A. N., Cornell, J. A., and Saunders, E. (2005). Racial disparities in hypertension prevalence, awareness, and management. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 165, 2098–2104. doi: 10.1001/archinte.165.18.2098
- Jednorog, K., Altarelli, I., Monzalvo, K., Fluss, J., Dubois, J., Billard, C., et al. (2012). The influence of socioeconomic status on children's brain structure. *PLoS One* 7:e42486. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0042486
- Johnson, N. F., Kim, C., and Gold, B. T. (2013). Socioeconomic status is positively correlated with frontal white matter integrity in aging. Age 35, 2045–2056. doi: 10.1007/s11357-012-9493-8
- Jones, D. K. (2008). Studying connections in the living human brain with diffusion MRI. *Cortex* 44, 936–952. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2008.05.002
- Kaplan, G. A., and Keil, J. E. (1993). Socioeconomic factors and cardiovascular disease: a review of the literature. *Circulation* 88(4 Pt 1), 1973–1998. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.88.4.1973
- Korgaonkar, M. S., Grieve, S. M., Koslow, S. H., Gabrieli, J. D., Gordon, E., and Williams, L. M. (2011). Loss of white matter integrity in major depressive disorder: evidence using tract-based spatial statistical analysis of diffusion tensor imaging. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 32, 2161–2171. doi: 10.1002/hbm. 21178
- LaVeist, T. A., Thorpe, R. J. Jr., Galarraga, J. E., Bower, K. M., and Gary-Webb, T. L. (2009). Environmental and socio-economic factors as contributors to racial disparities in diabetes prevalence. *J. Gen. Intern. Med.* 24, 1144–1148. doi: 10.1007/s11606-009-1085-7
- Laxy, M., Stark, R., Peters, A., Hauner, H., Holle, R., and Teuner, C. M. (2017). The non-linear relationship between bmi and health care costs and the resulting cost fraction attributable to obesity. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 14:984. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14090984
- Lazar, M., and Davenport, L. (2018). Barriers to health care access for low income families: a review of literature. J. Commun. Health Nurs. 35, 28–37. doi: 10.1080/ 07370016.2018.1404832
- Liao, D., Cooper, L., Cai, J., Toole, J., Bryan, N., Burke, G., et al. (1997). The prevalence and severity of white matter lesions, their relationship with age, ethnicity, gender, and cardiovascular disease risk factors: the ARIC Study. *Neuroepidemiology* 16, 149–162. doi: 10.1159/000368814
- Lorant, V., Deliege, D., Eaton, W., Robert, A., Philippot, P., and Ansseau, M. (2003). Socioeconomic inequalities in depression: a meta-analysis. Am. J. Epidemiol. 157, 98–112. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwf182
- Madden, D. J., Spaniol, J., Costello, M. C., Bucur, B., White, L. E., Cabeza, R., et al. (2009). Cerebral white matter integrity mediates adult age differences in cognitive performance. *J. Cogn. Neurosci.* 21, 289–302. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2009. 21047
- Mayeda, E. R., Glymour, M. M., Quesenberry, C. P., and Whitmer, R. A. (2016). Inequalities in dementia incidence between six racial and ethnic groups over 14 years. *Alzheimer's Dement.* 12, 216–224. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2015.12.007

- McEwen, B. S., and Gianaros, P. J. (2010). Central role of the brain in stress and adaptation: links to socioeconomic status, health, and disease. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 1186, 190–222. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05331.x
- Metzler, M., Merrick, M. T., Klevens, J., Ports, K. A., and Ford, D. C. (2017). Adverse childhood experiences and life opportunities: shifting the narrative. *Child. Youth Serv. Rev.* 72, 141–149. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2016. 10.021
- Morgenstern, L. B., Spears, W. D., Goff, D. C. Jr., Grotta, J. C., and Nichaman, M. Z. (1997). African Americans and women have the highest stroke mortality in Texas. *Stroke* 28, 15–18. doi: 10.1161/01.str.28.1.15
- Morrell, C. H., Pearson, J. D., and Brant, L. J. (1997). Linear transformations of linear mixed-effects models. Am. Stat. 51, 338–343.
- Morris, P. L., Robinson, R. G., Raphael, B., and Hopwood, M. J. (1996). Lesion location and poststroke depression. J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 8, 399– 403. doi: 10.1176/jnp.8.4.399
- Mozaffarian, D., Benjamin, E. J., Go, A. S., Arnett, D. K., Blaha, M. J., Cushman, M., et al. (2016). Heart disease and stroke statistics-2016 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 133, e38–e360. doi: 10.1161/CIR. 000000000000350
- Murray, A. D., McNeil, C. J., Salarirad, S., Whalley, L. J., and Staff, R. T. (2014). Early life socioeconomic circumstance and late life brain hyperintensities–a population based cohort study. *PLoS One* 9:e88969. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0088969
- Noble, K. G., Korgaonkar, M. S., Grieve, S. M., and Brickman, A. M. (2013). Higher education is an age-independent predictor of white matter integrity and cognitive control in late adolescence. *Dev. Sci.* 16, 653–664. doi: 10.1111/desc. 12077
- Noble, K. G., McCandliss, B. D., and Farah, M. J. (2007). Socioeconomic gradients predict individual differences in neurocognitive abilities. *Dev. Sci.* 10, 464–480. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-7687.2007.00600.x
- O'Rand, A. M. (1996). The precious and the precocious: understanding cumulative disadvantage and cumulative advantage over the life course. *Gerontologist* 36, 230–238. doi: 10.1093/geront/36.2.230
- O'Sullivan, M., Jones, D. K., Summers, P. E., Morris, R. G., Williams, S. C., and Markus, H. S. (2001). Evidence for cortical "disconnection" as a mechanism of age-related cognitive decline. *Neurology* 57, 632–638. doi: 10.1212/wnl.57.4.632
- Pan, A., Sun, Q., Okereke, O. I., Rexrode, K. M., and Hu, F. B. (2011). Depression and risk of stroke morbidity and mortality: a meta-analysis and systematic review. JAMA 306, 1241–1249. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.1282
- Pathirana, T. I., and Jackson, C. A. (2018). Socioeconomic status and multimorbidity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Aust. N. Z. J. Publ. Health 42, 186–194. doi: 10.1111/1753-6405.12762
- Piras, F., Cherubini, A., Caltagirone, C., and Spalletta, G. (2011). Education mediates microstructural changes in bilateral hippocampus. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 32, 282–289. doi: 10.1002/hbm.21018
- Pollitt, R. A., Rose, K. M., and Kaufman, J. S. (2005). Evaluating the evidence for models of life course socioeconomic factors and cardiovascular outcomes: a systematic review. *BMC Publ. Health* 5:7. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-5-7
- R Core Team (2018). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Appl. Psychol. Measure.* 1, 385–401. doi: 10.1177/ 014662167700100306
- Raz, N., and Rodrigue, K. M. (2006). Differential aging of the brain: patterns, cognitive correlates and modifiers. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 30, 730–748. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2006.07.001
- Roalf, D. R., Gur, R. E., Verma, R., Parker, W. A., Quarmley, M., Ruparel, K., et al. (2015). White matter microstructure in schizophrenia: associations to neurocognition and clinical symptomatology. *Schizophr. Res.* 161, 42–49. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.09.026
- Salat, D. H., Tuch, D. S., Greve, D. N., van der Kouwe, A. J., Hevelone, N. D., Zaleta, A. K., et al. (2005). Age-related alterations in white matter microstructure measured by diffusion tensor imaging. *Neurobiol. Aging* 26, 1215–1227. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2004.09.017
- Shaked, D., Katzel, L. I., Seliger, S. L., Gullapalli, R. P., Davatzikos, C., Erus, G., et al. (2018). Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex volume as a mediator between socioeconomic status and executive function. *Neuropsychology* 32, 985–995. doi: 10.1037/neu0000484

- Shaked, D., Millman, Z. B., Moody, D. L. B., Rosenberger, W. F., Shao, H., Katzel, L. I., et al. (2019). Sociodemographic disparities in corticolimbic structures. *PloS One* 14:e0216338. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0216338
- Singh-Manoux, A., Richards, M., and Marmot, M. (2005). Socioeconomic position across the lifecourse: how does it relate to cognitive function in mid-life? *Ann. Epidemiol.* 15, 572–578. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2004.10.007
- Stanek, K. M., Grieve, S. M., Brickman, A. M., Korgaonkar, M. S., Paul, R. H., Cohen, R. A., et al. (2011). Obesity is associated with reduced white matter integrity in otherwise healthy adults. *Obesity* 19, 500–504. doi: 10.1038/oby. 2010.312
- Stern, Y., Arenaza-Urquijo, E. M., Bartres-Faz, D., Belleville, S., Cantilon, M., Chetelat, G., et al. (2018). Whitepaper: Defining and investigating cognitive reserve, brain reserve, and brain maintenance. *Alzheimers Dement.* doi: 10. 1016/j.jalz.2018.07.219 [Epub ahead of print].
- Sullivan, E. V., and Pfefferbaum, A. (2006). Diffusion tensor imaging and aging. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 30, 749–761. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2006.06.002
- Takeuchi, H., Taki, Y., Nouchi, R., Yokoyama, R., Kotozaki, Y., Nakagawa, S., et al. (2018). The effects of family socioeconomic status on psychological and neural mechanisms as well as their sex differences. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 12:543. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2018.00543
- Tang, M. X., Cross, P., Andrews, H., Jacobs, D. M., Small, S., Bell, K., et al. (2001). Incidence of AD in African-Americans, Caribbean Hispanics, and Caucasians in northern Manhattan. *Neurology* 56, 49–56. doi: 10.1212/wnl.56.1.49
- Teipel, S. J., Meindl, T., Wagner, M., Kohl, T., Burger, K., Reiser, M. F., et al. (2009). White matter microstructure in relation to education in aging and Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers Dis. 17, 571–583. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2009-1077
- Tristan-Vega, A., and Aja-Fernandez, S. (2010). DWI filtering using joint information for DTI and HARDI. *Med. Image Anal.* 14, 205–218. doi: 10.1016/ j.media.2009.11.001
- Tustison, N. J., Avants, B. B., Cook, P. A., Zheng, Y., Egan, A., Yushkevich, P. A., et al. (2010). N4ITK: improved N3 bias correction. *IEEE Trans. Med. Imaging* 29, 1310–1320. doi: 10.1109/TMI.2010.2046908
- Ursache, A., and Noble, K. G. (2016). Socioeconomic status, white matter, and executive function in children. *Brain Behav.* 6:e00531. doi: 10.1002/brb3.531
- Voss, M. W., Heo, S., Prakash, R. S., Erickson, K. I., Alves, H., Chaddock, L., et al. (2013). The influence of aerobic fitness on cerebral white matter integrity and cognitive function in older adults: results of a one-year exercise intervention. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 34, 2972–2985. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22119
- Wakana, S., Jiang, H., Nagae-Poetscher, L. M., van Zijl, P. C., and Mori, S. (2004). Fiber tract-based atlas of human white matter anatomy. *Radiology* 230, 77–87. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2301021640
- Waldstein, S. R., Dore, G. A., Davatzikos, C., Katzel, L. I., Gullapalli, R., Seliger, S. L., et al. (2017). Differential associations of socioeconomic status with global brain volumes and white matter lesions in African American and white adults: the HANDLS SCAN Study. *Psychosom. Med.* 79, 327–335. doi: 10.1097/PSY. 000000000000408
- Waldstein, S. R., and Elias, M. F. (2015). Neuropsychology of Cardiovascular Disease. New York, NY: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Waldstein, S. R., Moody, D. L. B., McNeely, J. M., Allen, A. J., Sprung, M. R., Shah, M. T., et al. (2016). Cross-sectional relations of race and poverty status

to cardiovascular risk factors in the healthy aging in neighborhoods of diversity across the lifespan (HANDLS) study. *BMC Public Health* 16:258. doi: 10.1186/ s12889-016-2945-9

- Walker, K. A., Power, M. C., Hoogeveen, R. C., Folsom, A. R., Ballantyne, C. M., Knopman, D. S., et al. (2017). Midlife systemic inflammation, late-life white matter integrity, and cerebral small vessel disease: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. *Stroke* 48, 3196–3202. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.117. 018675
- Wang, R., Fratiglioni, L., Laukka, E. J., Lovden, M., Kalpouzos, G., Keller, L., et al. (2015). Effects of vascular risk factors and APOE epsilon4 on white matter integrity and cognitive decline. *Neurology* 84, 1128–1135. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 000000000001379
- Wang, Y., and Beydoun, M. A. (2007). The obesity epidemic in the United Statesgender, age, socioeconomic, racial/ethnic, and geographic characteristics: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis. *Epidemiol. Rev.* 29, 6–28. doi: 10.1093/epirev/mxm007
- Wersching, H., Duning, T., Lohmann, H., Mohammadi, S., Stehling, C., Fobker, M., et al. (2010). Serum C-reactive protein is linked to cerebral microstructural integrity and cognitive function. *Neurology* 74, 1022–1029. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 0b013e3181d7b45b
- Williams, D. R., Mohammed, S. A., Leavell, J., and Collins, C. (2010). Race, socioeconomic status, and health: complexities, ongoing challenges, and research opportunities. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 1186, 69–101. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05339.x
- Yang, Q., Huang, X., Hong, N., and Yu, X. (2007). White matter microstructural abnormalities in late-life depression. *Int. Psychogeriatr.* 19, 757–766. doi: 10. 1017/S1041610207004875
- Zacharaki, E. I., Kanterakis, S., Bryan, R. N., and Davatzikos, C. (2008). Measuring brain lesion progression with a supervised tissue classification system. *Med. Image Comput. Comput. Assist. Interv.* 11(Pt 1), 620–627. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-85988-8_74
- Zhang, J., Wang, Y., Wang, J., Zhou, X., Shu, N., Wang, Y., et al. (2014). White matter integrity disruptions associated with cognitive impairments in type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes* 63, 3596–3605. doi: 10.2337/db14-0342
- Zou, K., Huang, X., Li, T., Gong, Q., Li, Z., Ou-yang, L., et al. (2008). Alterations of white matter integrity in adults with major depressive disorder: a magnetic resonance imaging study. *J. Psychiatry Neurosci.* 33, 525–530.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Shaked, Leibel, Katzel, Davatzikos, Gullapalli, Seliger, Erus, Evans, Zonderman and Waldstein. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Applying a Women's Health Lens to the Study of the Aging Brain

Caitlin M. Taylor^{1,2}, Laura Pritschet¹, Shuying Yu¹ and Emily G. Jacobs^{1,3*}

¹Department of Psychological and Brain Sciences, University of California, Santa Barbara, Santa Barbara, CA, United States, ²The Sage Center for the Study of the Mind, University of California, Santa Barbara, Santa Barbara, CA, United States, ³Neuroscience Research Institute, University of California, Santa Barbara, Santa Barbara, CA, United States

A major challenge in neuroscience is to understand what happens to a brain as it ages. Such insights could make it possible to distinguish between individuals who will undergo typical aging and those at risk for neurodegenerative disease. Over the last guarter century, thousands of human brain imaging studies have probed the neural basis of age-related cognitive decline. "Aging" studies generally enroll adults over the age of 65, a historical precedent rooted in the average age of retirement. A consequence of this research tradition is that it overlooks one of the most significant neuroendocrine changes in a woman's life: the transition to menopause. The menopausal transition is marked by an overall decline in ovarian sex steroid production-up to 90% in the case of estradiol-a dramatic endocrine change that impacts multiple biological systems, including the brain. Despite sex differences in the risk for dementia, the influence that biological sex and sex hormones have on the aging brain is historically understudied, leaving a critical gap in our understanding of the aging process. In this Perspective article, we highlight the influence that endocrine factors have on the aging brain. We devote particular attention to the neural and cognitive changes that unfold in the middle decade of life, as a function of reproductive aging. We then consider emerging evidence from animal and human studies that other endocrine factors occurring earlier in life (e.g., pregnancy, hormonal birth control use) also shape the aging process. Applying a women's health lens to the study of the aging brain will advance knowledge of the neuroendocrine basis of cognitive aging and ensure that men and women get the full benefit of our research efforts.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lisa L. Barnes, Rush University Medical Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Julie A. Dumas, University of Vermont, United States Patricia E. Cowell, University of Sheffield, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Emily G. Jacobs emily.jacobs@psych.ucsb.edu

> Received: 29 April 2019 Accepted: 18 June 2019 Published: 05 July 2019

Citation:

Taylor CM, Pritschet L, Yu S and Jacobs EG (2019) Applying a Women's Health Lens to the Study of the Aging Brain. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 13:224. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2019.00224 Keywords: cognitive aging, neuroimaging, women's health, sex steroid hormones, estradiol, menopause, reproductive aging, memory

INTRODUCTION

An overarching goal of cognitive neuroscience is to understand the complexities of human brain function across the lifespan. To make sense of cognition and behavior, scientists test hypotheses on a "representative" sample of individuals that are assumed to generalize to a larger population. Here, we argue that it is imperative for scientists to reconsider what constitutes a representative sample.

A pressing problem in the biomedical sciences is the under-representation of females in experimental designs. For the past half-century, the convention in preclinical research has been to study male animals, at the near-exclusion of females. Females were considered "too variable" (Beery and Zucker, 2011) despite empirical evidence that variability within each sex is the same

across a broad range of phenotypes (Prendergast et al., 2014). In 2016 in the US, this sex bias in biomedical research was addressed at the national level when Janine Clayton (Director, Office of Women's Health Research) pioneered the National Institute of Health's mandate requiring the inclusion of female and male animals in preclinical science (Clayton and Collins, 2014). The goal of the mandate is to ensure that future studies are balanced by sex, a key step to bolstering our understanding of sex similarities and sex differences across the biomedical sciences.

In human neuroscience, the problem is more subtle. While the majority of studies enroll both men and women, women do not benefit equally from our research efforts. Scientists often overlook sex-specific variables, a bias that seeps into our study design and analyses and impedes our basic understanding of the brain. In this Perspective article, we address one domain that is often unaccounted for in human neuroscience: the influence of sex steroid hormones on the brain. This is surprising, given that the brain is an endocrine organ and in animal studies, the effects of sex hormones on the central nervous system are extensive, ranging from changes in gene expression to alterations in behavior (McEwen, 2001). Across a typical menstrual cycle (occurring every 25-30 days), naturally cycling women experience a ~12-fold increase in estrogen and an ~800-fold increase in progesterone. Later in life, women experience a more abrupt change in sex steroid hormone production as they transition through menopause. Further, sex hormone production is chronically suppressed in the 100 million women worldwide using oral hormonal contraceptives (OCs). For men, testosterone production shows a gradual, protracted decline beginning in the mid-30s and continuing throughout life. How do these shifts in hormone production shape the brain? Do endocrine factors influence how the brain ages? The field of human neuroscience has not adequately addressed these questions and women may be disproportionately disadvantaged by this oversight.

Below, we describe animal and human evidence that sex hormones regulate the structure and function of brain regions critical to learning and memory. We focus on the implications of this work for understanding the neurobiological mechanisms of cognitive aging. Moving forward, the field of human cognitive neuroscience must consider features (e.g., the menstrual cycle, menopause, pregnancy, and OC use) that are relevant to half of our study population. If not, we will be left with an inadequate understanding of the aging brain and will risk the health of half of the world's population.

THE NEUROENDOCRINE BASIS OF COGNITIVE AGING

A major challenge in neuroscience is to understand what happens to a brain as it ages. Distinguishing between individuals who undergo typical aging from those at risk for neurodegenerative disease is critical for targeting early interventions to high-risk individuals. Over the last quarter century, thousands of human brain imaging studies have probed the neural basis of age-related cognitive decline. These studies generally enroll adults over the age of 65, a historical precedent rooted in the average age of retirement. A consequence of this research tradition is that it overlooks one of the most significant neuroendocrine changes in a woman's life: the transition to menopause. The menopausal transition is marked by an overall decline in ovarian sex steroid production—up to 90% in the case of estradiol—a dramatic endocrine change that impacts multiple biological systems, including the brain (Morrison et al., 2006).

In the context of cognitive aging, female reproductive aging presents a critical yet understudied factor (**Figure 1**) that is likely essential for understanding the early processes that contribute to age-related cognitive decline and ultimately dementia risk. Indeed, growing evidence from animal studies indicates that sex steroids including estradiol, progesterone, and testosterone, play a substantial role in supporting the structure and function of brain regions relevant to cognitive aging (Jacobs and Goldstein, 2018).

Sex Hormone Action in Memory Circuitry

The actions of estrogen in the brain are in large part dependent on the location of estrogen receptors (ERs; McEwen and Alves, 1999). At the cellular level, estrogen, primarily in the form of 17β -estradiol, facilitates synaptogenesis, protects against oxidative stress, and regulates neuromodulators including serotonin, norepinephrine, dopamine, and acetylcholine (Becker, 1990; Thompson and Moss, 1994; McEwen and Alves, 1999; McEwen et al., 1997; McEwen and Alves, 1999; Walf and Frye, 2006; Wang et al., 2010; Chisholm and Juraska, 2012; Bean et al., 2014; Galvin and Ninan, 2014; Almey et al., 2015; Hara et al., 2015, 2016; Rossetti et al., 2016; Frick et al., 2018).



FIGURE 1 | Publication count of cognitive neuroscience studies of aging, beginning in the mid-1990s with the widespread adoption of functional brain imaging techniques. The number of brain imaging publications that consider the effects of reproductive or "neuroendocrine" aging during the midlife transition to menopause is dwarfed by the number of chronological aging studies, which compare men and women >65 to young adults. Over the past 23 years there have been only 82 brain imaging publications on reproductive aging. Of those, only 49% used endocrine assessments to verify menopausal stage (see **Supplementary Material**).

Estradiol signaling is a critical component of cell survival and plasticity, and its effects can be measured across multiple spatial and temporal scales (Frick et al., 2018). Many of these effects occur in brain regions that are critical to higher level cognitive function and cognitive aging. In non-human primates, at the cellular level, nearly 50% of prefrontal cortex (PFC) pyramidal neurons express the ERa subtype (Wang et al., 2010), and greater ER α expression is associated with better short-term memory performance (Wang et al., 2010). Further, the suppression of ovarian hormones decreases spine density in PFC neurons (Hao et al., 2006), and impairs working memory performance (Rapp et al., 2003). In rodents, in the hippocampus, dendritic spine density in CA1 neurons varies over the course of the estrous cycle (Woolley et al., 1990; Woolley and McEwen, 1993). At the macroscopic level, hippocampal volume is regulated by sex hormones (Galea et al., 1999) and fluctuates across the estrous cycle (Qiu et al., 2013). These basic science findings provide converging evidence that the manipulation of estrogen levels leads to structural and functional changes in the ER-enriched regions that comprise memory circuitry.

Human studies further implicate sex steroids in the regulation of memory circuitry (Berman et al., 1997; Shaywitz et al., 1999; Jacobs and D'Esposito, 2011; Epperson et al., 2012; Hampson and Morley, 2013; Shanmugan and Epperson, 2014; Jacobs et al., 2015, 2016, 2017; Albert et al., 2017; Girard et al., 2017; Zeydan et al., 2019), yet despite this evidence the neuroendocrine basis of cognitive aging remains understudied in human neuroscience.

MENOPAUSE AND HORMONE THERAPY

One of the most significant neuroendocrine changes in a woman's life is the transition to menopause, during which circulating ovarian hormone concentrations decline up to 90%. Many women report changes in memory and attention (e.g., "menopause fog") during this transitional period (Greendale et al., 2011). The median age of menopause is 52.4 years (Gold et al., 2001), yet the vast majority of cognitive aging studies target adults age 65 and older, missing this critical midlife window (**Figure 1**). The field has focused almost exclusively on the neural and cognitive effects of chronological aging, overlooking the impact of reproductive aging. This is striking, given that most women will spend one-third of their lives in the post-reproductive years, and mounting evidence suggests that reproductive aging influences brain structure, function, and cognition.

A significant methodological and ethical challenge of studying menopause is that to fully understand the impacts of this major hormonal shift on the brain, our designs must parse the parallel and interactional effects of chronological and reproductive aging in women. In humans, the relationship between gonadal aging and the brain has typically been studied in two contexts: studying the effects of spontaneous menopause and surgical menopause (e.g., bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy prior to natural menopause). For longitudinal studies of women experiencing spontaneous menopause, the effects of chronological and reproductive aging cannot be separated. However, in studying women who have undergone surgical menopause or cross-sectional studies that pair age-matched women who fall within different stages of the menopausal transition, the effects of reproductive aging alone can be more effectively characterized.

Impact of Gonadectomy and Hormone Supplementation in Animals

While challenging in humans, animal studies more easily decouple the effects of reproductive aging from chronological aging via surgical menopause (gonadectomy) paradigms. These studies demonstrate that ovarian hormone depletion impacts hippocampal and PFC morphology and function, independent of the established influence of chronological aging. This body of work has made significant progress toward characterizing the synaptic basis of menopauserelated memory decline (Morrison and Baxter, 2012; Hara et al., 2016). For example, rodent and nonhuman primate studies first identified estradiol's role in modulating structural plasticity in the hippocampus and PFC as well as estradiol's protective effects against cognitive decline (Morrison and Baxter, 2012; Hara et al., 2015, 2016). In female macaques, surgical menopause leads to a 30% loss in spine density in hippocampal CA1 neurons, which is reversed by estradiol replacement (Dumitriu et al., 2010). Natural menopause in rhesus monkeys reduces the density of perforated synapse spines in CA1 neurons, which is correlated with lower recognition memory (Hara et al., 2012). Cyclic estradiol administration in postmenopausal female monkeys restores dorsolateral PFC spine density and the frequency of multisynaptic boutons to levels comparable to premenopausal females, and these synaptic-level changes are accompanied by enhanced performance on PFC-dependent memory tasks in estradiol-treated animals (Hara et al., 2016; Kohama et al., 2016).

Impact of Menopause and Hormone Supplementation in Humans

Epidemiological surveys indicate that many women report increased forgetfulness and "brain fog" during the menopausal transition (Greendale et al., 2011). Neuropsychological studies have identified decrements in verbal fluency and associative memory tied to reproductive stage (Epperson et al., 2013; Weber et al., 2014; Rentz et al., 2017), and across women higher estradiol levels are associated with better memory performance (Rentz et al., 2017).

At the level of functional brain networks, our group showed that PFC activity and working memory performance are modulated by endogenous estradiol concentrations (Jacobs and D'Esposito, 2011; Jacobs et al., 2017). Using a withinwoman, repeated-measures approach that capitalizes on the natural fluctuations in estradiol over the menstrual cycle in premenopausal women, we found that PFC activity is exaggerated when estradiol concentrations are low, a putative marker of neural inefficiency (Jacobs and D'Esposito, 2011). This "inefficient" PFC response is also evident in midlife women as ovarian estradiol production declines during the menopausal transition (Jacobs et al., 2016). In another population-based functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) study, midlife men and women (N = 200; age range: 45–55) performed a verbal memory encoding task. Task-evoked hippocampal responses differed by women's reproductive stage, despite minimal difference in chronological age. Across women, lower estradiol concentrations were related to greater alterations of hippocampal connectivity and poorer performance on a subsequent memory retrieval task, implicating sex steroids in the regulation of memory circuitry (Jacobs et al., 2016, 2017). Thus, early functional changes in memory circuitry are evident decades before the age-range typically targeted by cognitive neuroscience studies of the aging brain.

At the level of brain morphology, Zeydan et al. (2019) found that abrupt hormonal changes associated with early surgical menopause lead to structural abnormalities in the medial temporal lobe. The parahippocampus-entorhinal cortex was thinner in women who underwent bilateral ovariectomization compared to an age-matched premenopausal control group, despite the use of estrogen replacement in the surgical menopause group. Future studies should employ high resolution hippocampal subfield imaging to identify the impact of hormone suppression within specific medial temporal lobe structures, particularly subfields that may differ by cytoarchitecture and magnitude of ER α - and ER β -expression.

A handful of human studies have directly examined the effect of hormone therapy (HT) on brain morphology in peri/postmenopausal women, revealing that hippocampal volume increases in response to certain hormone replacement regimens (Albert et al., 2017). The macrostructural changes evident in the hippocampus in response to estradiol supplementation may produce cognitive benefits (for a review, see Daniel et al., 2015). For example, Maki et al. (2011) found that women who began HT in perimenopause had enhanced hippocampal activity during a verbal recognition task and better verbal memory performance relative to nonusers. When initiated early in the menopausal transition, HT also appears to enhance cognitive control-related dorsolateral PFC activity and improve task-switching performance in women (Girard et al., 2017).

Together, these findings underscore the importance of considering reproductive stage, not simply chronological age, to identify neural and cognitive changes that unfold in the middle decade of life. In keeping with animal evidence, human studies demonstrate that the decline in ovarian estradiol production during menopause plays a role in shaping the structure and function of brain networks that support higherorder cognitive functions.

PREGNANCY

With a global fertility rate of 2.5 births per woman (World Bank, 2017), the majority of women will experience pregnancy at least once in their lifetime. Pregnancy is another prolonged period of major hormonal change, during which women experience a dramatic rise in sex steroid hormone concentrations. For

instance, in humans, estradiol and progesterone levels increase up to 300-fold across the 40-week gestational period (Berg and Kuss, 1992; Tal et al., 2000; Schock et al., 2016), with progesterone levels rising from a mean of 1 ng/mL during an average menstrual cycle to 100–300 ng/mL during the last trimester of pregnancy (Tal et al., 2000; Schock et al., 2016). In rodents, this sustained increase in hormone levels during gestation has a lasting impact on the brain, particularly regarding hippocampal plasticity (reviewed in Kinsley and Lambert, 2008; Workman et al., 2012; Galea et al., 2014).

Impact of Pregnancy on Brain Structure/Function in Animals

In rodents, the reproductive experience (i.e., pregnancy, lactation, and parenting) affects hippocampal morphology (Kinsley et al., 2006; Pawluski and Galea, 2006, 2007; Barha et al., 2015). Hippocampal CA1 spine density is significantly higher in late pregnancy and lactating females compared to nulliparous female rats at any phase of the estrous cycle (Kinsley et al., 2006). Pregnancy also affects long-term hippocampal sensitivity to estrogen (Roes and Galea, 2016). Barha and Galea (2011) studied hippocampal sensitivity to estrogens (17 β , 17 α , and estrone) in middle-aged rats as a function of parity (multiparous vs. nulliparous). All estrogens induced upregulation of cell proliferation in the hippocampus in multiparous females, however, none of the estrogens induced proliferation in nulliparous females. Further, pregnancy's effects appear to be cumulative, such that the effects of pregnancy compound with subsequent parity. In a study of spatial learning and memory, Gatewood et al. (2005) found that multiparous rats exhibited better spatial learning and memory retention compared to age-matched primi- and nulliparous females when tested at 6, 12, 18, and 24 months of age. Additionally, immunohistochemistry within the CA1 region and dentate gyrus of the hippocampus of these rats revealed an effect of reproductive experience on amyloid precursor protein (APP) immunoreactive neurons. Multiparous females had fewer APP stained cells than primi- and nulliparous groups, and less APP staining corresponded with better behavioral performance at 24 months.

Impact of Pregnancy on Brain Structure/Function in Humans

Pregnancy typically confers an enhancement of hippocampaldependent memory in rodents, yet human studies report memory impairments during pregnancy. Similar to the self-reported cognitive changes experienced by menopausal women, pregnant women describe cognitive changes during pregnancy that include increased forgetfulness, greater distractibility, and word finding difficulties (reviewed in Brett and Baxendale, 2001). In a meta-analysis, Henry and Rendell (2007) observed that pregnant women exhibit impairments in free and delayed recall, subjective memory (persisting 3 months post-partum), and working memory relative to non-pregnant controls. Pregnant women did not outperform non-pregnant women in any domain. Glynn (2012) found that the effects on memory are cumulative with increasing parity. In the study, 254 women were evaluated on measures of verbal recall memory at four points during pregnancy and at 3 months post-partum. Beginning at 16 weeks' gestation, the performance of women who had given birth more than twice was worse than the performance of women who had given birth once, which was worse than women who had not yet given birth (primigravid), with impairments persisting to 3 months post-partum.

Few neuroimaging studies have been conducted during pregnancy in humans. Limited findings suggest that global brain volume decreases during pregnancy (Oatridge et al., 2002) with an increase in brain volume after delivery (Kim et al., 2010), returning to pre-pregnancy levels by 24 weeks post-partum (Oatridge et al., 2002). Hoekzema et al. (2017) observed gray matter volume (GMV) reductions in primiparous women scanned before and after pregnancy. Reductions were observed across a network of regions that support social cognition and theory of mind, including the hippocampus, precuneus, and medial/inferior frontal gyrus. Gray matter volume reductions persisted up to 2 years post-partum (with some rebound in the hippocampus). The authors propose that these gray matter changes may facilitate the transition to motherhood, as the areas exhibiting volumetric reductions also exhibited the strongest fMRI BOLD response to pictures of the mothers' infants compared to unrelated children. The magnitude of the morphological change (e.g., in cortical thickness, surface area, sulcal depth, etc.) in these mothers as a result of pregnancy were on par with the changes observed in adolescent males and females during the pubertal transition (Carmona et al., 2019).

Association Between Pregnancy and Cognitive Aging

Greater lifetime exposure to estrogen is considered to be neuroprotective (Smith et al., 1999; Rasgon et al., 2005; Ryan et al., 2009; Heys et al., 2011; Tierney et al., 2013) and pregnancy has a lasting impact on circulating sex steroid hormones. Pregnancy appears to reduce lifetime estrogen exposure relative to nulliparity (summarized in Smith et al., 1999). Circulating estrogen levels are ~22% lower in parous women compared to nulliparous women (Bernstein et al., 1985). This difference persists through menopause, with 20% lower free estradiol levels in multiparous (≥4 children) compared to primiparous menopausal women (Chubak et al., 2004). This parity-related difference in hormone levels may contribute to findings that lower parity is associated with better postmenopausal cognitive function (McLay et al., 2003; Heys et al., 2011; but see Ryan et al., 2009; Tierney et al., 2013). Similarly, parity may have an effect on cognitive aging and dementia risk (reviewed in Roes and Galea, 2016), with reports that having children correlates with earlier onset of AD (Ptok et al., 2002) and a greater extent of AD pathology post-mortem (Beeri et al., 2009). Some of these effects are compounded by successive pregnancies (Sobow and Kloszewska, 2004; Colucci et al., 2006).

ORAL HORMONAL CONTRACEPTIVE USE

Ten million women in the US and 100 million women worldwide use oral hormonal contraception (OC; Petitti, 2003; Christin-Maitre, 2013; Jones et al., 2013; Daniels and Mosher, 2013; Daniels et al., 2015). First introduced in the US in 1960, "the pill" revolutionized women's reproductive health. However, emerging evidence suggests that OCs influence aspects of brain structure and function in young adults (for review, see Pletzer and Kerschbaum, 2014). In two MRI studies, OC use in women was associated with increased GMV in the amygdala, parahippocampal gyrus (Pletzer et al., 2010; Lisofsky et al., 2016) and ventral temporal cortex (Pletzer et al., 2010, 2015) relative to non-users. Less robust effects have been observed in the PFC, although this finding is inconsistent across studies (Pletzer et al., 2010; De Bondt et al., 2013b; Petersen et al., 2015). Moving forward, the field would benefit from a well-powered study that can determine the influence of OC formulation, age of initiation, and duration of use on global and regional brain morphology.

No systematic study has been conducted to investigate the effects of chronic ovarian hormone suppression on brain regions that are densely populated with sex steroid receptors and are modulated by sex steroid hormones. Does long-term ovarian hormone suppression have consequences at the macroscopic level of regional brain morphology in humans? Are there enduring effects even after cessation of use? Though this area of research is understudied, retrospective studies suggest that OC use confers a positive effect on cognitive aging (Egan and Gleason, 2012; Karim et al., 2016). For instance, in an epidemiological study of postmenopausal women, Karim et al. (2016) found that hormonal contraceptive use was positively associated with global cognition and verbal memory. However, other studies report no relationship between OC use and cognitive outcomes (McLay et al., 2003; Tierney et al., 2013). The dearth of research on this topic is especially apparent when attempts are made to explain the endocrine basis of OC's cognitive effects, with some studies attributing positive effects to the supraphysiological levels of synthetic sex hormones in OC users (Egan and Gleason, 2012; Karim et al., 2016), while other studies refer to suppressed levels of endogenous estrogen in OC users (Griksiene and Ruksenas, 2011; De Bondt et al., 2013a). Careful endocrine evaluations paired with studies that control for OC formulation are necessary to resolve these discrepancies.

In addition to OC formulation, the age of initiation of OC use must be considered. Up to one-third of OC users begin to use in early adolescence, yet we know relatively little about how hormone suppression impacts the developing brain, and this may be critical for understanding OC's effects throughout the lifespan. While the hippocampus and basal ganglia typically reach adult levels in late childhood or early adolescence (Segawa, 2000; Gogtay et al., 2006), the development of the PFC is protracted, with cortical volumes stabilizing in the mid-20s (Lenroot and Giedd, 2006). The neuroendocrine changes that accompany puberty produce what has been referred to as a second "window of opportunity" or sensitive period in brain development (for review, see Fuhrmann et al., 2015). In females, the pubertal transition typically begins at

10-11 years of age and ends between the ages of 15-17. It is during this pubertal period that many women begin OC use. Among insured teenagers in the United States, 6% of 13-year-olds and 36% of 13-18-year-olds filled a prescription for OC in 2009 (Ehrlich et al., 2011). Given the early age of first exposure, OC use has the potential to alter the organizational effects of endogenous estradiol in adolescents through chronic suppression of sex steroid hormone levels. To our knowledge, no large-scale longitudinal study has examined the impact that age of initiation and duration of OC use have on neuronal development. Additionally, the short- and long-term effects of OC likely differ. In adults, short-term OC use is associated with GMV changes (Pletzer et al., 2015; Lisofsky et al., 2016), yet few studies have examined whether these changes persist over time, or whether the magnitude of GMV change correlates with total duration of use (Pletzer et al., 2010; De Bondt et al., 2013b; Petersen et al., 2015).

ADDRESSING THE UNDER-REPRESENTATION OF WOMEN'S HEALTH FACTORS IN FUTURE AGING STUDIES

The biomedical sciences are witnessing a remarkable change, whereby researchers are recognizing the importance that sex plays in virtually all aspects of health and disease (Cahill, 2006; McCarthy, 2008). However, in neuroscience, the influence of biological sex and sex hormones on the aging brain remains understudied, leaving a critical gap in our understanding of the aging process. Researchers in the cognitive aging field often account for a variety of "lifespan" factors when characterizing their sample population (e.g., years of education, lifetime physical activity, history of smoking, or substance abuse), yet the endocrine lifespan is usually overlooked.

Recently there has been an appeal for earlier identification of individuals at risk for cognitive decline and dementia, with increasing focus on middle age. Yet few human studies have investigated the neurobiological and neuropsychological impact of reproductive aging, the onset of which coincides with this critical midlife window. Moving forward, the field should pay greater attention to the endocrine basis of brain aging by targeting under-represented samples of women, such as midlife women transitioning through menopause, women undergoing chronic hormone suppression for endocrine-related disorders like endometriosis, and women who undergo early surgical menopause. Enriching this area of research is sorely needed.

In addition to designing studies that address the needs of under-served populations, researchers can take a simpler step forward by adding a standardized reproductive health history questionnaire to their demographic batteries. This is particularly important for large-scale, publicly available data repositories that collect brain imaging and cognitive data on community-based cohorts (e.g., WU-Minn Human Connectome Project, Harvard Brain Genomics Superstruct Project, Philadelphia Neurodevelopmental Cohort). Few of these databases include standardized data on parity, use of hormonebased medications, menstrual cycle histories and/or incidence of common endocrine disorders. The Human Connectome Project-Aging makes progress on this front by collecting serum and saliva samples for hormone characterization and by using an enriched medical history questionnaire that includes some assessments of reproductive health (Bookheimer et al., 2019).

If the practice of collecting a standardized reproductive health history becomes routine, the field will be better able to incorporate hormone factors into models of the aging brain and can then use these findings to guide tightly controlled follow-up studies. Adopting this standard would provide a richer characterization of the sample population being studied and could enable meta-analyses that model the impact of endocrine variables on brain and cognitive outcomes. For example, do women who undergo early vs. late menopause show worse cognitive performance and greater neuropathology later in life? Does age of initiation or duration of OC use alter age-related changes in brain morphology? Do common medications that suppress sex hormone levels (e.g., Lupron for endometriosis) have enduring effects on brain structure, function, and cognition? Answers to these questions are long overdue.

CONCLUSION

The biomedical sciences have treated the male as the representative sex for half a century. As Kathleen Okruhlik wrote in Okruhlik (1994):

"... the treatment of menstruation, pregnancy, and childbirth as diseases or medical emergencies may be traced to the fact that these are not things that happen to the ideal healthy human being who is, of course, male. The ideal healthy lab rat is also male. His body, his hormones, and his behaviors define the norm; so he is used in experiments. Female hormones and their effects are just nuisance variables that muck up the works, preventing experimenters from getting at the pure, clean, stripped-down essence of rat-hood as instantiated by the male model. Insofar as the female of the species is truly a rat (or truly a human being), she is covered by the research on males. Insofar as she is not included in that research, it is because she is not an archetypal member of her own species. *The dangerous effects of such research procedures, especially in the* biomedical sciences, are just now being documented. For far too long, the assumption underlying these experimental designs (that males are the norm) simply went unchallenged."

Science has to represent society, especially since the bulk of academic research is publicly funded by tax-payer dollars. Moving forward, scientists must ensure that our research program serves men and women alike. Historically, cognitive neuroscience has largely overlooked aspects of the human condition (the menstrual cycle, OCs, pregnancy, menopause) that are relevant to half of the world's population (and half of the US tax-base), and should correct course in order for the field to advance.

DATA AVAILABILITY

No datasets were generated or analyzed for this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CT, LP and EJ wrote the manuscript. LP and SY edited the manuscript. SY conducted the literature survey provided in the supplemental figures.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Brain and Behavior Research Foundation (EJ), the California Nanosystems

REFERENCES

- Albert, K., Hiscox, J., Boyd, B., Dumas, J., Taylor, W., and Newhouse, P. (2017). Estrogen enhances hippocampal gray matter volume in young and older postmenopausal women: a prospective dose response study. *Neurobiol. Aging* 56, 1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2017.03.033
- Almey, A., Milner, T. A., and Brake, W. G. (2015). Estrogen receptors in the central nervous system and their implication for dopamine-dependent cognition in females. *Horm. Behav.* 74, 125–138. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2015.06.010
- Barha, C. K., and Galea, L. A. M. (2011). Motherhood alters the cellular response to estrogens in the hippocampus later in life. *Neurobiol. Aging* 32, 2091–2095. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2009.12.004
- Barha, C. K., Lieblich, S. E., Chow, C., and Galea, L. A. M. (2015). Multiparityinduced enhancement of hippocampal neurogenesis and spatial memory depends on ovarian hormone status in middle age. *Neurobiol. Aging* 36, 2391–2405. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2015.04.007
- Bean, L. A., Ianov, L., and Foster, T. C. (2014). Estrogen receptors, the hippocampus and memory. *Neuroscientist* 20, 534–545. doi: 10.1177/1073858413519865
- Becker, J. B. (1990). Estrogen rapidly potentiates amphetamine-induced striatal dopamine release and rotational behavior during microdialysis. *Neurosci. Lett.* 118, 169–171. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(90)90618-j
- Beeri, M. S., Rapp, M., Schmeidler, J., Reichenberg, A., Purohit, D. P., Perl, D. P., et al. (2009). Number of children is associated with neuropathology of Alzheimer's disease in women. *Neurobiol. Aging* 30, 1184–1191. doi: 10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2007.11.011
- Beery, A. K., and Zucker, I. (2011). Sex bias in neuroscience and biomedical research. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 35, 565–572. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010. 07.002
- Berg, F. D., and Kuss, E. (1992). Serum concentration and urinary excretion of "classical" estrogens, catecholestrogens and 2-methoxyestrogens in normal human pregnancy. Arch. Gynecol. Obstet. 251, 17–27. doi: 10.1007/bf02718274
- Berman, K. F., Schmidt, P. J., Rubinow, D. R., Danaceau, M. A., Van Horn, J. D., Esposito, G., et al. (1997). Modulation of cognition-specific cortical activity by gonadal steroids: a positron-emission tomography study in women. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 94, 8836–8841. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.16.8836
- Bernstein, L., Pike, M. C., Ross, R. K., Judd, H. L., Brown, J. B., and Henderson, B. E. (1985). Estrogen and sex hormone-binding globulin levels in nulliparous and parous women. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 74, 741–745. doi: 10.1093/jnci/74.4.741
- Bookheimer, S. Y., Salat, D. H., Terpstra, M., Ances, B. M., Barch, D. M., Buckner, R. L., et al. (2019). The lifespan human connectome project in aging: an overview. *Neuroimage* 185, 335–348. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.10.009
- Brett, M., and Baxendale, S. (2001). Motherhood and memory: a review. Psychoneuroendocrinology 26, 339-362. doi: 10.1016/s0306-4530(01)00003-8
- Cahill, L. (2006). Why sex matters for neuroscience. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 7, 477–484. doi: 10.1038/nrn1909
- Carmona, S., Martínez-García, M., Paternina-Die, M., Barba-Müller, E., Wierenga, L. M., Alemán-Gómez, Y., et al. (2019). Pregnancy and adolescence entail similar neuroanatomical adaptations: a comparative analysis of cerebral morphometric changes. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 40, 2143–2152. doi: 10.1002/hbm. 24513
- Chisholm, N. C., and Juraska, J. M. (2012). Effects of long-term treatment with estrogen and medroxyprogesterone acetate on synapse number in

Institute (EJ), the Hellman Family Fund (EJ), the Hearst Foundation (CT), and the SAGE Center for the Study of the Mind (CT).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnhum. 2019.00224/full#supplementary-material

the medial prefrontal cortex of aged female rats. *Menopause* 19, 804–811. doi: 10.1097/gme.0b013e31824d1fc4

- Christin-Maitre, S. (2013). History of oral contraceptive drugs and their use worldwide. *Best Pract. Res. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 27, 3–12. doi: 10.1016/j. beem.2012.11.004
- Chubak, J., Tworoger, S. S., Yasui, Y., Ulrich, C. M., Stanczyk, F. Z., and McTiernan, A. (2004). Associations between reproductive and menstrual factors and postmenopausal sex hormone concentrations. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.* 13, 1296–1301. Available online at: http://cebp.aacrjournals. org/content/13/8/1296.
- Clayton, J. A., and Collins, F. S. (2014). Policy: NIH to balance sex in cell and animal studies. *Nature* 509, 282–283. doi: 10.1038/509282a
- Colucci, M., Cammarata, S., Assini, A., Croce, R., Clerici, F., Novello, C., et al. (2006). The number of pregnancies is a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 13, 1374–1377. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2006.01520.x
- Daniel, J. M., Witty, C. F., and Rodgers, S. P. (2015). Long-term consequences of estrogens administered in midlife on female cognitive aging. *Horm. Behav.* 74, 77–85. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2015.04.012
- Daniels, K., and Mosher, W. D. (2013). Contraceptive methods women have ever used: United States, 1982–2010. Natl. Health Stat. Report 62, 1–15.
- Daniels, K., Daugherty, J., Jones, J., and Mosher, W. (2015). Current contraceptive use and variation by selected characteristics among women aged 15–44: United States, 2011–2013. *Natl. Health Stat. Report.* 86, 1–14. Available online at: http://europepmc.org/abstract/med/26556545.
- De Bondt, T., Hecke, W. V., Veraart, J., Leemans, A., Sijbers, J., Sunaert, S., et al. (2013a). Does the use of hormonal contraceptives cause microstructural changes in cerebral white matter? Preliminary results of a DTI and tractography study. *Eur. Radiol.* 23, 57–64. doi: 10.1007/s00330-012-2572-5
- De Bondt, T., Jacquemyn, Y., Van Hecke, W., Sijbers, J., Sunaert, S., and Parizel, P. M. (2013b). Regional gray matter volume differences and sex-hormone correlations as a function of menstrual cycle phase and hormonal contraceptives use. *Brain Res.* 1530, 22–31. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2013.07.034
- Dumitriu, D., Rapp, P. R., McEwen, B. S., and Morrison, J. H. (2010). Estrogen and the aging brain: an elixir for the weary cortical network. *Ann. N Y Acad. Sci.* 1204, 104–112. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05529.x
- Egan, K. R., and Gleason, C. E. (2012). Longer duration of hormonal contraceptive use predicts better cognitive outcomes later in life. J. Womens. Health 21, 1259–1266. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2012.3522
- Ehrlich, E., Gibson, T., and Mark, T. (2011). Trends in prescriptions for oral contraceptives among U.S. teenagers. *Truven Health Analytics SM*. Available online at: https://truvenhealth.com/portals/0/assets/ACRS_11225 _0712_OralContraceptives_RB_Web.pdf. Accessed June 23, 2017.
- Epperson, C. N., Amin, Z., Ruparel, K., Gur, R., and Loughead, J. (2012). Interactive effects of estrogen and serotonin on brain activation during working memory and affective processing in menopausal women. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 37, 372–382. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011. 07.007
- Epperson, C. N., Sammel, M. D., and Freeman, E. W. (2013). Menopause effects on verbal memory: findings from a longitudinal community cohort. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 98, 3829–3838. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-1808
- Frick, K. M., Tuscher, J. J., Koss, W. A., Kim, J., and Taxier, L. R. (2018). Estrogenic regulation of memory consolidation: a look beyond the hippocampus, ovaries and females. *Physiol. Behav.* 187, 57–66. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2017. 07.028

- Fuhrmann, D., Knoll, L. J., and Blakemore, S.-J. (2015). Adolescence as a sensitive period of brain development. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 19, 558–566. doi: 10.1016/j.tics. 2015.07.008
- Galea, L. A. M., Leuner, B., and Slattery, D. A. (2014). Hippocampal plasticity during the peripartum period: influence of sex steroids, stress and ageing. J. Neuroendocrinol. 26, 641–648. doi: 10.1111/jne.12177
- Galea, L. A. M., Perrot-Sinal, T. S., Kavaliers, M., and Ossenkopp, K.-P. (1999). Relations of hippocampal volume and dentate gyrus width to gonadal hormone levels in male and female meadow voles. *Brain Res.* 821, 383–391. doi: 10. 1016/s0006-8993(99)01100-2
- Galvin, C., and Ninan, I. (2014). Regulation of the mouse medial prefrontal cortical synapses by endogenous estradiol. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 39, 2086–2094. doi: 10.1038/npp.2014.56
- Gatewood, J. D., Morgan, M. D., Eaton, M., McNamara, I. M., Stevens, L. F., Macbeth, A. H., et al. (2005). Motherhood mitigates aging-related decrements in learning and memory and positively affects brain aging in the rat. *Brain Res. Bull.* 66, 91–98. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2005.03.016
- Girard, R., Météreau, E., Thomas, J., Pugeat, M., Qu, C., and Dreher, J.-C. (2017). Hormone therapy at early post-menopause increases cognitive control-related prefrontal activity. *Sci. Rep.* 7:44917. doi: 10.1038/srep44917
- Glynn, L. M. (2012). Increasing parity is associated with cumulative effects on memory. J. Womens. Health 21, 1038–1045. doi: 10.1089/jwh. 2011.3206
- Gogtay, N., Nugent, T. F., Herman, D. H., Ordonez, A., Greenstein, D., Hayashi, K. M., et al. (2006). Dynamic mapping of normal human hippocampal development. *Hippocampus* 16, 664–672. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20193
- Gold, E. B., Bromberger, J., Crawford, S., Samuels, S., Greendale, G. A., Harlow, S. D., et al. (2001). Factors associated with age at natural menopause in a multiethnic sample of midlife women. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 153, 865–874. doi: 10. 1093/aje/153.9.865
- Griksiene, R., and Ruksenas, O. (2011). Effects of hormonal contraceptives on mental rotation and verbal fluency. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 36, 1239–1248. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011.03.001
- Greendale, G. A., Derby, C. A., and Maki, P. M. (2011). Perimenopause and cognition. Obstet. Gynecol. Clin. North Am. 38, 519–535. doi: 10.1016/j.ogc. 2011.05.007
- Hampson, E., and Morley, E. E. (2013). Estradiol concentrations and working memory performance in women of reproductive age. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 38, 2897–2904. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013. 07.020
- Hao, J., Rapp, P. R., Leffler, A. E., Leffler, S. R., Janssen, W. G. M., Lou, W., et al. (2006). Estrogen alters spine number and morphology in prefrontal cortex of aged female rhesus monkeys. *J. Neurosci.* 26, 2571–2578. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci. 3440-05.2006
- Hara, Y., Park, C. S., Janssen, W. G. M., Roberts, M. T., Morrison, J. H., and Rapp, P. R. (2012). Synaptic correlates of memory and menopause in the hippocampal dentate gyrus in rhesus monkeys. *Neurobiol. Aging* 33, 421.e17–421.e28. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2010.09.014
- Hara, Y., Waters, E. M., McEwen, B. S., and Morrison, J. H. (2015). Estrogen effects on cognitive and synaptic health over the lifecourse. *Physiol. Rev.* 95, 785–807. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00036.2014
- Hara, Y., Yuk, F., Puri, R., Janssen, W. G. M., Rapp, P. R., and Morrison, J. H. (2016). Estrogen restores multisynaptic boutons in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex while promoting working memory in aged rhesus monkeys. *J. Neurosci.* 36, 901–910. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3480-13.2016
- Henry, J. D., and Rendell, P. G. (2007). A review of the impact of pregnancy on memory function. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 29, 793–803. doi: 10.1080/13803390701612209
- Heys, M., Jiang, C., Cheng, K. K., Zhang, W., Yeung, S. L. A., Lam, T. H., et al. (2011). Life long endogenous estrogen exposure and later adulthood cognitive function in a population of naturally postmenopausal women from Southern China: the Guangzhou biobank cohort study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 36, 864–873. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.11.009
- Hoekzema, E., Barba-Müller, E., Pozzobon, C., Picado, M., Lucco, F., García-García, D., et al. (2017). Pregnancy leads to long-lasting changes in human brain structure. *Nat. Neurosci.* 20, 287–296. doi: 10.1038/nn.4458
- Jacobs, E. G., Holsen, L. M., Lancaster, K., Makris, N., Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., Remington, A., et al. (2015). 17β-estradiol differentially regulates stress

circuitry activity in healthy and depressed women. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 40, 566–576. doi: 10.1038/npp.2014.203

- Jacobs, E. G., Weiss, B. K., Makris, N., Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., Buka, S. L., Klibanski, A., et al. (2016). Impact of sex and menopausal status on episodic memory circuitry in early midlife. J. Neurosci. 36, 10163–10173. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0951-16.2016
- Jacobs, E. G., Weiss, B., Makris, N., Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., Buka, S. L., Klibanski, A., et al. (2017). Reorganization of functional networks in verbal working memory circuitry in early midlife: the impact of sex and menopausal status. *Cereb. Cortex* 27, 2857–2870. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhw127
- Jacobs, E. G., and D'Esposito, M. (2011). Estrogen shapes dopamine-dependent cognitive processes: implications for women's health. J. Neurosci. 31, 5286–5293. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6394-10.2011
- Jacobs, E. G., and Goldstein, J. M. (2018). The middle-aged brain: biological sex and sex hormones shape memory circuitry. *Curr. Opin. Behav. Sci.* 23, 84–91. doi: 10.1016/j.cobeha.2018.03.009
- Jones, J., Mosher, W., and Daniels, K. (2013). Current contraceptive use in the united states, 2006–2010 and changes in patterns of use since 1995. Available online at: https://jhu.pure.elsevier.com/en/publications/current-contraceptiveuse-in-the-united-states-2006-2010-and-chan-4. Accessed January 15, 2018.
- Karim, R., Dang, H., Henderson, V. W., Hodis, H. N., St. John, J., Brinton, R. D., et al. (2016). Effect of reproductive history and exogenous hormone use on cognitive function in mid- and late life. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* 64, 2448–2456. doi: 10.1111/jgs.14658
- Kim, P., Leckman, J. F., Mayes, L. C., Feldman, R., Wang, X., and Swain, J. E. (2010). The plasticity of human maternal brain: longitudinal changes in brain anatomy during the early postpartum period. *Behav. Neurosci.* 124, 695–700. doi: 10.1037/a0020884
- Kinsley, C. H., and Lambert, K. G. (2008). Reproduction-induced neuroplasticity: natural behavioural and neuronal alterations associated with the production and care of offspring. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 20, 515–525. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2008.01667.x
- Kinsley, C. H., Trainer, R., Stafisso-Sandoz, G., Quadros, P., Marcus, L. K., Hearon, C., et al. (2006). Motherhood and the hormones of pregnancy modify concentrations of hippocampal neuronal dendritic spines. *Horm. Behav.* 49, 131–142. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2005.05.017
- Kohama, S. G., Renner, L., Landauer, N., Weiss, A. R., Urbanski, H. F., Park, B., et al. (2016). Effect of ovarian hormone therapy on cognition in the aged female Rhesus Macaque. *J. Neurosci.* 36, 10416–10424. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 0909-16.2016
- Lenroot, R. K., and Giedd, J. N. (2006). Brain development in children and adolescents: insights from anatomical magnetic resonance imaging. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 30, 718–729. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2006.06.001
- Lisofsky, N., Riediger, M., Gallinat, J., Lindenberger, U., and Kühn, S. (2016). Hormonal contraceptive use is associated with neural and affective changes in healthy young women. *Neuroimage* 134, 597–606. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage. 2016.04.042
- Maki, P. M., Dennerstein, L., Clark, M., Guthrie, J., LaMontagne, P., Fornelli, D., et al. (2011). Perimenopausal use of hormone therapy is associated with enhanced memory and hippocampal function later in life. *Brain Res.* 1379, 232–243. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2010.11.030
- McCarthy, M. M. (2008). Estradiol and the developing brain. *Physiol. Rev.* 88, 91–134. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00010.2007
- McEwen, B. S. (2001). Invited review: estrogens effects on the brain: multiple sites and molecular mechanisms. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 91, 2785–2801. doi: 10.1152/jappl. 2001.91.6.2785
- McEwen, B. S., Alves, S. E., Bulloch, K., and Weiland, N. G. (1997). Ovarian steroids and the brain implications for cognition and aging. *Neurology* 48, S8–S15. doi: 10.1212/wnl.48.5_suppl_7.8s
- McEwen, B. S., and Alves, S. E. (1999). Estrogen actions in the central nervous system. *Endocr. Rev.* 20, 279–307. doi: 10.1210/edrv.20.3.0365
- McLay, R. N., Maki, P. M., and Lyketsos, C. G. (2003). Nulliparity and late menopause are associated with decreased cognitive decline. J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 15, 161–167. doi: 10.1176/jnp.15.2.161
- Morrison, J. H., Brinton, R. D., Schmidt, P. J., and Gore, A. C. (2006). Estrogen, menopause, and the aging brain: how basic neuroscience can inform hormone therapy in women. J. Neurosci. 26, 10332–10348. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.3369-06.2006

- Morrison, J. H., and Baxter, M. G. (2012). The ageing cortical synapse: hallmarks and implications for cognitive decline. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 13, 240–250. doi: 10.1038/nrn3200
- Oatridge, A., Holdcroft, A., Saeed, N., Hajnal, J. V., Puri, B. K., Fusi, L., et al. (2002). Change in brain size during and after pregnancy: study in healthy women and women with preeclampsia. *AJNR Am. J. Neuroradiol.* 23, 19–26.
- Okruhlik, K. (1994). Gender and the biological sciences. Can. J. Philos. 24, 21–42. doi: 10.1080/00455091.1994.10717393
- Pawluski, J. L., and Galea, L. A. M. (2006). Hippocampal morphology is differentially affected by reproductive experience in the mother. J. Neurobiol. 66, 71–81. doi: 10.1002/neu.20194
- Pawluski, J. L., and Galea, L. A. M. (2007). Reproductive experience alters hippocampal neurogenesis during the postpartum period in the dam. *Neuroscience* 149, 53–67. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.07.031
- Petersen, N., Touroutoglou, A., Andreano, J. M., and Cahill, L. (2015). Oral contraceptive pill use is associated with localized decreases in cortical thickness. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 36, 2644–2654. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22797
- Petitti, D. B. (2003). Combination estrogen-progestin oral contraceptives. N. Engl. J. Med. 349, 1443–1450. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp030751
- Pletzer, B. A., and Kerschbaum, H. H. (2014). 50 years of hormonal contraception—time to find out, what it does to our brain. *Front. Neurosci.* 8:256. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2014.00256
- Pletzer, B., Kronbichler, M., Aichhorn, M., Bergmann, J., Ladurner, G., and Kerschbaum, H. H. (2010). Menstrual cycle and hormonal contraceptive use modulate human brain structure. *Brain Res.* 1348, 55–62. doi: 10.1016/j. brainres.2010.06.019
- Pletzer, B., Kronbichler, M., and Kerschbaum, H. (2015). Differential effects of androgenic and anti-androgenic progestins on fusiform and frontal gray matter volume and face recognition performance. *Brain Res.* 1596, 108–115. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.11.025
- Prendergast, B. J., Onishi, K. G., and Zucker, I. (2014). Female mice liberated for inclusion in neuroscience and biomedical research. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 40, 1–5. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.01.001
- Ptok, U., Barkow, K., and Heun, R. (2002). Fertility and number of children in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Arch. Womens Ment. Health 5, 83–86. doi: 10.1007/s00737-002-0142-6
- Qiu, L. R., Germann, J., Spring, S., Alm, C., Vousden, D. A., Palmert, M. R., et al. (2013). Hippocampal volumes differ across the mouse estrous cycle, can change within 24hours and associate with cognitive strategies. *Neuroimage* 83, 593–598. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.06.074
- Rapp, P. R., Morrison, J. H., and Roberts, J. A. (2003). Cyclic estrogen replacement improves cognitive function in aged ovariectomized rhesus monkeys. J. Neurosci. 23, 5708–5714. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.23-13-05708.2003
- Rasgon, N. L., Magnusson, C., Johansson, A. L. V., Pedersen, N. L., Elman, S., and Gatz, M. (2005). Endogenous and exogenous hormone exposure and risk of cognitive impairment in Swedish twins: a preliminary study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 30, 558–567. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2005.01.004
- Rentz, D. M., Weiss, B. K., Jacobs, E. G., Cherkerzian, S., Klibanski, A., Remington, A., et al. (2017). Sex differences in episodic memory in early midlife: impact of reproductive aging. *Menopause* 24, 400–408. doi: 10.1097/GME.000000000000771
- Roes, M., and Galea, L. A. M. (2016). "Chapter 9-the maternal brain: short- and long-term effects of reproductive experience on hippocampus structure and function in adulthood," in *Sex Differences in the Central Nervous System*, ed. R. M. Shansky (San Diego, CA: Academic Press), 197–220.
- Rossetti, M. F., Cambiasso, M. J., Holschbach, M. A., and Cabrera, R. (2016). Oestrogens and progestagens: synthesis and action in the brain. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 28:7. doi: 10.1111/jne.12402
- Ryan, J., Carrière, I., Scali, J., Ritchie, K., and Ancelin, M.-L. (2009). Life-time estrogen exposure and cognitive functioning in later life. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 34, 287–298. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2008. 09.008
- Schock, H., Zeleniuch-Jacquotte, A., Lundin, E., Grankvist, K., Lakso, H.-Å., Idahl, A., et al. (2016). Hormone concentrations throughout uncomplicated pregnancies: a longitudinal study. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 16:146. doi: 10. 1186/s12884-016-0937-5
- Segawa, M. (2000). Development of the nigrostriatal dopamine neuron and the pathways in the basal ganglia. *Brain Dev.* 22, S1–S4. doi: 10.1016/s0387-7604(00)00149-2

- Shanmugan, S., and Epperson, C. N. (2014). Estrogen and the prefrontal cortex: towards a new understanding of estrogen's effects on executive functions in the menopause transition. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 35, 847–865. doi: 10.1002/hbm. 22218
- Shaywitz, S. E., Shaywitz, B. A., Pugh, K. R., Fulbright, R. K., Skudlarski, P., Mencl, W. E., et al. (1999). Effect of estrogen on brain activation patterns in postmenopausal women during working memory tasks. *JAMA* 281, 1197–1202. doi: 10.1001/jama.281.13.1197
- Smith, C. A., McCleary, C. A., Murdock, G. A., Wilshire, T. W., Buckwalter, D. K., Bretsky, P., et al. (1999). Lifelong estrogen exposure and cognitive performance in elderly women. *Brain Cogn.* 39, 203–218. doi: 10.1006/brcg. 1999.1078
- Sobow, T., and Kloszewska, I. (2004). Parity, number of pregnancies, and the age of onset of Alzheimer's disease. J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 16, 120–121. doi: 10.1176/jnp.16.1.120-a
- Tierney, M. C., Ryan, J., Ancelin, M.-L., Moineddin, R., Rankin, S., Yao, C., et al. (2013). Lifelong estrogen exposure and memory in older postmenopausal women. J. Alzheimers Dis. 34, 601–608. doi: 10.3233/jad-122062
- Tal, R., Taylor, H. S., Burney, R. O., Mooney, S. B., and Giudice, L. C. (2000). "Endocrinology of pregnancy," in *endotext*, eds K. R. Feingold, B. Anawalt, A. Boyce, G. Chrousos, K. Dungan, A. Grossman, et al. (South Dartmouth, MA: MDText.com, Inc.). Available online at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK278962/. Accessed April 29, 2019.
- Thompson, T. L., and Moss, R. L. (1994). Estrogen regulation of dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens: genomic- and nongenomic-mediated effects. J. Neurochem. 62, 1750–1756. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1994. 62051750.x
- Walf, A. A., and Frye, C. A. (2006). A review and update of mechanisms of estrogen in the hippocampus and amygdala for anxiety and depression behavior. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 31, 1097–1111. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp. 1301067
- Wang, A. C. J., Hara, Y., Janssen, W. G. M., Rapp, P. R., and Morrison, J. H. (2010). Synaptic estrogen receptor- levels in prefrontal cortex in female rhesus monkeys and their correlation with cognitive performance. J. Neurosci. 30, 12770–12776. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.3192 -10.2010
- Weber, M. T., Maki, P. M., and McDermott, M. P. (2014). Cognition and mood in perimenopause: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 142, 90–98. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2013.06.001
- Woolley, C. S., Gould, E., Frankfurt, M., and McEwen, B. S. (1990). Naturally occurring fluctuation in dendritic spine density on adult hippocampal pyramidal neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 10, 4035–4039. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.10-12-04035.1990
- Woolley, C. S., and McEwen, B. S. (1993). Roles of estradiol and progesterone in regulation of hippocampal dendritic spine density during the estrous cycle in the rat. J. Comp. Neurol. 336, 293–306. doi: 10.1002/cne.903 360210
- Workman, J. L., Barha, C. K., and Galea, L. A. M. (2012). Endocrine substrates of cognitive and affective changes during pregnancy and postpartum. *Behav. Neurosci.* 126, 54–72. doi: 10.1037/a0025538
- World Bank. (2017). Fertility Rate, Total (Births per Woman). World Development Indicators. Available online at: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.DYN. TFRT.IN. Accessed February 7, 2019.
- Zeydan, B., Tosakulwong, N., Schwarz, C. G., Senjem, M. L., Gunter, J. L., Reid, R. I., et al. (2019). Association of bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy before menopause onset with medial temporal lobe neurodegeneration. *JAMA Neurol.* 76, 95–100. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.3057

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Taylor, Pritschet, Yu and Jacobs. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Origins Matter: Culture Impacts Cognitive Testing in Parkinson's Disease

Marta Statucka¹ and Melanie Cohn^{1,2*}

¹Krembil Brain Institute, Toronto Western Hospital UHN, Toronto, ON, Canada, ²Department of Psychology, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Cognitive decline is common in Parkinson's disease (PD), and precise cognitive assessment is important for diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment. To date, there are no studies in PD investigating cultural bias on neuropsychological tests. Clinical practice in multicultural societies such as, Toronto Canada where nearly half of the population is comprised of first generation immigrants, presents important challenges as most neuropsychological tools were developed in Anglosphere cultures (e.g., USA, UK) and normed in more homogeneous groups. We examine total scores and rates of deficits on tests of visuoperceptual/visuospatial, attention, memory, and executive functions in Canadians with PD born in Anglosphere countries (n = 248) vs. in Canadians with PD born in other regions (International group; n = 167). The International group shows lower scores and greater rates of deficits on all visuoperceptual and some executive function tasks, but not on attention or memory measures. These biases are not explained by demographic and clinical variables as groups were comparable. Age at immigration, years in Canada, and English proficiency also do not account for the observed biases. In contrast, group differences are strongly mediated by the Historical Index of Human Development of the participants' country of birth, which reflects economic, health, and educational potential of a country at the time of birth. In sum, our findings demonstrate lasting biases on neuropsychological tests despite significant exposure to, and participation in, Canadian culture. These biases are most striking on visuoperceptual measures and non-verbal executive tasks which many clinicians still considered to be "culture-fair" despite the growing evidence from the field of cross-cultural neuropsychology to the contrary. Our findings also illustrate that sociodevelopment context captures important aspects of culture that relate to cognition, and have important implications for clinical practice.

Keywords: neuropsychology, visuospatial, executive function, memory, cultural bias, human development index, mild cognitive impairment

INTRODUCTION

While basic cognitive processes are often considered universal (Nell, 1999), clinical neuropsychologists and cognitive neuroscientists recognize that a person's culture impacts how these processes are expressed in behavior such as in their performance on neuropsychological tests (for review, see Puente and Agranovich, 2003; Rivera Mindt et al., 2010; Fernández and Abe, 2018).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lisa L. Barnes, Rush University Medical Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Monica Rivera Mindt, Fordham University, United States Sharlet Anderson, Rush University Medical Center, United States Travis Shivley-Scott, Fordham University, New York City, United States, in collaboration with reviewer MM

> *Correspondence: Melanie Cohn melanie.cohn@uhn.ca

Received: 01 May 2019 Accepted: 19 July 2019 Published: 08 August 2019

Citation:

Statucka M and Cohn M (2019) Origins Matter: Culture Impacts Cognitive Testing in Parkinson's Disease. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 13:269. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2019.00269 Because culture also influences the design of cognitive tests (Cole, 1998), it is not surprising that people born and raised where tests are conceived have an advantage. Indeed, what constitutes an average score for well-known cognitive tests (for example the Wechsler scales) varies considerably across different regions of the world. Most tests are developed, standardized, and normed in the United States of America (USA) and United Kingdom (UK), and these two countries are not only predominantly English-speaking, but also share cultural and historical roots and similar high levels of economic and social development. These similarities also extend to other "Anglosphere" countries (a term we borrow from the writer Neal Stephenson), such as Canada, Australia and New Zealand. Cultural biases on cognitive testing are not only evident between disparate geographical regions, but also arise within multicultural societies. However, most of this research has been conducted in the USA and focused on differences between racial and ethnic groups, which is confounded by other group differences such as educational attainment, literacy, English proficiency, and socioeconomic status (Chin et al., 2012; Cagigas and Manly, 2014; Krch et al., 2015; Flores et al., 2017; Weuve et al., 2018). While such research is important, it may not generalize to first-generation immigrants living in multicultural societies as new immigrants face several unique issues which do not necessarily reflect the above confounds (for review, see Ferraro, 2016).

To address cultural biases on cognitive testing, strategies have included collecting normative data for specific groups or countries and adapting existing tests. While a worthwhile endeavor, these strategies do not resolve the challenges of assessing cognition in immigrants at different stages of acculturation. It is not feasible to develop normative data for all subgroups of individuals (Shuttleworth-Edwards, 2016), especially since cultural context is dynamic and transforms from contacts with other cultures and from particular social, historical, and political contexts (Whaley and Davis, 2007). Another strategy is to identify or develop tests that are "culture-fair," but many efforts have focused on merely avoiding verbal tasks which have proven unsuccessful in eliminating cultural bias (Marcinkowska and Sitek, 2017; Fernández and Abe, 2018). We argue that prior to developing new instruments for use in multicultural settings, we must investigate the degree of bias on existing tasks as it may vary across instruments and cognitive domains, and identify associated features and sources of this bias.

In many ways, Toronto Canada is an ideal location to investigate multicultural bias given that 49% of Torontonians are first-generation immigrants born outside Canada, and 45% identify some language other than English as their mother tongue (Statistics Canada, 2017). Moreover, 50% of Toronto's immigrants entered the country under the "economic" status meaning that they are generally well-educated and were granted entry into Canada due to their ability to contribute to the Canadian economy [e.g., occupation meets labor market needs, ability to own a business, ability to make substantial investments (Statistics Canada, 2017)]. Immigrants to Canada are also healthier than Canadian-born individuals based on rates of mortality (Ng, 2011) and of chronic conditions such as diabetes and cardiovascular conditions (Newbold and Filice, 2006). These last facts are important because they address some of the criticisms of cross-cultural neuropsychological research in the USA where race/culture is highly confounded with socioeconomic status, educational inequality and health (Rosselli and Ardila, 2003; Schwartz et al., 2004; Chin et al., 2012; Krch et al., 2015; Ferraro, 2016; Weuve et al., 2018).

In the present study, we examine cultural bias in advanced Parkinson's disease (PD). While this patient group was selected for convenience given the availability of a rich neuropsychological dataset at our center, such investigation is particularly relevant in this patient group where cognitive decline is very common (Emre et al., 2007; Litvan et al., 2012), and the presence of severe cognitive impairment or dementia may preclude access to advanced therapies such as deep brain stimulation (DBS; Lang et al., 2006). As such, if testing is biased, it has the potential to result in health and treatment access inequities. To our knowledge, the effect of cultural diversity has not yet been investigated in this clinical group. In a large cohort of PD patients, we examine whether the frequency of cognitive diagnoses (PD mild cognitive impairment and dementia) differ between people born in Anglosphere countries (Canada, USA, UK), where tests are predominantly developed and normed, relative to individuals born outside these countries (International group), based on clinical interviews and comprehensive neuropsychological testing. On a subset of 12 neuropsychological tests from these assessments, we examine whether the Anglosphere group has higher performance/lower rates of deficits relative to the International group. These tests sample four cognitive domains, namely attention, memory, visuoperceptual/visuospatial skills, and executive functioning. To identify potential sources of bias, we first compare groups' demographic (i.e., age, sex), socio-economic status (i.e., education, occupational attainment) and clinical characteristics (i.e., disease severity). These demographic and disease-related variables are examined to ensure that the groups are comparable on variables known to impact cognition (e.g., older age, severe PD, and lower education are associated with poorer cognition) so that any between-group differences can be more confidently attributed to sociocultural factors. On biased tasks only, we then investigate whether performance in the International group is associated with immigration variables (e.g., years in Canada, age at immigration) and coarse measures of English proficiency (e.g., English as a mother-tongue, use of interpreter). Last, we investigate whether the relationship between group membership (Anglosphere vs. International) and cognitive performance is mediated by socio-development levels of countries of origin as measured using the Historical Index of Human Development (HIHD; Prados de la Escosura, 2015). The HIHD is an extension of the United Nations Human Development Index (UN-HDI; United Nations Development Programme, 1990) that includes data corresponding to our participants' country and year of birth. It evaluates countries' development and well-being beyond economic growth alone, in a scalable and multidimensional manner. Although it does not reflect all aspects of culture, it captures societal factors that facilitate an individual's growth as

it represents people's ability to access resources (i.e., longevity, education, standard of living).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

With approval from the research ethics board of the University Health Network (UHN), we conducted a retrospective chart review of advanced PD patients evaluated to determine their candidacy for DBS surgery at Toronto Western Hospital UHN between September 2014 and December 2018. Their multidisciplinary evaluation included a comprehensive neuropsychological assessment and a neurological assessment. Clinical neuropsychologists (M.C. or M.S.) supervised all psychometric testing, conducted clinical interviews, and assigned cognitive diagnoses. The motor examinations were completed by Movement Disorders neurologists. After excluding 40 of the 455 consecutive patients assessed due to other neurological conditions (e.g., prior stroke, TBI with loss of consciousness, epilepsy, prior neurosurgical intervention) or due to incomplete neuropsychological assessments (i.e., missing more than three of the neuropsychological tests of interest), a total of 415 patients were included. Of these, 248 are individuals born in Canada, the USA, and the UK (Anglosphere group), and 167 were born outside these countries (International group). Most participants in the latter group were born in Asia (55%), followed by Europe (23%), the Americas/Caribbean (14%), and Africa (7%), and none were born in Oceania. These proportions are consistent with the general immigrant population of the Toronto Census Metropolitan Area (Statistics Canada, 2017). The number of participants per specific country and world region is presented in Supplementary Table S1.

Socio-demographic and Disease-Related Variables

Socio-demographic variables include current age, sex, years of formal education, and highest occupation category based on the International Standard Classification of Occupations (International Labour Office, 2012), which includes: (1) managers; (2) professionals; (3) technicians, associate professionals, and clerical workers; (4) craft and trades; (5) services and sales workers; and (6) operators, assemblers, and elementary occupations. Some of the ISCO-08 categories are combined for office workers (technicians and associate professionals class combined with clerical workers) and factory workers (operators and assemblers class combined with elementary occupations), as some positions can be assigned to different categories based on the occupation responsibilities and level of specialization required and this level of detail was not available. If multiple occupations were reported for an individual, the more specialized occupation was coded irrespective of the country in which it was performed. Variables of disease severity include disease duration (years), levodopa equivalence daily dose (LEDD; Tomlinson et al., 2010), motor scores on the Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale part 3 (UPDRS part 3; Fahn and Elton, 1987). ON and OFF medications, and % levodopa

response [(UPDRS part 3 ON-UPDRS part 3 OFF)/UPDRS part 3 OFF]. Some participants (n = 57) were evaluated using the new Movement Disorders Society (MDS)-UPDRS part 3 (Goetz et al., 2008), and their scores were transformed to be equivalent to the older version (-7 pts or score of 0 if negative; Hentz et al.,)2015). Of note, greater disease severity is reflected by high scores on the UPDRS part 3, high LEDD, and longer disease duration. Additional disease-related variables relate to cognitive diagnoses in PD. Specifically, M.C. and M.S. applied the MDS diagnostic criteria for PD Mild Cognitive Impairment (PD-MCI; Litvan et al., 2012) and PD Dementia (PDD; Emre et al., 2007) based on participants' full neuropsychological assessment. PD-MCI diagnosis requires self- or family-report of progressive cognitive decline but preserved independence with daily life function, and poor performance (i.e., 1.5 SD below normative mean) on at least two neuropsychological tests. In contrast, PDD requires impairments in at least two domains of cognition, and loss of daily functioning due to cognitive decline.

Neuropsychological Measures

Although the neuropsychological test battery varied across patients, we selected a subset of measures administered that were common to most assessments and sampled visuoperceptual/visuospatial skills, attention, memory, and executive functioning. Core language skills such as naming and vocabulary are not included as they are not consistently assessed in the International group due to variable language proficiency and well-known cultural bias. Although we recognize that cognitive tasks can tap multiple cognitive domains, we list them here according to their typical classification in clinical Visuoperceptual/visuospatial neuropsychology. measures include the item-response theory version of the Benton Judgement of Line Orientation (JLO; Benton et al., 1983; Spencer et al., 2013), Object Decision and Silhouettes subtests of the Visual Object and Space Perception battery (VOSP; Warrington and James, 1991), and the copy of Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure (ROCF; Meyers and Meyers, 1995). Attention was assessed using the Digit Span subtest of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale 3rd edition (WAIS-III; Wechsler, 1997). Memory measures include Total Recall (immediate recall of trials 1-5) and Long Delay Free Recall (LDFR) on the California Verbal Learning Test 2nd edition (CVLT-II; Delis et al., 2000), as well as Recognition on the ROCF (Meyers and Meyers, 1995). We selected the ROCF Recognition over the ROCF free recall trials for our analyses as it has no motor or visuoconstruction component, and as such, provides a purer memory measure. Executive functioning measures include errors on the Conditional Associative Learning Test (CALT; Taylor et al., 1990), Matrix Reasoning subtest of the Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence 2nd edition (WASI-II; Wechsler, 2011), Category Fluency (Animals and Boys Names) from the Delis Kaplan Executive Function System (DKEFS; Delis et al., 2001), and errors on the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST; Heaton et al., 1993). Administration of the WCST was discontinued for 55 individuals who achieved zero categories at the midpoint (64 cards) as per administration rules, and their number of errors was doubled to be comparable to scores of individuals who completed the full test. Of these

tasks, four measures involve verbal material (Digit Span, Category Fluency, and CVLT-II Total Recall and LDFR). For each measure, we derived two key variables: (1) the total raw scores; and (2) the frequency of impairment defined as scores falling at or below 1.5SD or 6th cumulative percentile relative to age-education corrected normative data for the ROCF and WCST errors [full version (Heaton et al., 1993) or WCST 64 norms for 55 individuals (Kongs et al., 2000)], and relative to age-corrected normative data for the remaining tests.

Societal and Immigration Variables

For the International group, immigration variables include age at immigration and years in Canada. As coarse measures of English proficiency, mother-tongue (includes English or not), and whether the neuropsychological assessment was completed with the assistance of a professional interpreter were also coded. The option of completing the assessment with an interpreter is offered to all patients who did not complete any part of their schooling in English. Typically, interpretation services were provided in situations wherein individuals have limited or no English proficiency, or when requested by patients. The degree of assistance varies; interpreters may provide clarifications only, adapt and administer tasks with verbal materials in the individual's preferred language (e.g., Digit Span, CVLT-II, Category Fluency), or provide complete translation of all test instructions and test materials.

For participants in both the Anglosphere and International group, a socio-development context variable is assigned, namely the Historical Index of Human Development (HIHD; Prados de la Escosura, 2015). The HIHD is a historical extension of the United Nation Human Development Index (UN-HDI;United Nations Development Programme, 1990) which is a summary measure of average achievement in key dimensions of human development including health (life expectancy), education (literacy and school enrollment) and standard of living (gross domestic product per capita at purchasing power parity). The HIHD value is a number between 0 and 1 with the highest scores representing higher achievement on these combined dimensions. An HIHD score is obtained for each individual based on their country of birth at their year of birth. HIHD values are not available during World War II (WWII). Therefore, any individual born between 1938 and 1944 was assigned their country's 1938 HIHD value (n = 33; 27 Anglosphere, 6 International). Any individual born between January 1945 and June 1952 (post-WWII) was assigned their country's 1950 HIHD value (n = 144; 93 Anglosphere, 51 International). From 1950 onwards, HIHD data is available in 5-year intervals (i.e., 1950, 1955, 1960, etc.). Individuals born 2.5 years before or 2.5 years after a given year were assigned their country's value for that year (e.g., born between July 1957 and June 1962, assigned value from 1960).

STATISTICAL ANALYSES

All analyses were performed using SPSS v. 22. Differences between the Anglosphere and the International groups were assessed with the non-parametric, Mann-Whitney U test based

on ranks for demographic variables, disease-related variables, neuropsychological test raw scores, and societal variables. This non-parametric test was selected because some variables were not normally distributed. We used chi-square to compare groups' frequency of impaired neuropsychological test scores. Analyses of the performance on the 12 neuropsychological measures were corrected for multiple comparisons using Bonferroni (p < 0.004 or p < 0.05 corrected for 12 comparisons). Significance level was uncorrected (p < 0.05) for analyses of group demographic and disease-related variables.

For measures showing a significant difference between the Anglosphere and the International groups on both the total score and the frequency of impairment, we carried out further analyses to identify related features and sources of this bias. First, we examined whether age at immigration and years in Canada are related to total score performance in the International group only using Spearman correlations corrected for multiple comparisons (p < 0.002 or p < 0.05 corrected for 12 comparisons). Second, we investigated the contribution of English proficiency by comparing the total score performance between participants in the International group based on whether English is a mother-tongue, and whether they were tested with or without an interpreter using Mann-Whitney U corrected for multiple comparisons (p < 0.008 or p < 0.05 corrected for six comparisons). For the latter analyses, in cases where significant difference are noted, we also verified whether these remained after controlling for demographic variables that differed between subgroups.

Third, we investigated whether the relationships between group (Anglosphere vs. International) and performance are mediated by socio-development context (HIHD). Mediations analyses were selected because HIHD and group membership are collinear (VIF > 5), and hence, not appropriate for multiple regression models. We used PROCESS v.3.3¹ (Hayes, 2017) implemented in SPSS to test our mediation models. We used bootstrapping (5,000 resampling) with 95% confidence intervals to test whether the mediated models are significantly different from the direct models. Any confidence interval that did not include 0 was considered significant. Because the WCST errors showed a bimodal distribution of residuals, this variable was not analyzed further using mediation models.

RESULTS

Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

Socio-demographic and clinical characteristics, presented in **Table 1** with related statistics, show that the International and Anglosphere groups are comparable. Indeed, there are no significant group differences in terms of sex and years of education which is high in both groups (Md = 14 for both groups). Occupation classification was also not different between groups and demonstrates high occupational achievement in both groups with more than half having been employed as managers or professionals. Four of five disease-related measures are not significantly different between groups

¹www.processmacro.org

TABLE 1 | Demographic, disease-related, and societal characteristics of Canadian Parkinson's disease (PD) patients based on their region of birth [Frequency and Median (IQR)].

	Anglosphere	International	Statistics
	(<i>n</i> = 248)	(<i>n</i> = 167)	(<i>U</i> for ranks, χ^2 for frequency)
Socio-demographic			
Age	63.55 (10.44)	61.77 (11.17)	U = 17,492, p = 0.007*, d = 0.27
Sex (%Female)	32.3%	39.5%	$\chi^2 = 2.31, p = 0.13, d = 0.15$
Education (years)	14 (4)	14 (4)	U = 18,943.5, p = 0.14, d = 0.15
Highest Occupation (ISCO-08) ^b			$\chi^2_{(5)} = 2.33, p = 0.80, v = 0.08$
- Managers	29.0%	25.7%	
- Professionals	29.8%	29.3%	
- Technicians, associates, clerical	21.4%	19.2%	
- Craft and trades	6.5%	7.8%	
- Services and sales	6.9%	9.0%	
- Operators, assemblers, elementary occupations	6.5%	9.0%	
Disease-related			
PD duration	9.22 (5.95)	9.87 (5.48)	<i>U</i> = 19,117.5, <i>p</i> = 0.18, <i>d</i> = 0.13
UPDRS part 3 OFF ^a	34 (14.5)	39 (17)	U = 16,236.5, p = 0.001*, d = 0.34
UPDRS part 3 ON	14 (12)	15 (12)	<i>U</i> = 18,983.5, <i>p</i> = 0.15, <i>d</i> = 0.14
% Levodopa response ^a	60 (24)	59 (24)	<i>U</i> = 20,180.5, <i>p</i> = 0.98, <i>d</i> = 0.00
Levodopa equivalent daily dose (LEDD)	1,327 (783)	1,373 (700)	U = 19,890, p = 0.50, d = 0.07
Cognitive complaint	86.7%	80.8%	$\chi^2 = 2.59, p = 0.11, d = 0.16$
Psychometric	73.4%	89.8%	$\chi^2 = 16.84, p < 0.001^*, d = 0.41$
			(intact vs. MCI + PDD)
Cognitive diagnosis: Intact:MCI:PDD	39.5%:60.1%:0.4%	31.7%:67.1%:1.2%	$\chi^2 = 2.61, p = 0.11, d = 0.16$
Societal			
HIHD	0.49 (0.06)	0.23 (0.18)	U = 658, p < 0.001*, d = 2.88
Age at immigration	_	30.7 (25)	-
Years in Canada	_	27.0 (19)	-
English mother-tongue	94.8%	13.8%	$\chi^2 = 278.30, p < 0.001^*, d = 2.85$
Interpreter assistance	0.4%	32.4%	-

Note: ^aSample size Anglosphere = 245 and International = 165 as some individuals did not complete the UPDRS part 3 OFF medications. ^bISCO-08, International Standard Classification of Occupations; UPDRS, Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale; MCI, Mild Cognitive Impairment; PDD, Parkinson's Disease Dementia; HIHD, Historical Index of Human Development. *Significant results with p < 0.05 uncorrected.

including the UPDRS part 3 ON, % levodopa response, LEDD, and PD duration. There are also no significant group differences in the frequency of cognitive diagnosis (combined PD-MCI and PDD vs. intact cognition) or frequency of reported cognitive complaint. However, the International group meets the psychometric criteria of the clinical cognitive diagnosis (i.e., 2 or more tests falling 1.5 SD below normative data) more frequently (16.4% difference). This confirmed that psychometric deficits are more commonly observed in the International group than in the Anglosphere group although it does not provide information on the types of deficits.

A few additional differences appear between groups. The Anglosphere group is older (1.78 years difference) and has a lower UPDRS part 3 OFF score (5 points) relative to the International group. Despite this, these variables are not used as covariates in analyses of cognitive data for simplicity and for the following specific reasons. Age is accounted for in normative scores (i.e., frequency of impairments), its potential effect on raw scores favors the International group and as such does not inflate a possible Type 1 error, and age (year of birth) is used to derive the HIHD. As for the UPDRS part 3 OFF score, this is the only diseaseseverity variable showing a significant difference and given that participants are tested in the ON state, it is unlikely to affect performance directly.

Neuropsychological Variables

As shown in Table 2 and Figure 1, analyses yield similar finding when comparing total scores (ranks) and frequency of clinically-relevant deficits across groups. Group differences of medium to large effect sizes are observed on six measures (Cohen's *d* ranging from 0.30 to 0.82, see Table 2 for statistical tests). The International group performs more poorly than the Anglosphere group on all tasks of visuoperception, including JLO, Silhouettes and Object Decision. The International group's performance is also poorer on measures of executive functioning including Matrix Reasoning, Category Fluency and WCST errors. In contrast, there is no significant group difference (Cohen's d ranging from 0.02 to 0.26) in working memory errors on the CALT, and on measures of attention and memory including Digit Span, CVLT-II Total, CVLT-II LDFR, and ROCF Recognition. There is also no significant difference in complex visuoconstruction on the ROCF copy, although a trend is observed but does not survive correction for multiple comparisons (Cohen's d of 0.20 and 0.24 for ranks and frequency of impairments, respectively).

Sources of Cultural Bias

To investigate potential contributing variables to the bias noted on measures of visuoperception and executive functioning, we first examine the relationship between the International group's total score on each biased measure and immigration variables.

TABLE 2 Total score and frequency of impairment on neuropsychological	tests in Canadian PD patients according to their region of birth.
---	---

Cognitive test	Sample size (Angl.:Intern.)	Median (IQR)		Deficit frequency		
		Angl.	Intern.	Angl.	Intern.	Statistics (<i>U</i> for ranks, χ^2 for frequency)
Attention Digit Span	247:166	16 (4)	15 (7)	1.2%	4.2%	U = 17,397, p = 0.009, d = 0.26 χ ² = 3.79, p = 0.052, d = 0.19
Memory CVLT-II Total	248:166	42 (14)	40.5 (14)	11.3%	13.9%	U = 18,947.5, p = 0.17, d = 0.14 $\chi^2 = 0.61, p = 0.44, d = 0.08$
CVLT-II LDFR	248:166	9 (5)	9 (6)	12.1%	18.7%	U = 20,370, p = 0.86, d = 0.02 χ ² = 3.43, p = 0.06, d = 0.18
ROCF recognition	245:161	20 (3)	19 (3)	15.1%	19.9%	U = 18,114.5, p = 0.16, d = 0.14 $\chi^2 = 1.66, p = 0.21, d = 0.13$
Visuoperceptual/visuospatial skills JLO	248:167	25 (7)	21 (8)	12.1%	35.3%	$U = 13,180, p < 0.001^*, d = 0.65$ $\chi^2 = 31.97, p < 0.001^*, d = 0.58$
Silhouettes	247:135	21 (5)	18 (7)	7.3%	33.3%	U = 9,879, p < 0.001*, d = 0.72 χ ² = 42.99, p < 0.001*, d = 0.71
Object Decision	248:167	17 (3)	15 (4)	16.1%	44.9%	$U = 11,487.5, p < 0.001^*,$ d = 0.82 $\chi^2 = 41.27, p < 0.001^*, d = 0.66$
ROCF copy	246:165	29 (8.5)	27 (9.5)	57.7%	69.7%	U = 17890, p = 0.041, d = 0.20 $\chi^2 = 6.04, p = 0.014, d = 0.24$
Executive functions Matrix Reasoning	247:164	18 (6)	13 (10)	6.9%	25.6%	$U = 14,536, p < 0.001^*, d = 0.49$ $\chi^2 = 28.12, p < 0.001^*, d = 0.54$
Category fluency	247:166	38 (11)	31 (11)	5.7%	18.1%	$U = 11,369, p < 0.001^*, d = 0.82$ $\chi^2 = 16.05, p < 0.001^*, d = 0.40$
CALT errors	247:165	31 (33)	33 (39.5)	42.1%	47.9%	U = 19,353.5, p = 0.39, d = 0.09 $\chi^2 = 1.33, p = 0.25, d = 0.11$
WCST errors	247:164	41 (40)	51 (44)	19.8%	34.1%	$U = 16,725.5, p = 0.003^*,$ d = 0.30 $\chi^2 = 10.61, p = 0.001^*, d = 0.33$

Note: a CVLT-II, California Verbal Learning Test 2nd edition; LDFR, Long Delay Free Recall; ROCF, Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure; JLO, Benton Judgement of Line Orientation; CALT, Conditional Associative Learning Test; WCST, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test. *Significant results with p < 0.05 corrected for multiple comparisons using Bonferroni (p < 0.004 corrected for 12 comparisons).



As shown in **Table 1**, the majority of the International group immigrated to Canada in adulthood (Md = 30.7, IQR = 25) and

has lived in Canada for Md = 27 years (IQR = 19). We found no significant correlation (p < 0.002-Bonferroni corrected) between performance on the six biased measures and age at immigration (JLO: $r_s = -0.08$, p = 0.32; Silhouettes: $r_s = -0.14$, p = 0.10; Object Decision: $r_s = -0.13$, p = 0.08; Matrix Reasoning: $r_s = 0.03$, p = 0.74; Category Fluency: $r_s = -0.19$, p = 0.01; WCST errors: $r_s = 0.08$, p = 0.29) nor between performance and years in Canada (JLO: $r_s = -0.04$, p = 0.57; Silhouettes: $r_s = 0.02$, p = 0.80; Object Decision: $r_s = 0.03$, p = 0.72; Matrix Reasoning: $r_s = -0.16$, p = 0.04; Category Fluency: $r_s = 0.04$, p = 0.64; WCST errors: $r_s = 0.03$, p = 0.71).

Another potential contributing factor is participants' proficiency in English. In the Anglosphere group, English is the mother-tongue of 94.8% of participants and only a single participant was tested with an interpreter (0.4%). In contrast, in the International group, English is a mother-tongue in 13.8% of participants, and 32.4% of participants were assessed with the assistance of interpreters. However, within the International group, performance (ranks of total scores) on biased neuropsychological tasks does not differ significantly (p < 0.008-Bonferroni correction) between individuals for

whom English is a mother-tongue vs. those for whom it is not (JLO: U = 1,649, p = 0.97, d = 0.01; Silhouettes: U = 861, p = 0.13, d = 0.26; Object Decision: U = 1,307, p = 0.10, d = 0.25; Category Fluency: U = 1463, p = 0.40, d = 0.13; Matrix Reasoning: U = 1,425.5, p = 0.51, d = 0.10; WCST errors: U = 1280.5, p = 0.17, d = 0.21). Importantly, these analyses are quite underpowered as the sample of individuals with English as a mother-tongue is small (depending on the test, n = 19-23 report English as a mother-tongue vs. n = 116-144 report other languages).

The impact of language on performance can also be assessed by comparing the performance (ranks of total scores) of participants from the International group tested with an interpreter (n = 55) to those tested without (n = 112). Here, we demonstrate no significant difference (p < 0.008–Bonferroni correction) in performance on JLO (U = 2604, p = 0.10, d = 0.25), Silhouettes (U = 1559.5, p = 0.13, d = 0.26), Object Decision (U = 2486.5, p = 0.04, d = 0.31) and Category Fluency (U = 2672.5, p = 0.23, d = 0.19), but their performance is weaker on Matrix Reasoning (U = 2180.5, p = 0.006, d = 0.44) and WCST errors (U = 2075.5, p = 0.001, d = 0.52). However, whilst these two subgroups are comparable in terms of age (U = 3,003, p = 0.79, d = 0.04) and disease severity (PD duration: U = 3,045, p = 0.91, d = 0.02; UPDRS part 3 ON: U = 2647.5, p = 0.14, d = 0.23; UPDRS part 3 OFF: U = 2,995, p = 0.99, d = 0.00; % levodopa response: U = 2666.5, p = 0.30, d = 0.18; LEDD: U = 2,793, p = 0.33, d = 0.15), participants tested with interpreters have lower education than participants tested without (U = 1980.5, p < 0.001, d = 0.61). After regressing out years of education, group differences are reduced and below corrected statistical significance (Matrix Reasoning corrected for education: U = 2,634, p = 0.24, d = 0.18; WCST errors corrected for education: *U* = 2,325, *p* = 0.02, *d* = 0.37).

Because the Anglosphere and International groups were comparable on demographic and disease variables, we do not test whether these variables have a differential effect on performance on biased tasks within each group, but these data are presented in **Supplementary Tables S2, S3**. We also do not analyze differences in performance between the different world regions in the International group, but rates of impairments for each of the 12 neuropsychological measures per global region are presented in **Supplementary Figure S1** and show no striking or consistent pattern of regional bias.

Socio-development Context and Cognition

As predicted, a key difference between the Anglosphere and the International groups pertains to the HIHD which is significantly higher in the Anglosphere group (see **Table 1** for statistics). To investigate whether this socio-development context is a source of the bias observed on cognitive measures, we conducted five simple mediation analyses with group membership (x), HIHD (M), and cognitive performance on the biased tasks (Y). As noted previously, WCST errors were not analyzed in these mediation models due to its bimodal distribution of residuals. As shown in **Figure 2**, HIHD was a full mediator in four of five models and a partial mediator in one. The total effect of group membership on JLO performance was significant [c = -3.49, SE = 0.54, 95% CI (-4.55, -2.42)]. However, the direct effect of group

membership on JLO was completely mediated when HIHD was taken into account [c' = -0.46, SE = 1.04, 95% CI (-2.51, 1.59)]. HIHD was also a full mediator in the relationship between group membership and Silhouettes [c = -3.08, SE = 0.41, 95% CI (-2.89, -2.27); c' = -0.72, SE = 0.78, 95% CI (-2.26, 0.82)], group membership and Matrix Reasoning [c = -2.91, SE = 0.52, 95% CI (-3.95, -1.88); c' = -0.76, SE = 1.03, 95% CI (-2.78, 1.26)], and group membership and Category Fluency [c = -7.06, SE = 0.89, 95% CI (-8.81, -5.31); c' = -2.56, SE = 1.72, 95% CI (-5.95, 0.82)]. In the case of Object Decision, the total effect was significant [c = -2.10, SE = 0.24, 95% CI (-2.57, -1.62)] and this direct effect was significantly lessened or partially mediated by HIHD [c' = -0.99, SE = 0.47, 95% CI (-1.91, -0.07), p = 0.03].

DISCUSSION

In advanced PD, we demonstrate a strong cultural bias on psychometric testing favoring individuals born in Anglosphere countries over first-generation immigrants born in other countries. This bias is observed on several measures of visuoperception and executive functioning, including JLO, Silhouettes, Object Decision, WCST, Matrix Reasoning, Category Fluency, and a trend is noted in complex visuoconstruction on the ROCF copy. However, no significant effect of culture is evident on measures of auditory attention (Digit Span), verbal and visual memory (CVLT-II and ROCF recognition), and spatial working memory (CALT). Of the potential contributing factors, disease-related and demographic characteristics do not account for the noted cultural bias as these are similar between groups, and immigration variables and English proficiency also do not relate significantly to performance in the International group. Notably, we demonstrate that the socio-development context specific to the time and place of birth of our participants strongly contributes to cultural bias on cognitive testing. Indeed, the Historical Index of Human Development (HIHD) mediates the relationship between group and performance completely for four biased tasks, and partially for one task.

Together, our findings have important implications for cross-cultural cognitive neuroscience as they demonstrate that culture has differential effects across cognitive domains (with visuoperception being particularly vulnerable), and that the HIHD captures important aspects of this cultural effect. Our results are also highly relevant for clinical neuropsychology practice in PD as well as in other neurological conditions. We discuss these points as well as study limitations in turn.

Cultural Bias and Cognitive Domains

It may be surprising that some of the most striking, consistent biases are seen on tests of basic visuoperception as well as executive tasks utilizing visual stimuli (WCST, Matrix Reasoning), in which verbal abilities play little or no role, rather than on tasks with a prominent language component (e.g., CVLT-II and Digit Span). This runs counter to common clinical practice in neuropsychology which emphasizes the use of non-verbal tests, presumed to be less biased than verbal tasks, in assessing culturally diverse populations



(for review, see Rosselli and Ardila, 2003). In fact, many "culture-fair" tests of general intellectual functioning [e.g., Cattell's Culture Fair Test (Cattell, 1940), Raven's Progressive Matrices (Raven and Court, 1998), Test of Nonverbal Intelligence (TONI; Brown et al., 1990), Naglieri Nonverbal Ability Test (NNAT; Naglieri, 2003)] contain non-verbal abstract reasoning tasks similar to the Matrix Reasoning subtest of the Wechsler scales, where we find a significant cultural bias. One factor to be considered when interpreting these results relates to differences in semantic knowledge of the visual stimuli between cultures, an issue which Luria noted following his expedition to Uzbekistan in 1931 (for description, see Nell, 1999). Certainly the two VOSP tasks do utilize common objects whose prototypical form may vary slightly between cultures (e.g., a kettle, a purse). But importantly, our participants have been exposed to Canadian culture and Anglosphere-typical representations of these objects for nearly three decades, and there is no relationship between the number of years in Canada and performance on these tasks. This finding is similar to results showing that years in Denmark did not influence performance on several visuoconstruction tasks (including Clock Drawing) among Turkish immigrants (Nielsen and Jørgensen, 2013). Moreover, it is also difficult to apply this explanation to the JLO where individuals are simply asked to match the angles of two lines, which does not seem to rely on semantic knowledge.

These findings are, however, consistent with a growing cognitive neuroscience literature recognizing that visuospatial

abilities are not immune to cultural effects. For example, susceptibility to basic visual illusions, color perception, and visual attention vary between cultures (Masuda, 2009) but it remains unclear to what extent these difference reflect item, method, and/or construct bias of the tasks (Van de Vijver and Tanzer, 2004) vs. underlying neurobiological mechanisms. While our Anglosphere group outperformed the International group on all visuoperceptual tasks, there is evidence that individuals from other cultures do perform better on some experimental tasks tapping different aspects of visuospatial abilities (e.g., mental rotation in Chinese speakers, Li and O'Boyle, 2011; Li et al., 2014). However, we are unaware of any clinical visuospatial tasks where non-Anglosphere individuals have an advantage, and this is likely related to where and how clinical measures are conceived, created, and standardized. Therefore, it seems that experimental findings from the cognitive neurosciences have yet to translate to clinical practice, and this will be key to the development of "culture-fair" tests.

Cultural bias is also observed in Category Fluency, despite the fact that it was administered in the patients' language of choice and that the open-ended nature of the cues (i.e., Animals and Boys Names) allows the generation of exemplars reflecting participants' culture. This task has been recommended for use in cross-cultural neuropsychology (Ardila et al., 2006) as comparable performance is observed in older adults across different Spanish-speaking countries (Ostrosky-Solis et al., 2007) and between monolinguals and bilinguals in a multicultural setting (Luo et al., 2010). However, there is also evidence of cultural bias in some immigrant groups, and like our groups, is not related to time since immigration (Nielsen et al., 2012; Nielsen and Waldemar, 2016; Peviani et al., 2016). Perhaps the speeded nature of the task, which is the only timed task analyzed, may be a contributing factor as the emphasis on speed can vary across cultures (Ardila, 2005).

As for other cognitive domains, no significant bias is noted in attention span, working memory, and episodic memory despite the verbal nature of some tasks (Digit Span, CVLT-II), or the visuoperceptual nature of others (ROCF recognition, CALT). The literature is inconsistent with respect to the cultural effect on attention span and working memory, with evidence showing both significant (Ostrosky-Solís and Lozano, 2006) and null effects (Hedden et al., 2002). As for episodic memory, it is generally accepted that core episodic memory abilities are universal given strong evidence that medial temporal lobe (MTL) lesions reliably lead to profound memory loss. Differences in perception and semantic knowledge as noted above can, however, influence the specific characteristics of the stored memory representations (Gutchess and Indeck, 2009), although this did not translate in performance differences on the tasks used here.

Human Development Index as a Measure of Culture

We found that countries' Human Development level captures aspects of culture that accounts for a significant proportion of the noted bias on cognitive test performance examined here. This is a novel way to address culture in the field of crosscultural neuropsychology, and we are aware of only two other studies that have used this variable to explain cognitive test performance. Berg et al. (2017) found that in a sample of young people with psychosis, high values on the original UN-HDI predicted better executive functioning scores among individuals with Norwegian heritage and first-generation immigrants to Norway. These findings are relevant to our current study in a number of ways. First, there is an overlap between the measures used in both studies (e.g., Category Fluency, Matrix Reasoning, and Digit Span) and in findings (e.g., strong relationship between HDI and executive tasks). Second, this study was conducted in Norway, which has a high HDI but is not an Anglosphere country where neuropsychological tests are typically conceived. Moreover, immigrants in this study moved to Norway before school age, completed all of their education within the Norwegian educational system, and were fluent in a Scandinavian language. In contrast, participants in our International group typically immigrated to Canada as adults and thus, completed all or most of their education in their home country. Despite these differences in the potential level of acculturation, age, and disease, both studies demonstrate a relationship between HDI and cognitive test performance suggesting that early life within specific socio-developmental contexts has a strong and long-lasting impact on cognitive testing. The second study demonstrated that Latin Americans' performance on a widely used test of cognitive effort, the Test of Memory Malingering (TOMM), was strongly correlated with UN-HDI of the eight countries in which they resided (Nijdam-Jones et al., 2017). The authors warn about the crosscultural applicability of the TOMM and especially the use of North American cut-off scores in other populations. Therefore, though it may seem like a crude measure that ignores intracountry diversity (albeit intra-country HDI metrics do exist for some countries) and is far from encompassing all aspects of a society and its culture, human development nonetheless relates to cognitive test performance and can help elucidate why and how cognitive abilities differ across cultures.

Relevance to Clinical Neuropsychology

The presence of cultural bias on neuropsychological testing has important implications for the field of neuropsychology at large as psychometric testing is used clinically to diagnose conditions such as MCI and dementia and to determine the degree of neurocognitive compromise across different disorders. For instance, in neurodegenerative disease research, this bias likely impacts epidemiological studies estimating prevalence, and the investigation of biomarkers and risk factors for poor cognitive prognosis. Studies in Alzheimer's disease (AD) and related MCI illustrate this. Despite controlling for numerous factors, the prevalence of MCI and dementia varies greatly across the world (Sachdev et al., 2015) and across race/ethnic groups within the USA (Katz et al., 2012; Ferraro, 2016). Part of the issue may be related to the use of biased tests and/or inappropriate norms. For example, when North American norms are applied to people from other countries (namely, Morocco, Spain, and Colombia), up to 51% of individuals are misdiagnosed with MCI or dementia, albeit diagnoses in this study were solely based on psychometric data without considering self- or familyreports of cognitive decline (Daugherty et al., 2017). In terms of prognostication, different patterns of cognitive performance may predict eventual conversion to dementia in different ethnic/racial groups (Weissberger et al., 2013). As for biomarkers, a pertinent example is that the correspondence between the degree of MTL atrophy in MCI and the magnitude of cognitive dysfunction on testing varies across race/ethnicity despite controlling for various risk factors (DeCarli et al., 2008; Burke et al., 2018; Weissberger et al., 2019). It is reasonable to assume that cultural bias on testing has a similar impact on MCI and dementia in PD. To our knowledge, there are no studies other than ours addressing this directly, however, a recent study aimed at identifying tests that consistently detect cognitive decline in PD is particularly relevant (Hoogland et al., 2018). Neuropsychological data of 2,908 non-demented PD patients from 20 international studies and nine countries (USA, Canada, New Zealand, Australia, Spain, Italy, Netherland, Germany, and Taiwan) were pooled, and although the cognitive domains affected were consistent with the PD literature (memory, executive dysfunction and attention), no specific tests were recommended due to high between-study variability. It is unclear whether the inclusion of societal context variables (e.g., HIHD) could help reduce this heterogeneity and if so, whether it could be used as a correcting factor in multicultural and international collaborative studies. For example, several authors have used regression models to "correct" test scores for individual differences (i.e., age, education, sex; Cavaco et al.,

2013a,b; Casaletto et al., 2016; Abou-Mrad et al., 2017; Alobaidy et al., 2017; Kirsebom et al., 2019). A similar correction approach may be adopted with the HIHD or other societal variables in future studies.

In addition to diagnosis, cultural bias also affects the evidence supporting the identification of risk factors. It is well recognized that research productivity, including that in psychology (Arnett, 2008; Henrich et al., 2010) and neurology (Jamjoom and Jamjoom, 2016), is geographically biased with a strong proportion of published studies coming from the USA and other Anglosphere countries. Within these studies, diversity of research participants is also reduced by a selection bias. This applies to the few studies investigating risk factors for cognitive decline in PD. For instance, a cognitive phenotype consisting of visuospatial deficits and poor category verbal fluency has been associated with rapid progression to PD dementia (Foltynie et al., 2004; Williams-Gray et al., 2007, 2013). This study was completed in Cambridgeshire England, and the patient group was identified to be 98% Caucasian. Given our results showing cultural bias on Category Fluency and visuospatial functioning, the two main characteristics of the "at-risk" phenotype, it is unclear whether performance on these tasks would retain its predictive value in more culturally diverse patient groups.

Importantly, while we demonstrate a significant bias on psychometric tests, it did not translate in increased rates of PD-MCI/dementia because these diagnoses require the presence of subjective cognitive complaints and the frequency of such reported cognitive decline did not differ between our groups. Based on our results, Daugherty et al.'s (2017) findings of elevated misdiagnoses of MCI and dementia in Morocco, Spain and Colombia may be overestimated because reports of cognitive decline were not required for diagnosis assignment. This highlights the importance of not solely relying on psychometric data for diagnostic purpose, but also integrating information on the reported course of cognitive change and their impact on daily function for individual patients. However, it is important to note that individuals' perception of their own cognition, mood, and general health, and their subjective complaints are not free for cultural bias either (Karasz, 2005; Jürges, 2007; Mograbi et al., 2012; Wu, 2016; Molina, 2017; Rossouw et al., 2018).

Limitations

In terms of limitations of the current study, several other factors previously identified as contributors to cultural bias on cognitive testing are not accounted for. First, other than education and occupational attainment (in Canada or abroad), other indicators of socio-economic status such as current wealth or income are not available. Although most individuals come to Canada under the economic class category, current poverty remains higher in this group relative to Canadian-born individuals [i.e., chronic low income is 4.8% in Canadian-born vs. 13.2% in Toronto immigrants even 15–20 years after landing (Lu and Picot, 2017)].

Second, because our study is retrospective, we do not have specific measures of English proficiency other than whether English is a first language or whether an interpreter provided assistance with the assessment. It is unclear which measure would be appropriate given linguistic differences across Englishspeaking countries and regions, and we question whether this would account for the noted group differences given that no bias was found on some tasks involving verbal material (e.g., CVLT-II). Similarly, we do not have information on whether participants in both groups are bi- or multi-lingual and to what degree of proficiency. This may be relevant in light of research, in part conducted in Toronto, on the beneficial effect of bilingualism to executive functioning (Bialystok et al., 2008; Nielsen et al., 2019) and its potential protective effect from age-related cognitive decline (Bialystok et al., 2014).

Third, we also did not measure the degree of acculturation other than by the number of years in Canada, which is frequently used as a proxy of acculturation with the caveat that it does not necessarily reflect cultural incorporation (Fox et al., 2017). Relatedly, we do not consider potential acculturation or cultural effects in the Anglosphere group, which likely includes a high proportion of second-generation immigrants given that this reflects 28% of Toronto's population (Statistics Canada, 2017). Transgenerational cultural effects have been documented in general health research (Fox et al., 2015) and neuropsychological studies (Kemmotsu et al., 2013; Bossuroy et al., 2014; Ferraro, 2016), thus our study may actually underestimate the cultural effect on cognitive tests. While acculturation is an important factor to consider in future studies, several challenges have been identified in integrating such measures in health research, as illustrated by conflicting findings attributed to inconsistent conceptualization and operationalization across studies (Fox et al., 2017). Measuring acculturation in highly diverse societies such as Toronto is further complicated because it requires consideration of hybrid or fusion culture(s) in addition to the original and host cultures, and as such, the bi-dimensional instruments commonly used are not appropriate (Fox et al., 2017).

Lastly, we also do not examine our data in the framework of East/West or individualistic/collectivist traits, often used in cross-cultural psychology. Of note, no consistent pattern of cognitive performance appeared between East (Asia) and West (Anglosphere or Europe) regions (**Supplementary Figure S1**).

CONCLUSION

In sum, lasting cultural biases exist on neuropsychological tests in first-generation immigrants with PD despite significant exposure to, and participation in, Canadian culture. While previously identified contributing factors such as education, English proficiency, and verbal nature of the tasks do not account for this bias, we provide compelling evidence that the socio-development and historical context in which individuals are born is a strong and persistent contributor. At a coarse level, being born in Anglosphere countries, which share cultural and historical roots, and similar high levels of economic and social development offers an advantage on cognitive tests that are typically conceived in these regions. A finer and scalable metric of human socio-development borrowed from the field of Development Economics, namely the HIHD, robustly mediates this relationship. Hence, the integration of such societal

indices has strong potential to benefit research in cross-cultural psychology. For the current practice of clinical neuropsychology, our findings underscore the need to suspect the presence of cultural bias when assessing immigrants, particularly those originating from countries with low human development index, irrespective of their English proficiency, educational and professional attainment, or length of time since immigration.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets for this study will not be made publicly available because this consists of clinical data and we did not request permission from the REB to share data outside our institution.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study conforms to the standards set by the latest revision of the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Research Ethics Board of the University Health Network.

REFERENCES

- Abou-Mrad, F., Chelune, G., Zamrini, E., Tarabey, L., Hayek, M., and Fadel, P. (2017). Screening for dementia in Arabic: normative data from an elderly Lebanese sample. *Clin. Neuropsychol.* 31, 1–19. doi: 10.1080/13854046.2017. 1288270
- Alobaidy, A., Al-Sinawi, H., Al-Asmi, A., Al-Adawi, S., Essa Mohamed, M., El-Okl, M., et al. (2017). CERAD neuropsychological battery-arabic version: regression-based and stratified normative data and effects of demographic variables on cognitive performance in older omanis. *Cogn. Behav. Neurol.* 30, 150–158. doi: 10.1097/wnn.00000000000136
- Ardila, A. (2005). Cultural values underlying psychometric cognitive testing. *Neuropsychol. Rev.* 15, 185–195. doi: 10.1007/s11065-005-9180-y
- Ardila, A., Ostrosky-Solís, F., and Bernal, B. (2006). Cognitive testing toward the future: the example of Semantic Verbal Fluency (ANIMALS). *Int. J. Psychol.* 41, 324–332. doi: 10.1080/00207590500345542
- Arnett, J. J. (2008). The neglected 95%: why American psychology needs to become less American. Am. Psychol. 63, 602–614. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.63.7.602
- Benton, A. L., Hamsher, K., Varney, N. R., and Spreen, O. (1983). Judgment of Line Orientation. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Berg, A. O., Melle, I., Zuber, V., Simonsen, C., Nerhus, M., Ueland, T., et al. (2017). Modelling difficulties in abstract thinking in psychosis: the importance of socio-developmental background. *Cogn. Neuropsychiatry* 22, 39–52. doi: 10.1080/13546805.2016.1259998
- Bialystok, E., Craik, F. I. M., Binns, M. A., Ossher, L., and Freedman, M. (2014). Effects of bilingualism on the age of onset and progression of MCI and AD: evidence from executive function tests. *Neuropsychology* 28, 290–304. doi: 10.1037/neu0000023
- Bialystok, E., Craik, F., and Luk, G. (2008). Cognitive control and lexical access in younger and older bilinguals. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 34, 859–873. doi: 10.1037/0278-7393.34.4.859
- Bossuroy, M., Wallon, P., Falissard, B., and Moro, M.-R. (2014). The impact of cultural background on structural figure perception: cultural biases in the reproduction of the Rey-Osterrieth complex figure. *J. Cogn. Cult.* 14, 273–285. doi: 10.1163/15685373-12342125
- Brown, L., Sherbenou, R. J., and Johnsen, S. K. (1990). Test of Nonverbal Intelligence: A Language-Free Measure of Cognitive Ability. Austin, TX: Pro-Ed Inc.
- Burke, S. L., Rodriguez, M. J., Barker, W., Greig-Custo, M. T., Rosselli, M., Loewenstein, D. A., et al. (2018). Relationship between cognitive performance and measures of neurodegeneration among hispanic and white non-hispanic

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MS and MC designed the study, extracted data from clinical charts, interpreted data, and wrote the manuscript. MC performed statistical analyses.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Delaram Farzanfar and Ghaffar Malek Khosravi for their help with data extraction and accuracy verification, MaryPat McAndrews for comments on our manuscript, and Simon Tunstall for suggestion related to sociodevelopment metrics.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnhum. 2019.00269/full#supplementary-material

individuals with normal cognition, mild cognitive impairment, and dementia. *J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc.* 24, 176–187. doi: 10.1017/s1355617717000820

- Cagigas, X., and Manly, J. (2014). "Cultural neuropsychology: the new norm," in *Clinical Neuropsychology: A Pocket Handbook for Assessment*, 3rd Edn. eds Michael W. Parsons and Thomas E. Hammeke (Washington DC: American Psychological Association), 132–159.
- Casaletto, K. B., Umlauf, A., Marquine, M., Beaumont, J. L., Mungas, D., Gershon, R., et al. (2016). Demographically corrected normative standards for the spanish language version of the NIH toolbox cognition battery. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 22, 364–374. doi: 10.1017/s135561771500137x
- Cattell, P. (1940). *The Measurement of Intelligence of Infants and Young Children*. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation.
- Cavaco, S., Gonçalves, A., Pinto, C., Almeida, E., Gomes, F., Moreira, I., et al. (2013a). Semantic fluency and phonemic fluency: regression-based norms for the Portuguese population. *Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol.* 28, 262–271. doi: 10.1093/arclin/act001
- Cavaco, S., Gonçalves, A., Pinto, C., Almeida, E., Gomes, F., Moreira, I., et al. (2013b). Trail Making Test: regression-based norms for the Portuguese population. *Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol.* 28, 189–198. doi: 10.1093/arclin/acs115
- Chin, A. L., Negash, S., Xie, S., Arnold, S. E., and Hamilton, R. (2012). Quality and not just quantity, of education accounts for differences in psychometric performance between african americans and white non-hispanics with Alzheimer's disease. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 18, 277–285. doi: 10.1017/s1355617711001688
- Cole, M. (1998). *Cultural Psychology: A Once and Future Discipline*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Daugherty, J. C., Puente, A. E., Fasfous, A. F., Hidalgo-Ruzzante, N., and Pérez-Garcia, M. (2017). Diagnostic mistakes of culturally diverse individuals when using North American neuropsychological tests. *Appl. Neuropsychol. Adult* 24, 16–22. doi: 10.1080/23279095.2015.1036992
- DeCarli, C., Reed, B. R., Jagust, W., Martinez, O., Ortega, M., and Mungas, D. (2008). Brain behavior relationships amongst African Americans, whites, and Hispanics. *Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord.* 22, 382–391. doi: 10.1097/wad. 0b013e318185e7fe
- Delis, D. C., Kaplan, E., and Kramer, J. H. (2001). Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System®(D-KEFS®): Examiner's Manual: Flexibility of Thinking, Concept Formation, Problem Solving, Planning, Creativity, Impluse Control, Inhibition. Bloomington: Pearson.
- Delis, D. C., Kramer, J. H., Kaplan, E., and Ober, B. A. (2000). California Verbal Learning Test-Second Edition (CVLT-II). San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation.

- Emre, M., Aarsland, D., Brown, R., Burn, D. J., Duyckaerts, C., Mizuno, Y., et al. (2007). Clinical diagnostic criteria for dementia associated with Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 22, 1689–1707; quiz 1837. doi: 10.1002/mds. 21507
- Fahn, S., and Elton, R. (1987). "Unified Parkinson's disease rating scale," in *Recent Development in Parkinson's Disease*, eds S. Fahn, C. D. Marsden, D. B. Calne and M. Goldstein (Florham Park, NJ: McMellam Health Care Information), 153–163.
- Fernández, A. L., and Abe, J. (2018). Bias in cross-cultural neuropsychological testing: problems and possible solutions. *Cult. Brain* 6, 1–35. doi: 10.1007/s40167-017-0050-2
- Ferraro, F. R. (2016). Minority and Cross-Cultural Aspects of Neuropsychological Assessment: Enduring and emerGing Trends. 2nd Edn. New York, NY: Taylor and Francis.
- Flores, I., Casaletto, K. B., Marquine, M. J., Umlauf, A., Moore, D. J., Mungas, D., et al. (2017). Performance of hispanics and non-hispanic whites on the NIH toolbox cognition battery: the roles of ethnicity and language backgrounds. *Clin. Neuropsychol.* 31, 783–797. doi: 10.1080/13854046.2016.12 76216
- Foltynie, T., Brayne, C. E., Robbins, T. W., and Barker, R. A. (2004). The cognitive ability of an incident cohort of Parkinson's patients in the UK. The CamPaIGN study. *Brain* 127, 550–560. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh067
- Fox, M., Entringer, S., Buss, C., DeHaene, J., and Wadhwa, P. D. (2015). Intergenerational transmission of the effects of acculturation on health in Hispanic Americans: a fetal programming perspective. Am. J. Public Health 105, S409–S423. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2015.302571
- Fox, M., Thayer, Z., and Wadhwa, P. D. (2017). Assessment of acculturation in minority health research. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 176, 123–132. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed. 2017.01.029
- Goetz, C. G., Tilley, B. C., Shaftman, S. R., Stebbins, G. T., Fahn, S., Martinez-Martin, P., et al. (2008). Movement disorder society-sponsored revision of the unified Parkinson's disease rating scale (MDS-UPDRS): scale presentation and clinimetric testing results. *Mov. Disord.* 23, 2129–2170. doi: 10.1002/mds. 22340
- Gutchess, A. H., and Indeck, A. (2009). Cultural influences on memory. Prog. Brain Res. 178, 137–150. doi: 10.1016/s0079-6123(09)17809-3
- Hayes, A. F. (2017). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: A Regression-Based Approach. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Heaton, R. K., Chelune, G. J., Talley, J. L., Kay, G. G., and Curtiss, G. (1993). Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST) Manual: Revised and Expanded. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Hedden, T., Park, D. C., Nisbett, R., Ji, L. J., Jing, Q., and Jiao, S. (2002). Cultural variation in verbal versus spatial neuropsychological function across the life span. *Neuropsychology* 16, 65–73. doi: 10.1037/0894-4105. 16.1.65
- Henrich, J., Heine, S. J., and Norenzayan, A. (2010). The weirdest people in the world? *Behav. Brain Sci.* 33, 61–83. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X0999152X
- Hentz, J. G., Mehta, S. H., Shill, H. A., Driver-Dunckley, E., Beach, T. G., and Adler, C. H. (2015). Simplified conversion method for unified Parkinson's disease rating scale motor examinations. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 1967–1970. doi: 10.1002/mds.26435
- Hoogland, J., van Wanrooij, L. L., Boel, J. A., Goldman, J. G., Stebbins, G. T., Dalrymple-Alford, J. C., et al. (2018). Detecting mild cognitive deficits in Parkinson's disease: comparison of neuropsychological tests. *Mov. Disord.* 33, 1750–1759. doi: 10.1002/mds.110
- International Labour Office. (2012). International Standard Classification of Occupations 2008 (ISCO-08): Structure, Group Definitions and Correspondence Tables. Geneva: International Labour Office.
- Jamjoom, B. A., and Jamjoom, A. B. (2016). Impact of country-specific characteristics on scientific productivity in clinical neurology research. *eNeurologicalSci* 4, 1–3. doi: 10.1016/j.ensci.2016.03.002
- Jürges, H. (2007). True health vs. response styles: exploring cross-country differences in self-reported health. *Health Econ.* 16, 163–178. doi: 10.1002/ hec.1134
- Karasz, A. (2005). Cultural differences in conceptual models of depression. Soc. Sci. Med. 60, 1625–1635. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.08.011
- Katz, M. J., Lipton, R. B., Hall, C. B., Zimmerman, M. E., Sanders, A. E., Verghese, J., et al. (2012). Age and sex specific prevalence and incidence of

mild cognitive impairment, dementia, and Alzheimer's dementia in blacks and whites: a report from the Einstein Aging Study. *Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord.* 26, 335–343. doi: 10.1097/wad.0b013e31823dbcfc

- Kemmotsu, N., Enobi, Y., and Murphy, C. (2013). Performance of older Japanese American adults on selected cognitive instruments. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 19, 773–781. doi: 10.1017/s1355617713000520
- Kirsebom, B. E., Espenes, R., Hessen, E., Waterloo, K., Johnsen, S. H., Gundersen, E., et al. (2019). Demographically adjusted CERAD wordlist test norms in a Norwegian sample from 40 to 80 years. *Clin. Neuropsychol.* doi: 10.1080/13854046.2019.1574902 [Epub ahead of print].
- Kongs, S. K., Thompson, L. L., Iverson, G. L., and Heaton, R. K. (2000). WCST-64: Wisconsin Card Sorting Test-64 Card Version, Professional Manual. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Krch, D., Lequerica, A., Arango-Lasprilla, J. C., Rogers, H. L., DeLuca, J., and Chiaravalloti, N. D. (2015). The multidimensional influence of acculturation on digit symbol-coding and wisconsin card sorting test in hispanics. *Clin. Neuropsychol.* 29, 624–638. doi: 10.1080/13854046.2015.10 63696
- Lang, A. E., Houeto, J. L., Krack, P., Kubu, C., Lyons, K. E., Moro, E., et al. (2006). Deep brain stimulation: preoperative issues. *Mov. Disord.* 21, S171–S196. doi: 10.1002/mds.20955
- Li, Y., and O'Boyle, M. W. (2011). Differences in mental rotation strategies for native speakers of chinese and english and how they vary as a function of sex and college major. *Psychol. Rec.* 61, 2–19. doi: 10.1007/bf03395743
- Li, Y., O'Boyle, M. W., Liu, L., Zeng, X., Zhang, J., Zhu, J., et al. (2014). The influence of native acquisition of chinese on mental rotation strategy preference: an EEG investigation. *Psychol. Rec.* 64, 321–328. doi: 10.1007/s40732-014-0028-9
- Litvan, I., Goldman, J. G., Troster, A. I., Schmand, B. A., Weintraub, D., Petersen, R. C., et al. (2012). Diagnostic criteria for mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: movement disorder society task force guidelines. *Mov. Disord.* 27, 349–356. doi: 10.1002/mds.24893
- Lu, Y., and Picot, G. (2017). "Chronic low income among immigrants in Canada and its communities," in *Analytical Studies Branch Research Paper Series, No.* 397 (Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada), 1–43.
- Luo, L., Luk, G., and Bialystok, E. (2010). Effect of language proficiency and executive control on verbal fluency performance in bilinguals. *Cognition* 114, 29–41. doi: 10.1016/j.cognition.2009.08.014
- Marcinkowska, A., and Sitek, E. (2017). Chosen aspects of cross-cultural adaptation of neuropsychological tests. *Aktualnosci Neurol.* 17, 150–157. doi: 10.15557/an.2017.0016
- Masuda, T. (2009). "Cultural effects on visual perception," in *The Sage Encyclopedia of Perception* (Vol. 1), ed. E. B. Goldstien (Thousand Oaks, CA: Saga), 339–343.
- Meyers, J. E., and Meyers, K. R. (1995). Rey Complex Figure Test and Recognition Trial Professional Manual. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Mograbi, D. C., Ferri, C. P., Sosa, A. L., Stewart, R., Laks, J., Brown, R., et al. (2012). Unawareness of memory impairment in dementia: a populationbased study. *Int. Psychogeriatr.* 24, 931–939. doi: 10.1017/S10416102110 02730
- Molina, T. (2017). Adjusting for heterogeneous response thresholds in crosscountry comparisons of self-reported health. J. Econ. Ageing 10, 1–20. doi: 10.1016/j.jeoa.2017.08.002
- Naglieri, J. A. (2003). "Naglieri nonverbal ability tests," in *Handbook of Nonverbal Assessment*, ed. R. S. McCallum (Boston, MA: Springer), 175–189.
- Nell, V. (1999). Luria in Uzbekistan: the vicissitudes of cross-cultural neuropsychology. *Neuropsychol. Rev.* 9, 45–52. doi: 10.1023/A:1025643004782
- Newbold, K. B., and Filice, J. K. (2006). Health status of older immigrants to Canada. *Can. J. Aging* 25, 305–319. doi: 10.1353/cja.2007.0009
- Ng, E. (2011). The healthy immigrant effect and mortality rates. *Health Rep.* 22, 25–29.
- Nielsen, T. R., Antelius, E., and Waldemar, G. (2019). Cognitive advantages in adult turkish bilingual immigrants—a question of the chicken or the egg. J. Cross Cult. Gerontol. 34, 115–129. doi: 10.1007/s10823-019-09375-7
- Nielsen, T. R., and Jørgensen, K. (2013). Visuoconstructional abilities in cognitively healthy illiterate Turkish immigrants: a quantitative and qualitative investigation. *Clin. Neuropsychol.* 27, 681–692. doi: 10.1080/13854046.2013. 767379

- Nielsen, T. R., Vogel, A., and Waldemar, G. (2012). Comparison of performance on three neuropsychological tests in healthy Turkish immigrants and Danish elderly. *Int. Psychogeriatr.* 24, 1515–1521. doi: 10.1017/s1041610212000440
- Nielsen, T. R., and Waldemar, G. (2016). Effects of literacy on semantic verbal fluency in an immigrant population. *Neuropsychol. Dev. Cogn. B Aging Neuropsychol. Cogn.* 23, 578–590. doi: 10.1080/13825585.2015.11 32668
- Nijdam-Jones, A., Rivera, D., Rosenfeld, B., and Arango-Lasprilla, J. C. (2017). A cross-cultural analysis of the Test of Memory Malingering among latin american spanish-speaking adults. *Law Hum. Behav.* 41, 422–428. doi: 10.1037/lhb0000250
- Ostrosky-Solis, F., Gutierrez, A. L., Flores, M. R., and Ardila, A. (2007). Same or different? Semantic verbal fluency across spanish-speakers from different countries. Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol. 22, 367–377. doi: 10.1016/j.acn.2007. 01.011
- Ostrosky-Solís, F., and Lozano, A. (2006). Digit span: effect of education and culture. *Int. J. Psychol.* 41, 333–341. doi: 10.1080/00207590500345724
- Peviani, V., Scarpa, P., Toraldo, A., and Bottini, G. (2016). Accounting for ethniccultural and linguistic diversity in neuropsychological assessment of patients with drug-resistant epilepsy: a retrospective study. *Epilepsy Behav.* 64, 94–101. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.09.011
- Prados de la Escosura, L. (2015). World human development: 1870–2007. *Rev. Income Wealth* 61, 220–247. doi: 10.1111/roiw.12104
- Puente, A. E., and Agranovich, A. V. (2003). "The cultural in cross-cultural neuropsychology," in *Comprehensive Handbook of Psychological Assessment: Intellectual and Neuropsychological Assessment* (Vol. 1), eds M. Hersen, G. Goldstein and S. R. Beers (New York, NY: Wiley), 321–332.
- Raven, J. C., and Court, J. H. (1998). *Raven's Progressive Matrices and Vocabulary Scales*. Oxford: Oxford pyschologists Press.
- Rivera Mindt, M., Byrd, D., Saez, P., and Manly, J. (2010). Increasing culturally competent neuropsychological services for ethnic minority populations: a call to action. *Clin. Neuropsychol.* 24, 429–453. doi: 10.1080/13854040903058960
- Rosselli, M., and Ardila, A. (2003). The impact of culture and education on non-verbal neuropsychological measurements: a critical review. *Brain Cogn.* 52, 326–333. doi: 10.1016/s0278-2626(03)00170-2
- Rossouw, L., Bago d'Uva, T., and van Doorslaer, E. (2018). Poor health reporting? Using anchoring vignettes to uncover health disparities by wealth and race. *Demography* 55, 1935–1956. doi: 10.1007/s13524-018-0709-0
- Sachdev, P. S., Lipnicki, D. M., Kochan, N. A., Crawford, J. D., Thalamuthu, A., Andrews, G., et al. (2015). The prevalence of mild cognitive impairment in diverse geographical and ethnocultural regions: the COSMIC collaboration. *PLoS One* 10:e0142388. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0142388
- Schwartz, B. S., Glass, T. A., Bolla, K. I., Stewart, W. F., Glass, G., Rasmussen, M., et al. (2004). Disparities in cognitive functioning by race/ethnicity in the Baltimore Memory Study. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 112, 314–320. doi: 10.1289/ehp.6727
- Shuttleworth-Edwards, A. B. (2016). Generally representative is representative of none: commentary on the pitfalls of IQ test standardization in multicultural settings. *Clin. Neuropsychol.* 30, 975–998. doi: 10.1080/13854046.2016.1204011
- Spencer, R. J., Wendell, C. R., Giggey, P. P., Seliger, S. L., Katzel, L. I., and Waldstein, S. R. (2013). Judgment of line orientation: an examination of eight short forms. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 35, 160–166. doi: 10.1080/13803395. 2012.760535
- Statistics Canada. (2017). "2016 census of the Toronto census metropolitan area," in *Statistics Canada Catalogue*, *98–316-X2016001* (Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada).

- Taylor, A. E., Saint-Cyr, J., and Lang, A. (1990). Memory and learning in early Parkinson's disease: evidence for a "frontal lobe syndrome". *Brain Cogn.* 13, 211–232. doi: 10.1016/0278-2626(90)90051-0
- Tomlinson, C. L., Stowe, R., Patel, S., Rick, C., Gray, R., and Clarke, C. E. (2010). Systematic review of levodopa dose equivalency reporting in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 25, 2649–2653. doi: 10.1002/mds. 23429
- United Nations Development Programme. (1990). Human Development Report 1990. Concept and Measurement of Human Development. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Van de Vijver, F., and Tanzer, N. K. (2004). Bias and equivalence in cross-cultural assessment: an overview. *Eur. Rev. Appl. Psychol.* 54, 119–135. doi: 10.1016/j. erap.2003.12.004
- Warrington, E. K., and James, M. (1991). The Visual Object and Space Perception Battery: VOSP. London: Pearson.
- Wechsler, D. (1997). WAIS-3: Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale: Administration and Scoring Manual. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation.
- Wechsler, D. (2011). WASI-II: Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence. Second Edition. Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Weissberger, G. H., Gollan, T. H., Bondi, M. W., Nation, D. A., Hansen, L. A., Galasko, D., et al. (2019). Neuropsychological deficit profiles, vascular risk factors and neuropathological findings in hispanic older adults with autopsy-confirmed Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers Dis. 67, 291–302. doi: 10.3233/jad-180351
- Weissberger, G. H., Salmon, D. P., Bondi, M. W., and Gollan, T. H. (2013). Which neuropsychological tests predict progression to Alzheimer's disease in Hispanics? *Neuropsychology* 27, 343–355. doi: 10.1037/a0032399
- Weuve, J., Rajan, K. B., Barnes, L. L., Wilson, R. S., and Evans, D. A. (2018). Secular trends in cognitive performance in older black and white U.Adults, S., 1993–2012: findings from the Chicago health and aging project. J. Gerontol. B Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 73, S73–S81. doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbx167
- Whaley, A. L., and Davis, K. E. (2007). Cultural competence and evidence-based practice in mental health services: a complementary perspective. Am. Psychol. 62, 563–574. doi: 10.1037/0003-066x.62.6.563
- Williams-Gray, C. H., Foltynie, T., Brayne, C. E., Robbins, T. W., and Barker, R. A. (2007). Evolution of cognitive dysfunction in an incident Parkinson's disease cohort. *Brain* 130, 1787–1798. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm111
- Williams-Gray, C. H., Mason, S. L., Evans, J. R., Foltynie, T., Brayne, C., Robbins, T. W., et al. (2013). The CamPaIGN study of Parkinson's disease: 10-year outlook in an incident population-based cohort. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 84, 1258–1264. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2013-305277
- Wu, Q. (2016). Subjective cognitive impairment of older adults: a comparison between the US and China. Int. J. Methods Psychiatr. Res. 25, 68–75. doi: 10.1002/mpr.1499

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Statucka and Cohn. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





"Seeing Color," A Discussion of the Implications and Applications of Race in the Field of Neuroscience

Sade J. Abiodun 1,2*

¹ Duke Institute for Brain Sciences, Duke University, Durham, NC, United States, ² Center for Cognitive Neuroscience, Duke University, Durham, NC, United States

Keywords: diversity, race, representation, racism, Bias

Between 1986 and 2006, the number of North American institutions offering undergraduate degrees in Neuroscience increased 20-fold. This boost mirrored the modern wave of Neuroscience, dubbed by the United States Congress as the "Decade of the Brain."

However, the true emergence of the discipline of brain science dates long before the 2000s, finding its roots in the theorems and postulates of some of the most celebrated minds in the fields of Psychology, Biology, and related disciplines. Neuroscience has established its presence as a strong force in the scientific community, far surpassing the shelf life characteristic of a common pseudoscience, but some say the field has yet to undergo the meticulous scrutiny that more long-standing disciplines have endured; an evaluative process which includes a review of the ethical implications and impact of the field itself.

With the ever-progressing code of ethics and morality in modern society, one integral component has been the discussion of the inclusion and representation of marginalized identities within the scientific community, and how—for better or for worse—scientific disciplines have evolved from their original culture of the perennial "old boys club," welcoming only the most racially and historically privileged individuals in society. The question that this brings up, that this commentary is designed to tackle, is whether these same discussions around diversity in the wider realm of science have happened and should happen in the field of Neuroscience.

By examining both the historical and present-day dynamics of this field, this manuscript examines whether the Neuroscience community has successfully been held accountable for its actions, or whether the attempt to remain "objective" has, in essence, resulted in harmful complicity in the perpetuation of scientific racism.

IN THE HISTORY BOOKS

Many of the modern-day discoveries within the fields of Psychology and Neuroscience still pay homage to the methodologies and theorems developed decades before. This reverence, however, brings into question the extent to which the glorification of the historical figures behind these theories conveniently overlooks some of their more problematic beliefs.

In the late nineteenth century, Dutch and German scientific duo Gustav Fritsch and Eduard Hitzig gained recognition for their behavioral research that led to a deeper understanding of the motor cortex and basal ganglia. Fritsch and Hitzig are canonically lauded as scientific pioneers for their contributions to the model of motor function. It is a lesser known fact, however, that Fritsch's anthropological explorations and research were motivated by his quest to find proof of the genetic superiority of the white race. Fritsch's ethnographic work allowed him to travel to countries around Europe and Southern Africa, where he spent months at a time collecting eye and hair evidence aimed at finding an anthropological basis for the genetic inferiorities of "negroes" (Gross, 2012).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Audrey Duarte, Georgia Institute of Technology, United States

Reviewed by:

Joanna Karolina Malinowska, Adam Mickiewicz University in Poznan, Poland

*Correspondence:

Sade J. Abiodun fja2@duke.edu

Received: 30 April 2019 Accepted: 29 July 2019 Published: 13 August 2019

Citation:

Abiodun SJ (2019) "Seeing Color," A Discussion of the Implications and Applications of Race in the Field of Neuroscience. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 13:280. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2019.00280

58

This erasure is not restricted to a single scenario: upon further research, it becomes clear that even a handful of names one might find in a History of Neuroscience syllabus had more than a few, often lesser-known controversial ideological stances. David Hume, Scottish philosopher and contributor to Discourse on Brain and Consciousness, stated "I am apt to suspect the negroes, and in general all the other species of men to be naturally inferior to the whites. There never was a civilized nation of any other complexion than white, nor even any individual eminent either in action or speculation" (West, 2003). Immanuel Kant, metaphysicist and inspiration behind Kantian Neuroscience, once said, "Among the hundreds of thousands of blacks who are transported elsewhere from their countries... still not a single one was ever found who presented anything great in art or science or any other praiseworthy quality, even though among the whites some continually rise aloft from the lowest rabble, and through superior gifts earn respect in the world" (West, 2003). And Voltaire, French Enlightenment philosopher and influencer of Theory of Mind, wrote "The Negro race is a species of men as different from ours as the breed of spaniels is from that of greyhounds," in his essay "The People of America" (West, 2003).

Students are often taught about the integral contributions of these scientists, including their experiments, methods, and even some of their *academically* contentious stances. But little to no light is cast on their ideological viewpoints, some of which served as key motivators and components of their overall bodies of academic work.

But where do we draw the line between brilliance and ignorance?

It is undeniable that, in many ways, these scientists have been the backbone of Modern Neuroscience, individuals whose knowledge and prestige precede them. However, we cannot solely acknowledge the positive and/or beneficial aspects of their legacy, but should also recognize the importance of identifying the successes *and* shortcomings which, together, make up their bodies of belief. This legacy of accurate and holistic representation becomes all the more important when considering how race and ethnic diversity is represented within Neuroscience research itself.

NEUROSCIENCE OF RACE

In recent years, many of the Natural Sciences have delved into the practice of investigating "social" issues from an empirical perspective. This discipline, dubbed "cultural neuroscience," has examined behavioral phenomena related to prejudice, social segregation and the like, to help us understand how our attitudes form (Choudhury and Kirmayer, 2011; Martínez et al., 2012). As highlighted in some of the systematic reviews done on current literature in the field, these studies have outlined the behavioral schema by which we associate and subsequently react to variations in race, gender, and other phenotypic characteristics (Ronquillo et al., 2007; Richeson et al., 2008; Martínez et al., 2012). Such research has confirmed that factors such as Cross-Race Effect and Implicit Bias can explain the unconscious assumptions we make about different groups, and neurological responses that occur when confronted with people different from ourselves (Phelps et al., 2003; Wheeler and Fiske, 2005; Kubota et al., 2012). Applying these findings to our understanding of everyday social encounters, this research has provided objective evidence challenging the preconceived notion of racism as a fictitious experience.

However, this empirical approach could lead to the pathologization of racism, presenting it as a clinical matter of evolutionary advantage rather than as problematic behavior (Rose and Rose, 2001; Martínez et al., 2012). By depicting of a man's hatred for his immigrant neighbor as a specified pattern of activation in fusiform face area and amygdala rather than an act of ignorance and hatred, we create a much more docile interpretation of the situation, which negates and justifies the potential violence of one human's emotions toward another.

Additionally, the attribution of cultural difference to physical distinction is the very belief from which early scientific practices such as Phrenology, Physiognomy and Trepanation found their footing. Phrenology, a field created by Franz Joseph Gall in the late eighteenth century, was centered around the idea that the brain could be divided into an aggregated map, topographically organized into characteristics and traits. With this ideology came many levels of prejudicial assumptions on the mental capacities and differences of various ethnic and racial groups, with whiteness often being centered as the "pinnacle specimen of intelligence" (Gross, 2012; Staum, 2014). Similar racial iterations propagated the popularity of scientific documents such as *Crania Americana*, which many justified the implementation of the Trans-Atlantic Slave Trade and labor exploitation of black and brown bodies.

Although this same line of reasoning may not be explicitly employed today, a key element for the "weaponization" of the scientific findings of that age was the lack of accountability on the part of the scientist for the implications of their research. The conclusions drawn at a lab bench or computer desk-a controlled environment in which the members of that cohort adhere to a certain united ethical code-does not always similarly translate when published to the larger population. These scientific ideas and conclusions can be warped and manipulated, and in some cases, even used to push dangerous agendas of racial and cultural hierarchy. This is one benefit of having diverse perspectives within the research community, which facilitates consideration of the overarching influence of research, and examination of whether marginalized voices have been given a space within field's framework.

NEUROSCIENCE AND RACE

While it is important to talk about the applications of race within the data, it is also critical that we evaluate the application of racial literacy within the Neuroscience community. Just as the brain is composed of bundles of individual neurons and synapses, a scientific field is equal to the sum of its parts: principal investigators, research assistants and technicians, post-doctoral scholars, and undergraduates.

Statistically speaking, Underrepresented Minorities (URMs) comprise only 7.7% of the larger scientific community in the United States of America (Higher Education Training., 2013), with an even smaller percentage of this subpopulation (<2%)counting black and Hispanic women (Matchett, 2013; Guterl, 2014). But even these numbers are a far cry from the minuscule demographic representation of the past. In a 1974 governmental study, it was found that 94% of neuroscientists were white, with a mere 1.8% representing the cumulative total of all URM's in the field (2011, Higher Education Training., 2013). As it stands today, Neuroscience appears (on paper) to still be a very white, male, western-dominated field: within academia, URMs represent only 12% of pre-doctoral students, 4% of postdocs, and 6% of all tenure-track faculty across Neuroscience departments nationwide (Higher Education Training., 2013). While these numbers are shocking, they are not surprising considering the historical landscape of access and availability. A little over 3 decades ago the Society for Neuroscience (SfN), the largest Neuroscience society in the world, had <4% of their entire member body identify as racial minorities, a fact that incited the development of diversity initiatives such as the Neuroscience Scholars Program (NSP) in an effort to bolster recruitment (Matchett, 2013; Research Funding, 2018). Even with these initiatives and platforms, however, the numbers show that significant work is still to be done before the playing field is level for all.

The more prominent instances of minority representation in research are not often from the investigator's side, but rather in the populations utilized to conduct the research. Both early and modern Neuroscience, like many other research fields, have made use of the most "available" subject populations to collect data, which usually entailed exploiting lower socioeconomic status (SES) communities and People of Color (POC's), who were often less protected and more at risk. In the past, this has included the use of groups categorized as "vulnerable populations," including prisoners, mentally unstable patients, and other marginalized groups (pregnant women, fetuses, institutionalized patients, etc.) (Fiscella et al., 2000; Backlar, 2002). Many of these vulnerable population groups intersect with the smaller black and brown communities most easily accessible to researchers, individuals who had little to no say or knowledge of the true cost of their involvement as research participants. Examples of this range far and wide: the Holmesburg Prison experiments, Tuskegee Experiments, and MKUltra. Any and all methods of recruitment and experimentation, regardless of the long-term effects, were excusable as long as the scientific potential was promising.

Although copious ethical standards and guidelines have been put in place to ensure the ethical disgraces of the past are not repeated, "subject baiting" still takes place, if not more inventively: nowadays one may see the "make a quick buck" study ads pop up on street poles, in their local bulletin, or on their social media feeds, with little to no information on the specific parameters of the study that potential participants are being encouraged to volunteer for. Often, the first motive of the participating populations is the financial incentive with the only prerequisite being a willingness to have their body used and/or exploited.

Discrepancies in inclusivity can be examined in the everyday practices of research labs, as exemplified by the "representative sample" conundrum: Oftentimes, participant samples recruited for studies fall into the category of being W.E.I.R.D (White, Educated, Industrialized, Rich, and Democratic) (Henrich et al., 2010). While these populations are easy to recruit, especially on college campuses, they are not representative of the general population. One must ask if the notion of "ease of subject access" is a sufficient enough claim to not expand our research conventions in a way that would champion both inclusive and ethical science, a notion that is applicable in the case of both the populations we research and the research cohorts themselves. In comparison to other scientific fields, Neuroscience, especially on an academic level, is small. This means that the disparities in racial diversity are even more pronounced, as reflected in the aforementioned mere 6% minority tenure-track Neuroscience professors across academic institutions. The most challenging part lies in the fact that the only way in which this dynamic can shift is if opportunities for minorities to enter the Neuroscience field are made apparent, and if these diverse individuals see a place for themselves within this field. Statistics from 2011 revealed that only 12% of applications to Neuroscience graduate programs came from ethnic minorities, in comparison to the 18% applying to medical school and 23% to graduate school programs in general (2017, Reports, 2018), emphasizing that Neuroscience is still decades behind other fields in incorporating diversity into their research community.

CONCLUSION

All in all, an examination of the dynamic between race and racial diversity within neuroscience will require a review of the historical treatment of minorities in the field. In order to fundamentally shift the field in the direction of equality, we have to focus efforts into making Neuroscience equitable-pursuing initiatives for the substantial amplification of diverse voices in the field until it becomes routine. Additionally, research practice can only progress when we consider that the work done thus far is still not sufficiently representative or universally appreciated. As long as we work in niches-"cultural neuroscience" instead of "neuroscience that reflexively integrates culture"-we remain limited as a field. If, however, the neuroscience community acknowledges its historical biases while reflecting upon current research practices and infrastructure, the field could become as dynamic, diverse, and ever-adapting as the very organ that it is dedicated to studying.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author thanks Raahina Malik for editing early drafts of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- (2011). Disciplinary Consolidation, the Mid 1970s to the early 1980s. History of SfN. Available online at: http://www.sfn.org/About/History-of-SfN/1969-1995/ Chapter-4 (accessed March 27, 2018).
- (2017). 2017 Applicant and Matriculant Data Tables. Available online at: https://aamc-black.global.ssl.fastly.net/production/media/filer_public/5c/26/ 5c262575-52f9-4608-96d6-a78cdaa4b203/2017_applicant_and_matriculant_ data_tables.pdf (accessed March 27, 2018).
- Backlar, P. (2002). "Human subjects research, ethics, research on vulnerable populations," in *Encyclopedia of Ethical, Legal and Policy Issues in Biotechnology,* 2nd Edn., eds T. H. Murray and M. J. Mehlman (New York, NY: Wiley), 641–651. doi: 10.1002/0471250597.mur017
- Choudhury, S., and Kirmayer, L. J. (2011). Cultural Neuroscience and psychopathology: prospects for cultural psychiatry. *Prog. Brain Res. Cult. Neurosci.* 2011, 263–283. doi: 10.1016/s0079-6123(09)17820-2
- Fiscella, K., Franks, P., Gold, M. R., and Clancy, C. M. (2000). Inequality in quality. *JAMA* 283:2579. doi: 10.1001/jama.283.19.2579
- Gross, C. G. (2012). A Hole in the Head: More Tales in the History of Neuroscience. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Guterl, F. (2014). *Diversity in Science: Where Are the Data? Scientific American.* Available online at: https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/diversity-inscience-where-are-the-data (accessed March 27, 2018).
- Henrich, J., Heine, S., and Norenzayan, A. (2010). The weirdest people in the world? *Behav Brain Sci.* 33, 61–83. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X0999152X
- Higher Education and Training. (2013). Available online at: https://www.sfn.org/ Careers- and- Training/Faculty- and- Curriculum-Tools/Training-Program-Surveys/Executive-Summary-2010-2011 (accessed March 27, 2018).
- Kubota, J. T., Banaji, M. R., and Phelps, E. A. (2012). The Neuroscience of race. Nat Neurosci. 15, 940–948. doi: 10.1038/nn.3136
- Martínez, M. M., Cabanis, M., de Echeverría Loebell, N. C., and Krach, S. (2012). Concerns about cultural neurosciences: a critical analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 36, 152–161. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.05.006
- Matchett, K. (2013). Seeking Solutions: Maximizing American Talent by Advancing Women of Color in Academia: Summary of a Conference. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.

- Phelps, E. A., Cannistraci, C. J., and Cunningham, W. A. (2003). Intact performance on an indirect measure of race bias following amygdala damage. *Neuropsychologia* 41, 203–208. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3932(02) 00150-1
- Reports (2018). *Council of Graduate Schools*. Available online at: http://cgsnet.org/ reports (accessed March 27, 2018).
- Research Funding (2018). Neuroscience Scholars Program | Research Funding. Available online at: https://researchfunding.duke.edu/Neuroscience-scholarsprogram (accessed March 27, 2018).
- Richeson, J. A., Todd, A. R., Trawalter, S., and Baird, A. A. (2008). Eye-gaze direction modulates race-related amygdala activity. *Group Process Intergroup Relat.* 11, 233–246. doi: 10.1177/1368430207088040
- Ronquillo, J., Denson, T. F., Lickel, B., Lu, Z. L., Nandy, A., and Maddox, K. B. (2007). The effects of skin tone on race-related amygdala activity: an fMRI investigation. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci.* 2, 39–44. doi: 10.1093/scan/ nsl043
- Rose, S., and Rose, H. (2001). Alas, Poor Darwin, Arguments Against Evolutionary Psychology. London: Vintage.
- Staum, M. S. (2014). Labeling People: French Scholars on Society, Race and Empire, 1815-1848. Montreal: McGill-Queens University Press.
- West, C. (2003). Prophesy Deliverance! An Afro-American Revolutionary Christianity. Louisville, KY: Westminster John Knox Press.
- Wheeler, M. E., and Fiske, S. T. (2005). Controlling racial prejudice socialcognitive goals affect amygdala and stereotype activation. Sage J. 16, 56–63. doi: 10.1111/j.0956-7976.2005.00780.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Abiodun. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Effects of APOE and ABCA7 on Cognitive Function and Alzheimer's Disease Risk in African Americans: A Focused Mini Review

Chelsie N. Berg*, Neha Sinha and Mark A. Gluck*

Center for Molecular and Behavioral Neuroscience, Rutgers University-Newark, Newark, NJ, United States

African Americans have double the prevalence of Alzheimer's disease (AD), as compared to European Americans. However, the underlying causes of this health disparity are due to a multitude of environmental, lifestyle, and genetic factors that are not yet fully understood. Here, we review the effects of the two largest genetic risk factors for AD in African Americans: Apolipoprotein E (APOE) and ABCA7. We will describe the direct effects of genetic variation on neural correlates of cognitive function and report the indirect modulating effects of genetic variation on modifiable AD risk factors, such as aerobic fitness. As a means of integrating previous findings, we present a novel schematic diagram to illustrate the many factors that contribute to AD risk and impaired cognitive function in older African Americans. Finally, we discuss areas that require further inquiry, and stress the importance of racially diverse and representative study populations.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lisa L. Barnes, Rush University Medical Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Ferath Kherif, Lausanne University Hospital (CHUV), Switzerland Jose Marcelo Farfel, University of São Paulo, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Chelsie N. Berg chelsienberg@gmail.com Mark A. Gluck gluck@newark.rutgers.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Human Neuroscience

> Received: 31 May 2019 Accepted: 16 October 2019 Published: 05 November 2019

Citation:

Berg CN, Sinha N and Gluck MA (2019) The Effects of APOE and ABCA7 on Cognitive Function and Alzheimer's Disease Risk in African Americans: A Focused Mini Review. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 13:387. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2019.00387 Keywords: African American (AA), APOE ε4, ABCA7, aerobic fitness, cognitive function, cognitive decline, Alzheimer's disease

INTRODUCTION

African Americans are at an elevated risk of cognitive decline and memory loss, with double the prevalence of Alzheimer's disease (AD) as compared to European Americans (Logue et al., 2011; Barnes and Bennett, 2014; Alzheimer's Association, 2019). The underlying causes of this health disparity are not sufficiently understood. Apolipoprotein E (APOE) and ABCA7, two genes involved in lipid metabolism, are the strongest heritable contributors to AD in African Americans (Reitz et al., 2013). However, the influence of genetic risk on environmental and behavioral risk factors, and their combined effects on AD biomarkers in African Americans, is yet to be determined. Furthermore, little is known about the neural substrates of cognition in older African Americans and how they relate to genetic risk factors for AD.

Here, we review recent work outlining two distinct ways genetic risk impacts AD biomarkers in African Americans. First, we examine the direct effects of genetic variation on neural correlates of cognitive function, such as activation and functional connectivity from functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies. Second, we discuss the indirect effects of genetics on brain structure and function, *via* interaction with modifiable risk factors for AD, specifically aerobic fitness.

African Americans are at an increased risk of cardiovascular disease (Obisesan et al., 2012), which has been established as an important predictor for AD (Izquierdo-Porrera and Waldstein, 2002). Management or improvement of cardiovascular risk factors through increased aerobic

fitness and exercise can reduce the risk for cognitive decline and dementia (Baumgart et al., 2015). Consistent with this, low levels of physical activity is one of the most prevalent risk factors for AD (Norton et al., 2014; Cass, 2017). In particular, African Americans have lower rates of physical activity as compared to European Americans (Gothe and Kendall, 2016; Benjamin et al., 2019). As such, aerobic fitness and exercise may be more viable modifiable factors to attenuate the risk for AD in African Americans.

It is important to delineate the difference between AD as determined by neuroimaging, biofluid biomarkers, or autopsy, as compared to the clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's and related dementias. However, to remain aligned with the terminology of the original cited works, throughout this review we refer to both instances as AD.

DIRECT EFFECTS OF GENETICS

APOE

The APOE ɛ4 allele is one of the strongest genetic risk factors for AD (Potter and Wisniewski, 2012). APOE functions to regulate lipid metabolism in the brain by mediating the uptake of lipoproteins; in particular, it modulates the clearance of amyloid-B (AB; Di Paolo and Kim, 2011). Both dysfunctional cholesterol processing and $A\beta$ aggregation have been implicated in AD pathogenesis (Schultz et al., 2017). In European Americans, the APOE £4 allele has been associated with 2-3 times the risk of AD in heterozygotes and 12 times the risk in homozygotes (Michaelson, 2014). African Americans have a higher frequency of the APOE ε4 allele (Logue et al., 2011; Barnes and Bennett, 2014), and ɛ4 homozygosity is highly associated with AD in African-ancestry groups (Hendrie et al., 2014). However, the results are inconsistent for heterozygotic carriers (Farrer et al., 1997), with some studies suggesting that APOE £4 may have less predictive impact on AD outcomes in African-ancestry populations, including African Americans (Rajabli et al., 2018). Despite the mixed nature of these findings, APOE £4 has been associated with increased risk of late onset AD (LOAD) in African Americans (OR = 2.31; 95% increased risk; Reitz et al., 2013).

APOE ε 4 has also been linked to episodic memory-related dysfunction in the medial temporal lobe (MTL; Bookheimer et al., 2000; Filippini et al., 2009; Dennis et al., 2010; Michaelson, 2014), one of the earliest brain regions impacted by the progression of AD. APOE ε 4 genotype and amyloid-induced synaptic pathology have been related to accelerated rates of AD pathology within the MTL (Potter and Wisniewski, 2012), particularly in hippocampal sub-regions in both rodent and human models (Palmer and Good, 2011).

Pattern separation—the ability to independently represent and store similar experiences by reducing mnemonic interference (Leal and Yassa, 2018)—relies on MTL function. As such, one way to characterize decline into mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and AD is by a shift away from pattern separation towards pattern completion, which is mediated by dysfunctional hippocampal hyperactivity (Yassa et al., 2011b). Impaired mnemonic discrimination is associated with atypical hyperactivation in the dentate gyrus (DG) and CA3 hippocampal subfields (Dickerson et al., 2005; Yassa et al., 2011a,b; Reagh et al., 2017) in healthy older adults (Toner et al., 2009; Stark et al., 2013) and those with MCI (Yassa et al., 2010; Bakker et al., 2012, 2015; Tran et al., 2017).

Research examining the impact of APOE ε 4 genotype on MTL function, *via* performance on a mnemonic discrimination task, has yielded mixed results in different racial populations with varying degrees of cognitive impairment. A study in MCI patients reported no differences in hippocampal hyperactivation or mnemonic discrimination based on APOE ε 4 status (Tran et al., 2017). Conversely, AD patients that were homozygotic carriers of the APOE ε 4 allele performed worse on challenging mnemonic discrimination across cognitively impaired and unimpaired older adults, impaired ε 4 carriers performed worse than unimpaired carries and either group of non-carriers (Sheppard et al., 2016).

These previous studies were primarily conducted in European American cohorts and/or did not report the specific racial breakdown of their subject pools. In a population of cognitively healthy older African Americans, there were APOE ε 4-related impairments in mnemonic discrimination, coincident with hyperactivity in the left DG/CA3 and the CA1. Although the overall effect of APOE ε 4 on AD outcomes in African Americans remains unclear (Farrer et al., 1997; Tang et al., 2001; Hendrie et al., 2014; Rajabli et al., 2018), this result may suggest that APOE ε 4-related hippocampal dysfunction can manifest in healthy older African Americans and may be an indicator of future disease status.

While APOE $\varepsilon 4$ is associated with a moderately increased risk for progression from MCI to AD-type dementia (Elias-Sonnenschein et al., 2011), it may not alter the disease progression during the preclinical period (Bondi et al., 1999; Bunce et al., 2004). However, the effect of APOE $\varepsilon 4$ in the preclinical phase may be contingent on other factors such as the level of amyloid aggregation (Mormino et al., 2014) and homozygotic vs. heterozygotic status (Caselli et al., 1999). Clinically normal carriers of APOE $\varepsilon 4$ with high levels of amyloid aggregation experienced the highest levels of cognitive decline as compared to $\varepsilon 4$ non-carriers and those with lower A β aggregation (Mormino et al., 2014). Cognitively healthy APOE $\varepsilon 4$ homozygotic carriers also experienced memory decline earlier than heterozygotic carriers (Caselli et al., 1999).

ABCA7

Outside of APOE, ABCA7 is the strongest genetic risk factor for AD in African Americans (Reitz et al., 2013). As a member of the super-family of adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-binding cassette (ABC) transporters, ABCA7 is another gene that regulates the homeostasis of phospholipids and cholesterol in the central nervous system and peripheral tissues. ABCA7 gene expression has been linked to AD *via* the dysregulation of lipid metabolism (Zhao et al., 2015; Aikawa et al., 2018).

ABCA7 single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) rs115550680 is associated with the development of LOAD in African Americans with an effect size (OR = 1.79; 70%–80%

increase in risk) that is comparable to that of APOE $\epsilon4$ (Reitz et al., 2013). ABCA7 rs115550680 is hypothesized to contribute to AD in African Americans through amyloid precursor protein (APP) processing and the suppression of A β clearance (Cukier et al., 2016).

In cognitively healthy elderly subjects and MCI patients, cortical A β load is associated with disrupted functional connectivity within the MTL and impaired memory performance (Song et al., 2015). As such, A β plaques may play a key role in facilitating tauopathy in the MTL, and therefore lead to disrupted functional connectivity in the MTL circuitry. Hardy and Selkoe (2002) suggest that one of the functions of ABCA7 in AD may be A β facilitated tauopathy: as A β deposition accumulates in cortical regions within the default mode network (DMN), it may lead to concurrent accumulation of tau tangles in the MTL *via* reciprocal connections through the entorhinal cortex (EC) (Pooler et al., 2015). Hence, the cortico-MTL circuit may be the neural network underlying ABCA7 rs115550680-related AD pathology.

A recently published study examining the impact of ABCA7 rs115550680 genotype on the cortico-MTL network function in a group of cognitively healthy older African Americans found ABCA7-related dissociation in EC resting state functional connectivity (Sinha et al., 2019). Specifically, the risk variant was associated with increased functional connectivity between the EC and other MTL regions, including hippocampal subfields, coincident with decreased connectivity between the EC and medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC; Sinha et al., 2019). These findings suggest that for individuals with the risk ABCA7 rs115550680 genotype, impaired cortical connectivity leads to a more functionally isolated EC at rest, which translates into aberrant EC-MTL hyper-synchronization (Sinha et al., 2019).

While direct claims cannot be made about the exact mechanism underlying the aforementioned alterations in cortico-MTL network function, when considering the relevance of AB in ABCA7-related AD pathogenesis, these results may reflect the combined reinforcement between amyloid and tau pathology in the EC (Sinha et al., 2019). Thus, anomalous MTL functional connectivity may be an additional neural correlate of future cognitive decline in African Americans. This ABCA7 variant is monomorphic in European Americans (Reitz et al., 2013; Machiela and Chanock, 2015), and consequently, it does not confer any increased risk for AD in this group. However, recent studies of functional connectivity in MCI and AD patients have reported a similar disconnection of the MTL from other nodes of the DMN, particularly mPFC, but increased connectivity locally within the MTL, between EC and other subregions of the MTL (Das et al., 2013; Pasquini et al., 2015). As such, MTL network dysfunction may be a ubiquitously applicable AD biomarker for preclinical AD detection.

INDIRECT EFFECTS OF GENETICS

The Interaction With Aerobic Fitness

Modifiable lifestyle factors, such as diet, exercise, and aerobic fitness, contribute to AD risk. In particular, aerobic fitness is one cardiovascular disease management method that has been associated with decreased levels of cognitive decline and reduced risk of AD in several previous studies (Colcombe and Kramer, 2003; Kramer et al., 2005, 2006). Aerobic activity has been found to aid in brain lipid homeostasis and in the reduction of A β deposit accumulation (Maesako et al., 2012; He et al., 2017; Houdebine et al., 2017). Recent work has also argued that increased levels of aerobic fitness can attenuate the adverse influence of AD-related polygenic vulnerability derived from genes implicated in lipid homeostasis, including APOE and ABCA7 (Schultz et al., 2017).

In addition to ABCA7 rs115550680 (reviewed under Direct Effects of Genetics), which has been identified as a genetic risk factor for AD in African Americans, another ABCA7 SNP (rs3764650) has been identified as a susceptibility locus for AD in European Americans (Hollingworth et al., 2011; Naj et al., 2011). ABCA7 rs3764650 has a lower effect size in African Americans (OR = 1.23), increasing AD risk by about 10%–20% (Reitz et al., 2013). However, this SNP has been found to influence overall ABCA7 expression (the conversion of DNA instructions into functional products and proteins), and, dysfunctional ABCA7 expression levels are associated with AD risk (Vasquez et al., 2013; Aikawa et al., 2018).

While the overall effects of ABCA7 rs3764650 on cognition seem to be minimal (Vivot et al., 2015; Andrews et al., 2016, 2017), it has been found to alter cognition in subgroups stratified on factors such as gender and disease progression. In healthy elderly, an association between rs3764650 and cognitive decline was found selectively in females (Nettiksimmons et al., 2016), and, in individuals with a final diagnosis of MCI or AD, this SNP was associated with increased rates of memory decline (Karch et al., 2012; Carrasquillo et al., 2015).

A study of healthy older African Americans found that ABCA7 rs3764650 modulates the association between aerobic fitness level (as measured by maximal oxygen consumption, VO₂ max) and mnemonic flexibility—the ability to flexibly apply and recombine information from past learning-as measured by generalization following rule learning (Berg et al., 2019). In particular, for carriers of the non-risk genotype, higher levels of aerobic fitness were significantly associated with fewer generalization errors. Conversely, carriers of the risk genotype did not show any relationship between aerobic fitness and generalization. Successful mnemonic flexibility is known to depend on the integrity of the MTL (Myers et al., 2002, 2008), a major site of neuroplasticity that is sensitive to the effects of exercise and aerobic fitness (Cotman et al., 2007). The results of Berg et al. (2019) therefore imply that the ABCA7 risk genotype may attenuate the neuro-protective value of aerobic fitness in cognitively healthy older African Americans.

Analogous to this study, others have found that in European Americans, APOE ε 4+ individuals did not receive the same benefits as APOE ε 4– individuals from higher levels of aerobic fitness or following an exercise intervention, with fitness only reducing the risk for dementia in non-carriers (Podewils et al., 2005; Lautenschlager et al., 2008). On the contrary, some self-reported studies of physical activity found that the neuroprotective effects of fitness were exclusive to APOE ε 4 carriers (Schuit et al., 2001; Rovio et al., 2005; Smith et al., 2011).



FIGURE 1 The genetic and lifestyle factors that contribute to Alzheimer's disease (AD) risk and impaired cognitive function in African Americans. Overall, aerobic fitness influences brain structure and function, which then affects cognition. Apolipoprotein E (APOE) e4 directly impacts brain structure and function via dysfunctional lipid metabolism, leading to aberrant hippocampal hyperactivation and therefore, impaired mnemonic discrimination of episodic memories. APOE e4 indirectly influences the effects of aerobic exercise on hippocampal plasticity and volume through the regulation of BDNF. ABCA7 rs115550680 directly impacts the brain through amyloid-8 (AB) facilitated tauopathy, which negatively influences medial temporal lobe (MTL) functional connectivity, and consequently, behavioral generalization. ABCA7 rs3764650 moderates the effects of aerobic fitness through dysfunctional lipid metabolism and ABCA7 expression, which indirectly impairs behavioral generalization.

Additionally, in African Americans the APOE ε 4 genotype has been found to influence exercise-related upregulation of BDNF (brain-derived neurotrophic factor), a gene associated with neuroplasticity and hippocampal volume (Erickson et al., 2011); non-carriers of the ε 4 allele exclusively experienced a significant increase in BDNF levels after 6 months of exercise, while carriers did not (Allard et al., 2017).

Research on the interactive effects of aerobic fitness and genetic risk for AD is still in the early stages, with the various studies containing methodological and racial differences in subject populations. Albeit equivocal, these results do provide evidence of the modulating effect of genetic variation on modifiable AD risk factors.

DISCUSSION

Here, we reviewed research outlining the influence of genetic risk on MTL neural and cognitive function. We present a novel comprehensive outline of how genotypic variation may contribute to AD and impaired cognitive function (**Figure 1**). Overall, aerobic fitness influences neural structure and function, which then affects cognition. APOE ε 4 directly impacts the brain *via* dysfunctional lipid metabolism, leading to aberrant hippocampal hyperactivation, and therefore, impaired mnemonic discrimination of episodic memories (Sinha et al., 2018). The indirect effects of APOE ε 4 *via* fitness remain somewhat ambiguous, with some studies reporting aerobic fitness-related benefits only in APOE ε 4– individuals (Podewils et al., 2005; Lautenschlager et al., 2008; Allard et al., 2017), while other studies report those benefits only in APOE ε 4+ individuals (Schuit et al., 2001; Rovio et al., 2005; Smith et al., 2011). However, exercise-induced upregulation of BDNF, and its influence on hippocampal plasticity, may serve as a possible mechanism for the indirect influence of APOE ϵ 4 (Allard et al., 2017).

Meanwhile, ABCA7 rs115550680 directly impacts the brain through A β facilitated tauopathy, which negatively influences MTL functional connectivity, and consequently, behavioral generalization (Sinha et al., 2019). Although ABCA7 rs3764650 is not a causative variant for AD in African Americans, and does not directly impact brain structure and function, it appears to confer indirect consequences on cognition and AD risk by moderating the effects of aerobic fitness through dysfunctional lipid metabolism and ABCA7 expression (Berg et al., 2019).

While the current schematic (Figure 1) of genetic influences on AD risk in African Americans is a first step, additional studies are needed to verify the molecular mechanisms underlying the link between genetic risk and pathogenic pathways; the potential contribution of brain lipid homeostasis in the MTL should be a focal point. It is also important to determine if ABCA7 and APOE have any common pathways mediating the effect on MTL structure and function. Furthermore, comprehensive single-cell type transcriptome analyses in human and mouse brains may be necessary to determine cell-specific contributions of ABCA7 risk variants to AD pathogenesis. For instance, ABCA7 rs115550680-related dysregulation of lipid metabolism may specifically target the neurons accelerating APP processing and AB production, while, ABCA7 rs3764650 may impact Aß clearance by the microglia, known to play a pivotal role in mediating exercise-dependent enhancement of hippocampal neurogenesis (Vukovic et al., 2012).

Several studies have shown qualitative and quantitative It is imperative that the studies presented here be replicated differences in AD between African Americans and European across diverse subject populations for a more representative Americans. One such study found racial differences in and comprehensive understanding of AD progression and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and structural MRI biomarkers of outcomes. At the same time, it will be crucial for future studies AD in an elderly cohort; despite comparable CSF Aβ42 levels, to examine race-specific AD biomarkers and consequences. white matter hyperintensity (WMH) volume, and hippocampal Finally, researchers should explore the interplay between genetic volume, the same degree of WMH had a greater influence variation and other modifiable lifestyle factors, such as diet and on cognition in African Americans as compared to European sleep patterns, to understand whether the benefits of potential Americans (Howell et al., 2017). Since WMH is a marker of interventions are similar for those with and without a genetic risk vascular dysfunction, which African Americans experience for dementia and AD. at a higher rate than European Americans (Obisesan et al.,

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CB and NS conducted background research. CB drafted the manuscript. NS and MG provided critical review of the manuscript.

FUNDING

Grants to MG from the NIH's National Institute on Aging (1R01AG053961) and the New Jersey Department of Health's Office of Minority and Multicultural Health (MH-STT-15-001).

- Bondi, M. W., Salmon, D. P., Galasko, D., Thomas, R. G., and Thal, L. J. (1999). Neuropsychological function and apolipoprotein E genotype in the preclinical detection of Alzheimer's disease. *Psychol. Aging* 14, 295–303. doi: 10.1037//0882-7974.14.2.295
- Bookheimer, S. Y., Strojwas, M. H., Cohen, M. S., Saunders, A. M., Pericak-Vance, M. A., Mazziotta, J. C., et al. (2000). Patterns of brain activation in people at risk for Alzheimer's disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 343, 450–456. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200008173430701
- Bunce, D., Fratiglioni, L., Small, B. J., Winblad, B., and Bäckman, L. (2004). APOE and cognitive decline in preclinical Alzheimer disease and non-demented aging. *Neurology* 63, 816–821. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000137041.86153.42
- Carrasquillo, M. M., Crook, J. E., Pedraza, O., Thomas, C. S., Pankratz, V. S., Allen, M., et al. (2015). Late-onset Alzheimer's risk variants in memory decline, incident mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging* 36, 60–67. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.07.042
- Caselli, R. J., Graff-Radford, N. R., Reiman, E. M., Weaver, A., Osborne, D., Lucas, J., et al. (1999). Preclinical memory decline in cognitively normal apolipoprotein E-ε4 homozygotes. *Neurology* 53, 201–207. doi: 10.1212/wnl. 53.1.201
- Cass, S. P. (2017). Alzheimer's disease and exercise: a literature review. Curr. Sports Med. Rep. 16, 19–22. doi: 10.1249/JSR.00000000000332
- Colcombe, S. J., and Kramer, A. F. (2003). Fitness effects on the cognitive function of older adults: a meta-analytic study. *Psychol. Sci.* 14, 125–130. doi: 10.1111/1467-9280.t01-1-01430
- Cotman, C. W., Berchtold, N. C., and Christie, L.-A. (2007). Exercise builds brain health: key roles of growth factor cascades and inflammation. *Trends Neurosci.* 30, 464–472. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2007.06.011
- Cukier, H. N., Kunkle, B. W., Vardarajan, B. N., Rolati, S., Hamilton-Nelson, K. L., Kohli, M. A., et al. (2016). ABCA7 frameshift deletion associated with Alzheimer disease in African Americans. *Neurol. Genet.* 2:e79. doi: 10.1212/NXG.00000000000079
- Das, S. R., Pluta, J., Mancuso, L., Kliot, D., Orozco, S., Dickerson, B. C., et al. (2013). Increased functional connectivity within medial temporal lobe in mild cognitive impairment. *Hippocampus* 23, 1–6. doi: 10.1002/hipo.22051
- Dennis, N. A., Browndyke, J. N., Stokes, J., Need, A., Burke, J. R., Welsh-Bohmer, K. A., et al. (2010). Temporal lobe functional activity and connectivity in young adult APOE ε4 carriers. *Alzheimers Dement.* 6, 303–311. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2009.07.003
- Dickerson, B. C., Salat, D. H., Greve, D. N., Chua, E. F., Rand-Giovannetti, E., Rentz, D. M., et al. (2005). Increased hippocampal activation in mild cognitive

REFERENCES

this population.

Aikawa, T., Holm, M.-L., and Kanekiyo, T. (2018). ABCA7 and pathogenic pathways of Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Sci.* 8:27. doi: 10.3390/brainsci8020027

2012), these results may indicate that genes such as APOE and ABCA7, which regulate lipid metabolism, differentially

affect African Americans. For example, the direct and indirect effects of ABCA7 have not been validated in other racial groups.

ABCA7 rs115550680 is monomorphic on the non-risk minor

"A" allele in European Americans (Reitz et al., 2013; Machiela and Chanock, 2015). As such, ABCA7 rs115550680 may

confer AD risk selectively in African Americans, and, in conjunction with the indirect effects of ABCA7 rs3764650, may

contribute to the higher incidence rate of dementia and AD in

- Allard, J. S., Ntekim, O., Johnson, S. P., Ngwa, J. S., Bond, V., Pinder, D., et al. (2017). APOE&4 impacts up-regulation of brain-derived neurotrophic factor after a six-month stretch and aerobic exercise intervention in mild cognitively impaired elderly African Americans: a pilot study. *Exp. Gerontol.* 87, 129–136. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2016.11.001
- Alzheimer's Association. (2019). 2019 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimers Dement. 15, 321–387. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2019.01.010
- Andrews, S. J., Das, D., Anstey, K. J., and Easteal, S. (2017). Late onset alzheimer's disease risk variants in cognitive decline: the PATH through life study. J. Alzheimers Dis. 57, 423–436. doi: 10.3233/JAD-160774
- Andrews, S. J., Das, D., Cherbuin, N., Anstey, K. J., and Easteal, S. (2016). Association of genetic risk factors with cognitive decline: the PATH through life project. *Neurobiol. Aging* 41, 150–158. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016. 02.016
- Bakker, A., Albert, M. S., Krauss, G., Speck, C. L., and Gallagher, M. (2015). Response of the medial temporal lobe network in amnestic mild cognitive impairment to therapeutic intervention assessed by fMRI and memory task performance. *NeuroImage Clin.* 7, 688–698. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2015. 02.009
- Bakker, A., Krauss, G. L., Albert, M. S., Speck, C. L., Jones, L. R., Stark, C. E., et al. (2012). Reduction of hippocampal hyperactivity improves cognition in amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Neuron* 74, 467–474. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2012.03.023
- Barnes, L. L., and Bennett, D. A. (2014). Alzheimer's disease in African Americans: risk factors and challenges for the future. *Health Aff.* 33, 580–586. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2013.1353
- Baumgart, M., Snyder, H. M., Carrillo, M. C., Fazio, S., Kim, H., and Johns, H. (2015). Summary of the evidence on modifiable risk factors for cognitive decline and dementia: a population-based perspective. *Alzheimers Dement*. 11, 718–726. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2015.05.016
- Benjamin, E. J., Muntner, P., and Bittencourt, M. S. (2019). Heart disease and stroke statistics-2019 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 139, e56–e528. doi: 10.1161/CIR.0000000000000659
- Berg, C. N., Sinha, N., and Gluck, M. A. (2019). ABCA7 risk genotype diminishes the neuroprotective value of aerobic fitness in healthy older African Americans. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 11:73. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2019.00073

impairment compared to normal aging and AD. Neurology 65, 404-411. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000171450.97464.49

- Di Paolo, G., and Kim, T.-W. (2011). Linking lipids to Alzheimer's disease: cholesterol and beyond. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 12:484. doi: 10.1038/nrn3075
- Elias-Sonnenschein, L. S., Viechtbauer, W., Ramakers, I. H. G. B., Verhey, F. R. J., and Visser, P. J. (2011). Predictive value of APOE-ε4 allele for progression from MCI to AD-type dementia: a meta-analysis. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 82, 1149–1156. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2010.231555
- Erickson, K. I., Voss, M. W., Prakash, R. S., Basak, C., Szabo, A., Chaddock, L., et al. (2011). Exercise training increases size of hippocampus and improves memory. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 108, 3017–3022. doi: 10.1073/pnas.10159 50108
- Farrer, L. A., Cupples, L. A., Haines, J. L., Hyman, B., Kukull, W. A., Mayeux, R., et al. (1997). Effects of age, sex and ethnicity on the association between apolipoprotein E genotype and Alzheimer disease: a meta-analysis. *JAMA* 278, 1349–1356. doi: 10.1001/jama.1997.03550160069041
- Filippini, N., MacIntosh, B. J., Hough, M. G., Goodwin, G. M., Frisoni, G. B., Smith, S. M., et al. (2009). Distinct patterns of brain activity in young carriers of the APOE-ε4 allele. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 106, 7209–7214. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0811879106
- Gothe, N. P., and Kendall, B. J. (2016). Barriers, motivations and preferences for physical activity among female african american older adults. *Gerontol. Geriatr. Med.* 2:233372141667739. doi: 10.1177/2333721416677399
- Hardy, J., and Selkoe, D. J. (2002). The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. *Science* 297, 353–356. doi: 10.1126/science.1072994
- He, X., Liu, D., Zhang, Q., Liang, F., Dai, G., Zeng, J., et al. (2017). Voluntary exercise promotes glymphatic clearance of amyloid beta and reduces the activation of astrocytes and microglia in aged mice. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 10:144. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2017.00144
- Hendrie, H. C., Murrell, J., Baiyewu, O., Lane, K. A., Purnell, C., Ogunniyi, A., et al. (2014). APOE 64 and the risk for Alzheimer disease and cognitive decline in African Americans and Yoruba. *Int. Psychogeriatr.* 26, 977–985. doi: 10.1017/S1041610214000167
- Hollingworth, P., Harold, D., Sims, R., Gerrish, A., Lambert, J.-C., Carrasquillo, M. M., et al. (2011). Common variants at ABCA7, MS4A6A/MS4A4E, EPHA1, CD33 and CD2AP are associated with Alzheimer's disease. *Nat. Genet.* 43:429. doi: 10.1038/ng.803
- Houdebine, L., Gallelli, C. A., Rastelli, M., Sampathkumar, N. K., and Grenier, J. (2017). Effect of physical exercise on brain and lipid metabolism in mouse models of multiple sclerosis. *Chem. Phys. Lipids* 207, 127–134. doi: 10.1016/j. chemphyslip.2017.06.002
- Howell, J. C., Watts, K. D., Parker, M. W., Wu, J., Kollhoff, A., Wingo, T. S., et al. (2017). Race modifies the relationship between cognition and Alzheimer's disease cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers. *Alzheimers Res. Ther.* 9:88. doi: 10.1186/s13195-017-0315-1
- Izquierdo-Porrera, A. M., and Waldstein, S. R. (2002). Cardiovascular risk factors and cognitive function in African Americans. J. Gerontol. B Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 57, P377–P380. doi: 10.1093/geronb/57.4.p377
- Karch, C. M., Jeng, A. T., Nowotny, P., Cady, J., Cruchaga, C., and Goate, A. M. (2012). Expression of novel Alzheimer's disease risk genes in control and Alzheimer's disease brains. *PLOS One* 7:e50976. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0050976
- Kramer, A. F., Colcombe, S. J., McAuley, E., Scalf, P. E., and Erickson, K. I. (2005). Fitness, aging and neurocognitive function. *Neurobiol. Aging* 26, 124–127. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2005.09.009
- Kramer, A. F., Erickson, K. I., and Colcombe, S. J. (2006). Exercise, cognition and the aging brain. J. Appl. Physiol. 101, 1237–1242. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol. 00500.2006
- Lautenschlager, N. T., Cox, K. L., Flicker, L., Foster, J. K., van Bockxmeer, F. M., Xiao, J., et al. (2008). Effect of physical activity on cognitive function in older adults at risk for Alzheimer disease: a randomized trial. *JAMA* 300, 1027–1037. doi: 10.1001/jama.300.9.1027
- Leal, S. L., and Yassa, M. A. (2018). Integrating new findings and examining clinical applications of pattern separation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 21, 163–173. doi: 10.1038/s41593-017-0065-1
- Logue, M. W., Schu, M., Vardarajan, B. N., Buros, J., Green, R. C., Go, R. C. P., et al. (2011). A comprehensive genetic association study of Alzheimer disease

in african americans. Arch. Neurol. 68, 1569–1579. doi: 10.1001/archneurol. 2011.646

- Machiela, M. J., and Chanock, S. J. (2015). LDlink: a web-based application for exploring population-specific haplotype structure and linking correlated alleles of possible functional variants. *Bioinformatics* 31, 3555–3557. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btv402
- Maesako, M., Uemura, K., Kubota, M., Kuzuya, A., Sasaki, K., Hayashida, N., et al. (2012). Exercise is more effective than diet control in preventing high fat diet-induced β -amyloid deposition and memory deficit in amyloid precursor protein transgenic mice. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 23024–23033. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M112.367011
- Michaelson, D. M. (2014). APOE ε4: the most prevalent yet understudied risk factor for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement.* 10, 861–868. doi: 10.1016/j. jalz.2014.06.015
- Mormino, E. C., Betensky, R. A., Hedden, T., Schultz, A. P., Ward, A., Huijbers, W., et al. (2014). Amyloid and APOE ε4 interact to influence short-term decline in preclinical Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* 82, 1760–1767. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000431
- Myers, C. E., Kluger, A., Golomb, J., Ferris, S., de Leon, M. J., Schnirman, G., et al. (2002). Hippocampal atrophy disrupts transfer generalization in non-demented elderly. *J. Geriatr. Psychiatry Neurol.* 15, 82–90. doi: 10.1177/089198870201500206
- Myers, C. E., Kluger, A., Golomb, J., Gluck, M. A., and Ferris, S. (2008). Learning and generalization tasks predict short-term cognitive outcome in nondemented elderly. *J. Geriatr. Psychiatry Neurol.* 21, 93–103. doi: 10.1177/0891988708316858
- Naj, A. C., Jun, G., Beecham, G. W., Wang, L.-S., Vardarajan, B. N., Buros, J., et al. (2011). Common variants at MS4A4/MS4A6E, CD2AP, CD33 and EPHA1 are associated with late-onset Alzheimer's disease. *Nat. Genet.* 43, 436–441. doi: 10.1038/ng.801
- Nettiksimmons, J., Tranah, G., Evans, D. S., Yokoyama, J. S., and Yaffe, K. (2016). Gene-based aggregate SNP associations between candidate AD genes and cognitive decline. Age 38:41. doi: 10.1007/s11357-016-9885-2
- Norton, S., Matthews, F. E., Barnes, D. E., Yaffe, K., and Brayne, C. (2014). Potential for primary prevention of Alzheimer's disease: an analysis of population-based data. *Lancet Neurol.* 13, 788–794. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70136-X
- Obisesan, T. O., Gillum, R. F., Johnson, S., Umar, N., Williams, D., Bond, V., et al. (2012). Neuroprotection and neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease: role of cardiovascular disease risk factors, implications for dementia rates and prevention with aerobic exercise in african americans. *Int. J. Alzheimers Dis.* 2012:568382. doi: 10.1155/2012/568382
- Palmer, A., and Good, M. (2011). Hippocampal synaptic activity, pattern separation and episodic-like memory: implications for mouse models of Alzheimer's disease pathology. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 39, 902–909. doi: 10.1042/bst0390902
- Pasquini, L., Scherr, M., Tahmasian, M., Meng, C., Myers, N. E., Ortner, M., et al. (2015). Link between hippocampus' raised local and eased global intrinsic connectivity in AD. *Alzheimers Dement*. 11, 475–484. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2014. 02.007
- Podewils, L. J., Guallar, E., Kuller, L. H., Fried, L. P., Lopez, O. L., Carlson, M., et al. (2005). Physical activity, APOE genotype and dementia risk: findings from the cardiovascular health cognition study. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 161, 639–651. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwi092
- Pooler, A. M., Polydoro, M., Maury, E. A., Nicholls, S. B., Reddy, S. M., Wegmann, S., et al. (2015). Amyloid accelerates tau propagation and toxicity in a model of early Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol. Commun.* 3:14. doi: 10.1186/s40478-015-0199-x
- Potter, H., and Wisniewski, T. (2012). Apolipoprotein E: essential catalyst of the Alzheimer amyloid cascade. Int. J. Alzheimers Dis. 2012:489428. doi: 10.1155/2012/489428
- Rajabli, F., Feliciano, B. E., Celis, K., Hamilton-Nelson, K. L., Whitehead, P. L., Adams, L. D., et al. (2018). Ancestral origin of APOE ε4 Alzheimer disease risk in Puerto Rican and African American populations. *PLoS Genet.* 14:e1007791. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1007791
- Reagh, Z. M., Noche, J. A., Tustison, N., Delisle, D., Murray, E. A., and Yassa, M. A. (2017). Anterolateral entorhinal-hippocampal imbalance in older adults disrupts object pattern separation. *bioRxiv* [Preprint]. doi: 10.1101/162925

- Reitz, C., Jun, G., Naj, A., Rajbhandary, R., Vardarajan, B. N., Wang, L. S., et al. (2013). Variants in the atp-binding cassette transporter (abca7), Apolipoprotein Eε4 and the risk of late-onset alzheimer disease in african americans. JAMA 309, 1483–1492. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.2973
- Rovio, S., Kåreholt, I., Helkala, E.-L., Viitanen, M., Winblad, B., Tuomilehto, J., et al. (2005). Leisure-time physical activity at midlife and the risk of dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet Neurol.* 4, 705–711. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(05)70198-8
- Schuit, A. J., Feskens, E. J. M., Launer, L. J., and Kromhout, D. (2001). Physical activity and cognitive decline, the role of the Apolipoprotein e4 allele. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 33, 772–777. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200105000-00015
- Schultz, S. A., Boots, E. A., Darst, B. F., Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., Edwards, D. F., et al. (2017). Cardiorespiratory fitness alters the influence of a polygenic risk score on biomarkers of AD. *Neurology* 88, 1650–1658. doi: 10.1212/wnl. 000000000003862
- Sheppard, D. P., Graves, L. V., Holden, H. M., Delano-Wood, L., Bondi, M. W., and Gilbert, P. E. (2016). Spatial pattern separation differences in older adult carriers and non-carriers for the apolipoprotein E epsilon 4 allele. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 129, 113–119. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2015.04.011
- Sinha, N., Berg, C. N., Tustison, N. J., Shaw, A., Hill, D., Yassa, M. A., et al. (2018). APOE ɛ4 status in healthy older African Americans is associated with deficits in pattern separation and hippocampal hyperactivation. *Neurobiol. Aging* 69, 221–229. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2018.05.023
- Sinha, N., Reagh, Z. M., Tustison, N. J., Berg, C. N., Shaw, A., Myers, C. E., et al. (2019). ABCA7 risk variant in healthy older African Americans is associated with a functionally isolated entorhinal cortex mediating deficient generalization of prior discrimination training. *Hippocampus* 29, 527–538. doi: 10.1002/hipo.23042
- Smith, J. C., Nielson, K. A., Woodard, J. L., Seidenberg, M., Durgerian, S., Antuono, P., et al. (2011). Interactive effects of physical activity and APOEe4 on BOLD semantic memory activation in healthy elders. *Neuroimage* 54, 635–644. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.07.070
- Song, Z., Insel, P. S., Buckley, S., Yohannes, S., Mezher, A., Simonson, A., et al. (2015). Brain amyloid-β burden is associated with disruption of intrinsic functional connectivity within the medial temporal lobe in cognitively normal elderly. *J. Neurosci.* 35, 3240–3247. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2092-14.2015
- Stark, S. M., Yassa, M. A., Lacy, J. W., and Stark, C. E. L. (2013). A task to assess behavioral pattern separation (BPS) in humans: data from healthy aging and mild cognitive impairment. *Neuropsychologia* 51, 2442–2449. doi: 10.1016/j. neuropsychologia.2012.12.014
- Tang, M.-X., Cross, P., Andrews, H., Jacobs, D. M., Small, S., Bell, K., et al. (2001). Incidence of AD in African Americans, Caribbean hispanics, and caucasians in northern Manhattan. *Neurology* 56, 49–56. doi: 10.1212/wnl.56.1.49
- Toner, C. K., Pirogovsky, E., Kirwan, C. B., and Gilbert, P. E. (2009). Visual object pattern separation deficits in nondemented older adults. *Learn. Mem.* 16, 338–342. doi: 10.1101/lm.1315109

- Tran, T. T., Speck, C. L., Pisupati, A., Gallagher, M., and Bakker, A. (2017). Increased hippocampal activation in ApoE-4 carriers and non-carriers with amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Neuroimage Clin.* 13, 237–245. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2016.12.002
- Vasquez, J. B., Fardo, D. W., and Estus, S. (2013). ABCA7 expression is associated with Alzheimer's disease polymorphism and disease status. *Neurosci. Lett.* 556, 58–62. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2013.09.058
- Vivot, A., Glymour, M. M., Tzourio, C., Amouyel, P., Chêne, G., and Dufouil, C. (2015). Association of Alzheimer's related genotypes with cognitive decline in multiple domains: results from the Three-City Dijon study. *Mol. Psychiatry* 20, 1173–1178. doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.62
- Vukovic, J., Colditz, M. J., Blackmore, D. G., Ruitenberg, M. J., and Bartlett, P. F. (2012). Microglia modulate hippocampal neural precursor activity in response to exercise and aging. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 6435–6443. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.5925-11.2012
- Wesnes, K. A., Annas, P., Basun, H., Edgar, C., and Blennow, K. (2014). Performance on a pattern separation task by Alzheimer's patients shows possible links between disrupted dentate gyrus activity and apolipoprotein E ε4 status and cerebrospinal fluid amyloid-β42 levels. *Alzheimers Res. Ther.* 6:20. doi: 10.1186/alzrt250
- Yassa, M. A., Lacy, J. W., Stark, S. M., Albert, M. S., Gallagher, M., and Stark, C. E. L. (2011a). Pattern separation deficits associated with increased hippocampal CA3 and dentate gyrus activity in nondemented older adults. *Hippocampus* 21, 968–979. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20808
- Yassa, M. A., Mattfeld, A. T., Stark, S. M., and Stark, C. E. L. (2011b). Age-related memory deficits linked to circuit-specific disruptions in the hippocampus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 108, 8873–8878. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1101 567108
- Yassa, M. A., Stark, S. M., Bakker, A., Albert, M. S., Gallagher, M., and Stark, C. E. L. (2010). High-resolution structural and functional MRI of hippocampal CA3 and dentate gyrus in patients with amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Neuroimage* 51, 1242–1252. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010. 03.040
- Zhao, Q.-F., Yu, J.-T., Tan, M.-S., and Tan, L. (2015). ABCA7 in Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 51, 1008–1016. doi: 10.1007/s12035-014-8759-9

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Berg, Sinha and Gluck. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lisa L. Barnes, Rush University Medical Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Breton Michael Asken, University of California, San Francisco, United States Philip Insel, Northern California Institute for Research and Education, United States Beth Mormino, Harvard Medical School, United States, in collaboration with reviewer Pl

> *Correspondence: Michael L. Alosco malosco@bu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Human Neuroscience

Received: 28 June 2019 Accepted: 02 December 2019 Published: 20 December 2019

Citation:

Alosco ML, Tripodis Y, Koerte IK, Jackson JD, Chua AS, Mariani M, Haller O, Foley ÉM, Martin BM, Palmisano J, Singh B, Green K, Lepage C, Muehlmann M, Makris N, Cantu RC, Lin AP, Coleman M, Pasternak O, Mez J, Bouix S, Shenton ME and Stern RA (2019) Interactive Effects of Racial Identity and Repetitive Head Impacts on Cognitive Function, Structural MRI-Derived Volumetric Measures, and Cerebrospinal Fluid Tau and Aβ. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 13:440. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2019.00440

Interactive Effects of Racial Identity and Repetitive Head Impacts on Cognitive Function, Structural MRI-Derived Volumetric Measures, and Cerebrospinal Fluid Tau and Aβ

Michael L. Alosco^{1,2*}, Yorghos Tripodis^{1,3}, Inga K. Koerte^{4,5}, Jonathan D. Jackson⁶, Alicia S. Chua³, Megan Mariani^{1,2}, Olivia Haller^{1,2}, Éimear M. Foley¹, Brett M. Martin^{1,7}, Joseph Palmisano^{1,7}, Bhupinder Singh³, Katie Green⁴, Christian Lepage⁴, Marc Muehlmann^{4,8}, Nikos Makris^{4,9,10,11}, Robert C. Cantu^{1,2,12,13,14}, Alexander P. Lin¹⁵, Michael Coleman^{4,9}, Ofer Pasternak^{4,9}, Jesse Mez^{1,2}, Sylvain Bouix^{4,9}, Martha E. Shenton^{4,9,16} and Robert A. Stern^{1,2,13,17}

¹ Boston University Alzheimer's Disease Center and Boston University CTE Center, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, United States, ² Department of Neurology, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, United States, ³ Department of Biostatistics, Boston University School of Public Health, Boston, MA, United States, ⁴ Psychiatry Neuroimaging Laboratory, Department of Psychiatry, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ⁵ cBRAIN, Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Psychosomatic, and Psychotherapy, Ludwig-Maximilian-University, Munich, Germany, 6 CARE Research Center, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, United States, ⁷ Biostatistics and Epidemiology Data Analytics Center, Boston University School of Public Health, Boston, MA, United States, ⁸ Department of Radiology, University Hospital, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany, ⁹ Department of Radiology, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ¹⁰ Center for Morphometric Analysis, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, United States, ¹¹ Center for Neural Systems Investigations, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, United States, ¹² Concussion Legacy Foundation, Boston, MA, United States, ¹³ Department of Neurosurgery, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, United States, ¹⁴ Department of Neurosurgery, Emerson Hospital, Concord, MA, United States, ¹⁵ Department of Radiology, Center for Clinical Spectroscopy, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ¹⁶ VA Boston Healthcare System, U.S. Department of Veteran Affairs, Brockton, MA, United States, ¹⁷ Department of Anatomy and Neurobiology, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, United States

Background: Factors of increased prevalence among individuals with Black racial identity (e.g., cardiovascular disease, CVD) may influence the association between exposure to repetitive head impacts (RHI) from American football and later-life neurological outcomes. Here, we tested the interaction between racial identity and RHI on neurobehavioral outcomes, brain volumetric measures, and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) total tau (t-tau), phosphorylated tau (p-tau₁₈₁), and A β_{1-42} in symptomatic former National Football League (NFL) players.

Methods: 68 symptomatic male former NFL players (ages 40–69; n = 27 Black, n = 41 White) underwent neuropsychological testing, structural MRI, and lumbar puncture. FreeSurfer derived estimated intracranial volume (eICV), gray matter volume (GMV),

white matter volume (WMV), subcortical GMV, hippocampal volume, and white matter (WM) hypointensities. Multivariate generalized linear models examined the main effects of racial identity and its interaction with a cumulative head impact index (CHII) on all outcomes. Age, years of education, Wide Range Achievement Test, Fourth Edition (WRAT-4) scores, CVD risk factors, and $APOE_{\epsilon}4$ were included as covariates; eICV was included for MRI models. *P*-values were false discovery rate adjusted.

Results: Compared to White former NFL players, Black participants were 4 years younger (p = 0.04), had lower WRAT-4 scores (mean difference = 8.03, p = 0.002), and a higher BMI (mean difference = 3.09, p = 0.01) and systolic blood pressure (mean difference = 8.15, p = 0.03). With regards to group differences on the basis of racial identity, compared to White former NFL players, Black participants had lower GMV (mean adjusted difference = 45649.00, p = 0.001), lower right hippocampal volume (mean adjusted difference = 271.96, p = 0.02), and higher p-tau₁₈₁/t-tau ratio (mean adjusted difference = -0.25, p = 0.01). There was not a statistically significant association between the CHII with GMV, right hippocampal volume, or p-tau₁₈₁/t-tau ratio. However, there was a statistically significant Race x CHII interaction for GMV (b = 2206.29, p = 0.001), right hippocampal volume (b = 12.07, p = 0.04), and p-tau₁₈₁/t-tau ratio concentrations (b = -0.01, p = 0.004).

Conclusion: Continued research on racial neurological disparities could provide insight into risk factors for long-term neurological disorders associated with American football play.

Keywords: American football, biomarkers, chronic traumatic encephalopathy, cognitive function, concussion, magnetic resonance imaging, race, subconcussion

INTRODUCTION

Exposure to repetitive head impacts (RHI) from contact sports has been associated with later-life neurological disorders, including chronic traumatic encephalopathy (CTE) and other neurodegenerative diseases (McKee et al., 2013, 2016; Bieniek et al., 2015; Ling et al., 2017; Mez et al., 2017b; Adams et al., 2018; Tagge et al., 2018; Alosco et al., 2019a; Stern et al., 2019). Autopsy studies of convenience samples suggest that professional American football players may be at high-risk for later-life neurological disorders (McKee et al., 2013; Mez et al., 2017b). In vivo studies show that former National Football League (NFL) players have worse cognition, as well as greater structural, functional, and molecular brain alterations (Didehbani et al., 2013; Hart et al., 2013; Strain et al., 2015; Koerte et al., 2016a; Alosco et al., 2018c, 2019b; Lepage et al., 2018). These effects might extend to high school and college football players (Mez et al., 2017b), and other contact sport athletes (Koerte et al., 2012, 2015, 2016b; Ling et al., 2017). Yet, not all individuals exposed to RHI develop neurological disorders (Casson et al., 2014; Solomon et al., 2016; Deshpande et al., 2017; Baker et al., 2018; Willer et al., 2018; Zivadinov et al., 2018). Among those that do, there is heterogeneity in disease presentation, suggesting other risk factors are at play (McKee et al., 2013; Stern et al., 2013; Alosco et al., 2017c, 2018b; Mez et al., 2017b). These may include: age (McKee et al., 2013; Alosco et al., 2018c), age of first exposure (AFE) to RHI (Stamm et al., 2015a,b; Alosco et al., 2017b, 2018b; Schultz et al., 2017), cognitive reserve (Alosco et al., 2017c), and genetics (Stern et al., 2013; Cherry et al., 2018).

The effect of exposure to RHI on neurological disorders may also be modified by factors associated with race. Note that because the term African-American historically refers primarily to individuals descended from enslaved Africans in North America, we will use the term Black as it is inclusive of all individuals who are descended from sub-Saharan Africa regardless of specific ancestry or position within the broader African diaspora. Individuals who identify as Black are at increased risk for cognitive impairment, cognitive decline, and dementia, including Alzheimer's disease (AD) dementia (Potter et al., 2009; Barnes and Bennett, 2014; Gross et al., 2015; Hohman et al., 2016; Zahodne et al., 2016). In vivo MRI studies in older adults show that Black identifying individuals exhibit increased volume of white matter hyperintensities (Brickman et al., 2008) and differences in brain volumes compared to Whites (Sencakova et al., 2001; Brickman et al., 2008; Waldstein et al., 2017; Morris et al., 2019). Autopsy studies also link Black racial identity with increased risk for neuropathologic changes of AD and related diseases, including cerebrovascular disease (Graff-Radford et al., 2016; Filshtein et al., 2019). Although, some studies have failed to find an association between Black racial identity and AD pathologic changes (Riudavets et al., 2006; Wilkins et al., 2006; Morris et al., 2018) and risk for dementia

(Fillenbaum et al., 1998). A recent study also reported decreased CSF t-tau and p-tau₁₈₁ in Blacks compared to Whites (Morris et al., 2019). These racial neurological disparities have been attributed to the association of Black racial identity with lifestyle behaviors across the life course known to influence cognitive aging (e.g., poor diet, sedentary behaviors) (Morris et al., 2018), cardiovascular disease (CVD) (Newman et al., 2005; Jackson et al., 2013; Benjamin et al., 2019), genetics (e.g., APOEE4 or ABCA7 status) (Reitz et al., 2013; Graff-Radford et al., 2016; Rajan et al., 2019), socioeconomic status (Zahodne et al., 2017), and other factors (Barnes and Bennett, 2014; Zahodne et al., 2017; Brewster et al., 2018). Many of these factors associated with racial identity may influence both clinical and neuropathological outcomes, whereas others (e.g., socioeconomic status) might have more specific impact on clinical function (e.g., neuropsychological test scores, dementia risk).

Previous studies report that Black participants have worse functional outcomes after acute traumatic brain injury (TBI) (Gary et al., 2009). Associations between Black racial identity and neurological outcomes have been examined in the setting of *active*, but not former, contact sport play. For example, among 403 active University of Florida student-athletes, individuals who identified as being Black demonstrated worse memory and speed performance on the Immediate Post-Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Testing (ImPACT) (Houck et al., 2018). In the subset of football players, Black racial identity only predicted worse processing speed. Research among active collision sport athletes also provides evidence for racial identity as an independent correlate of serum concentrations of S100B, UCH-L1, and A β and cognitive test scores (Asken et al., 2018b).

Racial differences have also been reported in aging former NFL player samples, including higher overall and CVD-related mortality rates in non-White former NFL players (Lincoln et al., 2018). In two recent studies of former NFL players from the NIH-funded Diagnosing and Evaluating Traumatic Encephalopathy using Clinical Tests (DETECT) study, our team found racial differences (via its inclusion as a model covariate) on white matter alterations on MRI (Alosco et al., 2018a), as well as on cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) levels of t-tau, p-tau181/t-tau, and sTREM2 (a marker of microglial activation) (Alosco et al., 2018c). These findings could have key implications given Blacks have been overrepresented (relative to the general population) in American football, particularly at elite levels, for the past 4-5 decades (Lehman et al., 2012; Lehman et al., 2016; Lapchick and Marfatia, 2017; Lincoln et al., 2018; NCAA, 2018). The contribution of racial identity to later-life neurological outcomes associated with exposure to RHI is unknown. Here, we tested the effects of the interaction between racial identity and a novel metric of exposure to RHI (the cumulative head impact index [CHII]) (Montenigro et al., 2017) on neurobehavioral outcomes, white and gray matter volume, and CSF concentrations of t-tau, p-tau₁₈₁ and A β_{1-42} among symptomatic former NFL players from the DETECT study. Our overall hypothesis was that Black racial identity and the CHII would interact to

have synergistic, negative impacts on neurobehavioral and neurological functioning.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Study Design

The sample included symptomatic former NFL players from the NIH-funded DETECT study. The primary objective of the DETECT study was to provide an initial examination of risk factors and in vivo biomarkers for CTE. Investigation of racial disparities was not a primary objective of the DETECT study and the current study represents secondary data analyses on differences between racial identity groups using data collected from DETECT. Recruitment and enrollment began in 2011 and concluded in 2015. Former NFL players were recruited using several different methods, including emails to and presentations for members of the NFL Players Association and/or NFL Alumni Association, social media postings through the Boston University (BU) Alzheimer's Disease and CTE Centers, and word of mouth. Inclusion criteria for the former NFL players included: male, ages 40-69, a minimum of two seasons in the NFL and a minimum of 12 years of organized football, and self-reported complaints of cognitive, behavior, and/or mood symptoms at the time of telephone screening. For self-reported complaints, participants were eligible if they affirmatively responded to having any (i.e., absence or presence) cognitive, behavioral, or mood symptoms. Former NFL players were required to have subjective complaints in order to maximize the likelihood of having underlying CTE neuropathology to thereby facilitate risk factor and biomarker detection. Exclusion criteria included MRI and/or lumbar puncture (LP) contraindications, presence of another central nervous system (CNS) disease, and/or a primary language other than English. Twenty-eight same-age asymptomatic individuals without a history of contact sport participation or TBI were recruited to serve as a "control" group for the DETECT study (Stern et al., 2016; Alosco et al., 2017a, 2018a,c). However, this "control" group was not included in this study because only 1 participant self-identified as Black, thereby limiting the ability to conduct reliable study group comparisons as a function of racial identity.

All participants completed a single 2–3 days study visit, which involved administration of neuropsychological tests, neurological and psychiatric evaluations, LP, blood draw for *APOE* genotyping and other biomarker analysis, MRI, and history interview. Additional descriptions of the DETECT study have been reported previously (Alosco et al., 2017a,d, 2018a,c; Stern et al., 2016). All study protocols were approved by the Boston University Medical Center Institutional Review Board. The Partners Healthcare Human Research Committee approved all neuroimaging procedures. Participants provided written informed consent prior to participation.

Measures

Neuropsychological and Neuropsychiatric Function

A neuropsychological test battery, and semi-structured interviews and self-report measures of neuropsychiatric function
were administered to participants on a separate day from the LP. A full list of the tests administered as part of DETECT has been presented elsewhere (Alosco et al., 2017a). As part of this battery, participants were administered the Wide Range Achievement Test, Fourth Edition (WRAT-4). Standard scores of this measure were included in this study to operationalize earlylife educational quality. The neuropsychological battery also included measures of attention, psychomotor speed, executive function, verbal and visual memory, language and visuospatial abilities, as well as gross motor functioning. Neuropsychiatric status was also evaluated, including symptoms of depression, suicidality, hopelessness, apathy, aggression, impulsivity, and hostility. To limit the number of analyses, principal component analysis (PCA) was performed to generate the following four neurobehavioral factor scores: psychomotor speed and executive function, verbal episodic memory, visual episodic memory, and behavioral/mood. The four factor scores were examined as outcomes. The derivation of the factor scores has been published elsewhere (Alosco et al., 2017a). Note that raw neuropsychological test scores were converted to standardized scores using normative data that accounted for age; for three of the tests, the normative data also accounted for education, along with age (i.e., Trail Making Test Parts A and B, and Controlled Oral Word Association Test). Race was not accounted for in the standardization procedures. The standardized scores were used in the PCA to form the factor scores.

Magnetic Resonance Imaging

All participants underwent structural MRI on a 3-Tesla MRI Scanner (Verio, Siemens Healthcare) with a 32-channel head array and the Syngo MR-B17 software suite. T1-weighted images were acquired with a magnetization-prepared rapid gradient echo sequence: TR = 1800 ms, TE = 3.36 ms, voxel size = $1 \times 1 \times 1$ mm, acquisition matrix = 256×256 , flip angle = 7° . The quality of the T1-weighted images was evaluated through visual inspection. Automated segmentation of volumes from the T1-weighted images was done using FreeSurfer 5.3¹. This segmentation resulted in an automated Talairach transformation, segmentation of deep gray matter structures (including hippocampus), and parcellation of the cerebral cortex, based on gyral and sulcal structures (Desikan et al., 2006; Fischl et al., 2004a,b). Following the automated volumetric segmentation, quality assessment was performed to ensure the fit and completeness of the obtained FreeSurfer parcellation. Using this automated method in FreeSurfer, we obtained estimated total intracranial volume (eICV), total gray matter volume (GMV), total cortical white matter volume (WMV), total subcortical gray matter volume (sGMV), right and left hippocampal volume, and volume of white matter hypointensities. Manual correction of the hippocampus using Slicer 4.1² (Fedorov et al., 2012) was performed using procedures described elsewhere (Lepage et al., 2018). eICV served as a covariate, whereas the other volumetric measures were examined as outcomes. The hippocampus and WM hypointensities were selected a priori due to previous work

showing their associations with race (Brickman et al., 2008; Sencakova et al., 2001; Waldstein et al., 2017; Morris et al., 2019) and neurodegenerative disease (Bobinski et al., 2000; Sencakova et al., 2001; Tosto et al., 2015).

CSF Analytes

CSF (15-20 ml) was obtained by LP in the morning after overnight fasting. LPs were performed by the study neurologist using an atraumatic 25-guage Sprotte needle at either L3/L4 or L4/L5. After aspiration, approximately 10 ml of CSF was deposited into a polypropylene transfer tube and frozen at -80°C. Aliquots were shipped to the University of Pennsylvania for batch analysis of t-tau, p-tau₁₈₁, and $A\beta_{1-42}$. Methods of CSF biomarker analysis of t-tau, p-tau₁₈₁, and $A\beta_{1-42}$ are described elsewhere (Shaw et al., 2009; Grossman et al., 2014; Deters et al., 2017; Alosco et al., 2018c). Concentrations of these analytes served as outcomes for markers of neurodegeneration (t-tau), hyperphosphorylated tau (p-tau₁₈₁), and amyloidosis ($A\beta_{1-42}$). We also examined the p-tau/t-tau and p-tau/A β_{1-42} ratios. The p-tau/t-tau ratio has been shown to be sensitive to the detection of certain neurodegenerative diseases, such as frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) (Meeter et al., 2018). The p-tau/A β_{1-42} ratio has also been identified as a sensitive predictor of AD (Fagan et al., 2007; Racine et al., 2016). Inclusion of these ratios will thereby increase our ability to draw inferences on suspected underlying etiologies.

Cumulative Head Impact Index (CHII)

The CHII was used to quantify and define exposure to RHI, with higher CHII scores reflecting greater exposure to RHI (Montenigro et al., 2017). This index is based on the reported number of football seasons played, position[s] played, and levels played (e.g., youth, high school, college), as well as estimated head impact frequencies derived from published helmet accelerometer studies. For a description of the development of the CHII, refer to Montenigro et al. (2017). Because published helmet accelerometer data does not exist at the professional level, college-level estimates of head impact frequencies were extrapolated and applied to the current sample of former NFL players to estimate their post-college head impact frequencies.

Cardiovascular Disease Assessments

Blood pressure was taken for all participants and height and weight were measured to calculate BMI using the standard formula: weight (kg)/height² (m). Diagnostic history of CVD risk factors were self-reported (absence or presence).

Racial Identity

Participants self-reported racial identity. They were asked, "What race do you consider yourself (primarily)?" Participants selected from the following options, consistent with racial categories from the 2010 US Census: White, Black or African American, American Indian, Alaska Native, Asian, Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, or Other. As with the 2010 Census, participants were able to select multiple racial identities, although this was not explicitly stated as an option. No other racial categories were selected by participants within the sample, and no individuals self-identified as both White and Black.

¹http://surfer.nmr.mgh.harvard.edu

²http://www.slicer.org/

TABLE 1 | Sample characteristics.

	Total sample (<i>N</i> = 68)	Black former NFL players (<i>n</i> = 27)	White former NFL players (<i>n</i> = 41)	P ^a
Demographic and athletic history				
Age, mean (SD) years	54.69 (8.16)	52.15 (7.63)	56.37 (8.15)	0.04
Education, mean (SD) years	16.50 (1.00)	16.44 (0.93)	16.54 (1.05)	0.71
Learning disability, n (%)	3 (4.6)	1 (4.0)	2 (4.9)	1.00
WRAT-4 standard scores, mean (SD)	98.91 (10.51)	94.07 (10.52)	102.10 (9.31)	0.002
Years of football play, mean (SD) years	18.54 (3.26)	18.37 (2.86)	18.65 (3.53)	0.74
Years in the NFL, mean (SD)	8.16 (2.61)	8.30 (2.69)	8.07 (2.58)	0.73
Cumulative Head Impact Index, mean (SD)	20394.65 (6500.78)	18798.24 (5843.83)	21445.95 (6762.75)	0.10
Age of first exposure to football, mean (SD)	11.71 (2.54)	12.15 (2.52)	11.41 (2.54)	0.25
Primary Position Group, n (%)				
Offensive line	20 (29.4)	6 (22.2)	14 (34.1)	0.25
Running back	7 (10.3)	8 (18.5)	2 (4.9)	
Tight end	4 (5.9)	1 (3.7)	3 (7.3)	
Offensive skill	1 (1.5)	0	1 (2.4)	
Defensive line	11 (16.2)	4 (14.8)	7 (17.1)	
Linebacker	13 (19.1)	4 (14.8)	9 (22.0)	
Defensive Back	12 (17.6)	7 (25.9)	5 (12.2)	
Cardiovascular and APOE status				
Body mass index, mean (SD) kg/m ²	32.45 (4.86)	34.31 (5.47)	31.22 (4.02)	0.01
Systolic blood pressure, mean (SD)	130.53 (15.70)	135.67 (18.38)	127.15 (12.81)	0.03
History of hypertension, n (%)	31 (45.6)	13 (48.1)	18 (43.9)	0.69
History of diabetes, n (%)	5 (7.4)	4 (14.8)	1 (2.4)	0.08
APOE allele status, n (%) $\epsilon 4 + (at least one copy)$	22 (32.4)	11 (40.7)	11 (26.8)	0.23

^a Independent samples t-tests compared Black and White participants on all continuous outcomes. Chi-square was used to compare Black and White participants on primary position (linemen vs. other), history of hypertension, history of hypercholesterolemia, and APOE status (ϵ 4 carriers vs. non-carriers). Fisher's Exact Test (due to small cell sizes) was used to compare Black and White participants on history of learning disability, and history of diabetes. Final sample sizes after exclusion for missing data: Learning disability: N = 65.

TABLE 2 | Neuropsychological and structural MRI descriptives.

	Black	former NFL players	White former NFL players			
	Mean (SD)	95% CI	Median	Mean (SD)	95% CI	Median
Principal component factor z-	scores ^a					
Psychomotor speed/executive function	-0.47 (0.78)	-0.78, -0.16	-0.56	0.29 (0.72)	0.06,0.52	0.40
Verbal episodic memory	-0.24 (0.58)	-0.47, -0.01	-0.38	0.03 (0.99)	-0.28,0.34	-0.14
Visual episodic memory	0.13 (0.91)	-0.23,0.49	0.24	0.06 (0.94)	-0.23,0.36	0.18
Behavior/mood	0.25 (0.87)	-0.10,0.59	0.19	0.32 (0.90)	0.04,0.60	0.26
Volumetric measures, ^b mm ³						
Total gray matter volume	589163.82 (30457.77)	577115.12,601212.51	588030.59	640877.24 (46013.98)	626353.44,655401.05	634792.25
Total cortical white matter volume	464470.34 (41742.96)	447957.38,480983.31	452985.42	496324.79 (45649.58)	481916.01,510733.58	495873.36
Total subcortical gray matter volume	55937.15 (4584.69)	54123.51,57750.79	55260.00	55448.95 (4001.86)	54185.95,56712.09	55059.00
Right hippocampal volume	3312.04 (292.15)	3196.47,3427.61	3309.00	3407.27 (420.40)	3274.57,3539.96	3443.00
Left hippocampal volume	3333.89 (335.40)	3201.21,3466.57	3379.00	3379.46 (392.35)	3255.62,3503.30	3347.00
Volume of white matter hypointensities	2299.99 (2558.85)	1287.74,3312.24	1470.90	2016.88 (1420.44)	1568.54,2465.23	1622.50

^aNeuropsychological tests evaluated attention, executive function, verbal and visual episodic memory, language, and visuospatial function. Semi-structured interviews and self-report measures of neuropsychiatric function (e.g., depression, apathy, aggression) were completed. Raw scores were transformed to standard scores using normative data calibrated for age; for three tests (Trail Making Test Parts A and B, Controlled Oral Word Association Test) normative data accounted for education, along with age. Principal component analysis resulted in composite scores for psychomotor speed/executive function, verbal memory, visual memory, and behavior/mood domains. Lower scores represent worse performance for all factor scores, except for behavior/mood where higher scores reflect greater behavior and mood symptoms. ^bVolumetric measures were derived from FreeSurfer. Manual correction of the hippocampus using Slicer 4.1 (http://www.slicer.org/) was performed.

Sample Size

The original sample included 96 symptomatic former NFL players from the NIH-funded DETECT study. The sample size for the present study was reduced to 68 (27 identified as Black and 41 as White) following restriction of the sample to those who had complete data on the primary independent and dependent outcomes of interest. Missingness was most common for the dependent variables. For the neurobehavioral factor scores, the sample size was reduced due to missing data on the individual tests that comprise the factor scores. There was missingness for MRI outcomes due to the exclusion of participants who did not undergo MRI (e.g., because of claustrophobia) and for those whose T1-weighted MRI acquisition was of inadequate quality due to motion artifact. There was missingness across the CSF analytes due to exclusion of participants who, following enrollment, refused to undergo an LP, as well as immunoassay quality control failure. There were no differences between the analytic sample (N = 68) and those excluded in terms of age, years of education, racial identity, or CHII score (p's > 0.05 for all).

Statistical Analyses

Independent sample t-tests and chi-square analyses were used to compare Blacks and Whites on demographic, athletic, medical, and APOE variables. Our previous research reported on the main effects of exposure to RHI on neurological outcomes in the DETECT sample (Alosco et al., 2018a,c). In this more focused sample of DETECT participants, we focused on the interaction between racial identity and the CHII. We conducted three separate multivariate generalized linear models (GLMs) with an unstructured outcome correlation matrix to determine the Race x CHII interaction effect on the following: (1) the four neurobehavioral factor scores (psychomotor speed and executive function, verbal episodic memory, visual episodic memory, and behavioral/mood); (2) MRI-derived volumetric measures (GMV, sGMV, WMV, right and left hippocampal volume, and WM hypointensities); and (3) CSF analytes (t-tau, p-tau₁₈₁, p-tau₁₈₁/t-tau, $A\beta_{1-42}$, p-tau/ $A\beta_{1-42}$). The primary independent variables included the binary racial identity variable and the continuous CHII variable. GLMs were used because they do not make assumptions of the correlation structures of the outcomes and account for correlations between outcomes from the same participant. The models estimate all pairwise correlations between each predictor and each outcome. The

TABLE 3 | Cerebrospinal fluid biomarker concentrations.

outcomes were grouped in a multivariate model based on the construct being assessed. For example, for the neurobehavioral factor scores model, all four factor scores were included as dependent variables and we obtained an estimate for each predictor (e.g., each covariate, racial identity, Race x CHII) on each of the individual factor scores. Given the large number of hypotheses tested, we controlled the False Discovery Rate (FDR) using the BH procedure for all main and interactive associations of racial identity and Race x CHII (Benjamini and Hochberg, 1995).

All models controlled for age, years of education, WRAT-4 scores, *APOE* status (ɛ4 carriers vs. non-carriers), and CVD risk factors (i.e., BMI, systolic blood pressure, diagnostic history of diabetes). These covariates were *a priori* selected based on the literature showing their association with race and the neurological outcomes being studied. Estimated ICV was included as covariate for all models with MRI-derived volumetric measures as outcomes to account for individual differences in head size. As mentioned previously, the goal of the DETECT study was not to assess racial disparities and therefore detailed assessment of cultural, psychosocial, and socioeconomic variables was not performed.

RESULTS

Sample Characteristics

Table 1 shows demographic, athletic, medical, and APOE characteristics for the Black and White former NFL players. Compared to White former NFL players, Black former NFL players were \sim 4 years younger, had lower WRAT-4 scores, had a higher BMI, and had a higher systolic blood pressure. Note that the distribution of racial identity by within sample CHII severity scores (i.e., low, medium, high) included: Low had 9 White participants and 8 Black participants, medium had 17 White participants, and 15 Black participants, and the high exposure group had 15 White participants but only 4 Black participants. This is somewhat consistent with our Table 1 finding of lower, but not statistically significant different, CHII scores in Black participants compared to White participants. A descriptive summary of neurobehavioral functioning, MRIderived volumetric measures, and CSF analyte concentrations for Black and White former NFL players is presented in Tables 2, 3.

	Blac	ck former NFL players		White former NFL players			
	Mean (SD)	95% CI	Median	Mean (SD)	95% CI	Median	
t-tau (pg/ml)	27.59 (7.26)	24.72,30.46	27.00	37.24 (15.12)	32.47,42.02	33.00	
p-tau ₁₈₁ (pg/ml)	19.78 (7.59)	16.77,22.78	21.00	18.46 (11.06)	14.97,21.96	16.00	
$A\beta_{1-42}$ (pg/ml)	334.52 (72.16)	305.97,363.06	333.00	376.49 (77.32)	352.08,400.89	384.00	
p-tau ₁₈₁ /t-tau (pg/ml)	0.72 (0.25)	0.62,0.82	0.74	0.51 (0.23)	0.43,0.58	0.45	
p-tau ₁₈₁ /Aβ ₁₋₄₂ (pg/ml)	0.06 (0.02)	0.05,0.07	0.06	0.05 (0.03)	0.04,0.06	0.04	

t-tau, total tau; p-tau₁₈₁, hyperphosphorylated tau; $A\beta$, beta-amyloid.

Covariate Effects

For the neurobehavioral factor scores, older age was associated with lower visual memory ($\beta = -0.36$, p = 0.01) and behavioral/mood ($\beta = -0.38$, p = 0.01) factor scores. Higher WRAT-4 scores contributed to the prediction of higher psychomotor speed and executive function ($\beta = 0.37$, p < 0.01) and verbal memory ($\beta = 0.31$, p = 0.03) factor scores. APOE 64 carriers had lower visual memory scores (mean difference = 0.64, p = 0.01) compared to non-carriers. Higher BMI corresponded to lower psychomotor speed and executive function factor scores ($\beta = -0.32$, p = 0.01).

For the MRI-derived volumetric measures, older age was associated with lower left ($\beta = -0.28$, p = 0.03) and right ($\beta = -0.29$, p = 0.002) hippocampal volume, as well as greater volume of WM hypointensities ($\beta = 0.30$, p = 0.02). Higher systolic blood pressure was also associated with lower right hippocampal volume ($\beta = -0.26$, p = 0.02). Estimated ICV correlated with GMV ($\beta = 0.49$, p < 0.01) and WMV ($\beta = 0.38$, p < 0.01).

For the CSF analytes, the only association was between older age and higher CSF t-tau concentrations ($\beta = 0.29$, p = 0.03).

There were no statistically significant effects for years of education on the outcomes.

Race × CHII Effects

In terms of significant differences as a function of racial identity, compared to White former NFL players, Black participants had lower GMV (mean adjusted difference = 45649.00, p = 0.001), lower right hippocampal volume (mean adjusted difference = 271.96, p = 0.02), and higher p-tau₁₈₁/t-tau ratio (mean adjusted difference = -0.25, p = 0.01). See **Table 4**, as well as Figure 1 for box plots of group differences. There was not a statistically significant association between the CHII and these outcomes (i.e., GMV, right hippocampal volume, p-tau181/t-tau ratio) in the entire sample. As shown in Table 5, there was a statistically significant Race x CHII interaction for the same outcomes for which there were race group main effects: GMV (p = 0.001), right hippocampal volume (p = 0.04), and p-tau₁₈₁/ttau ratio (p = 0.004). Figure 2 plots the race group differences on these outcomes based on CHII severity scores (i.e., low, medium, and high). There were no other statistically significant interaction effects. As shown in Figure 2, race group differences became magnified among those with higher CHII scores for GMV and CSF p-tau₁₈₁/t-tau ratio; although, there was not such a linear effect for right hippocampal volume.

DISCUSSION

In this sample of symptomatic former NFL players, higher levels of exposure to RHI (as defined by the CHII) and Black racial identity had an interactive effect on GMV, right hippocampal volume, and CSF p-tau₁₈₁/t-tau ratio concentrations. Although there was not a statistically significant association between CHII scores with these outcomes, Black former NFL players had lower GMV, lower right hippocampal volume, and higher CSF p-tau₁₈₁/t-tau ratio concentrations **TABLE 4** | Summary of multivariate generalized linear models comparing black and white symptomatic former NFL players on neurobehavioral measures, MRI-derived volumetric measures, and CSF levels of beta-amyloid, total tau, and P-tau.

	Beta	Standard	T-value	P-value
	(unstandardized)	error		(FDR-adjusted)
Neurobehavioral	function			
Psychomotor speed/Executive function	0.45	0.21	2.14	0.15
Verbal memory	0.28	0.26	1.07	0.58
Visual memory	0.001	0.27	0.00	0.99
Behavior/Mood	0.13	0.25	0.51	0.82
Volumetric meas	ures			
Total gray matter volume	45649.00	11000.00	4.15	0.001
Total cortical white matter volume	29686.00	12969.00	2.29	0.05
Total subcortical gray matter volume	190.45	1237.81	0.15	0.88
Right hippocampal volume	271.96	96.42	2.82	0.02
Left hippocampal volume	146.65	107.11	1.37	0.21
Volume of white matter hypointensities	-1204.35	582.43	-2.07	0.06
CSF analytes				
t-tau	4.73	3.67	1.29	0.20
p-tau ₁₈₁	-4.83	2.97	-1.63	0.18
Αβ ₁₋₄₂	33.32	23.36	1.43	0.20
p-tau ₁₈₁ /t-tau	-0.25	0.07	-3.40	0.01
p-tau ₁₈₁ /Aβ ₁₋₄₂	-0.02	0.01	-2.00	0.05

Three separate multivariate Generalized Linear Models were performed to examine the racial identity differences on neurobehavioral variables, MRI-derived volumetric measures, and CSF analytes. All analyses controlled for age, years of education, WRAT-4 scores, body mass index (BMI), systolic blood pressure, history of diabetes, APOE status (¢4 carriers vs. non-carriers), and the cumulative head impact index (CHII). The MRI volumetric models also controlled for estimated intracranial volume. For neurobehavioral measures, lower scores are worse for all measures except for behavior/mood where higher scores are worse. Race is coded as 1 = Black and 0 = White and the beta estimates shown are White – Black. Abbreviations: FDR, false discovery rate; t-tau, total tau; p-tau, phosphorylated tau; A β , beta-amyloid.

compared to White former NFL players. There were no statistically significant main or interaction effects on the neurobehavioral factor scores. All effects were independent of age, years of education, WRAT-4 scores, CVD risk factors, *APOE*₆₄, and eICV (for MRI models). Further research is needed to clarify the nuanced role of racial neurological disparities in this setting by examining the role of socioeconomic, psychosocial, environmental, and genetic variables that were not measured in this study.

Black former NFL players who had high CHII scores also had higher (on average) p-tau₁₈₁/t-tau concentrations. P-tau₁₈₁



is a biomarker of NFTs and the p-tau₁₈₁/t-tau ratio has been shown to be a sensitive biomarker for the detection of tauopathies that are similar to CTE (e.g., FTLD) (Meeter et al., 2018). It is interesting that there was a specific Race x CHII effect for CSF p-tau181/t-tau but not t-tau or p-tau181. This could be indicative of an early neurodegenerative disease process among the subset of Black participants who have higher levels of exposure to RHI. Individuals who identify as Black have been shown to have decreased resistance to neurodegenerative disease pathology (Graff-Radford et al., 2016; Filshtein et al., 2019). Exposure to RHI from contact sports has also been associated with CTE and other neurodegenerative diseases (McKee et al., 2013; Bieniek et al., 2015; McKee et al., 2016; Alosco et al., 2019a; Ling et al., 2017; Mez et al., 2017b; Adams et al., 2018; Tagge et al., 2018; Stern et al., 2019). Not everyone who is exposed to RHI will develop later-life neurological disorders. Previous fluid biomarker research by our team (Alosco et al., 2018c) and others (Asken et al., 2018b) emphasizes that other risk factors are likely at play, which may include those that occur more frequently in individuals with Black racial identity (e.g., CVD, low SES). In this study, the CHII only had an association with CSF p-tau₁₈₁/t-tau ratio through its interaction with Black racial identity. Explanations for the lack of effects of the CHII on p-tau₁₈₁ (and other CSF biomarkers) in the DETECT sample have been provided elsewhere (Alosco et al., 2018c). There was not a Race x CHII effect on $A\beta_{1-42}$ or p-tau₁₈₁/ $A\beta_{1-42}$, nor were there race group differences for $A\beta_{1-42}$. While such findings argue against an AD pathway, racial identity and RHI likely have independent and combined associations with mixed neurodegenerative disease processes that cannot be disentangled here. Inferences specifically regarding CTE cannot be made given it cannot yet be diagnosed during life and the utility and validity of in vivo fluid and imaging biomarkers in CTE remain unclear (Stern et al., 2019).

Although Black participants had lower GMV and right hippocampal volume compared to White participants, there was

not a main effect of CHII on these outcomes and the magnitude and direction of the interaction between race and CHII was less clear compared to CSF p-tau₁₈₁/t-tau, particularly for right hippocampal volume (see Figure 1). There were also no other Race x CHII interaction effects. Our pattern of findings could be a consequence of being statistically underpowered, particularly given that there were few Black participants who had high CHII scores. Alternatively, recruitment and eligibility methods for the DETECT study were not designed to examine issues pertaining to race. Our recruitment (e.g., postings and presentations to the NFL Players and Alumni Associations, social media postings through our academic center outlets) and eligibility (e.g., English-speaking only) methods may have resulted in enrollment of socioeconomically and culturally homogeneous participants. Participants were also recruited based on selfreported symptomatic status, which was done via informal assessment and not quantitated. It is unclear if there were racial group differences in recruitment based on symptoms. Helmet accelerometer data from the college level were also extrapolated and used for this professional sample, which may have underestimated the effects of RHI, particularly at the professional levels. Other RHI exposure variables are also not included in the CHII (e.g., severity, interval rest, impact location). There are possible conceptual explanations, including that any effects observed were subclinical; this is supported by the largely normal neuropsychological test performance in the sample. Previous research among collegiate athletes has also shown that the association between CNS pathology (based on serum biomarker concentrations) and clinical function may actually be mediated by racial identity (Asken et al., 2018a). Lastly, because all of the former NFL players had extreme levels of exposure to RHI, this common risk factor might attenuate any pre-existing racial group differences and Race by CHII interactions that might exist for some neurological markers.

We *a priori* selected covariates associated with race and neurological outcomes. Age made a significant contribution to the prediction of many of the outcomes. *APOE* status, WRAT-4

TABLE 5 Summary of multivariate generalized linear models examining the
interaction between race and CHII on neurobehavioral measures, MRI-derived
volumetric measures, and CSF levels of beta-amyloid, total tau, and P-tau.

	Beta (unstandardized)	Standard error	T-value	<i>P</i> -value (FDR-adjusted)
	(unstandaruizeu)	enoi		(FDR-aujusteu)
Neurobehavioral	function			
Psychomotor speed/executive function	0.02	0.01	1.56	0.49
Verbal memory	0.01	0.01	1.05	0.59
Visual memory	-0.001	0.01	-0.10	0.92
Behavior/Mood	0.01	0.01	0.77	0.59
Volumetric meas	sures			
Total gray matter volume	2206.29	543.07	4.06	0.001
Total cortical white matter volume	1137.01	647.51	1.76	0.17
Total subcortical gray matter volume	31.81	60.73	0.52	0.60
Right hippocampal volume	12.07	4.79	2.52	0.04
Left hippocampal volume	4.95	5.31	0.93	0.43
Volume of white matter hypointensities	-29.06	29.34	-0.99	0.43
CSF analytes				
t-tau	0.29	0.18	1.61	0.15
p-tau ₁₈₁	-0.21	0.14	-1.46	0.15
Αβ1-42	1.69	1.13	1.49	0.15
p-tau ₁₈₁ /t-tau	-0.01	0.004	-3.50	0.004
p-tau ₁₈₁ /Aβ ₁₋₄₂	-0.0008	0.000	4 -1.90	0.15

Three separate multivariate generalized linear models were performed to examine the effect of the Race x CHII interaction term on neurobehavioral variables, MRI-derived volumetric measures, and CSF analytes. All analyses controlled for age, years of education, WRAT-4 scores, body mass index (BMI), systolic blood pressure, history of diabetes, and APOE status (ϵ 4 carriers vs. non-carriers). The MRI volumetric models also controlled for estimated intracranial volume. For neurobehavioral measures, lower scores are worse for all measures except for behavior/mood where higher scores are worse. Race is coded as 1 = Black and 0 = White. Abbreviations: FDR, false discovery rate; t-tau, total tau; p-tau, phosphorylated tau; A β , beta-amyloid.

scores, and BMI were associated with aspects of cognitive function, and systolic blood pressure correlated with right hippocampal volume. Years of education was not associated with any of the outcomes. When studying elite American football players, years of education might not be an adequate marker of SES as most play 4 years of college football. This was exemplified by the restricted range and lack of race group differences in education years in this sample. As a result of the DETECT study not being designed to examine racial disparities, detailed assessments of socioeconomic, language, cultural, and psychosocial history were not performed. There are thus many unmeasured variables related to racial identity that were not accounted for, which limit the validity of our findings and result in an incomplete understanding of the observed neurological racial disparities. Lower socioeconomic status, chronic health conditions and decreased health literacy (Verney et al., 2019), worse early-life education quality (Sisco et al., 2015) and fewer years of education (Weuve et al., 2018), perceived discrimination (Zahodne et al., 2017), geographical location (Liu et al., 2015), and genetic variations other than APOEE4 (Lee et al., 2007; Logue et al., 2014; Mez et al., 2017a; Yu et al., 2017a,b) all contribute to increased vulnerability to cognitive decline among Black participants (Zahodne et al., 2017). These variables may have increased salience in American football players and thus have important clinical implications (Asken et al., 2016, 2017; Allison et al., 2018). Nuanced approaches (Galea et al., 2010) that model the multilevel interactions among social, environmental, genetic, and biological variables will elucidate racial heterogeneity associated with brain aging (in all settings).

A common explanation for the association between Black racial identity and neurological disorders is the higher rates of CVD risk factors (e.g., hypertension, diabetes, obesity) (Newman et al., 2005; Jackson et al., 2013; Barnes and Bennett, 2014; Benjamin et al., 2019) and cerebrovascular disease in Black participants (Zahodne et al., 2015; Graff-Radford et al., 2016; Filshtein et al., 2019). CVD is prevalent in former NFL players (Rogers et al., 2017) where it is a leading cause of mortality (Lehman et al., 2012, 2016; Lincoln et al., 2018). In this sample, Black participants had a higher BMI and higher systolic blood pressure. Yet, we observed effects after controlling for key CVD risk factors and there were minimal associations between the CVD risk factors and the outcomes. This could be related to imprecise measurement of adiposity and vascular health and/or the low rates of CVD. Additionally, racial disparities in CVD have been related to neighborhood conditions, access to and quality of medical care, and lifestyle behaviors, such as poor diet (Chin et al., 2011; Howard et al., 2018). These are variables that need to be included in future research to obtain a holistic understanding of racial disparities as it relates to CVD and brain aging, in general, and to CTE and related disorders, in particular.

Continued active engagement of Black participants in CTErelated research is encouraged to facilitate the study of various psychosocial, lifestyle, and genetic risk factors. Appropriate representation depends on the targeted football population being studied (e.g., active vs. former; college vs. NFL), given the changes of the racial make-up across levels of play and over time. The proportion of older adult (ages 40-69) former Black NFL players in this sample (i.e., 40%) is consistent with the rates of Black former NFL players reported in the mortality cohort studies of NFL players who played between 1959 and 1988 (Lehman et al., 2012, 2016). However, \sim 70% of active NFL players today are Black (Lapchick and Marfatia, 2017; Lincoln et al., 2018). There are challenges and barriers to the recruitment, enrollment, and retainment of Black participants in research (Shavers et al., 2000; Braunstein et al., 2008; Byrd et al., 2011; Barnes et al., 2012; Barnes and Bennett, 2014), some of which may



have affected screening, selection, and retention of participants in this study. Progress has been made via methodological frameworks put forth by the National Institute on Aging's Health Disparities Framework (Hill et al., 2015) and recommendations provided by others (Barnes et al., 2012; Jefferson et al., 2013; Sabir and Pillemer, 2014; Samus et al., 2015; Brewster et al., 2018). Multipronged recruitment approaches anchored in establishing and maintaining trust of racially and ethnically diverse communities are advocated.

The generalizability of the findings is limited to symptomatic former NFL players and may not extend to other former NFL players, the broader American football population, or the general community. A complex system models approach (Galea et al., 2010) has been recommended (Brewster et al., 2018) to simultaneously evaluate the different variables and pathways that interact with self-identified race to influence neurological outcomes. This approach is computationally intensive and more suited to large multiple-source epidemiological datasets. The small sample size of the Black and White subgroups in this study additionally limits the ability to obtain reliable path estimates using statistical techniques such as structural equation modeling. Longitudinal research among large samples of former American football players (across all levels of play) are needed to validate our findings, elucidate race-moderated pathways of neurodegeneration and cognitive impairment, examine racial differences in trajectories of neurological outcomes, and identify the biopsychosocial variables that might contribute to observed race group differences. There were missing data across the different outcome variables, resulting in a reduced sample size and generalizability. Although the results remained largely similarly when the outcomes were analyzed based on complete data for that specific outcome (as opposed to complete data across all outcomes), there was some loss of statistical significance after restricting the sample to those who had complete data across all measures. Therefore, lack of statistical power may have precluded the ability to detect all associations. Unmeasured factors associated with

missingness may have also affecting the accuracy of the estimated effects.

CONCLUSION

In this sample of symptomatic former NFL players, Black racial identity and RHI had an interactive effect on GMV, right hippocampal volume, and CSF p-tau₁₈₁/t-tau concentration. Although there were no statistically significant associations between exposure to RHI and these outcomes, Black participants had lower GMV, lower right hippocampal volume, and higher CSF p-tau₁₈₁/t-tau compared to White participants. Future investigations are needed to model the complex role(s) of social, economic, environmental, and genetic variables in the association among race, RHI, and neurological outcomes.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The dataset generated for this study is available on request to the corresponding author, as well as with the completion of a data use agreement.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by all study protocols were approved by the Boston University Medical Center Institutional Review Board. The Partners Institutional Review Board approved all neuroimaging procedures. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MA, YT, AC, JJ, MMa, BS, and RS contributed to the study design and conception. MA, YT, AC, JJ, JM, MMa, OH, ÉF, BM, JP, IK, KG, NM, CL, MMu, AL, MC, OP, SB, MS, and RS

contributed to data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of data. All authors have contributed to drafting and critically revising the manuscript. All authors have given final approval of the version to be published and agreed to be accountable for the work.

REFERENCES

- Adams, J. W., Alvarez, V. E., Mez, J., Huber, B. R., Tripodis, Y., Xia, W., et al. (2018). Lewy body pathology and chronic traumatic encephalopathy associated with contact sports. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 77, 757–768. doi: 10.1093/jnen/ nly065
- Allison, R., Davis, A., and Barranco, R. (2018). A comparison of hometown socioeconomics and demographics for black and white elite football players in the US. *Int. Rev. Soc. Sport* 53, 615–629. doi: 10.1177/1012690216674936
- Alosco, M. L., Jarnagin, J., Tripodis, Y., Platt, M., Martin, B., Chaisson, C. E., et al. (2017a). Olfactory function and associated clinical correlates in former national football league players. *J. Neurotrauma* 34, 772–780. doi: 10.1089/neu. 2016.4536
- Alosco, M. L., Kasimis, A. B., Stamm, J. M., Chua, A. S., Baugh, C. M., Daneshvar, D. H., et al. (2017b). Age of first exposure to American football and longterm neuropsychiatric and cognitive outcomes. *Transl. Psychiatry* 7:e1236. doi: 10.1038/tp.2017.197
- Alosco, M. L., Mez, J., Kowall, N. W., Stein, T. D., Goldstein, L. E., Cantu, R. C., et al. (2017c). Cognitive reserve as a modifier of clinical expression in chronic traumatic encephalopathy: a preliminary examination. *J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 29, 6–12. doi: 10.1176/appi.neuropsych.16030043
- Alosco, M. L., Tripodis, Y., Jarnagin, J., Baugh, C. M., Martin, B., Chaisson, C. E., et al. (2017d). Repetitive head impact exposure and later-life plasma total tau in former national football league players. *Alzheimers Dement.* 7, 33–40. doi: 10.1016/j.dadm.2016.11.003
- Alosco, M. L., Koerte, I. K., Tripodis, Y., Mariani, M., Chua, A. S., Jarnagin, J., et al. (2018a). White matter signal abnormalities in former national football league players. *Alzheimers Dement*. 10, 56–65. doi: 10.1016/j.dadm.2017.10.003
- Alosco, M. L., Mez, J., Tripodis, Y., Kiernan, P. T., Abdolmohammadi, B., Murphy, L., et al. (2018b). Age of first exposure to tackle football and chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *Ann. Neurol.* 83, 886–901. doi: 10.1002/ana.25245
- Alosco, M. L., Tripodis, Y., Fritts, N. G., Heslegrave, A., Baugh, C. M., Conneely, S., et al. (2018c). Cerebrospinal fluid tau, Abeta, and sTREM2 in former national football league players: modeling the relationship between repetitive head impacts, microglial activation, and neurodegeneration. *Alzheimers Dement.* 14, 1159–1170. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2018.05.004
- Alosco, M. L., Stein, T. D., Tripodis, Y., Chua, A. S., Kowall, N. W., Huber, B. R., et al. (2019a). Association of white matter rarefaction, arteriolosclerosis, and tau with dementia in chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *JAMA Neurol.* doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.2244 [Epub ahead of print].
- Alosco, M. L., Tripodis, Y., Rowland, B., Chua, A. S., Liao, H., Martin, B., et al. (2019b). A magnetic resonance spectroscopy investigation in symptomatic former NFL players. *Brain Imaging Behav.* doi: 10.1007/s11682-019-00060-4 [Epub ahead of print].
- Asken, B. M., Bauer, R. M., DeKosky, S. T., Houck, Z. M., Moreno, C. C., Jaffee, M. S., et al. (2018a). Concussion BASICS II: baseline serum biomarkers, head impact exposure, and clinical measures. *Neurology* 91, e2123–e2132. doi: 10. 1212/WNL.00000000006616
- Asken, B. M., Bauer, R. M., DeKosky, S. T., Houck, Z. M., Moreno, C. C., Jaffee, M. S., et al. (2018b). Concussion biomarkers assessed in collegiate studentathletes (BASICS) I: normative study. *Neurology* 91, e2109–e2122. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.00000000006613
- Asken, B. M., Sullan, M. J., DeKosky, S. T., Jaffee, M. S., and Bauer, R. M. (2017). Research gaps and controversies in chronic traumatic encephalopathy: a review. *JAMA Neurol.* 74, 1255–1262. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.2396
- Asken, B. M., Sullan, M. J., Snyder, A. R., Houck, Z. M., Bryant, V. E., Hizel, L. P., et al. (2016). Factors influencing clinical correlates of chronic traumatic encephalopathy (CTE): a review. *Neuropsychol. Rev.* 26, 340–363. doi: 10.1007/ s11065-016-9327-z

FUNDING

This work was supported by grant funding from the NIH (R01NS078337; U01NS093334; K23AG046377; K23NS102399; P30AG013846).

- Baker, J. G., Leddy, J. J., Hinds, A. L., Haider, M. N., Shucard, J., Sharma, T., et al. (2018). An exploratory study of mild cognitive impairment of retired professional contact sport athletes. *J. Head Trauma Rehabil.* 33, E16–E23. doi: 10.1097/HTR.000000000000420
- Barnes, L. L., and Bennett, D. A. (2014). Alzheimer's disease in African Americans: risk factors and challenges for the future. *Health Aff*. 33, 580–586. doi: 10.1377/ hlthaff.2013.1353
- Barnes, L. L., Shah, R. C., Aggarwal, N. T., Bennett, D. A., and Schneider, J. A. (2012). The minority aging research study: ongoing efforts to obtain brain donation in African Americans without dementia. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 9, 734–745. doi: 10.2174/156720512801322627
- Benjamin, E. J., Muntner, P., Alonso, A., Bittencourt, M. S., Callaway, C. W., Carson, A. P., et al. (2019). Heart disease and stroke statistics-2019 update: a report from the american heart association. *Circulation* 139, e56–e528. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000659
- Benjamini, Y., and Hochberg, Y. (1995). Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. J. R. Stat. Soc., Ser. B 57, 289–300. doi: 10.1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x
- Bieniek, K. F., Ross, O. A., Cormier, K. A., Walton, R. L., Soto-Ortolaza, A., Johnston, A. E., et al. (2015). Chronic traumatic encephalopathy pathology in a neurodegenerative disorders brain bank. *Acta Neuropathol.* 130, 877–889. doi: 10.1007/s00401-015-1502-4
- Bobinski, M., de Leon, M. J., Wegiel, J., Desanti, S., Convit, A., Saint Louis, L. A., et al. (2000). The histological validation of post mortem magnetic resonance imaging-determined hippocampal volume in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience* 95, 721–725. doi: 10.1016/s0306-4522(99)00476-5
- Braunstein, J. B., Sherber, N. S., Schulman, S. P., Ding, E. L., and Powe, N. R. (2008). Race, medical researcher distrust, perceived harm, and willingness to participate in cardiovascular prevention trials. *Medicine* 87, 1–9. doi: 10.1097/ MD.0b013e3181625d78
- Brewster, P., Barnes, L., Haan, M., Johnson, J. K., Manly, J. J., Napoles, A. M., et al. (2018). Progress and future challenges in aging and diversity research in the United States. *Alzheimers Dement.* 15, 995–1003. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2018. 07.221
- Brickman, A. M., Schupf, N., Manly, J. J., Luchsinger, J. A., Andrews, H., Tang, M. X., et al. (2008). Brain morphology in older African Americans, Caribbean Hispanics, and whites from northern Manhattan. *Arch. Neurol.* 65, 1053–1061. doi: 10.1001/archneur.65.8.1053
- Byrd, G. S., Edwards, C. L., Kelkar, V. A., Phillips, R. G., Byrd, J. R., Pim-Pong, D. S., et al. (2011). Recruiting intergenerational African American males for biomedical research Studies: a major research challenge. *J. Natl. Med. Assoc.* 103, 480–487. doi: 10.1016/s0027-9684(15)30361-8
- Casson, I. R., Viano, D. C., Haacke, E. M., Kou, Z., and LeStrange, D. G. (2014). Is there chronic brain damage in retired NFL players? Neuroradiology, neuropsychology, and neurology examinations of 45 retired players. *Sports Health* 6, 384–395. doi: 10.1177/1941738114540270
- Cherry, J. D., Mez, J., Crary, J. F., Tripodis, Y., Alvarez, V. E., Mahar, I., et al. (2018). Variation in TMEM106B in chronic traumatic encephalopathy. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 6:115. doi: 10.1186/s40478-018-0619-9
- Chin, A. L., Negash, S., and Hamilton, R. (2011). Diversity and disparity in dementia: the impact of ethnoracial differences in Alzheimer disease. *Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord.* 25, 187–195. doi: 10.1097/WAD.0b013e31821 1c6c9
- Deshpande, S. K., Hasegawa, R. B., Rabinowitz, A. R., Whyte, J., Roan, C. L., Tabatabaei, A., et al. (2017). Association of playing high school football with cognition and mental health later in life. *JAMA Neurol.* 74, 909–918. doi: 10. 1001/jamaneurol.2017.1317
- Desikan, R. S., Segonne, F., Fischl, B., Quinn, B. T., Dickerson, B. C., Blacker, D., et al. (2006). An automated labeling system for subdividing the human

cerebral cortex on MRI scans into gyral based regions of interest. *Neuroimage* 31, 968–980. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.01.021

- Deters, K. D., Risacher, S. L., Kim, S., Nho, K., West, J. D., Blennow, K., et al. (2017). Plasma Tau association with brain atrophy in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* 58, 1245–1254. doi: 10.3233/JAD-161114
- Didehbani, N., Munro, Cullum C, Mansinghani, S., Conover, H., and Hart, J Jr. (2013). Depressive symptoms and concussions in aging retired NFL players. *Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol.* 28, 418–424. doi: 10.1093/arclin/act028
- Fagan, A. M., Roe, C. M., Xiong, C., Mintun, M. A., Morris, J. C., and Holtzman, D. M. (2007). Cerebrospinal fluid tau/beta-amyloid(42) ratio as a prediction of cognitive decline in nondemented older adults. *Arch. Neurol.* 64, 343–349. doi: 10.1001/archneur.64.3.noc60123
- Fedorov, A., Beichel, R., Kalpathy-Cramer, J., Finet, J., Fillion-Robin, J. C., Pujol, S., et al. (2012). 3D Slicer as an image computing platform for the quantitative imaging network. *Magn. Reson. Imaging* 30, 1323–1341. doi: 10.1016/j.mri. 2012.05.001
- Fillenbaum, G. G., Heyman, A., Huber, M. S., Woodbury, M. A., Leiss, J., Schmader, K. E., et al. (1998). The prevalence and 3-year incidence of dementia in older Black and White community residents. *J. Clin. Epidemiol.* 51, 587–595. doi: 10.1016/s0895-4356(98)00024-9
- Filshtein, T. J., Dugger, B. N., Jin, L. W., Olichney, J. M., Farias, S. T., Carvajal-Carmona, L., et al. (2019). Neuropathological diagnoses of demented hispanic, black, and non-hispanic white decedents seen at an Alzheimer's disease center. *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* 68, 145–158. doi: 10.3233/JAD-180992
- Fischl, B., Salat, D. H., van der Kouwe, A. J., Makris, N., Segonne, F., Quinn, B. T., et al. (2004a). Sequence-independent segmentation of magnetic resonance images. *Neuroimage* 23(Suppl. 1), S69–S84. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004. 07.016
- Fischl, B., van der Kouwe, A., Destrieux, C., Halgren, E., Segonne, F., Salat, D. H., et al. (2004b). Automatically parcellating the human cerebral cortex. *Cereb. Cortex* 14, 11–22. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhg087
- Galea, S., Riddle, M., and Kaplan, G. A. (2010). Causal thinking and complex system approaches in epidemiology. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 39, 97–106. doi: 10.1093/ ije/dyp296
- Gary, K. W., Arango-Lasprilla, J. C., and Stevens, L. F. (2009). Do racial/ethnic differences exist in post-injury outcomes after TBI? A comprehensive review of the literature. *Brain Inj.* 23, 775–789. doi: 10.1080/0269905090320 0563
- Graff-Radford, N. R., Besser, L. M., Crook, J. E., Kukull, W. A., and Dickson, D. W. (2016). Neuropathologic differences by race from the National Alzheimer's Coordinating Center. *Alzheimers Dement.* 12, 669–677. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2016. 03.004
- Gross, A. L., Mungas, D. M., Crane, P. K., Gibbons, L. E., MacKay-Brandt, A., Manly, J. J., et al. (2015). Effects of education and race on cognitive decline: an integrative study of generalizability versus study-specific results. *Psychol. Aging* 30, 863–880. doi: 10.1037/pag0000032
- Grossman, M., Elman, L., McCluskey, L., McMillan, C. T., Boller, A., Powers, J., et al. (2014). Phosphorylated tau as a candidate biomarker for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *JAMA Neurol.* 71, 442–448. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.6064
- Hart, J Jr., Kraut, M. A., Womack, K. B., Strain, J., Didehbani, N., Bartz, E., et al. (2013). Neuroimaging of cognitive dysfunction and depression in aging retired national football league players: a cross-sectional study. *JAMA Neurol.* 70, 326–335. doi: 10.1001/2013.jamaneurol.340
- Hill, C. V., Perez-Stable, E. J., Anderson, N. A., and Bernard, M. A. (2015). The national institute on aging health disparities research framework. *Ethn. Dis.* 25, 245–254. doi: 10.18865/ed.25.3.245
- Hohman, T. J., Cooke-Bailey, J. N., Reitz, C., Jun, G., Naj, A., Beecham, G. W., et al. (2016). Global and local ancestry in African-Americans: Implications for Alzheimer's disease risk. *Alzheimers Dement*. 12, 233–243. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz. 2015.02.012
- Houck, Z., Asken, B., Clugston, J., Perlstein, W., and Bauer, R. (2018). Socioeconomic status and race outperform concussion history and sport participation in predicting collegiate athlete baseline neurocognitive scores. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 24, 1–10. doi: 10.1017/S13556177170 00716
- Howard, G., Cushman, M., Moy, C. S., Oparil, S., Muntner, P., Lackland, D. T., et al. (2018). Association of clinical and social factors with excess hypertension

risk in black compared with white US Adults. JAMA 320, 1338-1348. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.13467

- Jackson, C. L., Szklo, M., Yeh, H. C., Wang, N. Y., Dray-Spira, R., Thorpe, R., et al. (2013). Black-white disparities in overweight and obesity trends by educational attainment in the United States, 1997-2008. J. Obes. 2013, 140743. doi: 10.1155/ 2013/140743
- Jefferson, A. L., Lambe, S., Romano, R. R., Liu, D., Islam, F., and Kowall, N. (2013). An intervention to enhance Alzheimer's disease clinical research participation among older African Americans. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 36, 597–606. doi: 10.3233/ JAD-130287
- Koerte, I. K., Ertl-Wagner, B., Reiser, M., Zafonte, R., and Shenton, M. E. (2012). White matter integrity in the brains of professional soccer players without a symptomatic concussion. *JAMA* 308, 1859–1861. doi: 10.1001/jama.2012. 13735
- Koerte, I. K., Hufschmidt, J., Muehlmann, M., Tripodis, Y., Stamm, J. M., Pasternak, O., et al. (2016a). Cavum septi pellucidi in symptomatic former professional football players. J. Neurotrauma 33, 346–353. doi: 10.1089/neu. 2015.3880
- Koerte, I. K., Mayinger, M., Muehlmann, M., Kaufmann, D., Lin, A. P., Steffinger, D., et al. (2016b). Cortical thinning in former professional soccer players. *Brain Imaging Behav.* 10, 792–798. doi: 10.1007/s11682-015-9442-0
- Koerte, I. K., Lin, A. P., Muehlmann, M., Merugumala, S., Liao, H., Starr, T., et al. (2015). Altered neurochemistry in former professional soccer players without a history of concussion. *J. Neurotrauma* 32, 1287–1293. doi: 10.1089/neu.2014. 3715
- Lapchick, R., and Marfatia, S. (2017). The 2017 Racial and Gender Report Card: National Football League. Available at: http://nebula.wsimg.com/63112e771048708d1b4213b554c6cd76?AccessKeyId= DAC3A56D8FB782449D2A&disposition=0&alloworigin=1 (accessed May, 2019).
- Lee, J. H., Cheng, R., Schupf, N., Manly, J., Lantigua, R., Stern, Y., et al. (2007). The association between genetic variants in SORL1 and Alzheimer disease in an urban, multiethnic, community-based cohort. *Arch. Neurol.* 64, 501–506. doi: 10.1001/archneur.64.4.501
- Lehman, E. J., Hein, M. J., Baron, S. L., and Gersic, C. M. (2012). Neurodegenerative causes of death among retired national football league players. *Neurology* 79, 1970–1974. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31826daf50
- Lehman, E. J., Hein, M. J., and Gersic, C. M. (2016). Suicide mortality among retired national football league players who played 5 or more seasons. Am. J. Sports Med. 44, 2486–2491. doi: 10.1177/0363546516645093
- Lepage, C., Muehlmann, M., Tripodis, Y., Hufschmidt, J., Stamm, J., Green, K., et al. (2018). Limbic system structure volumes and associated neurocognitive functioning in former NFL players. *Brain Imaging Behav.* 2019, 725–734. doi: 10.1007/s11682-018-9895-z
- Lincoln, A. E., Vogel, R. A., Allen, T. W., Dunn, R. E., Alexander, K., Kaufman, N. D., et al. (2018). Risk and causes of death among former national football league players (1986-2012). *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 50, 486–493. doi: 10.1249/ MSS.000000000001466
- Ling, H., Morris, H. R., Neal, J. W., Lees, A. J., Hardy, J., Holton, J. L., et al. (2017). Mixed pathologies including chronic traumatic encephalopathy account for dementia in retired association football (soccer) players. *Acta Neuropathol.* 133, 337–352. doi: 10.1007/s00401-017-1680-3
- Liu, S. Y., Glymour, M. M., Zahodne, L. B., Weiss, C., and Manly, J. J. (2015). Role of place in explaining racial heterogeneity in cognitive outcomes among older adults. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 21, 677–687. doi: 10.1017/S1355617715000806
- Logue, M. W., Schu, M., Vardarajan, B. N., Farrell, J., Bennett, D. A., Buxbaum, J. D., et al. (2014). Two rare AKAP9 variants are associated with Alzheimer's disease in African Americans. *Alzheimers Dement* 10 609.e11–618.e11. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2014.06.010
- McKee, A. C., Cairns, N. J., Dickson, D. W., Folkerth, R. D., Keene, C. D., Litvan, I., et al. (2016). The first NINDS/NIBIB consensus meeting to define neuropathological criteria for the diagnosis of chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *Acta Neuropathol.* 131, 75–86. doi: 10.1007/s00401-015-1515-z
- McKee, A. C., Stern, R. A., Nowinski, C. J., Stein, T. D., Alvarez, V. E., Daneshvar, D. H., et al. (2013). The spectrum of disease in chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *Brain* 136(Pt 1), 43–64. doi: 10.1093/brain/ aws307

- Meeter, L. H. H., Vijverberg, E. G., Del Campo, M., Rozemuller, A. J. M., Donker Kaat, L., de Jong, F. J., et al. (2018). Clinical value of neurofilament and phospho-tau/tau ratio in the frontotemporal dementia spectrum. *Neurology* 90, e1231–e1239. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000005261
- Mez, J., Chung, J., Jun, G., Kriegel, J., Bourlas, A. P., Sherva, R., et al. (2017a). Two novel loci, COBL and SLC10A2, for Alzheimer's disease in African Americans. *Alzheimers Dement.* 13, 119–129. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2016.09.002
- Mez, J., Daneshvar, D. H., Kiernan, P. T., Abdolmohammadi, B., Alvarez, V. E., Huber, B. R., et al. (2017b). Clinicopathological evaluation of chronic traumatic encephalopathy in players of American football. *JAMA* 318, 360–370. doi: 10. 1001/jama.2017.8334
- Montenigro, P. H., Alosco, M. L., Martin, B. M., Daneshvar, D. H., Mez, J., Chaisson, C. E., et al. (2017). Cumulative head impact exposure predicts laterlife depression, apathy, executive dysfunction, and cognitive impairment in former high school and college football players. J. Neurotrauma 34, 328–340. doi: 10.1089/neu.2016.4413
- Morris, A. A., Ko, Y. A., Hutcheson, S. H., and Quyyumi, A. (2018). Race/Ethnic and sex differences in the association of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease risk and healthy lifestyle behaviors. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 7:e008250. doi: 10.1161/ JAHA.117.008250
- Morris, J. C., Schindler, S. E., McCue, L. M., Moulder, K. L., Benzinger, T. L. S., Cruchaga, C., et al. (2019). Assessment of racial disparities in biomarkers for Alzheimer disease. *JAMA Neurol.* 76, 264–273. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018. 4249
- NCAA (2018). NCAA Demographics Database. Indianapolis, IN: NCAA.
- Newman, A. B., Fitzpatrick, A. L., Lopez, O., Jackson, S., Lyketsos, C., Jagust, W., et al. (2005). Dementia and Alzheimer's disease incidence in relationship to cardiovascular disease in the cardiovascular health study cohort. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 53, 1101–1107. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53360.x
- Potter, G. G., Plassman, B. L., Burke, J. R., Kabeto, M. U., Langa, K. M., Llewellyn, D. J., et al. (2009). Cognitive performance and informant reports in the diagnosis of cognitive impairment and dementia in African Americans and whites. *Alzheimers Dement.* 5, 445–453. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2009.04.1234
- Racine, A. M., Koscik, R. L., Nicholas, C. R., Clark, L. R., Okonkwo, O. C., Oh, J. M., et al. (2016). Cerebrospinal fluid ratios with Abeta42 predict preclinical brain beta-amyloid accumulation. *Alzheimers Dement.* 2, 27–38. doi: 10.1016/j. dadm.2015.11.006
- Rajan, K. B., Barnes, L. L., Wilson, R. S., Weuve, J., McAninch, E. A., and Evans, D. A. (2019). Apolipoprotein E Genotypes, age, race, and cognitive decline in a population sample. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 67, 734–740. doi: 10.1111/jgs. 15727
- Reitz, C., Jun, G., Naj, A., Rajbhandary, R., Vardarajan, B. N., Wang, L. S., et al. (2013). Variants in the ATP-binding cassette transporter (ABCA7), apolipoprotein E 4,and the risk of late-onset Alzheimer disease in African Americans. JAMA 309, 1483–1492. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.2973
- Riudavets, M. A., Rubio, A., Cox, C., Rudow, G., Fowler, D., and Troncoso, J. C. (2006). The prevalence of Alzheimer neuropathologic lesions is similar in blacks and whites. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 65, 1143–1148. doi: 10.1097/01.jnen. 0000248548.20799.a3
- Rogers, A. J., Xia, K., Soe, K., Sexias, A., Sogade, F., Hutchinson, B., et al. (2017). Obstructive sleep apnea among players in the national football league: a scoping review. J. Sleep Disord. Ther. 6, 278. doi: 10.4172/2167-0277.1000278
- Sabir, M. G., and Pillemer, K. A. (2014). An intensely sympathetic awareness: experiential similarity and cultural norms as means for gaining older African Americans' trust of scientific research. J. Aging Stud. 29, 142–149. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaging.2013.11.005
- Samus, Q. M., Amjad, H., Johnston, D., Black, B. S., Bartels, S. J., and Lyketsos, C. G. (2015). A multipronged, adaptive approach for the Recruitment Of Diverse Community-Residing Elders With Memory Impairment: the MIND at home experience. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 23, 698–708. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2015. 01.005
- Schultz, V., Stern, R. A., Tripodis, Y., Stamm, J., Wrobel, P., Lepage, C., et al. (2017). Age at first exposure to repetitive head impacts is associated with smaller thalamic volumes in former professional american football players. *J. Neurotrauma*. 35, 278–285. doi: 10.1089/neu.2017.5145
- Sencakova, D., Graff-Radford, N. R., Willis, F. B., Lucas, J. A., Parfitt, F., Cha, R. H., et al. (2001). Hippocampal atrophy correlates with clinical features of Alzheimer disease in African Americans. *Arch. Neurol.* 58, 1593–1597.

- Shavers, V. L., Lynch, C. F., and Burmeister, L. F. (2000). Knowledge of the Tuskegee study and its impact on the willingness to participate in medical research studies. *J. Natl. Med. Assoc.* 92, 563–572.
- Shaw, L. M., Vanderstichele, H., Knapik-Czajka, M., Clark, C. M., Aisen, P. S., Petersen, R. C., et al. (2009). Cerebrospinal fluid biomarker signature in Alzheimer's disease neuroimaging initiative subjects. *Ann. Neurol.* 65, 403–413. doi: 10.1002/ana.21610
- Sisco, S., Gross, A. L., Shih, R. A., Sachs, B. C., Glymour, M. M., Bangen, K. J., et al. (2015). The role of early-life educational quality and literacy in explaining racial disparities in cognition in late life. *J. Gerontol. B Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci.* 70, 557–567. doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbt133
- Solomon, G. S., Kuhn, A. W., Zuckerman, S. L., Casson, I. R., Viano, D. C., Lovell, M. R., et al. (2016). Participation in Pre-High school football and neurological, neuroradiological, and neuropsychological findings in later life: a study of 45 retired national football league players. *Am. J. Sports Med.* 44, 1106–1115. doi: 10.1177/0363546515626164
- Stamm, J. M., Bourlas, A. P., Baugh, C. M., Fritts, N. G., Daneshvar, D. H., Martin, B. M., et al. (2015a). Age of first exposure to football and later-life cognitive impairment in former NFL players. *Neurology* 84, 1114–1120. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.000000000001358
- Stamm, J. M., Koerte, I. K., Muehlmann, M., Pasternak, O., Bourlas, A. P., Baugh, C. M., et al. (2015b). Age at first exposure to football is associated with altered corpus callosum white matter microstructure in former professional football players. *J. Neurotrauma* 32, 1768–1776. doi: 10.1089/neu.2014. 3822
- Stern, R. A., Adler, C. H., Chen, K., Navitsky, M., Luo, J., Dodick, D. W., et al. (2019). Tau positron-emission tomography in former national football league players. N. Engl. J. Med. 380, 1716–1725. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1900757
- Stern, R. A., Daneshvar, D. H., Baugh, C. M., Seichepine, D. R., Montenigro, P. H., Riley, D. O., et al. (2013). Clinical presentation of chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *Neurology* 81, 1122–1129. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 0b013e3182a55f7f
- Stern, R. A., Tripodis, Y., Baugh, C. M., Fritts, N. G., Martin, B. M., Chaisson, C., et al. (2016). Preliminary study of plasma exosomal tau as a potential biomarker for chronic traumatic encephalopathy. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 51, 1099–1109. doi: 10.3233/JAD-151028
- Strain, J. F., Womack, K. B., Didehbani, N., Spence, J. S., Conover, H., Hart, J., et al. (2015). Imaging correlates of memory and concussion history in retired national football league athletes. *JAMA Neurol.* 72, 773–780. doi: 10.1001/ jamaneurol.2015.0206
- Tagge, C. A., Fisher, A. M., Minaeva, O. V., Gaudreau-Balderrama, A., Moncaster, J. A., Zhang, X. L., et al. (2018). Concussion, microvascular injury, and early tauopathy in young athletes after impact head injury and an impact concussion mouse model. *Brain.* 141, 422–458. doi: 10.1093/brain/ awx350
- Tosto, G., Zimmerman, M. E., Hamilton, J. L., Carmichael, O. T., Brickman, A. M., and Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (2015). The effect of white matter hyperintensities on neurodegeneration in mild cognitive impairment. *Alzheimers Dement.* 11, 1510–1519. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2015. 05.014
- Verney, S. P., Gibbons, L. E., Dmitrieva, N. O., Kueider, A. M., Williams, M. W., Meyer, O. L., et al. (2019). Health literacy, sociodemographic factors, and cognitive training in the active study of older adults. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 34, 563–570. doi: 10.1002/gps.5051
- Waldstein, S. R., Dore, G. A., Davatzikos, C., Katzel, L. I., Gullapalli, R., Seliger, S. L., et al. (2017). Differential associations of socioeconomic status with global brain volumes and white matter lesions in African American and white adults: the HANDLS SCAN study. *Psychosom. Med.* 79, 327–335. doi: 10.1097/PSY. 0000000000000408
- Weuve, J., Barnes, L. L., Mendes de Leon, C. F., Rajan, K. B., Beck, T., Aggarwal, N. T., et al. (2018). Cognitive aging in black and white Americans: cognition, cognitive decline, and incidence of Alzheimer disease dementia. *Epidemiology* 29, 151–159. doi: 10.1097/EDE.000000000000747
- Wilkins, C. H., Grant, E. A., Schmitt, S. E., McKeel, D. W., and Morris, J. C. (2006). The neuropathology of Alzheimer disease in African American and white individuals. *Arch. Neurol.* 63, 87–90. doi: 10.1001/archneur. 63.1.87

- Willer, B. S., Tiso, M. R., Haider, M. N., Hinds, A. L., Baker, J. G., Miecznikowski, J. C., et al. (2018). Evaluation of executive function and mental health in retired contact sport athletes. *J. Head Trauma Rehabil.* 33, E9–E15. doi: 10.1097/HTR.000000000000423
- Yu, L., Lutz, M. W., Wilson, R. S., Burns, D. K., Roses, A. D., Saunders, A. M., et al. (2017a). APOE epsilon4-TOMM40 '523 haplotypes and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in older Caucasian and African Americans. *PLoS One* 12:e0180356. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0180356
- Yu, L., Lutz, M. W., Wilson, R. S., Burns, D. K., Roses, A. D., Saunders, A. M., et al. (2017b). TOMM40'523 variant and cognitive decline in older persons with APOE epsilon3/3 genotype. *Neurology* 88, 661–668. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 000000000003614
- Zahodne, L. B., Manly, J. J., Azar, M., Brickman, A. M., and Glymour, M. M. (2016). Racial disparities in cognitive performance in mid- and late adulthood: analyses of two cohort studies. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* 64, 959–964. doi: 10.1111/jgs. 14113
- Zahodne, L. B., Manly, J. J., Narkhede, A., Griffith, E. Y., DeCarli, C., Schupf, N. S., et al. (2015). Structural MRI predictors of late-life cognition differ across African Americans. Hispanics, and whites. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 12, 632–639. doi: 10.2174/156720501266615053020 3214
- Zahodne, L. B., Manly, J. J., Smith, J., Seeman, T., and Lachman, M. E. (2017). Socioeconomic, health, and psychosocial mediators of racial disparities in cognition in early, middle, and late adulthood. *Psychol. Aging* 32, 118–130. doi: 10.1037/pag0000154

Zivadinov, R., Polak, P., Schweser, F., Bergsland, N., Hagemeier, J., Dwyer, M. G., et al. (2018). Multimodal imaging of retired professional contact sport athletes does not provide evidence of structural and functional brain damage. *J. Head Trauma. Rehabil.* 33, E24–E32. doi: 10.1097/HTR.000000000000422

Conflict of Interest: RS was a member of the Mackey-White Committee of the NFL Players Association. He is a paid consultant to Biogen (Cambridge, MA, United States) and Eli Lilly (Indianapolis, IN, United States). He receives royalties for published neuropsychological tests from Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc. (Lutz, FL, United States) and was a member of the Board of Directors of King-Devick Technologies (Chicago, IL, United States). MA has received honorarium as a Scientific Advisor for Corino Therapeutics, Inc.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Alosco, Tripodis, Koerte, Jackson, Chua, Mariani, Haller, Foley, Martin, Palmisano, Singh, Green, Lepage, Muehlmann, Makris, Cantu, Lin, Coleman, Pasternak, Mez, Bouix, Shenton and Stern. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Exploring Representation of Diverse Samples in fMRI Studies Conducted in Patients With Cardiac-Related Chronic Illness: A Focused Systematic Review

Lenette M. Jones^{1*}, Emily Ginier², Joseph Debbs¹, Jarrod L. Eaton¹, Catherine Renner¹, Jaclynn Hawkins³, Rosanna Rios-Spicer¹, Emily Tang¹, Catherine Schertzing¹ and Bruno Giordani⁴

¹ School of Nursing, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States, ² Taubman Health Sciences Library, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States, ³ School of Social Work, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States, ⁴ Psychiatry, Neurology, Psychology, and Nursing, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

M. Natasha Rajah, McGill University, Canada

Reviewed by:

Andy Wai Kan Yeung, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Kelly Wierenga, Indiana University, United States

> *Correspondence: Lenette M. Jones lenettew@umich.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Human Neuroscience

> Received: 29 July 2019 Accepted: 11 March 2020 Published: 14 May 2020

Citation:

Jones LM, Ginier E, Debbs J, Eaton JL, Renner C, Hawkins J, Rios-Spicer R, Tang E, Schertzing C and Giordani B (2020) Exploring Representation of Diverse Samples in fMRI Studies Conducted in Patients With Cardiac-Related Chronic Illness: A Focused Systematic Review. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 14:108. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2020.00108 **Introduction/Purpose:** Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of death worldwide, and in the United States alone, CVD causes nearly 840,000 deaths annually. Using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), a tool to assess brain activity, researchers have identified some brain-behavior connections and predicted several self-management behaviors. The purpose of this study was to examine the sample characteristics of individuals with CVD who participated in fMRI studies.

Methods: A literature search was conducted in PubMed, CINAHL, and Scopus. No date or language restrictions were applied and research methodology filters were used. In October 2017, 1659 titles and abstracts were identified. Inclusion criteria were: (1) utilized an empirical study design, (2) used fMRI to assess brain activity, and (3) focused on patients with CVD-related chronic illness. Articles were excluded if they: were theory or opinion articles, focused on mental or neuropathic illness, included non-human samples, or were not written in English. After duplicates were removed (230), 1,429 titles and abstracts were reviewed based on inclusion criteria; 1,243 abstracts were then excluded. A total of 186 studies were reviewed in their entirety; after additional review, 142 were further excluded for not meeting the inclusion criteria. Forty-four articles met criteria and were included in the final review. An evidence table was created to capture the demographics of each study sample.

Results: Ninety eight percent of the studies did not report the racial or ethnic composition of their sample. Most studies (66%) contained more men than women. Mean age ranged from 38 to 78 years; 77% reported mean age \geq 50 years. The most frequently studied CVD was stroke (86%), while hypertension was studied the least (2%).

Conclusion: Understanding brain-behavior relationships can help researchers and practitioners tailor interventions to meet specific patient needs. These findings suggest that additional studies are needed that focus on populations historically underrepresented in fMRI research. Researchers should thoughtfully consider diversity

83

and purposefully sample groups by including individuals that are: women, from diverse backgrounds, younger, and diagnosed with a variety of CVD-related illnesses. Identifying and addressing these gaps by studying more representative samples will help healthcare providers reduce disparities and tailor interventions for all CVD populations.

Keywords: fMRI, cardiovascular disease, sample demographics, health disparities, chronic illness

INTRODUCTION

According to the World Health Organization, cardiovascular disease (CVD) is an umbrella term which includes a number of heart and blood vessel disorders. Disorders include cerebrovascular disease (stroke) and hypertension (World Health Organization). About 121.5 million Americans are living with some form of CVD, with direct and indirect costs of total cardiovascular diseases and stroke totaling more than \$351.2 billion (Benjamin et al., 2018, 2019). CVD is currently the leading cause of death in the U.S., causing nearly 836,546 deaths annually (Benjamin et al., 2018, 2019). In addition to its high mortality rate, CVD is associated with other chronic illnesses, such as end-stage renal disease and diabetes (Liu et al., 2014; Leon and Maddox, 2015). Groups that differ by race, ethnicity, education level, gender, and socioeconomic status are negatively and disproportionately affected by CVD and other chronic illnesses, and trends show that the gaps in these disparities are widening (Di Chiara et al., 2015; Havranek et al., 2015; Singh et al., 2015; Mehta et al., 2016). Initiatives that target specific social determinants of health are needed (Valero-Elizondo et al., 2018).

Some CVD-related illnesses, such as hypertension, can be controlled with lifestyle modifications such as consistently eating a healthy diet, engaging in regular physical activity, and adhering to antihypertensive medication (Nicolson et al., 2004). Such activities are often referred to as self-management behaviors. To improve upon these self-management behaviors, and therefore reduce associated risks with CVD, more studies are needed to assist practitioners to better guide patients toward consistent healthy behaviors. As such, studies that link brain activity via functional magnetic resonance imaging to self-management behaviors may establish an important foundation in achieving desirable patient outcomes.

Functional magnetic resonance imaging, or fMRI, is a tool that measures brain activity by detecting changes in blood oxygenation and flow that correspond to neural activity (Devlin et al., 2007). The brain increases oxygen demand in areas that are more active, and to meet this demand, blood flow increases to the area. In previous studies, researchers have used fMRI to predict self-management behaviors, such as sunscreen use and smoking cessation (Falk et al., 2010, 2011). Falk et al. (2010) measured neural activity in the medial prefrontal cortex (MPFC) of the brain while people watched persuasive messages about the value of using sunscreen regularly (Falk et al., 2010). They used these measurements to predict whether individuals would increase their sunscreen use, above and beyond self-report. They found that activity in the MPFC was significantly related to persuasion-induced behavior

change, or increased sunscreen use, over the course of two weeks (Falk et al., 2010).

A subsequent study looked at the same area of the brain (MPFC) and tested whether neural activity in response to messages promoting smoking cessation could predict smoking cessation, above and beyond self-report (Falk et al., 2011). The researchers found that increases in MPFC activity were associated with decreases in expired carbon monoxide following exposure to professionally developed quitting ads (Falk et al., 2011). In both studies, by measuring MPFC activity while subjects viewed the persuasive messages, the researchers were able to predict the behavioral efficacy of the messages "above and beyond what participants' own self-reported attitude and intention change could predict" (Falk et al., 2010, 2011).

Other studies have examined the antagonistic relationship between analytic and socio-emotional neuroprocessing. Jack et al. (2013) found that individuals who were better able to process both analytic and socioemotional prompts, were better able to make plans, and act on the plans that they had developed (Jack et al., 2013). The analytic network, also known as the task positive network, pertains to skills, problem solving, and goal-directed actions (Duncan and Owen, 2000; Jack et al., 2013). Thus, it is activated by attention-demanding tasks (Fox et al., 2005; Uddin et al., 2009; Bressler and Menon, 2010). By contrast, the empathetic network, also referred to as the default mode network, encompasses emotional management and self-awareness, and is activated during periods of wakeful rest (Denny et al., 2012; Eisenberger and Cole, 2012; Marstaller et al., 2016).

Analytic information and emotional information are processed in different areas of the brain and are anti-correlated (Jack et al., 2013). The analytic information is processed in prefrontal and parietal areas of the brain, while the emotional information is processed in the posterior cingulate and medial prefrontal cortices (Duncan and Owen, 2000; Fox et al., 2005). This means that responses to different types of information varies depending on individual characteristics (Singh et al., 2015). One study reported findings that socio-emotional processing was positively associated with sharing of health information with others (Jones et al., 2019). Better understanding how the brain processes different types of information will help to develop individualized, and potentially more effective self-management interventions.

The purpose of this systematic review was to examine the demographic characteristics presented in fMRI studies that have been conducted with patients with CVD-related illnesses. Specifically, we aimed to evaluate studies on brain activity in participants with CVD to determine which patient populations the findings were applicable to. Results from the studies reviewed in this paper can be used to guide future studies to explore brain activity patterns to predict specific behaviors. For example, fMRI studies that focus on patients with CVD would be useful in helping researchers and clinicians better understand how brain activity patterns can be used to predict self-management of CVD, and which interventions may be more useful to individuals with certain patterns of brain activity (Moore et al., 2019).

METHODS

Team

The team that conducted this work consisted of a doctorallyprepared nurse scientist, a health sciences librarian, and four undergraduate students. The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) method was used to guide reporting for this review.

Search Strategy

The databases PubMed, CINAHL, and Scopus were searched on October 2, 2017 to retrieve articles on use of functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) in populations with chronic illnesses (see **Appendix A**). Controlled vocabulary (i.e., Medical Subject Headings and CINAHL Headings) and keywords were used to identify related terms for chronic illness and functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI). No date or language restrictions were applied to the search. In order to limit retrieval to treatment and diagnostic studies that contain empirical evidence, therapy, and diagnosis research methodology filters were used in PubMed and adapted for use in CINAHL and Scopus (Lokker et al., 2011). A total of 1,659 titles and abstracts were identified for review.

Study Selection

Two reviewers from the study team independently assessed study eligibility using Covidence systematic review software [Covidence Systematic Review Software]. Studies were selected for further review if they met the following criteria: (1) utilized an empirical study design, (2) used fMRI to assess brain activity, and (3) focused on patients with CVD-related chronic illness.

Articles were excluded that were not original research (e.g., theory or opinion articles), focused on mental or neuropathic illness, included non-human samples, or were not written in English.

Search Results

The search strategies retrieved a total of 1,659 articles. After the removal of duplicates, 1,429 articles remained for screening, of which 1,243 were excluded at the title and abstract level. Following a full-text review of 186 articles, 142 were excluded for not meeting criteria. Forty-four articles were included in the final review (see **Figure 1** for a flow diagram).

Presentation of Results

A table that categorized the studies based on geographical location was created to examine the variety of settings in which the studies had been conducted (see **Table 1**). Another table was developed to provide brief quantitative and descriptive summaries of the studies' design, gender distribution, mean age, and brain regions of interests (see **Table 2**). Lastly, a third table was created to determine which demographic characteristics



(race, age, gender, income, and education) were examined in each study sample (see **Table 3**). The studies were categorized by the first author's last name and year, the chronic illness being studied, and the number of participants in each sample.

RESULTS

Cardiovascular-Related Diseases

There were 38 studies that focused on patients that had strokes (86%) (Pineiro et al., 2001; Carey et al., 2002; Kato et al., 2002; Schaechter et al., 2002, 2007; Kimberley et al., 2004; Luft et al., 2004a,b, 2008; Tombari et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2006; Kwon et al., 2007; Shin et al., 2008; Takahashi et al., 2008; Fair et al., 2009; Menke et al., 2009; von Lewinski et al., 2009; Meehan et al., 2011; Michielsen et al., 2011; Rijntjes et al., 2011; Szaflarski et al., 2011; Whitall et al., 2011; Deng et al., 2012; Kononen et al., 2012; Veverka et al., 2012, 2014; Lazaridou et al., 2013; Pinter et al., 2013; Ramos-Murguialday et al., 2013; Sun et al., 2013; Brownsett et al., 2014; Hodgson et al., 2014; Mattioli et al., 2014; Milot et al., 2014; Rehme et al., 2015; Kielar et al., 2016; Landsmann et al., 2016; Pelicioni et al., 2016). Of the 38 stoke studies, the majority (84%) of the studies were randomized controlled trials (see Table 2). Four cohort studies (9%) had participants with chronic kidney disease (Lux et al., 2010; Jahanian et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2015; Li et al., 2016). One cohort study had participants who had been diagnosed with type 2 diabetes (2%)

and one cohort study had participants who had been diagnosed with hypertension (2%) (Gold et al., 2005; He et al., 2015).

Race, Ethnicity, and Geographic Location

The vast majority of studies (98%) did not report the racial or ethnic composition of the sample (**Table 3**). In the one study that did examine race, the report stated that over half of the participants were "Black," followed by "White" participants, and a small percentage of "Hispanic/Other" participants (Luft

TABLE 1 | Geographic location.

Chronic illness	Location	# of studies
Stroke	USA	15
	Germany	4
	Korea	3
	United Kingdom	3
	Austria	2
	Canada	2
	Czech Republic	2
	Brazil	1
	China	1
	Finland	1
	France	1
	Italy	1
	Japan	1
	Netherlands	1
CKD/ESRD	China	2
	Germany	1
	USA	2
Type 2 DM	China	1
HTN	USA	1

CKD, chronic kidney disease; ESRD, end-stage renal disease; DM, diabetes mellitus; HTN, hypertension.

TABLE 2 | Summary of studies.

et al., 2008). Most of the stroke studies were conducted in the United States (**Table 1**). Half of the renal studies were conducted in China. The type 2 diabetes study was conducted in China. The hypertension study was conducted in the United States. See **Table 1** for additional details on where the studies were conducted.

Age

The majority (95%) of the studies provided the age of the participants (**Table 3**). There was variation in the manner which age was presented in each study. Some studies provided an overall mean for all of the participants, while others reported means for the intervention or affected groups compared to the control or "healthy" groups. The mean age of the participants ranged from 34 to 73 years; 77% of the studies reported mean age \geq 50 years.

Gender

The majority (91%) of the studies reported the gender distribution of the sample. Most studies (66%) contained more men than women (**Table 2**). When examining the samples by chronic illness, studies focused on stroke patients had more men than women. Studies of chronic renal patients had more men than women. The study of patients with type 2 diabetes had more men than women, while the study of participants with hypertension had more women than men.

Income

None of the studies included in this review presented information on the participants' income.

Education

A total of 10 studies (23%) provided information on the participants' education levels, overall (**Table 3**). In terms of stroke studies specifically, six out of 38 studies (16%) reported on the education of participants. The mean years of education ranged from 6 to 16.8 years for five of the studies. An additional study

Chronic illness	ess # of studies S		esign	Mean	age (years)	Gender distribution	Brain regions of interest	
Stroke	38	32 RCTs	6 cohort	Lowest mean age reported: 40 (range = 34,67)	Highest mean age reported: 73 (SD = 4)	Males > females	 Areas of chronic diaschisis or peristroke areas Primary motor cortex Perilesional tissue Supplementary motor area Posterior cerebellar lobe 	
CKD/ESRD	4		4 cohort	Lowest mean age reported: 34 (SD = 7)	Highest mean age reported: 72 (SD = 7)	Males > females	 Default mode network Hippocampus Frontal and parietal lobes Bilateral inferior frontal gyrus Right superior temporal gyrus 	
Type 2 diabetes	1		Cohort	41 (ran	ge = 31, 53)	Males > females	Anterior cingulate cortexBilateral DLPFC	
Hypertension	1		Cohort	67 (SD = 8.9)	Males < females	Frontal and medialTemporal lobes	

CKD, chronic kidney disease; ESRD, end-stage renal disease; RCT, randomized controlled trial.

TABLE 3 | Study characteristics.

	Chronic illness	# of participants	Demographic characteristic reported				
References			Race	Age	Gender	Income	Education
Brownsett et al. (2014)	Stroke	16	_	+	+	-	+
Carey et al. (2002)	Stroke	10	-	+	+	-	-
Deng et al. (2012)	Stroke	16	-	+	+	-	_
Fair et al. (2009)	Stroke	6	-	-	-	_	_
Gold et al. (2005)	Hypertension	54	-	+	_	-	_
He et al. (2015)	Type 2 diabetes	24	-	+	+	-	+
Hodgson et al. (2014)	Stroke	16	-	+	+	_	+
Jahanian et al. (2014)	CKD	20	-	+	+	_	_
Kato et al. (2002)	Stroke	11	-	+	+	_	_
Kielar et al. (2016)	Stroke	38	_	+	+	-	+
Kim et al. (2006)	Stroke	18	_	+	+	-	_
Kimberley et al. (2004)	Stroke	16	_	+	+	-	_
Kononen et al. (2012)	Stroke	11	_	+	+	_	_
Kwon et al. (2007)	Stroke	31	_	+	+	_	_
Landsmann et al. (2016)	Stroke	24	_	+	+	_	+
Lazaridou et al. (2013)	Stroke	17	_	-	_	_	_
Li et al. (2016)	ESRD	51	_	+	+	_	+
Luft et al. (2008)	Stroke	71	+	+	+	_	_
Luft et al. (2004a)	Stroke	21	_	+	+	_	_
Luft et al. (2004b)	Stroke	28	_	+	+	_	_
Lux et al. (2010)	ESRD	24	_	+	+	_	+
Mattioli et al. (2014)	Stroke	12	_	+	+	_	+
Meehan et al. (2011)	Stroke	18	_	+	+	_	_
Menke et al. (2009)	Stroke	8	_	+	+	_	_
Michielsen et al. (2011)	Stroke	40	_	+	+	_	_
Milot et al. (2014)	Stroke	20	_	+	+	_	_
Pelicioni et al. (2016)	Stroke	21	_	+	+	_	_
Pineiro et al. (2001)	Stroke	28	_	+	+	_	_
Pinter et al. (2013)	Stroke	7	_	+	_	_	_
Ramos-Murguialday et al. (2013)	Stroke	32	_	+	+	_	_
Rehme et al. (2015)	Stroke	21	_	+	+	_	_
Rijntjes et al. (2011)	Stroke	12	_	+	+	_	_
Schaechter et al. (2007)	Stroke	7	_	+	+	_	_
Schaechter et al. (2002)	Stroke	4	_	+	+	_	_
Shin et al. (2008)	Stroke	14	_	+	+	_	_
Sun et al. (2013)	Stroke	18	_	+	+	_	_
Szaflarski et al. (2011)	Stroke	8	_	+	+	_	+
Takahashi et al. (2008)	Stroke	13	_	+	+	_	_
Tombari et al. (2004)	Stroke	18	_	+	+	_	_
Veverka et al. (2014)	Stroke	14	_			-	_
Veverka et al. (2012)	Stroke	14	_	+	+ +		_
von Lewinski et al. (2009)	Stroke	9	_	+ +	+		_
Whitall et al. (2011)	Stroke	9 111	_				_
Zhang et al. (2015)	ESRD	46	-	+ +	+ +		-+

CKD, chronic kidney disease; ESRD, end-stage renal disease.

reported that four of its participants received 14–17 years of education, however, no education data was available for the remainder of the participants. With regards to chronic kidney disease, three out of the four studies (75%) reported on the

education of participants. The mean education ranged from 11.4 to 13.1 years. Regarding the sole type 2 diabetes study, mean participant education was reported as 9.8 years. Lastly, the singular hypertension study included in this review did

not include information with respect to years of education of participants.

DISCUSSION

The objective of this study was to examine the sample characteristics of individuals with CVD who participated in fMRI studies. A total of 44 studies were included in the review. Our findings demonstrate that race and ethnicity and socioeconomic status of participants are not often considered, as demonstrated in the inconsistency in reporting demographic characteristics from across the studies. This review highlights the need for more stringent and detailed collection of demographic data from participants enrolled in fMRI studies. Additional reviews are needed that evaluate fMRI studies sample sizes and stricter statistical threshold. Future studies are needed that focus on populations that have been historically underrepresented in fMRI/CVD-related research. Only one study mentioned the racial or ethnic composition of participants. Additionally, in 66% of the studies, the majority of participants were male. By studying a sample that is more representative of the general population and by expanding the type of CVD studied, researchers can identify practices that are relevant for populations that are disproportionately impacted by hypertension, such as African Americans. Diverse populations (i.e., racial and ethnic, gender, and age groups) vary greatly with respect to health risks such as CVD, as well as access to health care and other health disparities (Leigh et al., 2016). Patients with lower incomes and education levels may increased CVD risk (Marshall et al., 2015; Khaing et al., 2017). Additional research is needed to explore differences in brain activity patterns and related behaviors among diverse patients with CVD.

Of the studies identified as having reported CVD-related outcomes, 84% examined stroke, while only 2% examined hypertension or type 2 diabetes. It is important to note that understanding brain-behavior relationships has the potential to help researchers and practitioners tailor interventions to meet specific patient needs. These points further demonstrate a need for additional studies that use fMRI to better understanding brain-behavior relationships among patients with specific CVDrelated diseases.

LIMITATIONS

The primary limitation of this study was the variety in reporting of demographic characteristics across the studies. As a result, it limited the summaries and conclusions that could be made. However, this lack of reporting supports the idea that future fMRI research needs to consider and prioritize racial/ethnic background, income, and education during the recruitment and sampling process. Additionally, the original goal of this literature review was to examine the fMRI studies that had be conducted with participants who self-identified as African American and were diagnosed with hypertension. Given that only one study met these criteria, the search strategy was expanded to include studies with conditions associated with hypertension (stroke, ESRD, diabetes). Given the large number of stroke studies in this review, a meta-analysis of these studies would be an interesting contribution to the literature.

CONCLUSION

This review suggests that certain groups with CVD disease (women, younger adults, racial/ethnicity minorities) are underrepresented in fMRI research. Therefore, there is a knowledge gap with respect to evidence about brain-behavior connections in groups that are of different races, ethnicities, or genders. Researchers should consider diversity when selecting sampling methods to include individuals from underrepresented groups, such as: women, individuals from diverse backgrounds, younger adults (age <50 years), and those diagnosed with hypertension. When recruiting participants with CVD for fMRI studies, researchers need to consider barriers that prevent these populations from participating, such as socioeconomic status, distrust of the scientific community, cultural barriers, and lack of knowledge related to fMRI research. Identifying and addressing these gaps will lead to the reduction of disparities in fMRI research and improve interventions for all CVD populations.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

We are pleased to submit this manuscript, entitled Exploring Representation of Diverse Samples in fMRI Studies Conducted in Patients with Cardiac-Related Chronic Illness: A Focused Systematic Review to be considered for publication. This paper highlights findings of a focused review on the demographics of patients with cardiovascular disease who participated in fMRI studies. This manuscript has not been published and is not under submission elsewhere. There are no conflict of interests that exist. All authors contributed substantively to the content of this manuscript and are in agreement for its readiness to be considered for publication: LJ and EG: development/implementation of methods, study review, and manuscript preparation. JD, JE, CR, and BG: manuscript preparation. JH: study review and manuscript preparation. RR-S: implementation of methods and manuscript preparation. ET and CS: implementation of methods, study review, and manuscript preparation.

FUNDING

This research was supported by the National Institute of Nursing Research, the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, and the National Institute on Aging under Award Numbers P20NR015331, 2P30AG015281, 5P30AG053760, 1K01HL145366, and 5P30AG053760-S1.

REFERENCES

- Benjamin, E. J., Muntner, P., and Bittencourt, M. S. (2019). Heart disease and stroke statistics-2019 update: A report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 139, e56–e528. doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000 0000659
- Benjamin, E. J., Virani, S. S., Callaway, C. W., Chamberlain, A. M., Chang, A. R., Cheng, S., et al. (2018). Heart disease and stroke statistics-2018 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 137:e67. doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000558
- Bressler, S. L., and Menon, V. (2010). Large-scale brain networks in cognition: emerging methods and principles. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 14, 277–290. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2010.04.004
- Brownsett, S. L., Warren, J. E., Geranmayeh, F., Woodhead, Z., Leech, R., and Wise, R. J. (2014). Cognitive control and its impact on recovery from aphasic stroke. *Brain*. 137(Pt 1), 242–254. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt289
- Carey, J. R., Kimberley, T. J., Lewis, S. M., Auerbach, E. J., Dorsey, L., Rundquist, P., et al. (2002). Analysis of fMRI and finger tracking training in subjects with chronic stroke. *Brain* 125(Pt 4), 773–788. doi: 10.1093/brain/ awf091
- Covidence Systematic Review Software (2019). Veritas Health Innovation. Melbourne. Available online at: www.covidence.org
- Deng, H., Durfee, W. K., Nuckley, D. J., Rheude, B. S., Severson, A. E., Skluzacek, K. M., et al. (2012). Complex versus simple ankle movement training in stroke using telerehabilitation: a randomized controlled trial. *Phys. Ther.* 92, 197–209. doi: 10.2522/ptj.20110018
- Denny, B. T., Kober, H., Wager, T. D., and Ochsner, K. N. (2012). A meta-analysis of functional neuroimaging studies of self- and other judgments reveals a spatial gradient for mentalizing in medial prefrontal cortex. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 24, 1742–1752. doi: 10.1162/jocn_a_00233
- Devlin, H., Tracey, I., Johansen-Berg, H., and Clare, S. (2007). What Is Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI). Oxford: FMRIB Centre; Department of Clinical Neurology; University of Oxford.
- Di Chiara, T., Scaglione, A., Corrao, S., Argano, C., Pinto, A., and Scaglione, R. (2015). Association between low education and higher global cardiovascular risk. *J. Clin. Hypertens.* 17:332337. doi: 10.1111/jch. 12506
- Duncan, J., and Owen, A. M. (2000). Common regions of the human frontal lobe recruited by diverse cognitive demands. *Trends Neurosci.* 23:475483. doi: 10.1016/S0166-2236(00)01633-7
- Eisenberger, N. I., and Cole, S. W. (2012). Social neuroscience and health: neurophysiological mechanisms linking social ties with physical health. *Nat. Neurosci.* 15, 669–674. doi: 10.1038/nn.3086
- Fair, D. A., Snyder, A. Z., Connor, L. T., Nardos, B., and Corbetta, M. (2009). Task-evoked BOLD responses are normal in areas of diaschisis after stroke. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 23, 52–57. doi: 10.1177/1545968308 317699
- Falk, E. B., Berkman, E. T., Mann, T., Harrison, B., and Lieberman, M. D. (2010). Predicting persuasion-induced behavior change from the brain. *J.Neurosci.* 30, 8421–8424. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0063-10.2010
- Falk, E. B., Berkman, E. T., Whalen, D., and Lieberman, M. D. (2011). Neural activity during health messaging predicts reductions in smoking above and beyond self-report. *Health Psychol.* 30:177. doi: 10.1037/ a0022259
- Fox, M. D., Snyder, A. Z., Vincent, J. L., Corbetta, M., Van Essen, D. C., and Raichle, M. E. (2005). The human brain is intrinsically organized into dynamic, anticorrelated functional networks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* 102, 9673–9678. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0504136102
- Gold, S. M., Dziobek, I., Rogers, K., Bayoumy, A., McHugh, P. F., and Convit, A. (2005). Hypertension and hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis hyperactivity affect frontal lobe integrity. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 90, 3262–3267. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-2181
- Havranek, E. P., Mujahid, M. S., Barr, D. A., Blair, I. V., Cohen, M. S., Cruz-Flores, S., et al. (2015). Social determinants of risk and outcomes for cardiovascular disease: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 132, 873–898. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000228
- He, X. S., Wang, Z. X., Zhu, Y. Z., Wang, N., Hu, X., Zhang, D. R., et al. (2015). Hyperactivation of working memory-related brain circuits in

newly diagnosed middle-aged type 2 diabetics. Acta Diabetol. 52, 133–142. doi: 10.1007/s00592-014-0618-7

- Hodgson, J. C., Benattayallah, A., and Hodgson, T. L. (2014). The role of the dominant versus the non-dominant hemisphere: an fMRI study of Aphasia recovery following stroke. *Aphasiology* 28, 1426–1447. doi: 10.1080/02687038.2014.933640
- Jack, A. I., Dawson, A. J., Begany, K. L., Leckie, R. L., Barry, K. P., Ciccia, A. H., et al. (2013). fMRI reveals reciprocal inhibition between social and physical cognitive domains. *Neuroimage* 66C, 385–401. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012. 10.061
- Jahanian, H., Ni, W. W., Christen, T., Moseley, M. E., Kurella Tamura, M., and Zaharchuk, G. (2014). Spontaneous BOLD signal fluctuations in young healthy subjects and elderly patients with chronic kidney disease. *PLoS ONE*. 9:e92539. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0092539
- Jones, L. M., Wright, K. D., Jack, A. I., Friedman, J. P., Fresco, D. M., Veinot, T., et al. (2019). The relationships between health information behavior and neural processing in african americans with prehypertension. J. Assoc. Information Sci. Technol. 70, 968–980. doi: 10.1002/asi.24098
- Kato, H., Izumiyama, M., Koizumi, H., Takahashi, A., and Itoyama, Y. (2002). Near-infrared spectroscopic topography as a tool to monitor motor reorganization after hemiparetic stroke: a comparison with functional MRI. *Stroke* 33, 2032–2036. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000021903. 52901.97
- Khaing, W., Vallibhakara, S. A., Attia, J., McEvoy, M., and Thakkinstian, A. (2017). Effects of education and income on cardiovascular outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur. J. Prev. Cardiol.* 24, 1032–1042. doi: 10.1177/2047487317705916
- Kielar, A., Deschamps, T., Chu, R. K., Jokel, R., Khatamian, Y. B., Chen, J. J., et al. (2016). Identifying dysfunctional cortex: dissociable effects of stroke and aging on resting state dynamics in MEG and fMRI. *Front. Aging Neurosci* 8:40. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2016.00040
- Kim, Y. H., You, S. H., Kwon, Y. H., Hallett, M., Kim, J. H., and Jang, S. H. (2006). Longitudinal fMRI study for locomotor recovery in patients with stroke. *Neurology* 67, 330–333. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000225178. 85833.0d
- Kimberley, T. J., Lewis, S. M., Auerbach, E. J., Dorsey, L. L., Lojovich, J. M., and Carey, J. R. (2004). Electrical stimulation driving functional improvements and cortical changes in subjects with stroke. *Exp. Brain Res.* 154, 450–460. doi: 10.1007/s00221-003-1695-y
- Kononen, M., Tarkka, I. M., Niskanen, E., Pihlajamaki, M., Mervaala, E., Pitkanen, K., et al. (2012). Functional MRI and motor behavioral changes obtained with constraint-induced movement therapy in chronic stroke. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 19, 578–586. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2011. 03572.x
- Kwon, Y. H., Lee, M. Y., Park, J. W., Kang, J. H., Yang, D. S., Kim, Y. H., et al. (2007). Differences of cortical activation pattern between cortical and corona radiata infarct. *Neurosci. Lett.* 417, 138–142. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2007. 01.084
- Landsmann, B., Pinter, D., Pirker, E., Pichler, G., Schippinger, W., Weiss, E. M., et al. (2016). An exploratory intervention study suggests clinical benefits of training in chronic stroke to be paralleled by changes in brain activity using repeated fMRI. *Clin. Intervent. Aging* 11, 97–103. doi: 10.2147/CIA. S95632
- Lazaridou, A., Astrakas, L., Mintzopoulos, D., Khanchiceh, A., Singhal, A., Moskowitz, M., et al. (2013). fMRI as a molecular imaging procedure for the functional reorganization of motor systems in chronic stroke. *Mol. Med. Rep.* 8, 775–779. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2013.1603
- Leigh, J. A., Alvarez, M., and Rodriguez, C. J. (2016). Ethnic minorities and coronary heart disease: an update and future directions. *Curr. Atheroscl. Rep.* 18:9. doi: 10.1007/s11883-016-0559-4
- Leon, B. M., and Maddox, T. M. (2015). Diabetes and cardiovascular disease: epidemiology, biological mechanisms, treatment recommendations and future research. *World J. Diabetes* 6:1246. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v6. i13.1246
- Li, S., Ma, X., Huang, R., Li, M., Tian, J., Wen, H., et al. (2016). Abnormal degree centrality in neurologically asymptomatic patients with end-stage renal disease: A resting-state fMRI study. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 127, 602–609. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2015.06.022

- Liu, M., Li, X. C., Lu, L., Cao, Y., Sun, R. R., Chen, S., et al. (2014). Cardiovascular disease and its relationship with chronic kidney disease. *Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci.* 18, 2918–2926. Available online at: https://www.europeanreview.org/wp/wp-content/uploads/2918-2926.pdf
- Lokker, C., Haynes, R. B., Wilczynski, N. L., McKibbon, K. A., and Walter, S. D. (2011). Retrieval of diagnostic and treatment studies for clinical use through PubMed and PubMed's Clinical Queries filters. J. Am. Med. Informatics Assoc. 18, 652–659. doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2011-000233
- Luft, A. R., Macko, R. F., Forrester, L. W., Villagra, F., Ivey, F., Sorkin, J. D., et al. (2008). Treadmill exercise activates subcortical neural networks and improves walking after stroke: a randomized controlled trial. *Stroke* 39, 3341–3350. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.108.527531
- Luft, A. R., McCombe-Waller, S., Whitall, J., Forrester, L. W., Macko, R., Sorkin, J. D., et al. (2004a). Repetitive bilateral arm training and motor cortex activation in chronic stroke: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 292:185361. doi: 10.1001/jama.292.15.1853
- Luft, A. R., Waller, S., Forrester, L., Smith, G. V., Whitall, J., Macko, R. F., et al. (2004b). Lesion location alters brain activation in chronically impaired stroke survivors. *NeuroImage* 21, 924–935. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003. 10.026
- Lux, S., Mirzazade, S., Kuzmanovic, B., Plewan, T., Eickhoff, S. B., Shah, N. J., et al. (2010). Differential activation of memory-relevant brain regions during a dialysis cycle. *Kidney Int.* 78, 794–802. doi: 10.1038/ki. 2010.253
- Marshall, I. J., Wang, Y., Crichton, S., McKevitt, C., Rudd, A. G., and Wolfe, C. D. (2015). The effects of socioeconomic status on stroke risk and outcomes. *Lancet Neurol*. 14, 1206–1218. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00200-8
- Marstaller, L., Burianová, H., and Reutens, D. C. (2016). Adaptive contextualization: a new role for the default mode network in affective learning. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 38, 1082–1091. doi: 10.1002/hbm.23442
- Mattioli, F., Ambrosi, C., Mascaro, L., Scarpazza, C., Pasquali, P., Frugoni, M., et al. (2014). Early aphasia rehabilitation is associated with functional reactivation of the left inferior frontal gyrus: a pilot study. *Stroke* 45, 545–552. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.003192
- Meehan, S. K., Randhawa, B., Wessel, B., and Boyd, L. A. (2011). Implicit sequencespecific motor learning after subcortical stroke is associated with increased prefrontal brain activations: an fMRI study. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 32, 290–303. doi: 10.1002/hbm.21019
- Mehta, L. S., Beckie, T. M., DeVon, H. A., Grines, C. L., Krumholz, H. M., Johnson, M. N., et al. (2016). Acute myocardial infarction in women: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 133, 916–947. doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000351
- Menke, R., Meinzer, M., Kugel, H., Deppe, M., Baumgartner, A., Schiffbauer, H., et al. (2009). Imaging short- and long-term training success in chronic aphasia. *BMC Neurosci.* 10:118. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-10-118
- Michielsen, M. E., Selles, R. W., van der Geest, J. N., Eckhardt, M., Yavuzer, G., Stam, H. J., et al. (2011). Motor recovery and cortical reorganization after mirror therapy in chronic stroke patients: a phase II randomized controlled trial. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 25, 223–233. doi: 10.1177/1545968310385127
- Milot, M. H., Spencer, S. J., Chan, V., Allington, J. P., Klein, J., Chou, C., et al. (2014). Corticospinal excitability as a predictor of functional gains at the affected upper limb following robotic training in chronic stroke survivors. *Neurorehab. Neural Repair* 28, 819–827. doi: 10.1177/1545968314527351
- Moore, S. M., Musil, C. M., Jack, A. I., Alder, M. L., Fresco, D. M., Webel, A., et al. (2019). Characterization of brain signatures to add precision to self-management health information interventions. *Nurs. Res.* 68, 127–134. doi: 10.1097/NNR.00000000000331
- Nicolson, D. J., Dickinson, H. O., Campbell, F., and Mason, J. M. (2004). Lifestyle interventions or drugs for patients with essential hypertension: a systematic review. J Hypertesn. 22, 2043–2048. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200411000-00001
- Pelicioni, M. C., Novaes, M. M., Peres, A. S., Lino de Souza, A. A., Minelli, C., Fabio, S. R., et al. (2016). Functional versus nonfunctional rehabilitation in chronic ischemic stroke: evidences from a randomized functional MRI study. *Neural Plasticity* 2016:6353218. doi: 10.1155/2016/6353218
- Pineiro, R., Pendlebury, S., Johansen-Berg, H., and Matthews, P. M. (2001). Functional MRI detects posterior shifts in primary sensorimotor cortex activation after stroke: evidence of local adaptive reorganization? *Stroke* 32, 1134–1139. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.32.5.1134

- Pinter, D., Pegritz, S., Pargfrieder, C., Reiter, G., Wurm, W., Gattringer, T., et al. (2013). Exploratory study on the effects of a robotic hand rehabilitation device on changes in grip strength and brain activity after stroke. *Top. Stroke Rehabil.* 20, 308–316. doi: 10.1310/tsr2004-308
- Ramos-Murguialday, A., Broetz, D., Rea, M., Laer, L., Yilmaz, O., Brasil, F. L., et al. (2013). Brain-machine interface in chronic stroke rehabilitation: a controlled study. *Ann. Neurol.* 74, 100–108. doi: 10.1002/ana.23879
- Rehme, A. K., Volz, L. J., Feis, D. L., Eickhoff, S. B., Fink, G. R., and Grefkes, C. (2015). Individual prediction of chronic motor outcome in the acute poststroke stage: behavioral parameters versus functional imaging. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 36, 4553–4565. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22936
- Rijntjes, M., Hamzei, F., Glauche, V., Saur, D., and Weiller, C. (2011). Activation changes in sensorimotor cortex during improvement due to CIMT in chronic stroke. *Restorative Neurol. Neurosci.* 29, 299–310. doi: 10.3233/RNN-2011-0600
- Schaechter, J. D., Connell, B. D., Stason, W. B., Kaptchuk, T. J., Krebs, D. E., Macklin, E. A., et al. (2007). Correlated change in upper limb function and motor cortex activation after verum and sham acupuncture in patients with chronic stroke. J. Alternative Complement. Med. 13, 527–532. doi: 10.1089/acm.2007.6316
- Schaechter, J. D., Kraft, E., Hilliard, T. S., Dijkhuizen, R. M., Benner, T., Finklestein, S. P., et al. (2002). Motor recovery and cortical reorganization after constraint-induced movement therapy in stroke patients: a preliminary study. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* 16, 326–338. doi: 10.1177/154596830201600403
- Shin, H. K., Cho, S. H., Jeon, H. S., Lee, Y. H., Song, J. C., Jang, S. H., et al. (2008). Cortical effect and functional recovery by the electromyography-triggered neuromuscular stimulation in chronic stroke patients. *Neurosci. Lett.* 442, 174–179. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2008.07.026
- Singh, G. K., Siahpush, M., Azuine, R. E., and Williams, S. D. (2015). Widening socioeconomic and racial disparities in cardiovascular disease mortality in the United States, 1969-2013. *Int. J. MCH AIDS* 3:106. doi: 10.21106/ijma.44
- Sun, L., Yin, D., Zhu, Y., Fan, M., Zang, L., Wu, Y., et al. (2013). Cortical reorganization after motor imagery training in chronic stroke patients with severe motor impairment: a longitudinal fMRI study. *Neuroradiology* 55, 913–925. doi: 10.1007/s00234-013-1188-z
- Szaflarski, J. P., Eaton, K., Ball, A. L., Banks, C., Vannest, J., Allendorfer, J. B., et al. (2011). Poststroke aphasia recovery assessed with functional magnetic resonance imaging and a picture identification task. J. Stroke Cerebrovasc. Dis. 20, 336–345. doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2010.02.003
- Takahashi, C. D., Der-Yeghiaian, L., Le, V., Motiwala, R. R., and Cramer, S. C. (2008). Robot-based hand motor therapy after stroke. *Brain* 131(Pt 2), 425–437. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm311
- Tombari, D., Loubinoux, I., Pariente, J., Gerdelat, A., Albucher, J. F., Tardy, J., et al. (2004). A longitudinal fMRI study: in recovering and then in clinically stable sub-cortical stroke patients. *NeuroImag.* 23:82739. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.07.058
- Uddin, L. Q., Kelly, A. M., Biswal, B. B., Castellanos, F. X., and Milham, M. P. (2009). Functional connectivity of default mode network components: correlation, anticorrelation, and causality. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 30, 625–637. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20531
- Valero-Elizondo, J., Hong, J. C., Spatz, E. S., Salami, J. A., Desai, N. R., Rana, J. S., et al. (2018). Persistent socioeconomic disparities in cardiovascular risk factors and health in the United States: Medical Expenditure Panel Survey 2002-2013. *Atherosclerosis* 269, 301–305. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2017.12.014
- Veverka, T., Hlustik, P., Hok, P., Otruba, P., Tudos, Z., Zapletalova, J., et al. (2014). Cortical activity modulation by botulinum toxin type A in patients with poststroke arm spasticity: real and imagined hand movement. J. Neurol. Sci. 346, 276–283. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2014.09.009
- Veverka, T., Hlustik, P., Tomasova, Z., Hok, P., Otruba, P., Kral, M., et al. (2012). BoNT-A related changes of cortical activity in patients suffering from severe hand paralysis with arm spasticity following ischemic stroke. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 319, 89–95. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2012.05.008
- von Lewinski, F., Hofer, S., Kaus, J., Merboldt, K. D., Rothkegel, H., Schweizer, R., et al. (2009). Efficacy of EMG-triggered electrical arm stimulation in chronic hemiparetic stroke patients. *Restorative Neurol. Neurosci.* 27, 189–197. doi: 10.3233/RNN-2009-0469
- Whitall, J., Waller, S. M., Sorkin, J. D., Forrester, L. W., Macko, R. F., Hanley, D. F., et al. (2011). Bilateral and unilateral arm training improve motor function through differing neuroplastic mechanisms: a single-blinded

randomized controlled trial. Neurorehabil. Neural Repair 25, 118–129. doi: 10.1177/1545968310380685

- World Health Organization. Definition of Cardiovascular Diseases. Available online at: http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/noncommunicablediseases/ cardiovascular-diseases/cardiovascular-diseases2/definition-ofcardiovasculardiseases
- Zhang, X. D., Wen, J. Q., Xu, Q., Qi, R., Chen, H. J., Kong, X., et al. (2015). Altered long- and short-range functional connectivity in the patients with end-stage renal disease: a resting-state functional MRI study. *Metab. Brain Dis.* 30, 1175–1186. doi: 10.1007/s11011-015-9683-z

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Jones, Ginier, Debbs, Eaton, Renner, Hawkins, Rios-Spicer, Tang, Schertzing and Giordani. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

APPENDIX A Search Strategies by Database PUBMED

#1. ("fMRI" OR "functional magnetic resonance imaging" OR "functional MRI" OR (("brain imaging" OR neuroimag*) AND functional) OR neuroprocess*).

#2. ("Chronic Disease" [Mesh] OR chronically OR chronic).

((sensitiv^{*}[Title/Abstract] #3. OR sensitivity and specificity[MeSH Terms] OR diagnose[Title/Abstract] OR diagnosed[Title/Abstract] OR diagnoses[Title/Abstract] OR diagnosing[Title/Abstract] OR diagnosis[Title/Abstract] diagnostic[Title/Abstract] OR diagnosis[MeSH:noexp] OR OR diagnostic [MeSH:noexp] OR diagnosis, differential [MeSH:noexp] OR diagnosis[Subheading:noexp]) OR ((clinical[Title/Abstract] AND trial[Title/Abstract]) OR clinical trials as topic[MeSH Terms] OR clinical trial[Publication Type] OR random*[Title/Abstract] OR random allocation[MeSH Terms] OR therapeutic use[MeSH Subheading])). #4. #1 AND #2 AND #3.

CINAHL

S1. ("fMRI" OR "functional magnetic resonance imaging" OR "functional MRI" OR (("brain imaging" OR neuroimag*) AND functional) OR neuroprocess*).

S2. (MH "Chronic Disease" OR chronically OR chronic).

S3. ((TI sensitiv^{*} OR AB sensitiv^{*} OR MH "Sensitivity and Specificity" OR TI diagnose OR AB diagnose OR TI diagnosed OR AB diagnosed OR TI diagnoses OR AB diagnoses OR TI diagnosing OR AB diagnosing OR TI diagnosis OR AB diagnosis OR TI diagnostic OR AB diagnostic OR MH "Diagnosis" OR MH "Diagnostic Imaging" OR MH "Diagnostic Services" OR MH "Diagnostic Errors" OR MH "Diagnosis, Differential" OR MW DI) OR (((TI clinical OR AB clinical) AND (TI trial OR AB trial)) OR MH "Clinical Trials+" OR TI random^{*} OR AB random^{*} OR MH "Random Assignment" OR MW TH)).

S4. S1 AND S2 AND S3.

SCOPUS

#1. TITLE-ABS-KEY("fMRI" OR "functional magnetic resonance imaging" OR "functional MRI" OR (("brain imaging" OR neuroimag*) AND functional) OR neuroprocess*).

#2. TITLE-ABS-KEY (chronic OR chronically).

#3. TITLE-ABS-KEY (cardiovascular OR CVD OR heart OR circulatory OR myocardial OR myocardium OR "blood vessel" OR hypertension OR hypertensive OR "blood pressure").

#4. ALL(sensitiv* OR Specificity OR diagnose OR diagnosed OR diagnoses OR diagnosing OR diagnosis OR diagnostic OR (clinical AND trial*) OR random* OR "therapeutic use").

#5. #1 AND #2 AND #3 AND #4.





Racial Differences in Dietary Relations to Cognitive Decline and Alzheimer's Disease Risk: Do We Know Enough?

Puja Agarwal^{1*}, Martha C. Morris^{1†} and Lisa L. Barnes^{2,3}

¹ Department of Internal Medicine, Rush Institute for Healthy Aging, Rush University Medical Center, Chicago, IL, United States, ² Rush Alzheimer's Disease Center, Rush University Medical Center, Chicago, IL, United States, ³ Department of Neurological Sciences, Rush University Medical Center, Chicago, IL, United States

The elderly population in the US is increasing and projected to be 44% minority by 2060. African Americans and Hispanics are at increased risk of cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease compared to non-Hispanic whites. These conditions are associated with many other adverse health outcomes, lower quality of life, and substantial economic burden. In the past few decades, diet has been identified as an important modifiable risk factor for cognitive decline and Alzheimer's disease. Some studies report poor diet quality among African American and Hispanic older adult populations compared to their white counterparts. We have a limited understanding of how diet affects brain health in different racial-ethnic groups. One primary reason for our lack of knowledge is that most cohort studies are of majority non-Hispanic white participants. Moreover, those that do include minority participants do not publish their findings stratified by racial-ethnic groups, and likely have a less accurate measurement of dietary intake among minority groups. In this review, we summarize the current, albeit limited, literature on racial/ethnic differences in dietary relations to dementia outcomes. We will also discuss methodological issues in conducting nutrition studies in diverse cultures, and suggestions for future research directions. Overcoming the gaps will make it possible to make dietary recommendations for Alzheimer's prevention that are more relevant for different racial/ethnic groups and set us on a faster track to reduce health disparities.

Keywords: diet, nutrition, cognition, health disparities, race

INTRODUCTION

Currently, around 5.7 million Americans have Alzheimer's dementia, and with a growing aging population, the number is projected to increase to 13.8 million by 2050 (Hebert et al., 2013; Alzheimer's Association, 2018). The US aging population is also expected to become more racially and ethnically diverse in the coming years, so that by the year 2060, it will be approximately 44% minority (Colby and Ortman, 2014). One systematic review of multi-ethnic cohort studies concluded that dementia incidence rates are higher in African Americans and Hispanics compared to non-Hispanic Whites (Mehta and Yeo, 2017). Some have argued that these observed disparities are due to a multitude of related factors, including increased prevalence of cardiovascular conditions, lower education and socioeconomic status, barriers to health care, and certain lifestyle

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Panteleimon Giannakopoulos, Université de Genève, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Kıymet Kübra Yurt, Kastamonu University, Turkey Nafisa M. Jadavji, Midwestern University, United States

> *Correspondence: Puja Agarwal puja_agarwal@rush.edu †Deceased

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Human Neuroscience

Received: 28 April 2020 Accepted: 06 August 2020 Published: 03 September 2020

Citation:

Agarwal P, Morris MC and Barnes LL (2020) Racial Differences in Dietary Relations to Cognitive Decline and Alzheimer's Disease Risk: Do We Know Enough? Front. Hum. Neurosci. 14:359. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2020.00359 factors (Judd et al., 2013; Diaz-Venegas et al., 2016; Howard et al., 2018; Weuve et al., 2018). With limited treatments to reverse memory loss or dementia, the identification of modifiable risk factors are of great public health interest. Diet has emerged as a modifiable factor that affects cardiovascularrelated conditions but also may have independent effects on the development of dementia. A large body of literature has found that healthy dietary patterns, including the Mediterranean (Scarmeas et al., 2009; Tangney et al., 2011; Koyama et al., 2015; Morris et al., 2015b; Bhushan et al., 2018), DASH (Dietary approach to Reduce Hypertension) (Tangney et al., 2014; Morris et al., 2015b) and MIND (Mediterranean-Dash Intervention for Neurodegenerative Diseases) diets (Morris et al., 2015b,c; Berendsen et al., 2018), and specific foods [e.g., berries (Devore et al., 2012; Agarwal et al., 2019), vegetables (Morris et al., 2006, 2018; Ye et al., 2013a), fish (Morris et al., 2003; Samieri et al., 2018)] and nutrients [vitamin E (Morris et al., 2002a; Beydoun et al., 2015), flavonoids (Devore et al., 2012; Holland et al., 2020), B vitamins (Morris et al., 2005), unsaturated fats (Morris et al., 2004)] are associated with slower cognitive decline and/or reduced risk of dementia. However, the generalizability of these findings to individuals of different race and ethnic backgrounds is not well characterized. We know that diet quality varies by race and ethnicity in the U.S., but differences also occur by socioeconomic status, the region of the country, and urban/rural settings (Aggarwal et al., 2012; Hiza et al., 2013; McInerney et al., 2016; Bloom et al., 2017; Lee-Kwan et al., 2017). Racial/ethnic disparities in dementia may be due, in part, to dietary intakes of the nutrients and foods found to be important to brain health. This was reported to be the case for higher incidence rates of stroke and hypertension among African Americans compared to whites, which were partially explained by higher consumption of a Southern westernized diet pattern among African Americans (Judd et al., 2013; Howard et al., 2018). Unfortunately, in our current state of knowledge, there is limited data to investigate to what extent diet may account for these disparities in dementia. In this review, we will characterize social and biological differences by race and ethnicity that influence diet quality and nutritional metabolism, describe the existing multi-racial/ethnic studies of diet and dementia, and identify the methodological challenges and future directions in closing the gap in this field of scientific inquiry. The existing studies on the association between dietary patterns/food groups/nutrients and cognitive decline/Alzheimer's dementia risk from the longitudinal cohorts of US adults that included multi-racial/ethnic groups with more than 20% minority population are discussed in this review.

RACIAL/ETHNIC DIFFERENCES IN HEALTH

Various social and demographic factors that have been studied for health disparities in Alzheimer's dementia include educational attainment (Weuve et al., 2018), bilingualism (Lamar et al., 2019), neighborhood greenness (Brown et al., 2018), and stressful life events (Zuelsdorff et al., 2020). Similar social and economic aspects may also affect the diet quality by race, including education and income (Raffensperger et al., 2010), health literacy (Kuczmarski et al., 2016), food prices and diet costs (Townsend et al., 2009) and neighborhood grocery store availability (Powell et al., 2007; Bower et al., 2014). Healthy Aging in Neighborhoods of Diversity across the Life Span (HANDLS) study reported lower nutrient-based diet quality among African Americans compared to whites and found health literacy and education as important predictors of diet quality in this urban population (Raffensperger et al., 2010; Kuczmarski et al., 2016). Similarly, African Americans in the Jackson Heart Study reported fastfood clusters (including fast foods, salty snacks, non-diet soft drinks, and meat), as the most common dietary pattern in the study population and was found to be associated with significantly lower levels of plasma carotenoids and alpha tocopherols (Talegawkar et al., 2008). Considering that different social, economic, and demographic factors may influence both diet quality and cognition, examining racial differences in the association of diet with Alzheimer's dementia and/or cognitive decline, may help us explain, at least in part, health disparities in Alzheimer's dementia and related disorders.

Although race is socially constructed with little to no basis in biology, there are non-observable differences in nutritional metabolism based on such factors as skin color and body composition (Hall et al., 2010; Bhupathiraju et al., 2011). For example, ultraviolet rays are absorbed by the skin at different rates depending on the level of melanin or pigment in the skin. Racial groups with darker skin pigment require greater sun exposure than lighter-skinned groups to synthesize the same amount of vitamin D (Hall et al., 2010; Gallagher et al., 2013). Differences among racial/ethnic groups in fat and lean body mass can affect the storage and metabolism of a number of vitamins and minerals (Morton et al., 2003; Lear et al., 2009; Travison et al., 2011; Santoro et al., 2018). In the feeding trials, African Americans reported higher, postprandial triglycerides (Goff et al., 2016) and subnormal ghrelin (a gut-brain peptide to signal hunger) suppression (Brownley et al., 2004) compared to Whites. Independent of obesity, body fat distribution, and behavioral factors, African Americans but not Hispanics have high insulin resistance compared to non-Hispanic Whites (Haffner et al., 1996). Genetic variations can also affect susceptibility to DNA damage and DNA repair. For example, African Americans are reported to have lower serum levels of antioxidant nutrients in comparison to whites, yet surprisingly have less oxidative damage to DNA (Huang et al., 2000; Watters et al., 2007). Similarly, a longitudinal analysis indicated higher parathyroid hormones increased diabetes risk only in Whites and not in African Americans (Reis et al., 2016). The growing evidence of differences in nutrition metabolism by race and ethnicity is a compelling reason for their scientific exploration in the dementia field.

MULTI-RACIAL/ETHNIC COHORT STUDIES ON DIET AND DEMENTIA

A large body of literature over the past two decades has established diet as an important modifiable risk factor for dementia in older populations. Various healthy dietary patterns [e.g., Mediterranean (Aridi et al., 2017), DASH (Tangney et al., 2014), MIND (Morris et al., 2015c)], foods (Morris et al., 2006, 2016, 2018; Devore et al., 2012; van de Rest et al., 2016; Samieri et al., 2018) and nutrients (Morris et al., 2002a,b, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2018; Haan et al., 2007; Moorthy et al., 2012; Beydoun et al., 2018b; Schneider et al., 2018) have been associated with slower cognitive decline and lower dementia risk in prospective cohort studies. The healthy dietary pattern may exert a neuroprotective effect by reducing oxidative stress and inflammation (Bagetta et al., 2020) and was found to be associated with less brain atrophy (Gu et al., 2015). These dietary patterns are plant-based consisting of foods such as fruits, berries, vegetables, leafy greens, whole grains, fish, olive oil, legumes, and nuts. These foods are rich in essential nutrients as well as bioactive that have anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties (Ellis et al., 2011; Alvarez-Suarez et al., 2014; Giampieri et al., 2014). In vitro and in vivo evidence indicate that bioactive and some of their metabolites can cross the bloodbrain barrier (Youdim et al., 2003, 2004) and through signal transduction cascades may directly act on neurons and glia (Jaeger et al., 2018). Animal studies reported berries and leafy greens improve cognitive function via increased neurogenesis, and insulin-like growth factor-1 signaling, and reversed neuronal aging by reducing oxidative stress (Joseph et al., 1998; Shukitt-Hale et al., 2015; Elkhadragy et al., 2018). Additionally, these dietary patterns also limit the consumption of red meat, fatty foods, and sweets. Another set of evidence indicate the high fat/cholesterol diet's deleterious effect on cognition via its effect on synaptic integrity, increased hippocampal insulin resistance, inflammation (Arnold et al., 2014; Denver et al., 2018), as well as increased levels of amyloid precursor protein (Thirumangalakudi et al., 2008).

The association of diet with cognitive decline and Alzheimer's dementia risk has emerged as important factor that may have huge public health impact on aging population. However, there is a paucity of information on how these associations may differ by race or ethnicity. Two primary reasons emerge to explain this gap. First, not all cohort studies include diet assessment, and those that do are almost exclusively of non-Hispanic white populations. Second, the few multi-racial/ethnic cohort studies that include diet rarely report the findings stratified by racial/ethnic groups (Koyama et al., 2015; Beydoun et al., 2018b), although some report p-values for tests of interaction of the findings by these groups as discussed below.

Table 1 summarizes the findings from nine multi-racial/ethnic cohort studies in the US that report diet associations with dementia outcomes. The studies are large, ranging from 1,956 to 18,080 participants, and the percentages of minority participants provide sufficient sample sizes to observe most diet associations with the outcomes (percentages of minority groups range from 22 to 100%). The non-white groups represented in these studies are African American and Puerto Rican. There is limited (Ye et al., 2013a,b) or non-existent data for Mexican, Native American, and Asian populations. The findings of studies on African Americans and Puerto Ricans cannot be assumed to apply to these other racial/ethnic groups

as there are large cultural and social differences, including dietary practices.

As shown in Table 1, the multi-racial/ethnic cohort studies have a number of positive findings for dementia outcomes and nutrients (vitamin E, vitamin D, folate, vitamin B12, dietary fats), foods (vegetables, fish, caffeine, alcohol), and diet patterns. Some of the studies provide no information about whether the findings were analyzed by race/ethnicity (McEvoy et al., 2019), but in those that do, the findings are not stratified by racial/ethnic group. This is most likely because in nearly every case, tests for interaction effects by race/ethnicity are not statistically significant, although there are a few exceptions. The Health, Aging and Body Composition Study (Health ABC) reported a protective association of the Mediterranean diet with slower cognitive decline in African American but not in whites (Koyama et al., 2015), and a cross-sectional study from the HANDLS (Beydoun et al., 2018b) found a positive association of dietary vitamin D and better visual memory in whites but not in African American. Even though most of these studies did not find statistically significant differences by race or ethnicity, the possibility of heterogeneous effects of diet on brain health by race remains. As discussed below, one must question whether dietary behaviors among the minority participants have been well characterized in these studies.

METHODOLOGICAL ISSUES

It is not enough to implement a standardized diet questionnaire into a multi-racial/ethnic cohort study and expect to elicit valid findings on diet and dementia by racial/ethnic groups. The diet assessment tool must represent the foods, cooking methods, recipes and portion sizes that are relevant to the population under study. For diet assessment tools, one size does not fit all. Food frequency questionnaires (FFQ) are the primary method of diet assessment in large epidemiological studies of chronic conditions. They provide a measure of long-term intake that is most relevant to conditions with long latency. This is in contrast to other methods, such as biochemical measures or 24-h dietary recall and diet recording, that may not be good representations of more habitual diet, particularly those nutrients that have high day-to-day variability (Willett, 2013). Although FFQs have been used as a valid and reproducible tool of dietary intake for many years, they are not generalizable beyond the populations for which they have been developed. This is particularly true for racial/ethnic groups as most FFQs were developed for non-Hispanic white populations. FFQs have a predefined list of food items, to which participants respond regarding usual frequency of intake, and for some FFQs, usual portion size (e.g., small, medium, large). The list of foods and their corresponding frequencies and portion sizes vary among FFQs. Two FFQs that have been widely adopted for use by many of the cohort studies are those developed by Willett et al. (1985) (used in the Nurses' Health Study and Health Professional Follow-up Study) and Block et al. (1986) (used in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, or NHANES). Both the TABLE 1 | Summary of studies on association of Dietary Patterns with cognitive decline or Incident AD that have at least > 20% minority population included.

Cohort and study population	Minority population%	Years Follow-up	N; Mean Age (S <i>D</i>)	Exposure	Outcome	Findings	Exposure Interaction with Race
WHICAP- Washington Heights-Inwood Columbia Aging Project (Multi-racial) 68% Female	African American (34%) and Hispanics (34%)	Longitudinal, 4–5 years	N = 2258; 77.6 (6.6)	Mediterranean diet	Incident MCI Progression of MCI to AD	↓ MCI risk and ↓ risk for MCI conversion to AD (Scarmeas et al., 2009)	Not reported
				Healthy dietary pattern for study population *	Incident AD	↓ AD risk (Gu et al., 2010)	No stratified analysis by race
				Total calories and Fat intake	Incident AD	↑ AD risk (Luchsinger et al., 2002)	
				Antioxidant vitamin	Incident AD	No association (Luchsinger et al., 2003)	
CHAP-Chicago Health and Aging Project	African American (63%)	Longitudinal, 6–9 years	N = 3790; 75.4 (6.2)	Mediterranean diet, HEI-2005	Cognitive decline OR Incident AD	Mediterranean diet ↓cognitive decline (Tangney et al., 2011)	Diet*race not significant No stratified analysis by race
				Fruits and Vegetables		Vegetable intake ↓ cognitive decline (Morris et al., 2006)	Diet*race not significant
				Fish intake		n-3 FA ↓ AD risk (Morris et al., 2003)	Diet*race not significant
				Antioxidant vitamins		Vitamin E from foods ↓ cognitive decline (Morris et al., 2002b) ↓ AD risk (Morris et al., 2002a)	Diet*race not significant
				Folate Vitamin B12		 ↑ Cognitive decline (Morris et al., 2005) ↓ Cognitive decline (Morris et al., 2005) 	Diet*race not significant
				Dietary fats		Saturated fats †cognitive decline (Morris et al., 2004)	Animal fat*race was not significan
				Serum Vitamin B12		↓ Cognitive decline (Tangney et al., 2009)	Vitamin B12* race was not significant
				Homocysteine		No association	Homocysteine* race was not significant
				Methyl malonic acid		↑ Cognitive decline (Tangney et al., 2009)	Methyl malonic acid* race was no significant.
Health ABC – Health Aging and Body Composition Study (Biracial)	African American (38%)	Longitudinal, 8.0 years	N = 2326; 74.6 (2.9)	Mediterranean diet	Cognitive decline	↓ Cognitive decline in Blacks not Whites (Koyama et al., 2015)	Mediterranean diet*race was significant <i>Stratified analysis by race</i>
Health and Retirement study 60% women	African American (22%)	Cross-sectional	N = 5907; 68 (10.8)	Mediterranean diet	Cognitive Scores	" + " Cognition (McEvoy et al., 2017)	Not reported
				MIND diet		" + " Cognition	
Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA)	African American (45%)	Longitudinal, 8.0 years	N = 2621; 25 (3.5)	Mediterranean diet	Cognitive Scores assessed 25 and 30 years later	↑ Cognitive function in midlife (McEvoy et al., 2019)	Not reported
57% female				DASH diet		No association	

Diet and Cognition by Race

TABLE 1 | Continued

Cohort and study population	Minority population%	Years Follow-up	N; Mean Age (S <i>D</i>)	Exposure	Outcome	Findings	Exposure Interaction with Race
				A Priori Dietary Quality Index		↑ Cognitive function in midlife (McEvoy et al., 2019)	
REGARDS- REasons for Geographic And Racial Differences in Stroke	African American (31%)	Longitudinal 4–7 years	N = 18,080; 64.4 (9.1)	Plant-based diet Southern diet	Incident cognitive Impairment	↓ Incident cognitive impairment (Pearson et al., 2016) ↑ Incident cognitive impairment (Pearson et al., 2016)	Diet*race not significant No stratified analysis by race
				Mediterranean diet		↓ Incident cognitive Impairment in non-diabetic participants (Tsivgoulis et al., 2013)	Only Diet*diabetes significant. Stratified by diabetes status
HANDLS (Healthy Aging in the Neighborhood of Diversity Across Lifespan) Participants (Biracial) 57% female	African American (51%)	Cross-sectional	N = 2090; 47.9 (9.2)	HEI-2010	Cognitive Scores	" + " Cognition only in those below the poverty line (Beydoun et al., 2018a)	Diet*race not significant No stratified analysis by race
				Dietary Antioxidant vitamins		Vitamin E " + " Cognition (Beydoun et al., 2015)	Vitamin E*race not significant No stratified analysis by race
		Longitudinal, 4–5 years		Dietary Vitamin D	Cognitive decline	↓ Cognitive decline (visual memory) (Beydoun et al., 2018b)	Vitamin D* race interaction significant: Improved visual memory only in Whites and no in Blacks
				Nutrient adequacy score (NAS) Caffeine Alcohol		 " + " Cognition ↓ Attention decline (Beydoun et al., 2014) " + " Cognition " + " Attention and Working memory (Beydoun et al., 2014) 	NAS*race not significant No stratified analysis by race
Two Boston based cohorts (Boston Puerto Rican Health Study (BPRHS) and Nutrition, Aging and Memory in Elders (NAME) study)	African American (37%) BPRHS- Hispanics (100%)	Cross-sectional	N = 1956,	Plasma Vitamin B12 Vitamin B6 Folate Homocysteine	Cognitive Scores	" + " Cognition (Moorthy et al., 2012) " + " Cognition No association No association	Not reported No stratified analysis by race
BPRHS (Boston Puerto Rican Health Study), 70% female	Hispanics (100%)	Cross-sectional	N = 1269, 57.3 (7.6)	Mediterranean diet HEI-2005	Cognitive Impairment	"–"cognitive impairment (Ye et al., 2013b)	N/A
				Fruits and Vegetables		"–" Cognitive Impairment (Ye et al., 2013a)	
		Longitudinal 2 years		Dietary n-3 and n-6 PUFA	Cognitive decline	EPA, DHA and n3VLCFA ↑ Executive Function (Bigornia et al., 2018)	
				Plasma vitamin B-6		↓ Cognitive decline (Palacios et al., 2019a)	
				Serum vitamin D		No association (Palacios et al., 2019b)	

↑ Upward arrow indicates statistically significant increased risk in longitudinal analysis; ↓ downward arrow indicates statistically significant decreased risk in longitudinal analysis; " + " Plus indicates statistically significant positive association in the cross-sectional analysis; " -" Minus indicates statistically significant negative association in the cross-sectional analysis. *Dietary pattern for study population identified based on Reduced Rank Regression.

Diet and Cognition by Race

Willett and Block FFQs have been well-validated by biochemical measures and other assessment methods of dietary intake, but their development and validation have been primarily in majority white populations. Thus, implementation of these tools in study populations that include other racial and ethnic groups without validating them raises concerns as to the validity of the study findings. It is possible that the absence of racial/ethnic differences in the diet-dementia findings in Table 1 is due in part to the lower validity of the diet assessment tools to capture intake in the minority groups in some cohorts. Only a few of the cohort studies conducted validation studies of the FFQ within their study populations. Of these few, the validation correlations were somewhat moderate for Chicago Health and Aging Project participants (average r = 0.41 in African American vs. r = 0.51 in whites for 15 nutrients), and the WHICAP studies (r = 0.40 for 7 nutrients, correlations not reported by race/ethnicity). To validly assess diet, the FFQ should capture the most commonly consumed food items for a group as well as culture-specific recipes, cooking methods, and portion sizes. For example, Hispanics consume a bigger rice portion in one meal compared to whites and African American (Tucker et al., 1998). The standard portion size for rice among Puerto Ricans may be 1 cup versus 1/2 cup in non-Hispanic whites (Tucker et al., 1998). Food preparations, preference, cooking methods and recipes of dishes may vary too. For example, one study documented that soul food, a common dietary pattern found in African American culture, contains mainly pork, pork fat, chicken, organ meats, corn, sweet potatoes, and greens (Sucher and Kittler, 2004). The diets of different race/ethnicities in a study population will be well measured only to the extent that the appropriate foods, portions and preparation methods are accurately captured by the assessment method; for example, the Boston Puerto Rican Health Study uses a validated FFQ specifically designed and processed as per the Puerto Rican dietary habits. Similarly, the Jackson Heart Study used a validated FFQ developed based on regional food patterns rather than on the national patterns for whites and African Americans in the lower Mississippi Delta region (Tucker et al., 2007). Thus capturing diet using a validated tool for multiethnic populations is an important gap that can be improved in the field of diet and dementia.

The majority of studies on nutrition and dementia outcomes primarily based their findings on dietary intake levels of nutrients and foods. However, our knowledge about nutritional effects on the brain would be greatly enhanced by the addition of biochemical measures. There may be differences in nutrient absorption, metabolism, or delivery to tissues that require different intake levels by race/ethnicity for optimum brain function and disease prevention. The use of biochemical measures in conjunction with dietary intake assessments could be used to better inform public policy on recommended dietary intake levels by race. The reporting of dementia outcomes by level of nutrient intake as well as biochemical level is crucial to advance the field as well as to establish public health and clinical recommendations. Published studies rarely present this information stratified by race or ethnic group; even fewer report biochemical assessments.

Currently, there is much attention on the Mediterranean diet for dementia prevention. However, the promotion of one diet pattern for diverse cultures around the world may not be optimal from the perspective of public health or the environment. It is becoming evident that there are multiple diet patterns favorable to brain health. Given the challenges in achieving behavior change over the long-term, it does not appear feasible to expect individuals to adopt a single diet from a foreign culture that involves introducing new foods that are strange to one's usual cultural practices, or the elimination of favorite meal items. This approach to behavior change has a high likelihood of failure, particularly if the changes are more expensive. A "one diet" approach to health also would not prove favorable for environmental health. The ecological or carbon footprint may be unnecessarily large due to shipping and storage, particularly if there are local foods and diets that are equally beneficial for maintaining brain health. By studying nutrition and brain health in different cultures, regions, and races, we can identify multiple brain-healthy diets within a region and group. This is another large gap in the field.

FUTURE RESEARCH

In order to advance the field on nutrition and dementia in minority populations, it is imperative that the few studies with large minority populations report estimates of effect stratified by racial/ethnic group, at the very least in supplemental tables. In addition, new multi-racial/ethnic cohort studies are needed that include culturally appropriate and validated diet assessments as well as biochemical measures of nutrient status. Currently, there is limited data on a number of large minority populations in the U.S., particularly those originating from Mexico and other Latin American countries, Asia, and Native Americans. The inclusion of diverse cultures in a study lends to a greater range of nutrient intake levels and thus improved ability to observe diet-dementia relations. The diversity in dietary practices may also lead to discoveries of new nutrients and foods that are important in the disease process. Additionally, we need to understand how cognition is related to the nutrigenomics and nutrigenetics, i.e., two-level interaction between nutrients and genomics. Firstly, nutrients may affect transcriptional factors and modify the gene expression. Secondly, the genetic variability may define the interaction between nutrients and the disease (Fenech et al., 2011; Peña-Romero et al., 2018). Precision nutrition is gaining popularity for other disease outcomes, and future studies in the field of nutrition and cognition focusing on the genetic factors that may alter the relation of various foods with the brain health are needed. The emerging science on the gut microbiome and the gutbrain axis is a new frontier in the dementia field that would be greatly enhanced by diversity in diet that comes with the inclusion of multiple cultures within a study. Another frontier is the measurement of nutrients and metabolites in human brain tissue (Morris et al., 2003, 2015a) and their relations to measures of brain neuropathology. To date, these rare studies have largely been restricted to non-Hispanic whites. Finally, the first diet intervention trials on cognitive health have been initiated. Efforts to test diet approaches in multiple racial/ethnic groups is imperative for better understanding of the disease

process and for more effective public health policies to reduce racial/ethnic disparities in dementia.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PA: manuscript preparation and critical review. MM and LB: manuscript preparation and critical review of the manuscript for

REFERENCES

- Agarwal, P., Holland, T. M., Wang, Y., Bennett, D. A., and Morris, M. C. (2019). Association of Strawberries and anthocyanidin intake with Alzheimer's dementia risk. *Nutrients* 11:3060. doi: 10.3390/nu11123060
- Aggarwal, A., Monsivais, P., and Drewnowski, A. (2012). Nutrient intakes linked to better health outcomes are associated with higher diet costs in the us. *PloS One* 7:e37533. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0037533
- Alvarez-Suarez, J. M., Giampieri, F., Tulipani, S., Casoli, T., Di Stefano, G., Gonzalez-Paramas, A. M., et al. (2014). One-month strawberry-rich anthocyanin supplementation ameliorates cardiovascular risk, oxidative stress markers and platelet activation in humans. J. Nutr. Biochem. 25, 289–294. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2013.11.002
- Alzheimer's Association (2018). 2018 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimers Dement. 14, 367-429. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2018.02.001
- Aridi, Y. S., Walker, J. L., and Wright, O. R. L. (2017). The association between the mediterranean dietary pattern and cognitive health: a systematic review. *Nutrients* 9:674. doi: 10.3390/nu9070674
- Arnold, S. E., Lucki, I., Brookshire, B. R., Carlson, G. C., Browne, C. A., Kazi, H., et al. (2014). High fat diet produces brain insulin resistance, synaptodendritic abnormalities and altered behavior in mice. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 67, 79–87. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2014.03.011
- Bagetta, D., Maruca, A., Lupia, A., Mesiti, F., Catalano, R., Romeo, I., et al. (2020). Mediterranean products as promising source of multi-target agents in the treatment of metabolic syndrome. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 186:111903. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.111903
- Berendsen, A. M., Kang, J. H., Feskens, E. J. M., de Groot, C., Grodstein, F., and van de Rest, O. (2018). Association of long-term adherence to the mind diet with cognitive function and cognitive decline in american women. J. Nutr. Health Aging 22, 222–229. doi: 10.1007/s12603-017-0909-0
- Beydoun, M. A., Fanelli-Kuczmarski, M. T., Kitner-Triolo, M. H., Beydoun, H. A., Kaufman, J. S., Mason, M. A., et al. (2015). Dietary antioxidant intake and its association with cognitive function in an ethnically diverse sample of us adults. *Psychosom. Med.* 77, 68–82. doi: 10.1097/psy.00000000000129
- Beydoun, M. A., Fanelli-Kuczmarski, M. T., Poti, J., Allen, A., Beydoun, H. A., Evans, M. K., et al. (2018a). Longitudinal change in the diet's monetary value is associated with its change in quality and micronutrient adequacy among urban adults. *PloS One* 13:e0204141. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0204141
- Beydoun, M. A., Gamaldo, A. A., Beydoun, H. A., Tanaka, T., Tucker, K. L., Talegawkar, S. A., et al. (2014). Caffeine and alcohol intakes and overall nutrient adequacy are associated with longitudinal cognitive performance among u.s. adults. J. Nutr. 144, 890–901. doi: 10.3945/jn.113.189027
- Beydoun, M. A., Hossain, S., Fanelli-Kuczmarski, M. T., Beydoun, H. A., Canas, J. A., Evans, M. K., et al. (2018b). Vitamin d status and intakes and their association with cognitive trajectory in a longitudinal study of urban adults. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 103, 1654–1668. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-02462
- Bhupathiraju, S. N., Dawson-Hughes, B., Hannan, M. T., Lichtenstein, A. H., and Tucker, K. L. (2011). Centrally located body fat is associated with lower bone mineral density in older puerto rican adults. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 94, 1063–1070. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.111.016030
- Bhushan, A., Fondell, E., Ascherio, A., Yuan, C., Grodstein, F., and Willett, W. (2018). Adherence to mediterranean diet and subjective cognitive function in men. *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* 33, 223–234. doi: 10.1007/s10654-017-0330-3
- Bigornia, S. J., Scott, T. M., Harris, W. S., and Tucker, K. L. (2018). Prospective associations of erythrocyte composition and dietary intake of n-3 and n-6 pufa with measures of cognitive function. *Nutrients* 10,

intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The work was supported by the National Institute on Aging of Health (R01AG052583 to LB).

- Block, G., Hartman, A. M., Dresser, C. M., Carroll, M. D., Gannon, J., Gardner, L., et al. (1986). Approach to diet questionnaire design and testing. Am. J. Epidemiol. 124, 453–469. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a114416
- Bloom, I., Edwards, M., Jameson, K. A., Syddall, H. E., Dennison, E., Gale, C. R., et al. (2017). Influences on diet quality in older age: the importance of social factors. *Age Ageing* 46, 277–283.
- Bower, K. M., Thorpe, R. J. Jr., Rohde, C., and Gaskin, D. J. (2014). The intersection of neighborhood racial segregation, poverty, and urbanicity and its impact on food store availability in the united states. *Prev. Med.* 58, 33–39. doi: 10.1016/j. ypmed.2013.10.010
- Brown, S. C., Perrino, T., Lombard, J., Wang, K., Toro, M., Rundek, T., et al. (2018). Health disparities in the relationship of neighborhood greenness to mental health outcomes in 249,405 U.S. medicare beneficiaries. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 15:430. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15030430
- Brownley, K. A., Light, K. C., Grewen, K. M., Bragdon, E. E., Hinderliter, A. L., and West, S. G. (2004). Postprandial ghrelin is elevated in black compared with white women. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 89, 4457–4463. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-0607
- Colby, S. L., and Ortman, J. M. (2014). Projections of the Size and Composition of the U.S. Population: 2014 to 2060, Current Population Reports P25-1143. Washington, DC: U.S. Census Bureau.
- Denver, P., Gault, V. A., and McClean, P. L. (2018). Sustained high-fat diet modulates inflammation, insulin signalling and cognition in mice and a modified xenin peptide ameliorates neuropathology in a chronic high-fat model. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 20, 1166–1175. doi: 10.1111/dom.13210
- Devore, E. E., Kang, J. H., Breteler, M. M., and Grodstein, F. (2012). Dietary intakes of berries and flavonoids in relation to cognitive decline. *Ann. Neurol.* 72, 135–143. doi: 10.1002/ana.23594
- Diaz-Venegas, C., Downer, B., Langa, K. M., and Wong, R. (2016). Racial and ethnic differences in cognitive function among older adults in the USA. *Int.* J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 31, 1004–1012. doi: 10.1002/gps.4410
- Elkhadragy, M. F., Kassab, R. B., Metwally, D., Almeer, R. S., Abdel-Gaber, R., Al-Olayan, E. M., et al. (2018). Protective effects of fragaria ananassa methanolic extract in a rat model of cadmium chloride-induced neurotoxicity. *Biosci. Rep.* 38:BSR20180861.
- Ellis, C. L., Edirisinghe, I., Kappagoda, T., and Burton-Freeman, B. (2011). Attenuation of meal-induced inflammatory and thrombotic responses in overweight men and women after 6-week daily strawberry (fragaria) intake. a randomized placebo-controlled trial. *J. atheroscler. Thromb.* 18, 318–327. doi: 10.5551/jat.6114
- Fenech, M., El-Sohemy, A., Cahill, L., Ferguson, L. R., French, T. A., Tai, E. S., et al. (2011). Nutrigenetics and nutrigenomics: viewpoints on the current status and applications in nutrition research and practice. *J. Nutrigenet. Nutrigenomics* 4, 69–89. doi: 10.1159/000327772
- Gallagher, J. C., Peacock, M., Yalamanchili, V., and Smith, L. M. (2013). Effects of vitamin d supplementation in older african american women. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 98, 1137–1146. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-3106
- Giampieri, F., Alvarez-Suarez, J. M., Mazzoni, L., Forbes-Hernandez, T. Y., Gasparrini, M., Gonzalez-Paramas, A. M., et al. (2014). Polyphenol-rich strawberry extract protects human dermal fibroblasts against hydrogen peroxide oxidative damage and improves mitochondrial functionality. *Molecules* 19, 7798–7816. doi: 10.3390/molecules19067798
- Goff, L. M., Whyte, M. B., Samuel, M., and Harding, S. V. (2016). Significantly greater triglyceridemia in black african compared to white european men following high added fructose and glucose feeding: a randomized crossover trial. *Lipids Health Dis.* 15:145.

- Gu, Y., Brickman, A. M., Stern, Y., Habeck, C. G., Razlighi, Q. R., Luchsinger, J. A., et al. (2015). Mediterranean diet and brain structure in a multiethnic elderly cohort. *Neurology* 85, 1744–1751. doi: 10.1212/wnl.00000000002121
- Gu, Y., Nieves, J. W., Stern, Y., Luchsinger, J. A., and Scarmeas, N. (2010). Food combination and alzheimer disease risk: a protective diet. Arch. Neurol. 67, 699–706. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2010.84
- Haan, M. N., Miller, J. W., Aiello, A. E., Whitmer, R. A., Jagust, W. J., Mungas, D. M., et al. (2007). Homocysteine, b vitamins, and the incidence of dementia and cognitive impairment: results from the sacramento area latino study on aging. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 85, 511–517. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/85.2.511
- Haffner, S. M., D'Agostino, R., Saad, M. F., Rewers, M., Mykkanen, L., Selby, J., et al. (1996). Increased insulin resistance and insulin secretion in nondiabetic african-americans and hispanics compared with non-hispanic whites. The insulin resistance atherosclerosis study. *Diabetes* 45, 742–748. doi: 10.2337/ diabetes.45.6.742
- Hall, L. M., Kimlin, M. G., Aronov, P. A., Hammock, B. D., Slusser, J. R., Woodhouse, L. R., et al. (2010). Vitamin d intake needed to maintain target serum 25-hydroxyvitamin d concentrations in participants with low sun exposure and dark skin pigmentation is substantially higher than current recommendations. J. Nutr. 140, 542–550. doi: 10.3945/jn.109.115253
- Hebert, L. E., Weuve, J., Scherr, P. A., and Evans, D. A. (2013). Alzheimer disease in the united states (2010-2050) estimated using the 2010 census. *Neurology* 80, 1778–1783. doi: 10.1212/wnl.0b013e31828726f5
- Hiza, H. A., Casavale, K. O., Guenther, P. M., and Davis, C. A. (2013). Diet quality of americans differs by age, sex, race/ethnicity, income, and education level. *J. Acad. Nutr. Diet.* 113, 297–306. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2012.08.011
- Holland, T. M., Agarwal, P., Wang, Y., Leurgans, S. E., Bennett, D. A., Booth, S. L., et al. (2020). Dietary flavonols and risk of alzheimer dementia. *Neurology* 94, e1749–e1756.
- Howard, G., Cushman, M., Moy, C. S., Oparil, S., Muntner, P., Lackland, D. T., et al. (2018). Association of clinical and social factors with excess hypertension risk in black compared with white us adults. *JAMA* 320, 1338–1348. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.13467
- Huang, H. Y., Helzlsouer, K. J., and Appel, L. J. (2000). The effects of vitamin c and vitamin e on oxidative dna damage: results from a randomized controlled trial. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.* 9, 647–652.
- Jaeger, B. N., Parylak, S. L., and Gage, F. H. (2018). Mechanisms of dietary flavonoid action in neuronal function and neuroinflammation. *Mol. Aspects Med.* 61, 50–62. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2017.11.003
- Joseph, J. A., Shukitt-Hale, B., Denisova, N. A., Prior, R. L., Cao, G., Martin, A., Taglialatela, G., et al. (1998). Long-term dietary strawberry, spinach, or vitamin e supplementation retards the onset of age-related neuronal signaltransduction and cognitive behavioral deficit. J. Neurosci. 1, 8047–8055. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.18-19-08047.1998
- Judd, S. E., Gutierrez, O. M., Newby, P. K., Howard, G., Howard, V. J., Locher, J. L., et al. (2013). Dietary patterns are associated with incident stroke and contribute to excess risk of stroke in black americans. *Stroke* 44, 3305–3311. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha.113.002636
- Koyama, A., Houston, D. K., Simonsick, E. M., Lee, J. S., Ayonayon, H. N., Shahar, D. R., et al. (2015). Association between the mediterranean diet and cognitive decline in a biracial population. *J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 70, 354–359. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glu097
- Kuczmarski, M. F., Adams, E. L., Cotugna, N., Pohlig, R. T., Beydoun, M. A., Zonderman, A. B., et al. (2016). Health literacy and education predict nutrient quality of diet of socioeconomically diverse, urban adults. *J. Epidemiol. Prev. Med.* 2:13000115.
- Lamar, M., Leon, A., Romo, K., Durazo-Arvizu, R. A., Sachdeva, S., Lipton, R. B., et al. (2019). The independent and interactive associations of bilingualism and sex on cognitive performance in hispanics/latinos of the hispanic community health study/study of latinos. J. Alzheimers Dis. 71, 1271–1283. doi: 10.3233/ jad-190019
- Lear, S. A., Kohli, S., Bondy, G. P., Tchernof, A., and Sniderman, A. D. (2009). Ethnic variation in fat and lean body mass and the association with insulin resistance. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 94, 4696–4702. doi: 10.1210/jc.2009-1030
- Lee-Kwan, S. H., Moore, L. V., Blanck, H. M., Harris, D. M., and Galuska, D. (2017). Disparities in state-specific adult fruit and vegetable consumption united states, 2015. MMWR 66, 1241–1247. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6645a1

- Luchsinger, J. A., Tang, M. X., Shea, S., and Mayeux, R. (2002). Caloric intake and the risk of alzheimer disease. *Arch. Neurol.* 59, 1258–1263. doi: 10.1001/ archneur.59.8.1258
- Luchsinger, J. A., Tang, M. X., Shea, S., and Mayeux, R. (2003). Antioxidant vitamin intake and risk of alzheimer disease. Arch. Neurol. 60, 203–208. doi: 10.1001/ archneur.60.2.203
- McEvoy, C. T., Guyer, H., Langa, K. M., and Yaffe, K. (2017). Neuroprotective diets are associated with better cognitive function: the health and retirement study. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* 65, 1857–1862. doi: 10.1111/jgs.14922
- McEvoy, C. T., Hoang, T., and Sidney, S. (2019). Dietary patterns during adulthood and cognitive performance in midlife: the cardia study. *Neurology* 92, e1589–e1599.
- McInerney, M., Csizmadi, I., Friedenreich, C. M., Uribe, F. A., Nettel-Aguirre, A., McLaren, L., et al. (2016). Associations between the neighbourhood food environment, neighbourhood socioeconomic status, and diet quality: an observational study. *BMC Public Health* 16:984. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3 631-7
- Mehta, K. M., and Yeo, G. W. (2017). Systematic review of dementia prevalence and incidence in united states race/ethnic populations. *Alzheimers Dement*. 13, 72–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2016.06.2360
- Moorthy, D., Peter, I., Scott, T. M., Parnell, L. D., Lai, C. Q., Crott, J. W., et al. (2012). Status of vitamins b-12 and b-6 but not of folate, homocysteine, and the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase c677t polymorphism are associated with impaired cognition and depression in adults. *J. Nutr.* 142, 1554–1560. doi: 10.3945/jn.112.161828
- Morris, M. C., Brockman, J., Schneider, J. A., Wang, Y., Bennett, D. A., Tangney, C. C., et al. (2016). Association of seafood consumption, brain mercury level, and apoe epsilon4 status with brain neuropathology in older adults. *Jama* 315, 489–497. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.19451
- Morris, M. C., Evans, D. A., Bienias, J. L., Tangney, C. C., Bennett, D. A., Aggarwal, N., et al. (2002a). Dietary intake of antioxidant nutrients and the risk of incident alzheimer disease in a biracial community study. *JAMA* 287, 3230–3237. doi: 10.1001/jama.287.24.3230
- Morris, M. C., Evans, D. A., Bienias, J. L., Tangney, C. C., and Wilson, R. S. (2002b). Vitamin e and cognitive decline in older persons. *Arch. Neurol.* 59, 1125–1132. doi: 10.1001/archneur.59.7.1125
- Morris, M. C., Evans, D. A., Bienias, J. L., Tangney, C. C., and Wilson, R. S. (2004).
 Dietary fat intake and 6-year cognitive change in an older biracial community population. *Neurology* 62, 1573–1579. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000123250.828 49.b6
- Morris, M. C., Evans, D. A., Bienias, J. L., Tangney, C. C., Bennett, D. A., Wilson, R. S., et al. (2003). Consumption of fish and n-3 fatty acids and risk of incident alzheimer disease. *Arch. Neurol.* 60, 940–946. doi: 10.1001/archneur.60.7.940
- Morris, M. C., Evans, D. A., Bienias, J. L., Tangney, C. C., Hebert, L. E., Scherr, P. A., et al. (2005). Dietary folate and vitamin b12 intake and cognitive decline among community-dwelling older persons. *Arch. Neurol.* 62, 641–645. doi: 10.1001/archneur.62.4.641
- Morris, M. C., Evans, D. A., Tangney, C. C., Bienias, J. L., and Wilson, R. S. (2006). Associations of vegetable and fruit consumption with age-related cognitive change. *Neurology* 67, 1370–1376. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000240224.38978.d8
- Morris, M. C., Schneider, J. A., Li, H., Tangney, C. C., Nag, S., Bennett, D. A., et al. (2015a). Brain tocopherols related to Alzheimer's disease neuropathology in humans. *Alzheimers Dement*. 11, 32–39. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2013.12.015
- Morris, M. C., Tangney, C. C., Wang, Y., Sacks, F. M., Bennett, D. A., Aggarwal, N. T., et al. (2015b). MIND diet associated with reduced incidence of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*. 11, 1007–1014. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz. 2014.11.009
- Morris, M. C., Tangney, C. C., Wang, Y., Sacks, F. M., Barnes, L. L., Bennett, D. A., et al. (2015c). MIND diet slows cognitive decline with aging. *Alzheimers Dement.* 11, 1015–1022. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2015.04.011
- Morris, M. C., Wang, Y., Barnes, L. L., Bennett, D. A., Dawson-Hughes, B., and Booth, S. L. (2018). Nutrients and bioactives in green leafy vegetables and cognitive decline: prospective study. *Neurology* 90, e214–e222.
- Morton, D. J., Barrett-Connor, E., Kritz-Silverstein, D., Wingard, D. L., and Schneider, D. L. (2003). Bone mineral density in postmenopausal caucasian, filipina, and hispanic women. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 32, 150–156. doi: 10.1093/ije/ dyg024

- Palacios, N., Scott, T., Sahasrabudhe, N., Gao, X., and Tucker, K. L. (2019a). Lower plasma vitamin b-6 is associated with 2-year cognitive decline in the boston puerto rican health study. J. Nutr. 149, 635–641. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxy268
- Palacios, N., Scott, T., Sahasrabudhe, N., Gao, X., and Tucker, K. L. (2019b). Serum vitamin d and cognition in a cohort of boston-area puerto ricans. *Nutr. Neurosci.* 7, 1–8. doi: 10.1080/1028415x.2018.1545291
- Pearson, K. E., Wadley, V. G., McClure, L. A., Shikany, J. M., Unverzagt, F. W., and Judd, S. E. (2016). Dietary patterns are associated with cognitive function in the reasons for geographic and racial differences in stroke (regards) cohort. J. Nutr. Sci. 5:e38.
- Peña-Romero, A. C., Navas-Carrillo, D., Marín, F., and Orenes-Piñero, E. (2018). The future of nutrition: nutrigenomics and nutrigenetics in obesity and cardiovascular diseases. *Crit. Rev. food Sci. Nutr.* 58, 3030–3041. doi: 10.1080/ 10408398.2017.1349731
- Powell, L. M., Slater, S., Mirtcheva, D., Bao, Y., and Chaloupka, F. J. (2007). Food store availability and neighborhood characteristics in the united states. *Prev. Med.* 44, 189–195. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2006.08.008
- Raffensperger, S., Kuczmarski, M. F., Hotchkiss, L., Cotugna, N., Evans, M. K., and Zonderman, A. B. (2010). Effect of race and predictors of socioeconomic status on diet quality in the handls study sample. *J. Nat. Med. Assoc.* 102, 923–930. doi: 10.1016/s0027-9684(15)30711-2
- Reis, J. P., Selvin, E., Pankow, J. S., Michos, E. D., Rebholz, C. M., and Lutsey, P. L. (2016). Parathyroid hormone is associated with incident diabetes in white, but not black adults: the atherosclerosis risk in communities (aric) study. *Diabetes Metab.* 42, 162–169. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2015.12.004
- Samieri, C., Morris, M. C., Bennett, D. A., Berr, C., Amouyel, P., Dartigues, J. F., et al. (2018). Fish intake, genetic predisposition to alzheimer disease, and decline in global cognition and memory in 5 cohorts of older persons. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 187, 933–940. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwx330
- Santoro, A., Bazzocchi, A., Guidarelli, G., Ostan, R., Giampieri, E., Mercatelli, D., et al. (2018). A cross-sectional analysis of body composition among healthy elderly from the european nu-age study: sex and country specific features. *Front. Physiol.* 9:1693. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01693
- Scarmeas, N., Stern, Y., Mayeux, R., Manly, J. J., Schupf, N., and Luchsinger, J. A. (2009). Mediterranean diet and mild cognitive impairment. *Arch. Neurol.* 66, 216–225.
- Schneider, A. L. C., Zhao, D., Lutsey, P. L., Gottesman, R. F., Sharrett, A. R., Rawlings, A. M., et al. (2018). Serum vitamin d concentrations and cognitive change over 20 years: the atherosclerosis risk in communities neurocognitive study. *Neuroepidemiology* 51, 131–137. doi: 10.1159/000490912
- Shukitt-Hale, B., Bielinski, D. F., Lau, F. C., Willis, L. M., Carey, A. N., and Joseph, J. A. (2015). The beneficial effects of berries on cognition, motor behaviour and neuronal function in ageing. *Br. J. Nutr.* 114, 1542–1549. doi: 10.1017/ s0007114515003451

Sucher, K. P., and Kittler, P. G. (2004). Food and Culture. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.

- Talegawkar, S. A., Johnson, E. J., Carithers, T. C., Taylor, H. A. Jr., Bogle, M. L., and Tucker, K. L. (2008). Serum carotenoid and tocopherol concentrations vary by dietary pattern among african americans. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 108, 2013–2020. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2008.09.004
- Tangney, C. C., Kwasny, M. J., Li, H., Wilson, R. S., Evans, D. A., and Morris, M. C. (2011). Adherence to a mediterranean-type dietary pattern and cognitive decline in a community population. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 93, 601–607. doi: 10. 3945/ajcn.110.007369
- Tangney, C. C., Li, H., Wang, Y., Barnes, L., Schneider, J. A., Bennett, D. A., et al. (2014). Relation of dash- and mediterranean-like dietary patterns to cognitive decline in older persons. *Neurology* 83, 1410–1416. doi: 10.1212/wnl. 00000000000884
- Tangney, C. C., Tang, Y., Evans, D. A., and Morris, M. C. (2009). Biochemical indicators of vitamin b12 and folate insufficiency and cognitive decline. *Neurology* 72, 361–367. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000341272.48617.b0
- Thirumangalakudi, L., Prakasam, A., Zhang, R., Bimonte-Nelson, H., Sambamurti, K., Kindy, M. S., et al. (2008). High cholesterol-induced neuroinflammation and amyloid precursor protein processing correlate with loss of working memory in mice. J. Neurochem. 106, 475–485. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05415.x
- Townsend, M. S., Aaron, G. J., Monsivais, P., Keim, N. L., and Drewnowski, A. (2009). Less-energy-dense diets of low-income women in california are

associated with higher energy-adjusted diet costs. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 89, 1220–1226. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2008.26916

- Travison, T. G., Chiu, G. R., McKinlay, J. B., and Araujo, A. B. (2011). Accounting for racial/ethnic variation in bone mineral content and density: the competing influences of socioeconomic factors, body composition, health and lifestyle, and circulating androgens and estrogens. *Osteoporos. Int.* 22, 2645–2654. doi: 10.1007/s00198-010-1520-y
- Tsivgoulis, G., Judd, S., Letter, A. J., Alexandrov, A. V., Howard, G., Nahab, F., et al. (2013). Adherence to a mediterranean diet and risk of incident cognitive impairment. *Neurology* 80, 1684–1692. doi: 10.1212/wnl.0b013e3182904f69
- Tucker, K. L., Bianchi, L. A., Maras, J., and Bermudez, O. I. (1998). Adaptation of a food frequency questionnaire to assess diets of puerto rican and non-hispanic adults. Am. J. Epidemiol. 148, 507–518. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a00 9676
- Tucker, K. L., Maras, J., Champagne, C., Connell, C., Goolsby, S., Weber, J., et al. (2007). A regional food-frequency questionnaire for the us mississippi delta. *Public Health Nutr.* 8, 87–96. doi: 10.1079/phn2005663
- van de Rest, O., Wang, Y., Barnes, L. L., Tangney, C., Bennett, D. A., and Morris, M. C. (2016). Apoe e4 and the associations of seafood and long-chain omega-3 fatty acids with cognitive decline. *Neurology* 86, 2063–2070. doi: 10.1212/wnl. 000000000002719
- Watters, J. L., Satia, J. A., Kupper, L. L., Swenberg, J. A., Schroeder, J. C., and Switzer, B. R. (2007). Associations of antioxidant nutrients and oxidative dna damage in healthy african-american and white adults. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.* 16, 1428–1436. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.epi-06-1030
- Weuve, J., Barnes, L. L., Mendes de Leon, C. F., Rajan, K. B., Beck, T., Aggarwal, N. T., et al. (2018). Cognitive aging in black and white americans: cognition, cognitive decline, and incidence of alzheimer disease dementia. *Epidemiology* 29, 151–159. doi: 10.1097/ede.0000000000 000747
- Willett, W. C. (2013). Implication of Total Energy Intake fo Epidemiological Analyses. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Willett, W. C., Sampson, L., Stampfer, M. J., Rosner, B., Bain, C., Witschi, J., et al. (1985). Reproducibility and validity of a semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire. Am. J. Epidemiol. 122, 51–65.
- Ye, X., Bhupathiraju, S. N., and Tucker, K. L. (2013a). Variety in fruit and vegetable intake and cognitive function in middle-aged and older puerto rican adults. *Br. J. Nutr.* 109, 503–510. doi: 10.1017/s00071145120 01183
- Ye, X., Scott, T., Gao, X., Maras, J. E., Bakun, P. J., and Tucker, K. L. (2013b). Mediterranean diet, healthy eating index 2005, and cognitive function in middle-aged and older puerto rican adults. *J. Acad. Nutr. Diet.* 113, e1–e3.
- Youdim, K. A., Dobbie, M. S., Kuhnle, G., Proteggente, A. R., Abbott, N. J., and Rice-Evans, C. (2003). Interaction between flavonoids and the blood-brain barrier: in vitro studies. *J. Neurochem.* 85, 180–192. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159. 2003.01652.x
- Youdim, K. A., Qaiser, M. Z., Begley, D. J., Rice-Evans, C. A., and Abbott, N. J. (2004). Flavonoid permeability across an in situ model of the blood-brain barrier. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 36, 592–604. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2003. 11.023
- Zuelsdorff, M., Okonkwo, O. C., Norton, D., Barnes, L. L., Graham, K. L., Clark, L. R., et al. (2020). Stressful life events and racial disparities in cognition among middle-aged and older adults. *J. Alzheimers Dis.* 73, 671–682. doi: 10.3233/jad-190439

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Agarwal, Morris and Barnes. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

